License Application for the INEL TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation

License Application

1

- Conceptual Plan for Decommissioning
- Environmental Report
- Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Public Roading Room U. S. Department of Energy Idaho Operations Office

the set of the

15F51-003

Idaho National Engineering Laboratory

U.S. Department of Energy • Idaho Operations Office



s

DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY IDAHO OPERATIONS OFFICE

LICENSE APPLICATION FOR THE IDAHO NATIONAL ENGINEERING LABORATORY THREE MILE ISLAND UNIT TWO INDEPENDENT SPENT FUEL STORAGE INSTALLATION

DOCKET NO. 72-20

REVISION 0 October 1996

Prepared by:

The US Department of Energy Idaho Operations Office Idaho Falls, Idaho

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1	GENERAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION	1-1
Chapter 2	TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS	2-1
Chapter 3	TECHNICAL INFORMATION SAFETY ANALYSIS REPORT	3-1
Chapter 4	CONFORMITY TO GENERAL DESIGN CRITERIA	4-1
Chapter 5	OPERATING PROCEDURES ADMINISTRATIVE AND MANAGEMENT CONTROLS.	5-1
Chapter 6	QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM	6-1
Chapter 7	OPERATOR TRAINING	7-1
Chapter 8	INVENTORY AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS	8-1
Chapter 9	PHYSICAL PROTECTION	9-1
Chapter 10	DECOMMISSIONING PLAN.	10-1
Chapter 11	EMERGENCY PLAN	11-1
Chapter 12	ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT	12-1
Chapter 13	PROPOSED LICENSE CONDITIONS	13-1
Chapter 14	CONCLUSION	14-1

i

LIST OF ACRONYMS

ALARA	As Low As Reasonably Achievable
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
D&D	Decontamination and Decommissioning
DOE	United States Department of Energy
DOE-ID	DOE Idaho Operations Office
DOE/RW-0333P	DOE OCRWM Quality Assurance Requirements and Description
DSC	Dry Shielded Canister
EA	Environmental Assessment
EIS	Environmental Impact Statement
FEIS	Final Environmental Impact Statement
HEPA	High Efficiency Particulate Air
HSM	Horizontal Storage Module
ICPP	Idaho Chemical Processing Plant
INEL	Idaho National Engineering Laboratory
ISFSI	Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation
LITCO	Lockheed Idaho Technologies Company
M&O	Management and Operations
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act
NNS	Newport News Shipbuilding
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission
OCRWM	DOE Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management
SAR	Safety Analysis Report
TAN	Test Area North
TMI-2	Three Mile Island Unit 2

CHAPTER 1 GENERAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION

1.0 Application For License

In accordance with the requirements of Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations Part 72 (10 CFR Part 72), the United States (US) Department of Energy through its Idaho Operations Office (DOE-ID), as authorized by the Secretary of Energy, hereby applies for a specific license to receive, handle, possess, store and transfer spent nuclear fuel and other core debris originating from the de-fueling of the Three Mile Island Unit 2 reactor (TMI-2 Core Debris) in an Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation designed and constructed for this purpose and located at the Idaho Chemical Processing Plant (ICPP) on the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory (INEL) site. This ISFSI will be designated as the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The TMI-2 Core Debris is currently stored in NRC approved canisters (TMI-2 Canisters-Docket No. 71-9200) in a water pool at the Test Area North (TAN) on the INEL site.

DOE-ID requests a license term of 20 years. If a Federal facility that can receive the TMI-2 core debris is not available at the end of this term, an extension of the initial term will be required and DOE-ID may apply for renewal of this license in accordance with the applicable provisions of 10 CFR 72.42.

The activities to be licensed pursuant to this application and 10 CFR Part 72, are the design, construction, operation (including, receipt, handling, transfer, storage, retrieval, surveillance and maintenance) and decommissioning of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Although the location for this facility is within the perimeter of the ICPP, no unlicensed activities will be conducted on the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI facility.

This application for the proposed INEL TMI-2 ISFSI contains the information required by 10 CFR Part 72, and was prepared in accordance with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Regulatory Guide 3.50 "Standard Format and Content for a License Application to Store Spent Fuel and High-Level Radioactive Waste," Revision 1, September 1989. The complete application consists of the following documents, each of which are incorporated by reference:

- a. The License Application,
- b. The Safety Analysis Report for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI,
- c. The U.S. Department of Energy's Environmental Report for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI,
- d. The INEL Emergency Plan/ RCRA Contingency Plan and Addendum #10 thereto, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Emergency Plan,
- e. The Conceptual Plan for Decommissioning the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI,
- f. The DOE Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM) Quality Assurance Requirements and Description (DOE/RW-0333P), Revision 5,
- g. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Physical Security Plan (to be submitted under separate cover),
- h. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI draft Technical Specifications (to be submitted later), and
- i. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Personnel Training and Certification Plan (to be submitted later).

1.1 Full Name And Address Of Applicant

United States Department of Energy, Idaho Operations Office 850 Energy Drive Idaho Falls, ID 83401-1562

The Manager of the DOE Idaho Operations Office is John M. Wilcynski, (208) 526-5665, and the TMI/FSV Licensing Project Manager is Jan Hagers, (208) 526-0758. DOE-ID requests that all correspondence relating to this application be addressed to John M. Wilcynski, DOE Idaho Operations Office Manager, at the address above with copies to Jan Hagers, TMI/FSV Licensing Project Manager at 785 DOE Place, MS 1145, Idaho Falls, ID 83402.

1.2 Scope Of License - Activities & Materials To Be Licensed

DOE-ID currently owns, possesses and stores the TMI-2 Core Debris, in NRC approved canisters (TMI-2 Canisters-Docket No. 71-9200) located in a water pool within the Test Area North facility on the INEL site, in accordance with DOE Orders and INEL procedures. DOE-ID will transfer the TMI-2 Canisters containing the TMI-2 Core Debris to an ISFSI to be constructed at the ICPP also located on the INEL site. DOE-ID proposes that the NRC regulated activities will commence with the transportation of the TMI-2 Core Debris in an approved transportation cask pursuant to a route specific license to be obtained pursuant to the requirements of 10 CFR Part 71 and cover the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The activities falling within the scope of this 10 CFR Part 72 application will commence with the receipt of TMI-2 Canisters in the MP-187 transportation cask at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI facility and will include all subsequent fuel handling, operational and maintenance activities thru and including decommissioning of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The design, construction and pre-operational testing of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will also be included within the scope of the license.

Activities that take place in the TAN facility such as the drying of the TMI-2 Canisters and loading of the Dry Shielded Canisters will be performed in accordance with TAN facility procedures and will be regulated by DOE Orders and Directives.

1.3 Description Of Applicant's Business

The Department of Energy is a cabinet level department of the Federal Government authorized by the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. The Department of Energy is recognized as a qualified applicant for an ISFSI license (10 CFR 72.22(d)(5)). The DOE organization responsible for the construction and operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is the DOE Idaho Operations Office (DOE-ID). The Secretary of Energy by Delegation Order No. 10CFR72.512.1 signed ________, has delegated the authority to submit this application for license and the responsibility to construct and operate the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI to the Manager, DOE Idaho Operations Office. DOE-ID directs the activities of the INEL, an operation with approximately 7,700 employees. Almost 5,000 employees work at the nine operating areas on the INEL, while the remainder work at facilities in Idaho Falls. DOE-ID's mission is to provide the vision, leadership, and management to effectively execute technology programs while promoting regional economic growth, industrial and government partnerships, and safe, environmentally-sound operations. The INEL has primary missions of nuclear reactor research and development; environmental restoration, including waste management remediation and technology development; spent nuclear fuel management; nuclear process operations; and a broad suite of technological research and development programs.

The INEL site covers nearly 570,000 acres, or 890 square miles, of typical western sagebrush flats almost a mile above sea level. The land is bordered on the north and west by three mountain ranges and on the south by three towering buttes. The INEL is 39 miles long from north to south and 36 miles wide at its broadest point.

The INEL contains the following nine primary operating areas:

- Argonne National Laboratory-West, which conducts nuclear research and development;
- Central Facilities Area, which provides many services for the entire INEL including environmental monitoring and calibration laboratories, security, fire protection, medical, communication systems, warehouses, cafeteria, vehicle and equipment pools, bus system, and laundry;
- Experimental Breeder Reactor I, which was the first reactor in the world to generate usable amounts of electricity and is today a Registered National Historic Landmark;
- Idaho Chemical Processing Plant, which houses one-of-a-kind reprocessing facilities (not currently in operation) for government-owned defense and research spent fuels and has spent fuel storage and reprocessing areas, a waste solidification facility and related waste storage bins, remote analytical laboratories, and a coal-fired steam generating plant;
- Naval Reactor Facility, which is operated under the direction of the Office of Naval Reactors by Bettis Atomic Power Laboratory and continues to carry out research on Naval spent fuel and irradiated materials used in Naval reactors;
- Power Burst Facility, which consists of facilities constructed for the Special Power Excursion Reactor Tests, facilities used to conduct light water reactor fuel behavior studies; the Waste Experimental Reduction Facility, an operating mixed low level waste incinerator; and facilities leased to the Idaho Brain Tumor Center for studying boron neutron capture therapy for potential use in brain cancer treatments;
- Radioactive Waste Management Complex, which studies various high-tech strategies for waste storage, processing and disposal;

- Test Area North, which consists of facilities for handling, storage, examination, and research and development of spent nuclear fuel; and
- Test Reactor Area, which houses extensive facilities for studying the effects of radiation on materials, fuels, and equipment for the nuclear Navy.

As previously stated, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be located at the ICPP on the INEL site. The location and layout of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI and the ICPP are further discussed in Chapter 2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Safety Analysis Report (SAR). The operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be performed by certified personnel from the ICPP fuel storage facilities. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will share utilities such as electricity with the ICPP. Postulated accident and exposure interactions with the INEL, ICPP, and the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI are discussed in the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. Due to the size and remoteness of the INEL, "external" support for fire protection, security, and radiation control services are furnished by DOE-ID and its INEL contractors.

Although the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is not located at the site of a facility licensed under the requirements of 10 CFR Part 50, it will be constructed and operated on a nuclear processing facility and the INEL site which have a significant facility, organizational and response infrastructure. DOE-ID operates the INEL under the authority and requirements of the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended and provides written direction to its M&O Contractor through DOE Orders and Directives. The INEL therefore has qualified plans and programs in place for the Emergency Plan, Hazardous Materials Response, Security Plans, Radiation Protection and Training that accomplish the functions similar to those of a civilian nuclear power plant but in compliance with DOE Orders. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI specific plans, programs and procedures will be written to meet NRC Regulations as well as the requirements and conditions of the license. These specific plans will specify any interfaces with the ICPP or INEL plans, programs or procedures. DOE-ID will integrate the TMI-2 ISFSI specific plans, programs and procedures with the related ICPP or INEL plans, programs and procedures and responses are available.

1.4 Need For The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI

DOE-ID has determined that the TAN Pool, in which the TMI-2 Canisters and Core Debris are presently stored, does not meet SNF storage requirements delineated in DOE Order 420.1 "Facility Safety" (DOE 1995c). The principal deficiencies of the TAN Pool include lack of redundant containment of pool water (i.e., stainless steel pool liner), no provisions for detection subsurface leaks for the pool and inadequate control of the air space over the pool. In order to eliminate these deficiencies and as part of its NEPA review, DOE evaluated a number of alternatives that included (a) constructing an Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation at the ICPP, (b) removing the TMI fuels from the pool and transporting them to ICPP, and (c) draining and stabilizing the TAN Pool. Based on this evaluation DOE determined that the TMI-2 Core Debris should be transported to and stored in, the TMI-2 ISFSI to be constructed at the ICPP.

The schedule for construction of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI and removal of TMI-2 Core Debris from the TAN Pool has been established by a Settlement Agreement entered into by the State of Idaho, the Department of Energy and the Department of Navy. The Settlement Agreement was signed in October 1995 and fully resolves all issues in the actions <u>Public Service Co. of Colorado v. Batt</u>, No. CV 91-0035-S-EJL(D.Id.) and <u>United States v. Batt</u>, No. CV91-0065-S-EJL (D.Id.). Within the Settlement Agreement paragraph E7 states:

"DOE shall complete construction of the Three Mile Island dry storage facility by December 31, 1998. DOE shall commence moving fuel into the facility by March 31, 1999, and shall complete moving fuel in to the facility by June 1, 2001."

1.5 Applicant's Working And Contractual Arrangements

The Secretary of Energy has designated the Manager, DOE Idaho Operations Office as the Secretary's authorized representative for filing the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI license application and as the license holder when the license is granted. As the owner and licensee of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, DOE-ID will retain overall responsibility for all INEL TMI-2 ISFSI activities, including engineering, design, licensing, construction, operation, and decommissioning, and will be responsible for meeting applicable regulatory requirements. DOE-ID will manage and oversee INEL TMI-2 ISFSI activities as necessary to verify compliance to regulatory requirements and license conditions, and to ensure the overall protection of the health and safety of the public, the workers, and the environment. DOE-ID has contractually delegated the responsibility for the management and operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI to its INEL management and operations (M&O) contractor, Lockheed Idaho Technologies Company (LITCO). (LITCO's address is P.O. Box 1625, Idaho Falls, ID 83415; LITCO has recently changed its name to Lockheed Martin Idaho Technologies Company.)

To exercise its overall responsibility, DOE-ID will retain responsibility for and perform independent audits of the M&O contractor's INEL TMI-2 ISFSI quality assurance program (both the achievement of quality by M&O contractor management and the verification of quality by M&O contractor quality assurance personnel), ensure the requirements to comply with the license conditions for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI are included in the M&O contract, assess the performance of the M&O contractor against the terms of the contract, retain the responsibility to budget funds necessary and sufficient to safely operate the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, and retain the authority to revise the M&O contract in the event contract deficiencies are found relative to proper implementation of license conditions.

Pursuant to its contract with DOE-ID, LITCO is required to manage and operate the TMI-2 ISFSI in compliance with all applicable NRC requirements and license conditions. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is exempt from compliance with DOE Orders that duplicate or overlap NRC regulations. These requirements and responsibilities will be passed to any succeeding M&O contractor as a contract condition throughout the term of the license.

LITCO has contracted the design, safety analysis, and construction of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI to Newport News Shipbuilding (NNS) of Newport News, Virginia. NNS has contracted with VECTRA Technologies, Inc. (VECTRA) of San Jose, California, and SCIENTECH, Inc., of Idaho Falls, Idaho, for design, safety analysis, and licensing support. VECTRA is the

subcontractor responsible for design and safety analysis of the dry spent fuel cask storage system components. SCIENTECH is the subcontractor responsible for licensing and safety review support. NNS plans to subcontract the fabrication and on-site construction of INEL TMI-2 ISFSI structures, systems, and components to qualified firms during the construction phase of the project.

For more information on DOE-ID's working and contractual arrangements and the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI organizational structure, see Sections 1.4 and 9.1 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

1.6 Financial Qualification

As set forth in 10 CFR 72.22(e), the Department of Energy is not required to provide detailed financial information to demonstrate its financial qualifications. DOE-ID has obtained funding to construct and load fuel into the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI under a line item project authorization. DOE-ID will request the necessary funding from Congress for the operation, maintenance and decommissioning of the facility in future years.

CHAPTER 2 TECHNICAL QUALIFICATIONS

Chapter 9 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR provides the information required by 10 CFR 72.28, "Contents of Application: Applicant's Technical Qualifications." Section 9.1 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR discusses the organization and technical qualifications of the DOE-ID and its M&O contractor staff to design, construct, and operate the ISFSI. Section 9.3 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR discusses the DOE-ID and M&O contractor training program and states that the objective of the training program is to develop and maintain a qualified work force for safe and efficient ISFSI operations. DOE-ID commits to provide an adequate complement of trained and certified personnel possessing the required skills throughout all phases of the project. This commitment includes providing the resources necessary for the M&O contractor to maintain an adequate complement of certified operations personnel.

DOE-ID and its contractors are fully qualified to manage, design, construct, operate, maintain, and decommission the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Through years of managing and operating the INEL, DOE-ID and its M&O contractor have acquired numerous technical capabilities that can be applied to operating the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. This experience includes:

- performing safety analyses for nuclear activities, environmental activities and waste management operations;
- conducting environmental assessments and remediation of hazardous waste, mixed waste, and radioactively contaminated waste;
- performing environmental risk assessments and evaluating safety and risk for complex technical systems;
- implementing radiological control programs;
- designing, fabricating, and testing specialized facilities, prototype systems, components, software, hardware, instruments, and test equipment;
- handling heavy loads and developing remote handling and process automation capabilities through an extensive robotics program directed toward waste handling, accessing confined and hazardous areas, and performing repetitive skills;
- developing a decontamination and decommissioning (D&D) program that is recognized as a national leader; and
- characterizing and treating waste generated by the INEL and other sites, including disposing of INEL low-level waste, processing high-level waste, and storing and certifying transuranic waste.

In addition to these technical capabilities, the experience gained by DOE-ID during the construction and operation of numerous nuclear facilities at INEL, including spent fuel storage installations, will be available to support the construction and operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Additionally, the training program, along with other management systems, will ensure that qualified and certified individuals will be available to perform planned and unplanned tasks. This experience and training will ensure that the ISFSI is constructed and operated in a manner which

provides adequate protection to the health and safety of the worker, the public, and the environment.

THE REPORT OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCRIP

in some the second states and the second of the second states and the second states and the second states and the

indicate shares manufactor and the state of the

CHAPTER 3

TECHNICAL INFORMATION -- SAFETY ANALYSIS REPORT

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR filed with this application provides the information required by 10 CFR 72.24, "Contents of Application: Technical Information," and was prepared in accordance with NRC Regulatory Guide 3.48, "Standard Format and Content for the Safety Analysis Report for an Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation or Monitored Retrievable Storage Installation (Dry Storage)," Revision 1, August 1989. The SAR describes the proposed ISFSI design, assesses the safety of the ISFSI design bases, and discusses ISFSI operations including the receipt, handling, packaging, and storage of the TMI-2 core debris. A summary of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is provided below.

3.1 Type Of Installation

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be a dry-type ISFSI using the NUHOMS[®]-12T system. The NUHOMS[®]-12T system is a modification of the standardized NUHOMS[®] horizontal modular storage system for irradiated nuclear fuel (Docket Number 72-1004). The NUHOMS[®]-12T system provides for the horizontal, dry storage of containerized TMI-2 core debris in dry shielded canisters (DSCs) which are placed in concrete horizontal storage modules (HSMs). The HSMs will be placed on a concrete basemat at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI site.

3.2 Design Capacity

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed to store up to 348 TMI-2 canisters. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI layout is based on the use of a maximum of 30 HSMs. Each HSM holds a DSC containing up to 12 TMI-2 canisters. Therefore, 29 DSCs and 29 HSMs will be used to store the TMI-2 canisters. An extra HSM will serve as a backup in case a challenged canister needs additional confinement. This spare HSM will include a cylindrical overpack that can be used as an additional barrier. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will have the capacity to store all of the TMI-2 Core Debris received at the INEL.

3.3 Unique Design Features

One unique design feature of the NUHOMS[®]-12T system in comparison to the standardized NUHOMS[®] horizontal modular storage system is that the TMI-2 canisters will be vented to the DSCs and the DSCs will normally be vented to the atmosphere, through high efficiency particulate air (HEPA) filters, to prevent hydrogen gas buildup caused by radiolysis of residual water in the TMI-2 core debris.

Another unique design feature of the NUHOMS[®]-12T system, in comparison to the standardized NUHOMS[®] horizontal modular storage system, is that, due to the low heat load of the TMI-2 canisters in comparison to commercial spent fuel assemblies, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI HSMs have no air vents for cooling.

3.4 Mode Of Operation

Once the loaded DSCs have been secured in the HSMs, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is a passive storage installation.

In order to move the TMI-2 core debris from the TAN facility to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, the following procedure will be repeated until all of the TMI-2 canisters have been moved to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Each TMI-2 canister will be removed from the TAN facility spent fuel pool, drained, and then vacuum dried to ensure that no free water is contained in the canisters. The TMI-2 canisters will be loaded into a DSC (already inside a transport cask) in the Hot Cell of the TAN facility. The contents of each DSC (TMI-2 canister seriel numbers, drying results and moisture levels) will be recorded on a transfer form and independently verified. The DSC will be sealed, the vent system filter assemblies will be installed (with vent system transportation covers already installed on the filter assemblies), and the DSC cavity will be dried and backfilled with helium. The cask will be placed on a transport trailer at the TAN facility, ready for transport to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI located at the ICPP site. After towing the transport trailer to the ISFSI location, the loaded cask on the trailer is aligned with the HSM and the DSC is pushed out of the cask into the HSM using a hydraulic ram. The DSC vent system transportation covers are then removed from the DSC and dust covers are installed. Once inside the HSM with the DSC vent system open to the atmosphere, the DSC is in safe, passive dry storage.

CHAPTER 4

CONFORMITY TO GENERAL DESIGN CRITERIA

As summarized in this chapter, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI complies with all the applicable design criteria contained in Subpart F, "General Design Criteria," of 10 CFR Part 72. The ISFSI's specific conformance to the general design criteria is discussed in more detail in the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

4.1 Quality Standards [10 CFR 72.122(a)]

As discussed in Section 3.4 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the DSCs (shield plugs, DSC shells, cover plates, weld filler metal, and vent systems), the HSMs (reinforced concrete, DSC support structure), and the transport cask are the only components at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI that are important to safety. These components are assigned the highest quality classification under the DOE-ID, LITCO, and VECTRA Quality Assurance Programs, and will be designed, fabricated, sealed, and tested in accordance with the vendor's quality assurance program. License Application Chapter 6 and Chapter 11 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR provide more information on the quality standards applied to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

4.2 Protection Against Environmental Conditions And Natural Phenomena [10 CFR 72.122(b)]

Chapter 2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR describes the characteristics of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI site and defines credible environmental conditions and natural phenomena as well as monitoring capabilities at the INEL. As discussed in Section 3.2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed to accomodate the environmental conditions and withstand the effects of natural phenomena without impairing its safety function. Chapter 8 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR contains the analyses which demonstrate that the ISFSI will maintain its structural integrity and ability to perform safety functions during a range of credible accident occurrences (from minor accidents to design basis accidents). Chapter 4 of the SAR describes the design features that provide containment of the TMI-2 core dedris and preclude it from entering the Snake River Plan Acquifer.

4.3 Protection Against Fire And Explosions [10 CFR 72.122(c)]

As discussed in Section 3.3.6 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the NUHOMS[®] DSCs and HSMs contain no permanent flammable material and the concrete and steel used for their fabrication can withstand any credible fire hazard. There is no fixed fire suppression system within the boundaries of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI; however, portable fire suppression equipment is available for use by the fire brigade.

INEL TMI-2 ISFSI initiated explosions are not considered credible since no explosive materials are present in the DSCs other than low concentrations of hydrogen generated by radiolysis. Additionally, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed without any known ignition sources present, thus minimizing the potential for hydrogen deflagration. The hydrogen deflagration analysis in Appendix C of the SAR shows that the TMI-2 canisters and DSC maintain structural integrity. Externally initiated explosions are discussed in Chapter 8 and are considered to be bounded by the design basis tornado generated missile load analysis discussed in Section 8.2.2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

4.4 Sharing Of Structures, Systems, And Components [10 CFR 72.122(d)]

No INEL TMI-2 ISFSI structures, systems, or components important to safety are shared with other facilities. Also, none of the activities at the ICPP will result in challenges to the safety of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Conversely, the operations associated with the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will not impair the capability to maintain the safety of ICPP activities.

4.5 Proximity Of Sites [10 CFR 72.122(e)]

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is located on a two-acre dedicated area within the ICPP boundaries. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed to be completely independent of any other facilities at the ICPP, other than electrical service for security lighting. The operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is described in Chapter 5 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, and radiological impacts are addressed in Chapters 6 and 7 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. Chapter 7 demonstrates that the off-site radiological doses are small and there is no unreasonable risk to the health and safety of the public due to the presence of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

The cumulative environmental impact of spent fuel management on the INEL, including the consolidation of SNF at the ICPP were analyzed in the DOE's Programmatic SNF and INEL ER&WM Programmatic Final EIS (FEIS: DOE/EIS-0203-F) and shown to be very small. The data presented in the Environmental Report submitted with this application are consistent with the FEIS and show there is no significant effect on the human environment due to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

4.6 Testing And Maintenance Of Systems And Components [10 CFR 72.122(f)]

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI structures, systems, and components important to safety are designed to permit inspection, maintenance, and testing. As discussed in Sections 4.3.11, 10.3 and 10.4 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the only surveillance and maintenance required during long-term storage are a semi-annual check of the DSC internal gases, a monthly radiation survey of the DSC vent system HEPA filters, and a leak test of the DSC vent connections at five year intervals. The maintenance program will also involve the inspection of the vent access doors to ensure that they remain operational and that no build up of debris or snow occurs in the vent areas. The

surveillance and maintenance required during loading and unloading operations are discussed in Section 10.3 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. The proposed pre-operational testing is discussed in Section 9.2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

As discussed in Section 4.5 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the transport cask is designed to require only minimal maintenance. Cask maintenance is limited to periodic inspection and testing of critical components, and replacement of damaged or non-functioning components.

4.7 Emergency Capability [10 CFR 72.122(g)]

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed to accommodate emergency response activities and provides for accessibility to the equipment of emergency facilities and services. An INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Emergency Plan filed with this application describes how the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will handle emergencies. Additional information on this plan is provided in License Application Chapter 11 and Section 9.5 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

4.8 Confinement Barriers And Systems [10 CFR 72.122(h)]

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI storage system is designed to withstand all operating and credible accident conditions without significant degradation or damage to the DSCs or the TMI-2 canisters. As discussed in Section 3.3.2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the multiple barrier design of the system is designed to ensure adequate confinement of the radioactive material contained in the TMI-2 core debris. The DSC vents used to mitigate the effects of hydrogen gas generation due to radiolysis are provided with HEPA filters to ensure the confinement of airborne radioactive particulate materials during normal or off-normal conditions. Chapter 10 describes the surveillance and monitoring requirements for the vent system.

4.9 Instrumentation And Control Systems [10 CFR 72.122(i)]

As discussed in Section 3.3.3 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, because the NUHOMS[®]-12T system is passive, no permanent instrumentation or control systems are necessary for the safe operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Instrumentation and control systems not important to safety will be used to perform the surveillances described in Chapter 10 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

4.10 Control Room Or Control Area [10 CFR 72.122(j)]

As discussed in Section 5.5 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, because the NUHOMS -12T system is passive, there is no control room or control area for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Security monitoring instruments are described in the Physical Security Plan, submitted as part of this application. Readouts related to security are provided in an ICPP control room.

4.11 Utility Or Other Services [10 CFR 72.122(k)]

No utility services are needed for the safe operation of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. As discussed in Section 4.3 of the TMI-2 SAR, non-essential electrical power will be provided for DSC loading and unloading operations, lighting, and security systems. Additionally, non-essential communication systems will be provided as necessary. More information on security system power and communications is provided in the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Physical Security Plan.

4.12 <u>Retrievability [10 CFR 72.122(1)]</u>

As discussed in Section 5.1 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the NUHOMS[®]-12T storage system is designed to allow ready retrieval of spent fuel for further processing. The DSCs can be removed from the HSMs, and the TMI-2 canisters can either be shipped inside the DSCs to an appropriate INEL facility for further dispositioning, or dry transferred from the DSCs to an approved shipping container and shipped to another federal facility.

4.13 Nuclear Criticality Safety (10 CFR 72.124)

As discussed in Section 3.3.4 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the NUHOMS -12T system is designed to remain subcritical during all credible conditions without the addition of fixed neutron absorbing materials to the DSC basket. Control methods for the prevention of criticality consist of drying the TMI-2 canisters before loading into the DSC, material properties of the fuel, design features of the installation, administrative procedures to prevent intrusion of water into the DSC cavity, the geometric confinement of the fuel within the TMI-2 canisters, boron rich neutron poisons in the TMI-2 canisters, and the inherent neutron absorption in the steel components of the DSC and TMI-2 canister structures.

4.14 Radiological Protection (10 CFR 72.126)

As discussed in Section 3.3.5 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed to maintain on-site and off-site doses as low as reasonably achievable (ALARA) during transfer operations and long-term storage conditions. The on-site and off-site dose assessments are presented in Sections 7.4 and 7.6 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR and in Section 5.2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Environment Report. The radiological consequences which occur during offnormal and accident conditions are addressed in Chapter 8 of the TMI-2 SAR. All exposures from normal operations and anticipated occurrences will be within the limits of 10 CFR 72.104, and all exposures from design basis accidents are within the limits of 10 CFR 72.106. The site dose rates will be well below the applicable dose limits for individual members of the public specified in 10 CFR 20.1301. Chapter 7 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR provides further information on the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Radiation Protection Program.

4.15 Spent Fuel, High-Level Radioactive Waste, And Other Radioactive Waste Storage And Handling (10 CFR 72.128)

As discussed in Sections 3.3.7 and 6.1 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the radioactive waste expected to be generated during long-term storage is low level waste, specifically the spent HEPA filters on the DSC vents, when replaced, and other items, such as bags, tape, or anticontamination clothing, that may be used in the filter replacement process. This low level waste will be removed from the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI site, packaged, treated, and disposed in accordance with the INEL procedures. Any radioactive waste generated during loading or unloading operations also will be transferred to an appropriate ICPP waste storage facility. Chapter 6 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR provides further information on waste management.

4.16 Decommissioning (10 CFR 72.130)

As discussed in Sections 3.5 and 9.6 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is designed for decommissioning. The NUHOMS[®]-12T system is designed to confine all contamination within the DSC and the DSC vent system. License Application Chapter 10 and the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Decommissioning Plan provide more information on the decontamination, dismantlement, and decommissioning of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

CHAPTER 5 OPERATING PROCEDURES -- ADMINISTRATIVE AND MANAGEMENT CONTROLS

General operating procedures for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI are described in Chapter 5 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. These procedures will be developed to minimize the amount of time required to complete the subject operations, to minimize personnel exposure, and to ensure that all operations required for DSC transfer and storage are performed safely and in accordance with applicable regulations. DOE-ID and its M&O contractor have performed similar operations at the INEL including handling spent fuel transfer casks, moving spent fuel storage containers, performing radiation control and monitoring, conducting emergency response activities (including drills), and conducting general maintenance, necessary to ensure operability, environmental protection, and nuclear safety.

Administrative and management controls for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be developed to ensure that the operation of the ISFSI is conducted in a safe manner. A description of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI organizational structure, including delegation of administrative and managerial functions, are contained in Chapter 9 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. A description of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI quality assurance program, including delegation of responsibilities, are provided in Chapter 11 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

In summary, DOE-ID retains ultimate responsibility for the safe operation of the ISFSI and for compliance with all license conditions. To exercise its overall responsibility, DOE-ID will retain responsibility for and perform independent audits of the M&O contractor's INEL TMI-2 ISFSI quality assurance program (both the achievement of quality by M&O contractor management and the verification of quality by M&O contractor quality assurance personnel), ensure the license conditions for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI are included in the M&O contract, assess the performance of the M&O contractor against the terms of the contract, retain the responsibility to budget funds necessary and sufficient to safely operate the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, and revise the M&O contract in the event contract deficiencies are found relative to proper implementation of license conditions. Pursuant to its contract with DOE-ID, the INEL M&O contractor will be required to manage and operate the TMI-2 ISFSI in compliance with all of the NRC requirements and license conditions. These requirements and conditions will be passed to any succeeding M&O contractor as a contract condition throughout the term of the license.

An INEL TMI-2 ISFSI safety review committee will be used to ensure ISFSI operations are performed safely. The safety review committee will review the following: changes to INEL TMI-2 ISFSI operations and maintenance procedures, performance indicators (such as gas samples from the DSC vents and contamination and radiation surveys), 10 CFR 72.48 evaluations, and other records generated during the operation of the ISFSI. This committee will be comprised of senior technical personnel and management personnel with extensive nuclear experience in various areas of expertise. Three core members of the committee will provide the needed management oversight and technical expertise in radiological controls, criticality safety,

and quality assurance. Further details on the safety review committee are provided in Section 9.1 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

Essential to the administrative and management control of INEL TMI-2 ISFSI operations is the availability of qualified technical personnel in areas such as criticality safety, health physics, radiation protection, and quality assurance. The requirements for qualified personnel for DOE-ID and the M&O contractor are provided in Section 9.1.3 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR.

CHAPTER 6 QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Quality Assurance Program is described in Chapter 11 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. This quality assurance program provides the information required by 10 CFR Part 72, Subpart G, Quality Assurance, and covers the engineering aspects of the site investigation, design, procurement, shop fabrication, onsite construction, pre-operational testing, conduct of operations, maintenance, and ultimate decommissioning. DOE-ID will ensure that this quality assurance program is understood by all involved in its execution and that the program will be implemented, as applicable, for all phases of the project.

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Quality Assurance Program applies the applicable portions of DOE/RW-0333P, "Quality Assurance Requirements and Description," Revision 5. DOE/RW-0333P is filed with this application as DOE's quality assurance program description for spent fuel storage and transportation activities. DOE/RW-0333P was written to meet the NRC QA requirements for storage and transport of spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste, including the requirements contained in 10 CFR Part 72, Subpart G, "Quality Assurance." Chapter 11 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR describes how DOE/RW-0333P will be applied for INEL TMI-2 ISFSI activities. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Quality Assurance Program is structured to assure that the planned quality assurance effort is commensurate with the importance to safety of the identified activities and items.

CHAPTER 7 OPERATOR TRAINING

The training program to be used at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is described in Section 9.3 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. The training program provides the information required by 10 CFR 72.28(b) and 10 CFR 72, Subpart I, "Training and Certification of Personnel." DOE-ID commits to maintain an appropriate complement of qualified and certified personnel to conduct ISFSI operations throughout the term of the license. DOE-ID will prepare and submit to the NRC a Training and Certification Plan for ISFSI operation with associated procedures, prior to initiating operations. DOE-ID has delegated the responsibility for developing and implementing this training and certification plan to its M&O contractor. The existing INEL training program will be used to provide general employee training and indoctrination. Additional sections to this program will be added, as described below, to include training specific to the ISFSI.

The sections required to be added to the INEL training program include the following:

- ISFSI General Systems Overview (including nuclear engineering principles)
- ISFSI Technical Specifications and Procedures
- Applicable ISFSI Regulations and Standards
- NUHOMS[®]-12T Loading and Retrieval Operations
- ISFSI-Related Equipment Training
- Transfer cask operations and maintenance
- Transfer trailer operation and maintenance
- Hydraulic ram operation and maintenance
- Automatic welding equipment operation and maintenance
- Vacuum drying system operation and maintenance
- Vent system monitoring, operation and maintenance
- Purging system operation and maintenance

All individuals working in the fuel storage area will receive radiation and safety training. Specialized training will be provided, as appropriate, to operations, maintenance, and health physics personnel. Additionally, operators performing cask and fuel handling operations and DSC vent system surveillance and monitoring will be certified. Supervisory personnel who personally direct the operation of equipment and controls that are important to safety also will be certified in such operations. Retraining, proficiency testing, and recertification of INEL TMI-2 ISFSI personnel will be performed as required. Documentation of training activities and certifications of proficiency will be retained by the M&O contractor.

The training program, in concert with other management systems, ensures that qualified individuals will be available to perform planned and unplanned tasks while protecting the health and safety of plant personnel and the public. DOE-ID and its M&O contractor will provide additional training to support the emergency plan, physical security plan, quality assurance program, and administrative and safety requirements, as required.

CHAPTER 8

INVENTORY AND RECORDS REQUIREMENTS

Material balances and inventories of the TMI-2 core debris to be stored in the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be performed, and records of the spent fuel will be maintained, in accordance with 10 CFR 72.72, "Material balance, inventory, and records requirements for stored materials." Section 9.4.2 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR describes the records management system, including the provision to maintain records on the identity of the spent fuel stored at the TMI-2 ISFSI. A description of the material inventory and records system to be used at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI is provided below.

Records, in the form of electronic media and paper copies, will be kept to show the receipt, inventory, location, and transfer of all TMI-2 core debris at or from the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The records will include the estimated quantity of material contents of each canister containing TMI-2 core debris (TMI-2 canister), including the estimated special nuclear material in each TMI-2 canister (based on original loading quality assurance documentation), TMI-2 canister identification, initial moisture content, and storage location within a specific DSC. The records will also include the movements of each DSC to or within the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, and movements away from the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI to a treatment or interim storage facility. These records will be kept for as long as the spent fuel is stored at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI and will be transferred along with the TMI-2 canisters to another federal facility. A duplicate set of these records will be kept at a separate location away from the location of the principal records, sufficiently remote that a single event will not destroy both sets of records. This duplicate set of records will be kept for a period of five years after the TMI-2 canisters have been removed from the ISFSI.

Administrative controls and labeling of the TMI-2 canisters and the DSCs will be utilized to keep accurate records of material location. Each TMI-2 canister is labeled with a unique designator, and each DSC will be labeled with a unique designator. Information, including location, on all TMI-2 canisters and DSCs will be documented and kept with other INEL TMI-2 ISFSI facility records. Prior to any movement of a DSC to, within, or from the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI facility, facility procedures will require a review of the documentation to help assure that the proper DSC is being moved.

A physical inventory of the DSCs at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be performed annually. Records will be kept of the results of the current inventory and retained until termination of the NRC license. Inventories will be performed in accordance with written procedures, and will consist, primarily, of confirmation that all the DSCs are in their assigned locations by showing there is no evidence of tampering with the door seals of the HSMs. In addition to the inventory procedures, other written material control and accounting procedures will be prepared and implemented, as necessary, to account for the radioactive material in storage. Copies of current material control and accounting procedures will be retained until termination of the NRC license.

CHAPTER 9 PHYSICAL PROTECTION

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Physical Security Plan, which includes the Operator Security Training and Qualification Plan, the Design for Physical Protection, and the Safeguards Contingency Plan, provides the information required by 10 CFR Part 72, Subpart H, "Physical Protection." This security plan is controlled as Safeguards Information and will be submitted under separate cover.

As required by 10 CFR 72.24(o), DOE-ID certifies that it will provide such safeguards at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI as DOE requires at comparable surface DOE facilities to promote the common defense and security.

CHAPTER 10 DECOMMISSIONING PLAN

The Conceptual Plan for Decommissioning the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, filed with this application, provides the information required by 10 CFR 72.30, "Financial Assurance and Recordkeeping for Decommissioning." A description of this plan is provided in Section 9.6 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR. DOE-ID will provide a final decommissioning plan prior to the start of decommissioning work. DOE-ID expects to develop decommissioning and decontamination technologies during the license period and will select and define the appropriate approach in its final decommissioning plan.

The conceptual plan for decommissioning discusses two potential scenarios for decommissioning the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI based on using the DECON (prompt removal/dismantling) decommissioning alternative. The first scenario involves the transport of the TMI-2 canisters, the DSCs, and the HSMs to an off-site facility where the TMI-2 canisters will be stored similar to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The second scenario involves removing the TMI-2 canisters from the DSCs to a licensed 10 CFR Part 71 transportable cask, shipping the TMI-2 canisters to an off-site facility, and disposing all storage and transfer components at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

To facilitate decommissioning, all components of the NUHOMS[®] -12T are manufactured of materials similar to those found at other INEL facilities (e.g., reinforced concrete, carbon steel, and stainless steel). Therefore these components can be decommissioned using the same methods developed to handle similar materials at INEL. Any of the components that may be contaminated can be cleaned or disposed of using the decommissioning technologies available at the time of decommissioning. DOE-ID will decontaminate any contaminated components in accordance with the NRC requirements in effect at the time of decommissioning.

DOE-ID intends to request the necessary funding from Congress to complete decommissioning of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. DOE-ID will request these funds sufficiently in advance of decommissioning to prevent delay of required activities. To support this statement of intent, DOE-ID has prepared a cost estimate for decommissioning and included this estimate in the Conceptual Plan for Decommissioning the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. DOE-ID will update this cost estimate as required.

Recordkeeping in support of decommissioning will be comprised of radiological records (e.g., records of spills or other unusual occurrences leaving fixed contamination and records of all areas designated and formerly designated as restricted areas); as-built drawings and modifications of structures and equipment in restricted areas where radioactive materials are used or stored, and of locations of possible inaccessible contamination; and records of the cost estimate for decommissioning. These records will be maintained in a secure storage area until license termination. Additionally, a list of all areas inside the ISFSI site boundaries designated and formerly designated areas or where spills or other unusual occurrences involving the spread of contamination occurred will be maintained and updated every two years.

CHAPTER 11 EMERGENCY PLAN

The INEL Emergency Plan/RCRA Contingency Plan (referred to as the INEL base plan) and the Addendum #10, TMI-2 ISFSI, to the INEL Base Plan, both filed with this application, provide the information required by 10 CFR 72.32, "Emergency Plan." Because the INEL base plan provides the overall process to respond to and mitigate the consequences of emergencies that may arise at the INEL, and is written to meet DOE emergency planning requirements, ISFSI-specific and NRC-specific requirements are incorporated into the Addendum #10. Furthermore, an appendix to Addendum #10 has been prepared to indicate where the requirements of 10 CFR 72.32(a) are implemented in the INEL base plan and in Addendum #10.

The INEL base plan and Addendum #10 describe the overall process developed to respond to and mitigate any consequences of emergencies that might arise at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The plan and addendum incorporate a number of emergency elements, including: (a) demonstrating hazards and credible events that could result in emergency situations; (b) preparing for those situations with a trained emergency response organization; (c) maintaining emergency equipment and facilities; (d) determining protective actions; (e) maintaining standards and techniques for notifications, classification, consequence assessment, reentry, medical support, and program administration; (f) providing timely and accurate public information; and (g) identifying the diverse elements involved in recovery and reentry.

All primary INEL TMI-2 ISFSI offsite emergency response will be provided by DOE-ID and its M&O contractor personnel located at the INEL. Secondary assistance may be requested by the primary responders from public/private agencies per negotiated agreements if necessary per the INEL base plan, which has undergone public review and comment.

Given the fact that the INEL base plan is established and has been reviewed by and coordinated with participating offsite agencies, DOE-ID considers the requirements for outside review of Addendum #10 per 10 CFR 72.32(a)(14) have been satisfied and no additional review will be conducted. Because credible postulated accidents at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will not result in significant offsite consequences, the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will not present any unique emergency response requirements that are not already covered by the overall INEL base plan.

CHAPTER 12 ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Environmental Report filed with this application provides the information required by 10 CFR 72.34, "Environmental Report"; 10 CFR 72, Subpart E, "Siting Evaluation Factors"; and 10 CFR Part 51, Subpart A, "National Environmental Policy Act - Regulations Implementing Section 102(2)." Reporting requirements specified in 10 CFR Part 72 are described in Section 3.5 and Section 6.2 of the Environmental Report. The Environmental Report describes the environmental effects associated with all aspects of the construction, operation, and decommissioning of the TMI-2 ISFSI and the transportation of the TMI-2 core debris from the TAN facility to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Environmental Report is based on previous NEPA documentation prepared by DOE-ID.

Licensing of the TMI-2 ISFSI activities starts with acceptance of a loaded DSC contained within a shipping cask, mounted on a transport trailer at the TAN facility perimeter. Although the activities at the TAN site (including handling, dewatering, drying, and loading the DSCs) are not subject to NRC regulation, they are covered by DOE National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) documentation and SARs. The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Environmental Report covers NRC licensed activities as well as related preparations in the TAN Pool and transportation to ICPP. The environmental impact of the fuel handling activities at the TAN facility are discussed in the Environmental Assessment of the Test Area North Pool Stabilization Project, DOE/EA-1050.

CHAPTER 13 PROPOSED LICENSE CONDITIONS

Chapter 10 of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI SAR provides the information required by 10 CFR 72.26, "Contents of Application: Technical Specifications," and reflect the requirements of 10 CFR 72.44(c). SAR Chapter 10 discusses the preoperational and general license conditions, including administrative controls; functional and operating limits; limiting conditions; surveillance requirements; and the design features requiring design controls and limits. SAR Chapter 10 identifies the limits and controls required to provide confinement of the stored TMI-2 core debris, to prevent criticality of the core debris, and to prevent radioactive releases resulting in an exposure at the controlled area boundary in excess of 5 rem (pursuant to 10 CFR 72.106) for any design basis accident.

13.1 Preoperational And General License Conditions

Proposed preoperational license conditions are provided to ensure that appropriate procedures are prepared and personnel are trained and certified prior to the receipt of spent nuclear fuel at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. General license conditions include quality assurance requirements, administrative controls, actions to be taken if a technical specification is not met, records to be maintained, and reports to be made to the NRC. A pre-operational test program will be developed to demonstrate all functional and design requirements have been met and verified.

13.2 Functional And Operating Limits

Functional and operating limits are provided for the fuel to be stored at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, DSC surface examination of closure welds, leak testing of DSC vent connections, HSM dose rates, cask/DSC handling height, and cask/DSC handling as a function of low temperature conditions.

13.3 Limiting Conditions

A limiting condition is provided if hydrogen concentrations in the DSC exceeds specified levels. This condition requires purging of the DSC and replacement of the DSC vent system HEPA filters. No other limiting conditions regarding minimum available equipment or operating characteristics apply to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

13.4 Surveillance Requirements

Surveillance requirements are provided for semi-annual sampling of the DSC internal gases, conducting monthly radiation surveys of the DSC vent system HEPA filters, and leak testing the DSC vent connections at five year intervals.

13.5 Design Features

Design features that are important to safe operations of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI and that require design controls and limits are provided. These design features involve the structural integrity and confinement of the DSC, the HSM, and the transport cask; venting of the DSC through HEPA filters; and decay heat removal from the HSM and the transport cask.

13.6 Effluent Monitoring

No effluent monitoring is required for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI.

13.7 Administrative Controls

Administrative controls are described in Chapters 9 and 10 of the SAR. DOE's and its M&O contractor's organizational structures and controls are described in Chapter 9 of the SAR.

CHAPTER 14 CONCLUSION

DOE Idaho Operations Office (DOE-ID) on behalf of the US Department of Energy respectfully requests that the Nuclear Regulatory Commission issue a specific license under 10 CFR Part 72 to authorize the activities described in this application and the referenced documents for DOE-ID to construct and operate an INEL TMI-2 ISFSI for the receipt and storage of the TMI-2 Core Debris. DOE-ID commits to conduct activities associated with the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI in accordance with the requirements of 10 CFR Part 72.

Approved and submitted in compliance with the requirements of 10 CFR Part 72, on behalf of the United States Department of Energy by the authority delegated to me in Delegation Order No. 10CFR72.512.1 signed by the Secretary of Energy,

Original signed by John Wilcynski

John M. Wilcynski, Manager DOE Idaho Operations Office

Date:

CONCEPTUAL PLAN

FOR DECOMMISSIONING

INEL TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation

U. S. Department of Energy

Idaho National Engineering Laboratory

Revision 0

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
2. DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES TO SHIP INEL TMI-2 CANISTERS TO OFF-SITI FEDERAL FACILITY	E 4
3. DESCRIPTION OF DECOMMISSIONING ALTERNATIVE	5
3.1 PHASE 0: PREPARATIONS	
3.1.1 Engineering and Planning	
3.1.2 Site Preparation.	
3.2 PHASE 1: DECOMMISSIONING OPERATIONS AND LICENSE TERMINATION	7
3.3 PHASE 2: SITE RESTORATION	9
4. COST OF DECOMMISSIONING	10
5. DECOMMISSIONING FACILITATION	
6. RECORDKEEPING FOR DECOMMISSIONING	

1. INTRODUCTION

Decommissioning of an ISFSI consists of removing all fuel assemblies and source material from the site, including all radioactive fission and corrosion products and all other radioactive materials having activities above release limits. The facility operator may then have unrestricted use of the site with no requirement for a license. The balance of systems and structures may also be removed. The site is then restored and made available for alternative use.

This decommissioning plan describes the program for the decommissioning of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, which provides for the dry storage of the INEL TMI-2 fuel core debris. The DOE expects to develop decommissioning and decontamination technologies during the license period and will select and define the appropriate approach in its final decommissioning plan. It is preferred to ship the DSC intact to a conditioning facility, an interim above ground storage facility, or a permanent underground geologic repository in a compatible shipping cask licensed under 10 CFR Part 71. At this time, however, the waste acceptance criteria, NEPA documentation, regulatory requirements, and disposal characteristics of spent fuel have not been determined for the final disposition of DOE-owned spent fuel. Resolution of technical, regulatory, safety, legal, and institutional matters would be necessary before the fuel is moved from the INEL. DOE plans to characterize the existing inventory of spent nuclear fuel as required to assess compliance with the repository's disposal criteria and determine what processing, if any, is required to meet these criteria. When this is complete, TMI fuel debris would be shipped to an off-site Federal storage facility or permanent repository.

Three decommissioning alternatives acceptable to the NRC are DECON (prompt removal/ dismantling), SAFSTOR (mothball), and ENTOMB (entombment). Given the low levels of contamination and the relatively small physical plant size associated with a dry storage ISFSI, DECON of the installation is the most reasonable alternative.

It appears at this point that the DECON alternative is the most appropriate for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, therefore, this conceptual plan will discuss this alternative. This plan describes the approaches, elements, and cost estimates associated with the proposed decommissioning program.

The decommissioning plan addresses two potential scenarios for decommissioning the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Scenario 1 involves the transport of the INEL TMI-2 canisters, the DSCs and the HSMs to an off-site facility where the INEL TMI-2 canisters will be stored similar to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. This scenario includes the following key assumptions and elements:

• The INEL TMI-2 canisters will be loaded into a licensed 10 CFR Part 71 transportation cask from the DSCs by using a dry cask to cask transfer system or other suitable method.
- The INEL TMI-2 canisters will be transported to an off-site Federal facility along with the DSC and HSM. At this facility, the INEL TMI-2 canisters will be transferred back to the DSCs and stored in the HSMs. This feature allows for the simple decontamination of the DSC and HSM at ICPP to allow for transport to an off-site facility and for reuse at that facility.
- The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI equipment requiring decontamination will be the DSCs and HSMs to allow their transport to an off-site facility; and the vacuum drying system and welding equipment to be used at that facility.
- Material for disposal will be waste material (such as steel DSC lids, HEPA filters, and vent seals and connections).
- The remaining transfer and transport equipment would be relocated to an off-site facility for use.
- The only element remaining at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be the concrete basemat.

This scenario represents a "best" case relative to decommissioning at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI; however, it also represents a realistic and viable approach given technology advances being pursued in the industry (both DOE and commercial).

Scenario 2 is based on the removal of the INEL TMI-2 canisters from the DSC to a licensed 10 CFR Part 71 transportable cask and the disposal of all storage and transfer components at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The key assumptions and elements of this scenario are:

- The INEL TMI-2 canisters will be loaded into a licensed 10 CFR Part 71 transportation cask from the DSCs by using a dry cask to cask transfer system or other suitable method.
- The INEL TMI-2 canisters will be transported to an off-site facility.
- The INEL TMI-2 ISFSI equipment requiring decontamination will be the DSCs and HSMs to allow for their disposal; and the vacuum drying system and welding equipment prior to free release for reuse with other applications.
- Material for disposal will be waste material (such as steel from the DSC, concrete from the HSMs, HEPA filters, and vent seals and connections).
- It is assumed that the transfer and auxiliary equipment will be available for reuse with other applications or facilities.
- The only element remaining at the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI will be the concrete basemat.

This scenario results in the most material for decontamination and disposal and will represent the highest cost option. For purposes of this plan, Scenario 2 will be selected since it contains all fuel transport features of Scenario 1 and also results in the maximum disposal requirements. However, both scenarios will be reviewed relative to decommissioning cost estimates in order to provide lower and upper bound estimates.

2. DESCRIPTION OF ACTIVITIES TO SHIP INEL TMI-2 CANISTERS TO OFF-SITE FEDERAL FACILITY

Prior to commencement of the decommissioning of the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI, the INEL TMI-2 canisters must be prepared for shipment to an off-site facility. Since the preparation of the INEL TMI-2 canisters for shipment may result in facilities and materials for disposal during decommissioning, it is appropriate to describe the activities required to ship the canisters.

The INEL TMI-2 canisters will be shipped in a 10 CFR Part 71 licensed transport cask. Since the DSCs for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI are not designed or licensed for transportation, the INEL TMI-2 canisters must be removed from the DSCs and transferred to the cask. It is anticipated that the following actions will be performed to provide for shipment of the INEL TMI-2 canisters:

- The DSCs will be removed from the HSMs by use of an approved on-site transfer cask in accordance with specified NUHOMS[®]-12 T procedures, and the transfer cask and DSC will be moved to an existing ICPP facility.
- A dry cask to cask transfer system set up at this ICPP facility can be used for the INEL TMI-2 canister transfer. The dry cask to cask transfer system may be the refurbished INEL TMI-2 equipment or new generation equipment.
- The DSC lid and shield plug will be removed from the DSC in accordance with specified NUHOMS[®]-12T procedures. The INEL TMI-2 canisters will be removed from the DSC and loaded into the transportation cask.
- The transport cask will be closed and the INEL TMI-2 canisters will be shipped to an off-site Federal facility.
- For Scenario 1, the DSC and HSM will be decontaminated to allow for shipment of these components to an off-site Federal facility for reuse in the storage of the INEL TMI-2 canisters. A reverse dry cask to cask transfer process will be performed at an off-site Federal facility and the NUHOMS[®]-12T system would reconfigured.

For Scenario 2, the DSC and HSM will require disposal and will be included in the decommissioning plan. The remainder of this decommissioning plan will address this scenario since it results in the maximum effort. Scenario 1 decommissioning activities will be enveloped by Scenario 2.

3. DESCRIPTION OF DECOMMISSIONING ALTERNATIVE

This section describes the basic activities necessary for the DECON decommissioning alternative specific to the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. Although detailed procedures for each activity required are not provided, and actual sequences of work may vary, the activity descriptions discussed here provide a basis for detailed engineering planning and scheduling at the time of decommissioning. The DECON mode of decommissioning deals with the immediate removal of all radioactivity from the site upon cessation of operations for the fuel storage period. In addition to the removal of radioactivity, this alternative also assumes the removal of the remaining structures from the site; thereby permitting return of the ISFSI for other use. For this decommissioning plan, the final state is based on providing decontamination and removal of radioactivity from the site to meet applicable NRC standards and leaving the basemat intact.

3.1 Phase 0: Preparations

Prior to the commencement of decommissioning operations, detailed preparations will be undertaken to provide a smooth transition from fuel storage and shipping operations to site decommissioning activities. These preparations include engineering planning, surveys of the site areas to determine contamination levels, activation analyses of the horizontal storage modules (HSMs), activation analyses of dry shielded canisters (DSCs) and other site equipment, as well as the assembly of a decommissioning management organization. Final planning for activities and writing of activity specifications and detailed procedures will also begin at this time. Preparations for decommissioning will begin at least three years prior to the projected end of ISFSI operations (final shipment of spent fuel from the ISFSI). At the beginning of this period, submittal of a preliminary decommissioning plan will be sent to the NRC. The activities delineated within this alternative description addresses final preparation work during ISFSI operations, and all postshutdown activities.

3.1.1 Engineering and Planning

DOE-ID will file a Decommissioning Plan (DP) with the NRC describing how it will remove all radioactive components and essentially all radioactivity from the ISFSI site to meet applicable NRC standards. This document is initiated by the DOE three years prior to the final removal of spent fuel from the ISFSI when facility operation ceases. The DP will accompany or precede an application for termination of the facility license. This application must be made within two years following permanent cessation of operations, and in no case later than one year prior to the expiration of the operating license.

The DP will address the decontamination of the site and termination of the facility's license and will include a detailed plan describing the organization and program that will be used during the decommissioning of the facility. The plan will accomplish the required tasks within the As Low

As Reasonably Achievable (ALARA as defined in 10 CFR Part 20) guidelines for protection of personnel from exposure to radiation and radioactive contaminants. It will also clearly describe how the DOE-ID will continue to protect the public and the environment during dismantling activities.

The development of a decommissioning staff within the DOE-ID organization is essential to the successful planning and execution of the decontamination and dismantling of the nuclear facility. This activity not only includes identifying the staff requirements, but also securing the commitment of key personnel.

In preparation for a change in license, NRC regulatory criteria applicable to decommissioning will be reviewed. The existing technical specifications will be reviewed and modified to reflect decommissioning requirements and to delete non-applicable operating specifications.

In addition to the DP, an environmental survey will be provided to the NRC to evaluate the impact of the decommissioning operations on the environment. All applicable records, i.e., asbuilt or revised drawings and specifications, operating records, and site-specific background data, will be needed to support the development of these submittals to the NRC.

For Scenario 2, it is expected that the DSC steel material will contain significant neutron activation. The other components of the storage and transfer system are not expected to have significant neutron activation. However, until final site characterization verifies this to be a fact, it will be assumed that there is some activation of the HSM concrete and steel. Therefore, the preparation activities must include the possibility for addressing neutron activation, as well as the possibility of no detectable activation products. Much of the work in the development of the DP will also be relevant to the development of the detailed engineering plans and procedures. This work includes:

- Site preparation plans for decommissioning activities;
- Detailed procedures and sequences for removal of systems and components;
- Decontamination procedures for the DSCs;
- Procedures for decontaminating the inner surfaces of the HSMs to remove contamination if plans for decontamination of other system, (such as the vacuum drying system), as needed;
- Design / procurement and testing of special equipment;
- Identification / selection of specialty contractors;

- Procedures for removal and disposal of radioactive materials; and
- Sequential planning of activities to minimize conflicts with simultaneous activities.

3.1.2 Site Preparation

Following the final spent fuel shipment and in preparation for actual decommissioning activities, the following activities will be initiated.

- Prepare site support and storage as required;
- Clean all ISFSI areas of loose contamination and process any wastes;
- Conduct radiation surveys of work area contamination and general dose levels; piping and structure dose levels; and activation profiles from HSM shield core samples;
- Calculate residual byproduct material inventory for components and structures, and normalize neutron flux profiles from storage operations to survey data for development of packaging and shipping requirements and decommissioning safety requirements;
- Determine shipping container requirements for activated materials and fabricate such containers if neutron activation is believed to be present, and
- Develop procedures for occupational exposure control, control and release of liquid and gaseous effluents, control of solid radwaste, site security and emergency programs, and industrial safety. These activities will be coordinated with comparable INEL site programs. This alternative presumes that the decommissioning of the ISFSI is performed in accordance with current regulations.

Following approval of the DP by the NRC, the NRC will issue an order authorizing implementation. The DP will then be implemented by the ISFSI operator.

3.2 Phase 1: Decommissioning Operations and License Termination

Decommissioning operations, Phase 1, will begin upon receipt of the NRCs approval of the decommissioning plan, which for this alternative description is assumed to coincide with the final fuel shipment, when all spent fuel is gone from the ISFSI. This allows decontamination and dismantling activities, once started, to proceed unimpeded. Implementation of dismantling procedures may begin upon receipt of the dismantling order from the NRC. For components or

structures at the ISFSI that are determined to be activated above site release levels, the following activities will be performed for the DECON alternative approach for the ISFSI.

General

• Construct temporary enclosures in existing facilities and arrange existing storage facilities to support the dismantling activities. These may include: changing rooms and "hot" laundry for the increased work force, protected and open lay down areas to facilitate equipment removal and shipping operations, and modifications of the existing protected perimeter to control movement to and from the contaminated area.

HSMs

- Design and fabricate special contamination control envelopes to cover the ends of the HSM openings during decontamination activities.
- Procure required waste shipping containers from suppliers.
- Remove, package, and dispose of the activated rails, supports, and door steel. If not activated above site release levels, scrap steel may be removed by an off-site waste handler at no cost to the project.
- Remove activated concrete from within the HSMs by decontaminating the inner surfaces exposed to the neutron flux from the DSCs. The concrete debris will be stacked into highcapacity LSA containers for shipment and burial.
- Perform a radiation survey to assure that the remaining portions of the HSM structure are free of surface contamination.

DSCs

- Remove basket from DSC.
- Decontaminate DSC steel shell, basket internals, and shield plugs.
- Remove, package, and dispose of the activated steel. If not activated above site release levels, scrap steel may be removed by off-site waste handler at no cost to the project.
- Ship and dispose of all remaining radioactive materials (liquid and solids).

- Conduct full radiation survey to assure that all radioactive materials have been removed. This
 may be performed by NRC-approved vendors for final check survey. This survey may
 coincide with final NRC site inspection.
- Following notification by DOE-ID of completion of the decontamination and disposal of components and materials from the facility, the NRC regional staff conducts an on-site survey to verify that the acceptable activity and contamination levels are satisfied. When the requirements are satisfied, the NRC can terminate the 10 CFR Part 72 license for the facility.

3.3 Phase 2: Site Restoration

Following completion of the decommissioning operations, site restoration activities may begin. These activities will be consistent with the overall use of the site at the ICPP. The activities performed for the ISFSI will be consistent with other ISFSIs and include the following:

- Using conventional demolition techniques, remove the remaining portions of the HSMs. Concrete rubble will be disposed of off-site.
- Remove the perimeter security fence.
- Prepare the final dismantling program report.

These activities will ensure that no contamination remains at the site from the ISFSI. The only remaining structure at the site will be the ISFSI basemat.

INEL TMI-2 ISFSI Revision 0

Site

4. COST OF DECOMMISSIONING

The DOE Office of Environmental Management has included the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI decommissioning program in its overall cost estimate for Environmental Management Program at the INEL. DOE will request appropriate funding from Congress at the time of decommissioning.

This section will provide the cost estimates for the decommissioning program for both Scenario 1 and Scenario 2. These options will provide relative upper and lower bounds for the decommissioning costs for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The total decommissioning costs (in 1996 dollars) for the ISFSI are:

- Scenario 1: \$ 2,175,000
- Scenario 2: \$ 2,875,000

A breakdown of the decommissioning costs for each scenario are provided in Table 1.

5. DECOMMISSIONING FACILITATION

Decommissioning of a NUHOMS[®] ISFSI can be performed in a manner consistent with that for decommissioning of other INEL facilities. The NUHOMS[®] system allows the DSCs to be brought to a fuel handling facility for repackaging prior to transport to an off-site facility.

All components of the NUHOMS[®] system are manufactured of materials similar to those found at existing plants (e.g. reinforced concrete and steel). These components can therefore be decommissioned by the same methods in place to handle those materials within INEL. Any of the components that may be contaminated can be cleaned and/or disposed of using the decommissioning technology available at the time of decommissioning.

The NUHOMS[®] system is a dry containment system that effectively confines all contamination within the DSC. When the DSC is removed from the HSM, the free-standing HSM can be manually decontaminated for any trace activity, dismantled and removed from the site. It is possible that a thin layer of material comprising the inner wall of the HSM could become activated by the neutron flux from the fuel after an extended period of service. The specific activity of the HSM inner wall surfaces may be measured at the time of decommissioning and compared with the existing guidelines to determine whether the values allow free release. Disposal procedures can then be developed which comply with existing guidelines at the time of decommissioning.

6. RECORDKEEPING FOR DECOMMISSIONING

Records that support decommissioning will be treated as quality assurance records. They will be obtained and archived in accordance with the records management plans and controls as described in the Quality Assurance Plan for the INEL TMI-2 ISFSI. The recordkeeping requirements are included in 10 CFR 72.30(d) and require that the DOE keep records important to the safe and effective decommissioning of the facility in an identified location until the license is terminated by the Commission. The records important to decommissioning include the following:

- Records of spills or other unusual occurrences involving the spread of contamination in and around the facility, equipment or site. These records may be limited to instances when contamination remains after any cleanup procedures or when there is reasonable likelihood that contaminants may have spread to inaccessible areas. These records must include any known information on identification of involved nuclides, quantities, forms, and concentrations.
- As-built drawings and modifications of structures and equipment in restricted areas where radioactive materials are used and/or stored, and of locations of possible inaccessible contamination.
- A list contained in a single document and updated no less than every 2 years of the following:
 - All areas designated and formerly designated as restricted areas as defined under 10 CFR 20.1003
 - All areas outside of restricted areas that require documentation under 10 CFR 72.30(d)
- Records of the cost estimate performed for the decommissioning funding plan or of the amount certified for decommissioning, and records of the funding method used for assuring funds.

These records are kept from the initiation of ISFSI activities until the site is decommissioned and the license expires.

Table 1

Decommissioning Cost Estimate

ITEM	Scenario 1 Cost Estimate	Scenario 2 Cost Estimate
1. Decommissioning plan development	\$ 150,000	\$ 150,000
2. Site preparation	\$ 100,000	\$ 100,000
 3. Decommissioning operations: a. HSMs b. DSCs c. Other d. Total 	\$ 150,000 \$ 1,300,000 \$ 50,000 \$ 1,500,000	\$ 600,000 \$ 1,500,000 \$ 100,000 \$2,200,000
4. Site restoration	\$ 150,000	\$ 150,000
5. Recordkeeping	\$ 200,000	\$ 200,000
6. Licensing	\$ 75,000	\$ 75,000
TOTAL COST	\$ 2,175,000	\$ 2,875,000

Environmental Report

U. S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY'S ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT -INDEPENDENT SPENT FUEL STORAGE INSTALLATION (ISFSI) LICENSE FOR THE THREE MILE ISLAND UNIT TWO (TMI-2) FUEL

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Dago

rage	
1. PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSED ISFSI	
1 1 DIIDDOSE	
1 2 DECISIONS AI DEADY MADE BY DOE	
1.2 DESCRIPTION OF THE TML 2 DEPRIS	
1.5 DESCRIPTION OF THE IMI-2 DEDRIS	
1.4 FIGURES AND REFERENCES	
1.4.1 FIGURES	
1.4.2 REFERENCES	
2. THE SITE AND ENVIRONMENTAL INTERFACES	
2.1 GEOGRAPHY AND DEMOGRAPHY	
2.1.1 SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION	
2.1.2 POPULATION DISTRIBUTION:	
2.1.3 USES OF ADJACENT LANDS AND WATERS	
2 2 ECOLOGY 2-5	
2 2 1 FLORA 2-5	
2 2 7 7 FATINA 2-6	
2 2 2 THDEATENED AND ENDANGERED SPECIES 2-6	
2.2.5 THREATENED AND ENDANGERED STECTES	
2.2.4 WEILANDS	
2.2. CLINATOLOGY AND METEODOLOGY	
2.3 CLIMATOLOGT AND METEOROLOGT	
2.4 HIDROLOGI	
2.4. I SURFACE WATER $2=10$	
2.4.2 SUBSURFACE WATER	
2.5 GEOLOGI	
2.5.1 GENERAL GEOLOGI	
2.5.2 GEULUGIC RESOURCES	1
2.5.5 SEISMIC HAZARDS	2
2.3.4 VOLCANIC HAZARDS	
2.6 REGIONAL HISTORIC, ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES, HISTORIC STRUCTURES,	
CULIUKAL, SCENIC, AND NATUKAL FEATURES	ł
2.6.1 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES, HISTORIC STRUCTURES, AND CULTURAL	,
RESOURCES	
2.6.2 NATIVE AMERICAN CULTURAL RESOURCES	
2.6.3 PALEONTOLOGICAL RESOURCES	,
2.6.4 VISUAL AND SCENIC RESOURCES	
2.7 NOISE	1
2.8 FIGURES, TABLES, AND REFERENCES	1
2.8.1 FIGURES	
2.8.2 TABLES	
2.8.3 REFERENCES	,
3. THE DRY STORAGE SYSTEM	
3.1 EXTERNAL APPEARANCE	
3.2 REACTOR AND STEAM-ELECTRIC SYSTEM	
3.3 WATER USE	
3.4 HEAT DISSIPATION SYSTEM	
3.5 RADWASTE SYSTEMS AND SOURCE TERM	1
3.5.1 SOURCE TERM	?

2 5 2 I TOTILD PADWASTE SYSTEM 2 2
5.5.2 LIQUID RADWASTE STSTEM
3.5.3 GASEOUS RADWASTE SYSTEM
3.5.4 SOLID RADWASTE SYSTEMS
3.5.5 PROCESS AND EFFLUENT MONITORING
3.6 CHEMICAL AND BIOCIDE WASTES
3.7 SANITARY AND OTHER WASTE SYSTEMS
3.8 REPORTING OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL MOVEMENT
3.9 TRANSMISSION FACILITIES 3-4
3 10 FIGURES TABLES AND DEFEDENCES 3-4
2 10 1 FIGURES, TREES, AND REFERENCES
2 10 2 TADIES
5.10.2 IABLES
3.10.3 REFERENCES
4. ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS OF SITE PREPARATION AND CONSTRUCTION 4-1
A DAVING MADA HAD DIEDOID OF SHED INDIANITON AND CONSTRUCTION
4.1 SITE PREPARATION AND CONSTRUCTION
4.1.1 EFFECTS ON LAND USE
4.1.2 EFFECTS ON WATER BODIES USE
4.1.3 IMPACT OF WORK FORCE 4-2
A 1 A IMPACT OF CONSTRUCTION GENERATED FUGITIVE DUST
A 1 5 IMPACT ON WILDLIEF
4.1.5 IMPACT ON WILDLIFE
4.1.6 CONSTRUCTION NOISE
4.2 TRANSMISSION FACILITIES CONSTRUCTION
4.3 RESOURCES COMMITTED
4.3.1 LAND
4.3.2 WATER
4.3.3 AIR
4.3.4 BIOTA
4.3.5 MATERIALS
4 3 6 SUMMARY OF RESOURCES COMMITTED
A A PADIOACTIVITY
4.5 CONSTRUCTION IN TACT CONTROL DROCRAM
4.5 CONSTRUCTION IMPACT CONTROL PROGRAM
4.5.1 CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC CONTROL
4.5.2 DUST AND PARTICULATE EMISSION CONTROL
4.5.3 NOISE CONTROL
4.5.4 CHEMICAL WASTE MANAGEMENT
4.5.5 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT
4.5.6 SITE CLEARING
4.5.7 EXCAVATION AND SOIL DISPOSITION
4.6 FIGURES AND REFERENCES 4-6
4 6 1 FIGURES 4-6
A 6 2 REFERENCES
4.0.2 REFERENCES
5. ENVIRONMENTAL AFFECTS OF ISFSI OPERATION
5.1 EFFECTS OF OPERATION OF HEAT DISSIPATION SYSTEM
5.2 RADIOLOGICAL IMPACT FROM ROUTINE OPERATION
5.2.1 ANALYSIS OF ISFSI CONTRIBUTION
5.2.2 ANALYSIS OF MULTIPLE CONTRIBUTION
5.3 EFFECTS OF CHEMICAL AND BIOCIDE DISCHARGES
5.4 EFFECTS OF OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE TRANSMISSION SYSTEM5-2
5.5 OTHER EFFECTS
5.5.1 NOISE IMPACT
5 5 2 CLIMATOLOGICAL IMPACT
5.5.2 UMPACT ON LOCAL WILDLIEF
5.5.4 NADACT EDOLA WILDLIFE
S A INAMAL I H WINA DININGH

5.6 RESOURCES COMMITTED	5-3
5.7 DECOMMISSONING AND DISMANTLING	5-3
5.8 REFERENCES	5-3
6. EFFLUENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL MEASUREMENTS AND MONITORING	
PROGRAMS	6-1
6.1 APPLICANT'S PREOPERATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMS	6-1
6.2 APPLICANT'S PROPOSED OPERATIONAL MONITORING PROGRAMS	6-2
6.3 RELATED ENVIRONMENTAL MEASUREMENT AND MONITORING PROGRAMS	6-2
6.4 FIGURES AND REFERENCES	6-2
6.4.1 FIGURES	6-2
6.4.2 REFERENCES	6-2
7. ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS OF ACCIDENTS	7-1
7.1 FACILITY ACCIDENTS INVOLVING RADIOACTIVITY	7-1
7.2 TRANSPORTATION ACCIDENTS INVOLVING RADIOACTIVITY	7-1
7.3 OTHER ACCIDENTS	7-1
7.4 TABLES AND REFERENCES	. 7-2
7.4.1 TABLES	7-2
7.4.2 REFERENCES	7-2
8. ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL EFFECTS OF SYSTEM CONSTRUCTION AND	
OPERATION	8-1
8.1 ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE	8-1
8.2 REFERENCES	8-2
9. ALTERNATIVE STORAGE METHODS, SITES, AND SYSTEM DESIGNS	9-1
10. ENVIRONMENTAL APPROVALS AND CONSULTATION	10-1
10.1 REFERENCES	10-1
APPENDIX A - ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS	A-1

1. PURPOSE OF THE PROPOSED ISFSI

1.1 PURPOSE

This Environmental Report provides information for the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) to use in the analysis of licensing the INEL TMI-2 independent spent fuel storage installation (ISFSI). This report identifies environmental impacts associated with (a) constructing an ISFSI at the Idaho Chemical Processing Plant (ICPP) for receipt of the TMI-2 debris; (b) transporting the debris from TAN to ICPP for placement in the ISFSI, and (c) operation and subsequent decommissioning of the ISFSI. This report describes in a summary fashion the reasonably foreseeable environmental impacts that the Department of Energy (DOE) analyzed previously in NEPA documents and provides information required by NRC for the environmental analysis associated with licensing. This report has been prepared to meet the requirements of 10 CFR 51.45 and 10 CFR 51.61 using Regulatory Guide 4.2 (NRC 1976) to the extent they are applicable to a facility of this type based on the NEPA analysis prepared and decisions previously made by DOE.

The ISFSI would be an aboveground dry storage system that would be constructed to store the 344 canisters¹ of spent nuclear fuel (SNF) core debris from the March, 1979, Three Mile Island Unit 2 (TMI-2) reactor accident. These canisters would be removed from wet storage at the Test Area North (TAN) pool and placed in dry shielded canisters (DSCs). The DSCs are transported to ICPP in transport casks and placed in storage at the ISFSI. DOE is conducting this action since the TAN Pool, constructed in 1954, has vulnerabilities that include inadequate corrosion monitoring, and lack of a leak detection system or double containment for the pool water (Vol. 2, Part A, Section 2.2.5.2, DOE 1995). The TMI-2 ISFSI would (a) receive the transport cask, (b) transfer the DSC containing the SNF from the transport cask into storage, (c) store the SNF, (d) allow inspection and monitoring of key safety parameters during storage, and (e) provide for retrievability of the SNF (10 CFR 72.122). The system is designed to enable the TMI-2 canisters to move through the process in an unopened container during shipment from TAN and storage at ICPP. Following storage at ICPP, the TMI-2 canisters would be shipped to an offsite facility.

1.2 DECISIONS ALREADY MADE BY DOE

DOE has made a decision to construct and operate an ISFSI within the boundaries of an existing facility, ICPP (Figure 1-1), located at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory (INEL), a DOE facility. DOE has prepared extensive NEPA documentation analyzing the environmental impacts of this project, a decision to proceed with the

¹ A canister is a thin-walled, unshielded metal container used to hold fuel assemblies or debris. Canisters are used in combination with specialized "overpacks" (or casks) that provide shielding and structural support for transportation or storage purposes.

project has been made, and the public has been notified of this decision. The following summarizes this NEPA process and accompanying decisions.

FEIS Analysis (April, 1995)--- DOE completed a Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS) (DOE 1995) in April 1995 that analyzed two different, but related questions. The Volume 1 portion of that EIS evaluated reasonable programmatic alternatives to the management of DOE's inventory of spent nuclear fuel. Volume 2 of the EIS analyzed reasonable alternatives to the waste management and environmental restoration programs at the INEL over the next ten years of the EIS. Impacts associated with the TAN Pool fuel transfer were analyzed in the FEIS at Volume 2, in both Part A, regarding the potential environmental impacts associated with this project and the sitewide cumulative impacts perspective, and Part B, at C-2.1, a project-specific analysis as one of the INEL's ongoing projects. The project's potential environmental impacts from removal from the pool, transportation, facility construction, and facility operation are analyzed in the FEIS.

ROD (May 30, 1995)--- The FEIS Record of Decision (ROD) (DOE 1995a) was issued on May 30, 1995. The first decision made by the Department was to "Regionalize" the management of DOE's SNF, such that the production reactor fuel at the Hanford Site would remain at Hanford; the aluminum clad fuel would be moved to, and managed at the Savannah River Site; and all non-aluminum clad fuel would be moved to, and managed at the INEL. By virtue of this decision, DOE decided that the SNF at TAN would be managed at the INEL, rather than managed at some other site. As a result of the analysis in Volume 2, DOE decided to conduct its environmental restoration and waste management activities at the INEL using one approach analyzed in the EIS known as the "Ten Year Plan." The Ten Year Plan decision involves completing certain identified actions and initiate new projects to enhance cleanup, manage laboratory wastes, and spent nuclear fuel. The Appendix to the ROD states more specifically the decisions made by the Department. DOE decided, as part of the management of this SNF, to construct a new dry storage system for the storage of the Three Mile Island fuel upon receipt of any required approvals of the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

Litigation/Settlement Agreement (October 16, 1995)---The federal court case filed by the State of Idaho against DOE challenging the adequacy of the analyses in the FEIS was settled on October 16, 1995. The settlement agreement (DOE 1995b) among the Department of Energy, the Department of the Navy, and the State of Idaho was approved by the court on October 17, 1995 and incorporated into a consent order. In that Agreement, the parties agreed that all of the TMI fuel would be removed from the state of Idaho by January 1, 2035. In paragraph E.7 of the Settlement Agreement/Consent Order, the parties agreed that DOE would complete construction of the Three Mile Island dry storage facility by December 31, 1998, commence moving fuel into the facility by March 31, 1999, and complete moving fuel into the facility by June 1, 2001.

Amended ROD (February 28, 1996)---On February 28, 1996, DOE published an amended ROD in the Federal Register reflecting the terms of the Settlement Agreement/Consent Order. No changes were made in DOE's decision to proceed with the TAN Pool Fuel Transfer Project or the construction of a dry storage facility for the TMI-2 fuels.

Test Area North Pool Stabilization Project Environmental Assessment and FONSI (May 6, 1996) An Environmental Assessment (EA) (DOE 1996b) was prepared to analyze the potential impacts associated with stabilizing the pool at TAN. The scope of that impact analysis included an analysis of the potential environmental impacts associated with the proposed action of dewatering and removing the canisters of the TMI fuels from the TAN pool, draining and treating the water, construction of a dry storage facility at ICPP, transporting the fuels from TAN to ICPP, storage at ICPP, and stabilizing the TAN pool. Because no significant environmental impacts were identified, DOE issued a Finding of No Significant Impact (FONSI) (DOE 1996c) and announced its decision to proceed with implementing this alternative.

1.3 DESCRIPTION OF THE TMI-2 DEBRIS

The TMI-2 core debris was shipped to the INEL from Pennsylvania between 1986 and 1990 and placed in the TAN Pool for examination as part of the TMI Core Offsite Examination Program. The objectives of this program were to: (a) provide the analytical data necessary to understand the accident sequence that occurred in the TMI-2 reactor, and (b) provide a data base for predicting nuclear fuel behavior during a degraded core cooling situation.

The damaged TMI-2 core material contained in the canisters does not consist of intact fuel assemblies or fuel rods typical of normal commercial fuels. The core material is an agglomerate of the various items that existed within the reactor vessel after the accident. Because of this, the TMI-2 core debris differs from normal commercial SNF and was placed in canisters in order to be shipped from the TMI-2 reactor to Idaho for examination. The debris was placed in three types of cylindrical stainless-steel canisters: fuel, knockout, and filter. The fuel canisters are receptacles for large pieces of core debris, the knockout canisters were designed to contain smaller debris, and the filter canisters contain stainless-steel filters and fines that were collected in the filters during defueling operations. Neutron absorbing materials (boron carbide poison in the form of plates or rods) were designed into each type of canister to prevent criticality events.

Due to the characteristics of the damaged fuel, the TMI-2 canisters are designed to vent radiolytic generated hydrogen and oxygen. Venting is accomplished through a vent orifice located in the top of each canister. Orifices were sealed using protective caps for canister shipment from TMI in Pennsylvania to the INEL. The canisters were received at TAN and placed in the TAN Pool, the protective caps removed, and the canisters flooded with demineralized water. To allow radiolytic gases generated within the canisters to escape, the vent port on each canister was connected to a water-filled vent tube that extends upwards above the pool water surface.

Transfer of the TMI-2 debris from TAN to ICPP would require the TMI-2 canisters to be loaded into a NUHOMS[®] DSC. The DSC would then be loaded into the transport cask.

The transport cask would be placed on a special use trailer, inspected, and transported by truck to the TMI-2 ISFSI at ICPP. Transportation from TAN to ICPP would be conducted in accordance with a route specific license that would be obtained from the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC). The fenced ISFSI site would have a series of modular storage units called Horizontal Storage Modules (HSM) located on a concrete pad. The HSMs are a passive storage module designed to provide shielding and safe confinement of spent nuclear fuel. Upon arrival of the transport cask at the ISFSI, the trailer would be positioned at the HSM for cask transfer. The transport cask lid and ram-port cover would be removed, whereby the ram would push the DSC into a vacant position in a HSM. The HSM storage door would then be installed, the DSC vent system connected, and the transport cask prepared for return to TAN to repeat the operation. It is anticipated that twenty-nine trips would be required to transport all the TMI-2 canisters from TAN to ICPP.

1.4 FIGURES AND REFERENCES

1.4.1 FIGURES

1.1 Aerial Photo of ICPP and the TMI-2 ISFSI Site

1.4.2 REFERENCES

DOE 1993, Report on Interim Storage of Spent Nuclear Fuel, The Midwestern Office of The Council of State Governments, DOE/CH/10402-22, April

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, April

DOE 1995a, Record of Decision for the Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, May 30

DOE 1995b, "Settlement Agreement" between the State of Idaho, Department of the Navy, and the Department of Energy." Oct. 16

DOE 1996a Amendment to Record of Decision on the Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement. February 28

DOE 1996b, Environmental Assessment of the Test Area North Pool Stabilization Project, DOE/EA-1050, May.

DOE 1996c, Finding of No Significant Impact for the Test Area North Pool Stabilization Project at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, May 6

NRC 1976, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Regulatory Guide 4.2, Revision 2, Preparation of Environmental Reports for Nuclear Power Stations, NUREG-0099, July



Aerial photo of ICPP with TMI - 2 ISFSI Site

2. THE SITE AND ENVIRONMENTAL INTERFACES

2.1 GEOGRAPHY AND DEMOGRAPHY

2.1.1 SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION

The ISFSI is to be located at the INEL, one of nine multiprogram laboratories within the DOE complex. The INEL area measures about 37.5 mi (60.3 km) north to south and about 34.8 mi (56.0 km) east to west. Figure 2-1 depicts the location of the INEL in relation to Idaho and adjacent states, Figure 2-2 shows the location of the INEL relative to surrounding cities. Most of the INEL is located within Butte County, but portions are also within Bingham, Bonneville, Jefferson, and Clark counties. The ICPP is located totally within Butte County.

The INEL has nine primary facility areas situated on an expanse of otherwise undeveloped, high-desert terrain. The ISFSI would be sited at the ICPP, a facility with the mission to receive and store spent nuclear fuels and radioactive wastes. Other INEL facilities include Test Area North (TAN), Naval Reactors Facility (NRF), Test Reactor Area (TRA), Central Facilities Area (CFA), Power Burst Facility (PBF), Auxiliary Reactor Area (ARA), Argonne National Laboratory-West (ANL-W), and the Radioactive Waste Management Complex (RWMC). The INEL is the current wet storage site for the TMI-2 core debris.

The geographic center of the ICPP is easting 43° 34' 13" latitude, northing 112° 55' 56" longitude. The Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM) coordinates of the proposed ISFSI location within ICPP are 213.665 mi (343.867 km) east by 2998.424 mi (4825.583 km) north, Zone 12.

The ISFSI site is located in a flat-lying area near the Big Lost River in the south central part of the INEL. The area is underlain by about 30 to 60 ft (9-18 m) of Big Lost River alluvial silts, sands, and gravels, which lie on an alternating sequence of basalt lava flows and interbedded sediments extending to a depth of about 2,000 to 2,300 ft (600 to 700 m). Landforms in the vicinity of ISFSI consist of braided channels (some abandoned) of the Big Lost River to the west and north of the site, and irregular flow lobes of basalt lavas to the east of the site.

2.1.1.1 Site Area

The INEL site, controlled by the DOE, occupies about 890 square miles (2,300 km²). The ISFSI would occupy approximately 2 acres (.8 ha) within the ICPP complex such that a 100 meter radius includes current areas of the ICPP (Figure 2-3). As depicted in Figure 2-4, the shortest distance from the ICPP to the INEL site boundary is to the south, a distance of 8.5 mi (13.7 km). The next closest INEL boundary to ICPP is 8.6 mi (13.8 km) to the northwest. The INEL is remote from major population centers, waterways, and interstate transportation routes. The INEL has no permanent residents, and ingress and egress of site personnel for performance of their duties and visiting personnel on official business are strictly controlled by the DOE. Visitor access to the INEL is restricted, except for persons driving through the INEL on one of four public highways and visitors to the Experimental Breeder Reactor-1 (EBR-1), National Historical Monument, which is open to the public during the summer months.

Limited recreational activities and grazing are allowed within the INEL under special requirements (see Section 2.1.3.1). There are eight nuclear facilities within a 50 mi (80 km) radius of the ICPP (Table 2-1).

2.1.1.2 Boundaries for Establishing Effluent Release Limits

The INEL boundary (site boundary lines), shown in Figure 2-2, establishes the exclusion area, defined in 10 CFR Part 100, for protection from exposure to airborne radioactivity. The relative position of the ICPP within the INEL and distances to the property boundary is depicted in Figure 2-4.

2.1.2 POPULATION DISTRIBUTION² (Refer to Section 4.3.2.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995):

From 1960 to 1990, population growth in the region of influence mirrored State-wide growth. During this period, the region's population increased at an average annual rate of approximately 1.3 percent, while the growth rate for the State was 1.4 percent. Between 1980 and 1990, population growth in the region of influence approximately equaled that of the State, with an average growth rate of 0.6 percent per year. The region of influence had a 1990 population of 219,713, which comprised 22 percent of the State's total population of 1,006,749. The most populous counties were Bannock and Bonneville, which together contained over 60 percent of the seven county total. Butte and Clark were the least populous of the counties in the region of influence.

The population within a 50-mile (80-kilometer) circle centered at Argonne National Laboratory-West (on the INEL site) has been characterized for the purposes of identifying whether any disproportionately high and adverse impacts might exist to minority or low-income populations. The population within this circle surrounding the INEL site is shown to be 7 percent minority and 14 percent low-income, based on U.S. Bureau of Census information and the definitions and approach presented in Section 8.1 on Environmental Justice.

² Populations in this section are discussed from three viewpoints: (1) "region of influence" as identified in Appendix F, Section F-1, Socioeconomics of the FEIS (DOE 1995) was determined to be a seven-county area comprised of Bingham, Bonneville, Butte, Clark, Jefferson, Bannock, and Madison counties where over 97 percent of the INEL employees reside. The region of influence includes the Fort Hall Indian Reservation and Trust Lands (home of the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes), located in Bannock, Bingham, Caribou, and Power counties; (2) a 50mile circle centered at Argonne National Laboratory- West for the purposes of identifying whether disproportionately high and adverse impacts might exist to minority or low-income populations; and (3) a 50-mile circle centered at the ICPP to show population densities from the proposed site.

Population in the region of influence is projected to reach 276,395 persons by 2004 based on population and employment trends. Over the period 1990 to 2004, the average annual growth rate is projected to be 1.6 percent compared to a projected State-wide annual growth rate of 1.7 percent.

Figures 2-5, 2-6, 2-7, and 2-8 show population densities, based on the 1990 Census, for the years 1990 through 2020 at 10-year intervals for the 50 mile (80 km) radius around ICPP. Also shown are the relative locations of the major towns. The nearest populated area to the INEL is Atomic City, population about 30, located approximately 1 mile (1.6 km) from the southern INEL boundary and about 11 miles (18 km) from the ICPP.

2.1.2.1 Population Within 10 Miles

There are no permanent residents or cities or towns within a 10-mile (16-km) circle centered at the ICPP (Figure 2-5). However, several INEL facilities, such as the CFA, TRA, and the RWMC are within 10 miles of the ICPP. Also, the Experimental Breeder Reactor I (EBR-I), a National Historic Landmark, is located southwest and within 10 miles of the ICPP. Institutional control would continue to restrict access to INEL lands for the next 100 years (DOE 1996), thus population within 10 miles (16 km) of the ICPP is unlikely to change through 2035.

2.1.2.2 Population Within 10 and 50 Miles

The population between 10 and 50 miles of the ICPP is about 118,644 (Figure 2-5). The two largest cities within the region of influence are Pocatello and Idaho Falls, with 1990 populations of approximately 46,000 and 44,000, respectively. In 1990, the Fort Hall Indian Reservation and Trust Lands contained 5,113 residents. The age distribution within the region of influence, over a seven county area is shown in Table 2-2. Expected population growth through 2020 is depicted in Figures 2-6, 2-7, and 2-8.

2.1.2.3 Transient Population

Year round variations in populations are caused by the daily influx of the INEL workforce. About 4,110 workers are employed within 10 miles (16 km) of the ICPP (Table 2-3). U. S. Highways 20 and 26 pass through the site and are within 10 miles (16 km) of ICPP. Traffic on these highways, other than the daily site traffic, is related to travel between cities surrounding the site and the many recreational opportunities in the area (see Section 2.1.3.2). The projected INEL workforce for the year 2004 is 7,250 (DOE 1995).

2.1.3 USES OF ADJACENT LANDS AND WATERS

The INEL site encompasses 571,000 acres (230,000 ha) within Butte, Bingham, Bonneville, Jefferson, and Clark counties. This section includes a brief description of existing land uses on and immediately surrounding the INEL, and applicable land use plans and policies.

2.1.3.1 Existing and Planned Land Uses at the INEL (Refer to Section 4.2.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Categories of land use at the INEL site include facility operations, grazing, general open space, and infrastructure, such as roads. Facility operations include industrial and support operations associated with energy research and waste management activities. Land is also used for recreation and environmental research associated with the designation of the INEL as a National Environmental Research Park. Much of the INEL site is open space that has not been designated for specific uses. Some of this space serves as a buffer zone between INEL facilities and other land uses. About 2 percent of the total INEL site area (11,400 ac or 4,600 ha) is used for facilities and operations. Public access to most facility areas is restricted. Approximately 6 percent of the INEL site, or 34,260 acres (13,870 ha), is devoted to public roads and utility rights-of-way that cross the site. Recreational uses include public tours of general facility areas and EBR-I and controlled hunting, that is generally restricted to half a mile (0.8 km) within the INEL boundary. Between 300,000 and 350,000 acres (121,000 and 142,000 ha) are used for cattle and sheep grazing. A 900-acre (400-ha) portion of this land, located at the junction of Idaho State Highways 28 and 33, is used by the U.S. Sheep Experiment Station as a winter feed lot for approximately 6,500 sheep. Grazing is not allowed within 2 miles (3 km) of any nuclear facility, and, to avoid the possibility of milk contamination by long-lived radionuclides, dairy cattle are not permitted. Rights-of-way and grazing permits are granted and administered by the U.S. Department of the Interior's Bureau of Land Management. Selected land uses at the INEL and in the surrounding region are presented in Figure 2-9.

2.1.3.2 Existing and Planned Land Use in Surrounding Areas (Refer to Section 4.2.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Lands surrounding the INEL site are owned by the Federal government, the State of Idaho, and private parties. Land uses on federally owned land consist of grazing, wildlife management, range land, mineral and energy production, and recreation. State-owned lands are used for grazing, wildlife management, and recreation. Privately owned lands are used primarily for grazing, crop production, and range land.

Small communities and towns located near the INEL boundaries include Mud Lake to the east; Arco, Butte City, and Howe to the west; and Atomic City to the south. The larger communities of Idaho Falls/Ammon, Rexburg, Blackfoot, and Pocatello/Chubbuck are located to the east and southeast of the INEL site. The Fort Hall Indian Reservation is located southeast of the INEL site. Recreation and tourist attractions in the region surrounding the INEL site include Craters of the Moon National Monument, Hell's Half Acre Wilderness Study Area, Black Canyon Wilderness Study Area, Camas National Wildlife Refuge, Market Lake State Wildlife Management Area, North Lake State Wildlife Management Area, Yellowstone National Park, Targhee and Challis National Forests, Sawtooth National Recreation Area, Sawtooth Wilderness Area, Sawtooth National Forest, Grand Teton National Park, Jackson Hole recreation complex, and the Snake River (see Figure 2-10).

All county plans and policies encourage development adjacent to previously developed areas in order to minimize the need to extend infrastructure improvements and to avoid urban sprawl (DOE-ID 1993d). Because the INEL is remotely located from most developed areas, INEL lands and adjacent areas are not likely to experience residential and commercial development, and no new development is planned near the INEL site (DOE-ID 1993d). However, recreational and agricultural uses are expected to increase in the surrounding area in response to greater demand for recreational areas and the conversion of range land to crop land (DOE-ID 1993d).

2.2 ECOLOGY

This section describes the biotic resources on the INEL site, which are typical of the Great Basin and Columbia Plateau. Threatened and endangered species, wetlands, and the extent of human-caused radionuclides in plants and animals are discussed. Only those biotic resources in the immediate vicinity of the ICPP are expected to be affected by this action. However, because other resources such as more mobile species like pronghorn could be affected, biotic resources for the entire INEL site also are briefly described.

2.2.1 FLORA (Refer to Section 4.9.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Vegetation on the INEL site is primarily of shrub-steppe vegetation and is a small fraction of the 111.2 million acres (45 million ha) of this vegetation type found in the Intermountain West. The 15 vegetation associations identified on the INEL site range from primarily shadscale-steppe vegetation at lower altitudes through sagebrush- and grass-dominated communities to juniper woodlands along the foothills of the nearby mountains and buttes (Rope et al. 1993, Kramber et al. 1992, Anderson 1991). These associations can be grouped into six types: juniper woodland, native grassland, shrubsteppe, lava, modified, and wetland vegetation types (Figure 2-11). Over 90 percent of the INEL is covered by shrub-steppe vegetation, which is dominated by big sagebrush (Artemisia tridentata), saltbush (Atriplex spp.), and rabbitbrush (Chrysothamnus spp.). Grasses include cheatgrass (Bromus tectorum), Indian ricegrass (Oryzopsis hymenoides), wheatgrasses, (Agropyron spp.), and squirreltail (Sitanion hysterix). Herbaceous plants include phlox (Phlox spp.), wild onion (Allium), milkvetch (Astragalus spp.), Russian thistle (Salsola kali), and various mustards. Additional detailed information on plant communities is described in Rope et al. (1993).

Disturbed areas (grazing not included) cover only 1.3 percent of the INEL site. Disturbed areas frequently are dominated by introduced annuals, including Russian thistle and cheatgrass. These species usually provide less food and cover for wildlife compared to perennial native species and are competitive with perennial native species. Therefore, these disturbed areas serve as a source of seeds that may increase the potential for the increased establishment of Russian thistle and cheatgrass into the surrounding undisturbed areas. Vegetation adjacent to each facility is generally similar to the vegetation types mapped in Figure 2-11. Vegetation within each facility area is primarily disturbed or landscaped. Species diversity on the INEL is similar to diversity on like-sized areas and physiognomy in the Intermountain west. The diversity on the INEL is heavily influenced by the shrub-steppe vegetation covering over 90 percent of the INEL. Diversity is lower on disturbed and modified areas and higher on areas of greater moisture content.

However, site-specific information indicates that the area immediately surrounding the ICPP is dominated by crested wheatgrass (Agropyron cristatum), a European perennial grass seeded in disturbed areas to provide cover and hold soil.

2.2.2 FAUNA (Refer to Section 4.9.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The INEL site supports animal communities typical of shrub-steppe vegetation and habitats. Over 270 vertebrate species have been observed, including 46 mammal, 204 bird, 10 reptile, 2 amphibian, and 9 fish species (Arthur et al. 1984, Reynolds et al. 1986). Common species include small mammals (mice, ground squirrels, rabbits, and hares), elk, songbirds (sage sparrow, western meadowlark), sage grouse, lizards, and snakes. Migratory species, including pronghorn, waterfowl, and raptors, use the INEL site for part of the year. Some pronghorn remain on the site year round. Predators observed on the INEL site include bobcats, mountain lions, and coyotes. Trout and salmon species have been observed in the Big Lost River when it has flowed on to the INEL site.

2.2.3 THREATENED AND ENDANGERED SPECIES (Refer to Section 4.9.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Two Federally listed endangered and threatened species, the bald eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus) and the gray wolf (Canis lupus) have been identified by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service as potentially occurring on the INEL site (Martin 1996). Bald eagles listed as threatened are observed each winter near or on the INEL, but only in the remote areas of the INEL about 20 miles (32 km) north of the TAN and on the INEL site near Howe. The gray wolf has been listed as an experimental/non-essential population and may range on or near the INEL (Martin, 1996). The USFWS also identified 16 species of plants and animals that are not designated as endangered, threatened, or candidate species under the Endangered Species Act but are of concern to the agency concerning their population status and threats to their long-term viability. These species include those identified by the Idaho Native Plant Society and the State of Idaho as protected and sensitive species.

None of the Federal- or State-listed animal species have been observed near any of the facilities where proposed actions would occur (Rope et al. 1993, Reynolds 1993). No

Federal- or State-listed plant species were identified as potentially occurring on the INEL site. Eight plant species identified by other Federal agencies and the Idaho Native Plant Society as sensitive, rare, or unique are known to occur on the INEL site (Lobdell 1995).

2.2.4 WETLANDS (Refer to Section 4.9.4, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Aquatic habitats on the INEL site are limited to scattered wet areas, artificial ponds, and intermittent waters. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service National Wetlands Inventory maps show over 130 potential wetlands; these maps and a subsequent survey (Hampton et al. 1995) indicate these potential wetlands cover more than 2,900 acres (1,180 ha) of the INEL site. Over 70 percent of the potential wetlands are found near the Big Lost River and its spreading areas and playas, the Birch Creek Playa, and in an area north of and in the general vicinity of Argonne National Laboratory-West. The rest are scattered throughout the INEL site.

Approximately 20 potential wetlands listed by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service are near facilities and are mostly man-made (for example, industrial waste and sewage treatment ponds, borrow pits, and gravel pits) and, therefore, may not be considered regulated jurisdictional wetlands (Figure 2-11). There is one area north of the TRA under evaluation as a jurisdictional wetland. Other potential wetlands include portions of the Big Lost River channel near the ICPP and the Birch Creek Playa containing TAN facilities. Limited riparian (riverbank) communities with mature trees are found along the Big Lost River (Reynolds 1993), reflecting the intermittent flow in the river. The scattered artificial ponds, potential wetlands, and intermittent waters serve as water sources to many wildlife species including bats, song birds, and mammals. Some artificial ponds are not fenced and are used by pronghorn.

2.2.5 RADIOECOLOGY (Refer to Section 4.9.5, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Potential radiological effects on plants and animals are measured at the population, community, or ecosystem level. However, for threatened and endangered species, harm to individuals is important. Radionuclides are found above background levels in individuals belonging to some plant and animal species on and surrounding the INEL site (Morris 1993a). Measurable effects of radionuclides on plants and animals, however, have only been observed in individuals on areas adjacent to INEL facilities, and not at the population, community, or ecosystem levels. The following is information on doses, concentrations, and effects reported for animals on the INEL site.

Halford and Markham (1984) and Arthur et al. (1986) studied maximally exposed small mammals at the TRA radioactive waste percolation pond and at the RWMC SDA (Subsurface Disposal Area). These studies concluded that the small mammals received doses similar to those shown to reduce life expectancies in other small mammals at other locations. Statistically significant differences in several physiological parameters were found between deer mice inhabiting the TRA radioactive waste percolation pond, the SDA, and control areas (Evenson 1981). However, radiation exposures were too small to cause cellular changes in the mice. A comparison between barn swallow nestlings exposed to sediments from the TRA pond and control birds revealed a statistically significant difference in growth rates (Millard et al. 1990). However, this difference could not definitely be attributed to exposure. All studies reported that doses to individual organisms were too low to cause any effects at the population level. Doses and exposures to animals from 1992 at both the SDA and TRA are probably lower than the doses reported in the above studies because 2 feet (0.6 meter) of additional soil cover the contaminated pits and trenches (Wilhelmsen and Wright 1992), and the percolation pond is now less attractive to animals (Morris 1993b).

Elevated radionuclide concentrations have been observed in some individual animals and plants outside the boundaries of INEL facilities and off the INEL site. Iodine-129 concentrations in vegetation and in rabbit thyroids have been reported in excess of background up to 18.6 miles (30 km) from the ICPP fence (Markham 1974). Iodine-129 has also been detected above background in pronghorn tissue collected on the INEL site (Markham 1974) and from pronghorn collected as far away as Craters of the Moon National Monument and Monida Pass (Markham et al. 1982). In a study of raptor nesting, Craig et al. (1979) concluded that detectable radionuclide levels would only be observed within 2.2 miles (3.5 km) from the RWMC. In these examples, the dose from internal consumption of radionuclides was less than is thought to be required for observable effects to occur to individual animals (IAEA 1992). Also, on the basis of limited data and the infrequent and few bald eagles and Ferruginous hawks observed near contaminated areas, these species probably are not consuming harmful concentrations of radioactive contaminants in their prey (Morris 1993b). A similar conclusion can be made for peregrine falcons because they have rarely been seen on or near the INEL site, and have never been seen near contaminated INEL ponds.

2.3 CLIMATOLOGY AND METEOROLOGY (Refer to Section 4.7.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The Eastern Snake River Plain climate exhibits low relative humidity, wide daily temperature swings, and large variations in annual precipitation. Table 2-4 lists the meteorological variables observed and the period of record of observations of past stations and the larger present stations. Average seasonal temperatures measured onsite range from 18.8°F (Fahrenheit) [-7.3°C (Celsius)] in winter to 64.8°F (18.2°C) in summer, with an annual average temperature of about 42°F (5.6° C). Temperature extremes range from a summertime maximum of 103°F (39.4° C) to a wintertime minimum of -49°F (-45°C). Large year-to-year variations in average monthly and seasonal temperatures are common, as are large variations in temperature in different locations. Annual precipitation is light, averaging 8.71 inches (22.1 centimeters), with monthly extremes of zero to 5 inches (12.8 centimeters). The maximum 24-hour precipitation rate is 1.8 inches (4.6 centimeters). The greatest short-term precipitation rates are primarily attributable to thunderstorms, which occur approximately two or three days per month during the summer. The average annual snowfall is 27.6 inches (70.1 centimeters), with extremes of 59.7 inches (151.6 centimeters) and 6.8 inches (17.3 centimeters). Relative humidity ranges from an average minimum of 27 percent to a maximum of 79 percent on an annual basis.

The INEL site is in the belt of prevailing westerlies; however, these winds are normally channeled by the mountain ranges bordering the Eastern Snake River Plain into a southwest wind. Most offsite locations experience the predominant southwest/northeast wind flow of the Eastern Snake River Plain, although subtle terrain features near some locations cause considerable variations from this flow regime. The highest hourly average near-ground wind speed measured onsite is 51 miles per hour (22.8 meters per second) from the west-southwest, with a maximum instantaneous gust of 78 miles per hour (34.9 meters per second) (Clawson et al. 1989). Other than thunderstorms, severe weather is uncommon. Five funnel clouds (tornadoes not touching the ground) and no tornadoes have been reported onsite from 1950 to 1988 (Table 2-5). Visibility in the region is good because of the low moisture content of the air and minimal sources of visibility-reducing pollutants. At Craters of the Moon Wilderness Area [approximately 12.4 miles (20 km) southwest of the INEL site], the seasonal visual range is from 81 to 97 miles (130 to 156 km) (Notar 1993).

Air pollutant dispersion is a result of the processes of transport and diffusion of airborne contaminants in the atmosphere. Transport is the movement of a pollutant in the wind field, while diffusion refers to the process whereby a pollutant plume is diluted by turbulent eddies. Vertical diffusion of pollutants may be restricted or enhanced by the temperature gradient of the atmosphere (that is, the change in temperature with altitude). Lapse conditions, which tend to enhance vertical diffusion, occur slightly less than 50 percent of the time. Conversely, thermal stratification or inversion conditions, which inhibit vertical diffusion, occur slightly more than 50 percent of the time. The height to which the pollutants can freely diffuse is known as the mixing depth, while the layer of air from the ground up to the mixing depth is known as the mixed layer. Estimates of the monthly average depth of the mixed layer range from 400 feet (120 meters) in December to 3,000 feet (900 meters) in July. Nocturnal (nighttime) inversions form at approximately sunset and dissipate about one to two hours after sunrise. These inversions are often ground-based, meaning that the temperature increases with height from the ground (Clawson et al. 1989).

The U.S. Weather Bureau, subsequently the Environmental Sciences Service Administration, and presently the NOAA, has maintained a meteorological observation program at the INEL since 1949. The Environmental Research Laboratories (the NOAA facility at the INEL) is a permanent installation and continues to update all meteorological data. Figure 2-12 shows the locations of the present INEL stations.

The weather monitoring instruments at CFA are located about 3 miles (4.8 km) from ICPP and, with the exception of wind roses, the information collected is representative of conditions at ICPP. Tables 2-6 through 2-15 provide a summary of INEL climatological records. Wind roses (Figures 2-13 and 2-14) have been provided from the NOAA Grid III (GRD 3) station to reflect the topographic influences on wind in the

immediate area of ICPP. Tower measurements at GRD 3 have shown a 180 degree direction shear between levels 20 and 50 feet (6.10 and 15.24 meters) above the ground in the early morning hours. This is attributed to the fact that the slope of the terrain in this area is opposite the general slope of the terrain over the Eastern Snake River Plain. The general down slope drainage is, therefore, opposed by this local anomaly in the topography (Page 106 of Clawson et.al., 1989).

2.4 HYDROLOGY

This section describes existing regional and INEL site hydrologic conditions and discusses existing water quality for surface and subsurface water, water use, and water rights. The subsurface water section also describes the saturated zone below the water table and the vadose zone (or unsaturated zone and perched water bodies) located between the land surface and the water table.

2.4.1 SURFACE WATER

Intermittent streams and ephemeral surface water bodies and manmade percolation, infiltration, and evaporation ponds are the only surface water features on the INEL site.

2.4.1.1 Regional Drainage (Refer to Section 4.8.1.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The INEL site is located in the Mud Lake-Lost River Basin, a closed drainage basin that includes three main tributaries: the Big and Little Lost Rivers and Birch Creek (Figure 2-15). These surface water features drain mountain watersheds located directly west and north of the INEL site. However, most of the surface water flow is diverted for irrigation before it reaches site boundaries (Barraclough et al. 1981), resulting in little or no surface water flow for periods of up to several years in duration within the boundaries of the INEL site (Pittman et al. 1988).

The Big Lost River drains approximately 1,450 square miles (376,000 ha) of land before reaching the INEL site (Figure 2-16). Approximately 30 miles (48 km) upstream of Arco, Idaho, Mackay Dam controls and regulates river flow, which continues southeast past the towns of Moore and Arco and onto the Eastern Snake River Plain. The river channel then crosses the southwestern boundary of the INEL site, where surface water flow can be controlled by the INEL Diversion Dam. During heavy runoff events, surface water is diverted to a series of natural depressions, designated as spreading areas. The purpose of the diversion system is to prevent flooding of downstream facilities and ice jams from developing in the channel. The Big Lost River continues northeasterly across the INEL site to an area of natural infiltration basins (playas or sinks) near TAN. Surface water from the Big Lost River does not usually reach the western boundary of the INEL site; however, during an unusually wet year, flow can continue as far north as the Birch Creek Playa (Playa 4). Because most of the INEL is located in a closed basin, surface water rarely, if ever, flows off the site. Birch Creek drains an area of approximately 750 square miles (194,000 ha). In the summer, upstream of the INEL site, surface water from Birch Creek is diverted for irrigation and hydropower production. In the winter, water flow crosses the northwest corner of the INEL site, entering a manmade channel constructed 4 miles (6.4 km) north of TAN, where it then infiltrates into channel gravels, recharging the aquifer (Bishop 1993).

The Little Lost River drains an area of approximately 705 square miles (183,000 ha). Streamflow is diverted for irrigation use north of Howe. Surface water from the Little Lost River has not reached the INEL site in recent times; however, during high stream flow years, water from the Little Lost River has reached the INEL site, where it then infiltrated into the subsurface (EG&G Idaho 1984).

2.4.1.2 Local Runoff (Refer to Section 4.8.1.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Surface water generated from local precipitation will flow into topographic depressions (lower elevations than the surrounding terrain) on the INEL site. This surface water either evaporates or infiltrates into the ground³. Ponding of the runoff in a few low areas may increase subsurface moisture content, enhancing migration of localized contaminants in the unsaturated zone (Wilhelmson et al. 1993).

Localized flooding can occur at the INEL site when the ground is frozen and runoff from melting snow is combined with heavy spring rains. The RWMC was flooded in 1962, 1969, and 1982 by local runoff from rapid spring thaws; and TAN was flooded in 1969 due to rapid snowmelt (Koslow and Van Haaften 1986). After the flooding events, the addition of dikes, diversion channels, settling basins, and sump pumps at the RWMC SDA and TAN have alleviated snowmelt flooding at these facilities (Dames & Moore 1992, Koslow and Van Haaften 1986).

2.4.1.3 Flood Plains (Refer to Section 4.8.1.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Intermittent surface water flow and the INEL Diversion Dam (constructed in 1958 and enlarged in 1984) have effectively prevented flooding from the Big Lost River onto the INEL site. However, flooding from the Big Lost River might occur on the INEL if high water in the Mackay Dam or the Big Lost River were coupled with a dam failure. Koslow and Van Haaften (1986) examined the potential consequences of a Mackay Dam failure during a hypothetical seismic event, structural failure coincident with the 100- and 500-year recurrence interval floods, and during a probable maximum flood (hypothetical flood that is considered to be the most severe event possible)⁴. The results from all dam failures studied indicate flooding would occur outside the banks of the Big Lost River from Mackay Dam to TAN, except within Box Canyon (Figure 2-17). The water velocity

³ The intermittently flowing waters from the Big Lost and the Little Lost Rivers flow to the Lost River Sinks in the northwest portion of the INEL, where the water evaporates and infiltrates into the Snake River Plain Aquifer. Birch Creek also flows intermittently onto the INEL to a depression north of Test Area North.

⁴ The estimated probability of an occurrence for this combined event is one chance in one million.

on the INEL site would range 0.6 to 3.0 feet per second (from 0.18 to 0.91 m/s), with water depths outside the banks of the Big Lost River ranging from 2 to 4 feet (0.61 to 1.22 m) (Koslow and Van Haaften 1986). Because of the low velocity and shallow depth of the water, flooding would not pose a threat of structural damage to facilities.

An updated 100-year floodplain map for the Big Lost River is currently being developed and is expected to be completed in 1996.⁵ The projects identified in Appendix C, Information Supporting the Alternatives, of Volume 2 of the FEIS would be located using the most currently available floodplain information. Pending completion of this floodplain map, it is assumed that the area encompassed by the probable maximum flood is greater than that for the 100-year flood.

The ICPP is located on an alluvial plain approximately 200 feet (16 m) from the Big Lost River channel near the point where the channel intersects with Lincoln Boulevard as shown in Figure 2-18. The TMI-2 ISFSI site is located in the southern portion of the ICPP, about 2,800 feet (850 m) from the main river channel. The probable maximum flood event would result in flood water within the ICPP-controlled area up to about 4,917 feet (1,498.7 m) above mean sea level (Koslow and Van Haaften, 1986). The elevation of the existing ground surface at the ISFSI site ranges between 4,914.2 and 4,915.9 feet (1,497.8 and 1,498.4 m) and the proposed final elevation of the ISFSI pad would be 4,917 feet (1,498.7 m).

2.4.1.4 Surface Water Quality (Refer to Section 4.8.1.4, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Water quality in the Big and Little Lost Rivers and Birch Creek is similar and has not varied a great deal over the period of record. Measured physical, chemical, and radioactive parameters have not exceeded applicable drinking water quality standards (USGS 1982-1993). Chemical composition is determined primarily by the carbonate mineral composition of the rocks in surrounding mountain ranges northwest of the INEL site and by the chemical composition of irrigation water return flow to the surface water (Robertson et al. 1974).

INEL site activities do not affect the quality of surface water outside the INEL site because surface water does not flow directly offsite (Hoff et al. 1990). In accordance with the Clean Water Act, discharges from INEL site facilities are made to manmade seepage and evaporation basins, rather than to natural surface water bodies. However, water from the Big Lost River System, as well as seepage from wastewater disposal facilities (in other words, percolation and evaporation ponds and septic tank systems) and storm water injection wells, does infiltrate into the Snake River Plain Aquifer (Robertson et al. 1974, Wood and Low 1988, Bennett 1990). These areas are inspected, monitored, and sampled as stipulated in the INEL Stormwater Pollution Prevention Program (DOE-ID 1993a).

⁵ The floodplain map is now scheduled for completion in 1997.

Because of the large supply of groundwater beneath the INEL, no water supply ponds are used at the ICPP, and no surface water is used for any purpose. All water used at the ICPP comes from wells.

2.4.2 SUBSURFACE WATER

Subsurface water at the INEL site occurs in the Snake River Plain Aquifer and the vadose zone. This section describes regional and local hydrogeologic conditions and subsurface water quality. Generally, the term groundwater refers to water in the saturated zone that enters freely into wells under confined and unconfined conditions (Driscoll 1986). Subsurface water in the vadose zone, or unsaturated zone, is referred to as vadose water.

2.4.2.1 Regional Hydrogeology (Refer to Section 4.8.2.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The INEL site overlies the Snake River Plain Aquifer, the largest aquifer in Idaho (Figure 2-19). This aquifer underlies the Eastern Snake River Plain and covers an area of approximately 9,611 square miles (2,490,000 ha). Groundwater in the aquifer generally flows to the south and southwest. Water storage in the aquifer is estimated at 2 billion acre-feet $(2.5 \times 10^{12} \text{ m}^3)$, which is approximately the same as the volume of water contained in Lake Erie (Robertson et al. 1974). Irrigation wells can yield as much as 7,000 gallons per minute $(26.5 \text{ m}^3/\text{m})$ of water (Garabedian 1992). The Snake River Plain Aquifer is among the most productive aquifers in the nation.

The drainage basin recharging the Snake River Plain Aquifer covers an area of approximately 35,000 square miles (9,060,000 ha). The aquifer is recharged by infiltration of irrigation water, seepage from stream channels and canals, underflow from tributary stream valleys extending into the watershed, and direct infiltration from precipitation (Garabedian 1992). Most recharge occurs in surface water-irrigated areas and along the northeastern margins of the plain. Groundwater is primarily discharged from the aquifer through springs that flow into the Snake River and pumping for irrigation. Major springs and seepages that flow from the aquifer are located near the American Falls Reservoir (southwest of Pocatello), the Thousand Springs area between Milner Dam and King Hill (near Twin Falls), and between Lorenzo and Louisville, along the Snake River.

2.4.2.2 Local Hydrogeology (Refer to Section 4.8.2.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The INEL site covers about 890 square miles (230,000 ha) of the north-central portion of the Snake River Plain Aquifer. Depth to groundwater from the land surface at the INEL site ranges from approximately 200 feet (61 m) in the north to over 900 feet (274 m) in the south (Pittman et al. 1988). Groundwater flow is generally toward the southsouthwest, and the upper surface is primarily unconfined (not overlain by impermeable
soil or bedrock). However, the aquifer behaves as if it were partially confined because of localized geologic conditions (Whitehead 1987). The occurrence and movement of groundwater in the aquifer is dependent on the geologic setting and the recharge and discharge of water within that setting. Most of the aquifer is comprised primarily of numerous relatively thin, basaltic flows with interbedded sediments extending to depths of 3,500 feet (1,067 m) below the land surface (Bishop 1993). A majority of the groundwater migrates horizontally through fractured interflow zones (broken and rubble zones) that occur at various depths. Water also migrates vertically along joints and the interfingering edges of interflow zones (Garabedian 1986). Sedimentary interbeds may restrict the vertical movement of groundwater.

The rate water moves through the ground depends on the hydraulic gradient (change in elevation and pressure with distance in a given direction) of the aquifer, the effective porosity (percentage of void spaces), and hydraulic conductivity (capacity of a porous media to transport water) of the sediments and basalt. The upper 200 to 800 feet (61 to 244 meter) of the basalts have a markedly higher hydraulic conductivity than rocks below 1,500 feet (458 meter). Therefore, the base of the aquifer is considered to range from 800 to 1,500 feet (244 to 458 meter) below land surface.⁶ Estimated flow rates within the aquifer range from 5 to 20 feet/day (1.5 to 6.1 m/d) (Barraclough et al. 1981).

The ability to transmit water (transmissivity) and the ability to store water (storativity) are important physical properties of the aquifer. In general, the hydraulic characteristics of the aquifer allow water to be readily transmitted, particularly in the upper portions. The variability in how the aquifer transmits and stores water increases the difficulty in aquifer investigations and modeling.

Near the INEL site, the aquifer is recharged by irrigation return and precipitation in the mountains to the west and north. Most of the inflow to the aquifer results from underflow of groundwater along alluvial-filled valleys adjacent to the Eastern Snake River Plain and secondarily from adjacent surface water drainages (that is, Big and Little Lost Rivers and Birch Creek). Recharge at the INEL site is also related to the amount of precipitation, particularly snowfall, for a given year (Barraclough et al. 1981).

2.4.2.3 Vadose Zone Hydrology (Refer to Section 4.8.2.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The vadose zone (unsaturated zone) extends from the land surface down to the regional water table. Within the vadose zone, voids in the geologic materials are occupied partially by water and partially by air. Subsurface water occurring in the vadose zone is referred to as vadose water. This complex zone at the INEL site consists of surface sediments (primarily clay and silt, with some sand and gravel) and numerous relatively thin, basaltic flows, with some sedimentary interbeds. Thick surficial deposits are found in the northern part of the INEL site, which thin southward where basalt is exposed at the surface.

⁶ The depth of the aquifer at ICPP is approximately 450 feet (137 m).

The vadose zone protects the groundwater by filtering out many contaminants through adsorption, buffering dissolved chemical wastes, and slowing the transport of contaminated liquids to the aquifer. The vadose zone also protects the aquifer by slowing the migration of large volumes of liquid or dissolved contaminants released to the environment through spills or migration from disposal pits or ponds, allowing natural decay processes to occur.

Travel times for water through the vadose zone are important for understanding contaminant movement. The flow rates in the vadose zone are directly dependent on the extent of fracturing and clay coatings on the fractures, the percentage of sediments versus basalt, and the moisture content of vadose zone material. Flow increases under wetter conditions and slows under dryer conditions. For example, under unsaturated flow conditions near the RWMC, an investigation into water movement in surface sediments found that infiltration ranged from 0.14 to 0.43 inch/yr (0.36 to 1.1 cm/yr) (Cecil et al. 1992). However, under nearly saturated conditions in surface sediments, standing water at land surface in the same area moved vertically 6.9 feet (2.1 m) in less than 24 hours (Kaminsky 1991). Under saturated conditions and matrix flow, over 100 days were required for saturation of 20-inch (a 50-cm)-long basalt rock from the RWMC (Bishop 1991).

2.4.2.4 Perched Water (Refer to Section 4.8.2.4, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Locally, saturated conditions may exist within the vadose zone above the water table and are called perched water. Perched water occurs when water migrates vertically and laterally from the surface until it encounters an impermeable layer of dense basalt or fine sedimentary material (Bishop 1993). Perched water may spread laterally, sometimes hundreds of meters, and then move over the edges of the impermeable layer and continue downward. Several perched water bodies can form between the land surface and the water table.

In general, the formation of perched water bodies slows the downward migration of fluids that infiltrate into the vadose zone from the surface. The largest occurrence of perched water at the INEL site is generally related to the presence of disposal ponds or other surface water bodies, but can also be related to vadose zone disposal wells. These bodies have been detected at the ICPP, TRA, TAN, and RWMC (Bishop 1993). For example, a field study performed in 1986 at the ICPP showed that perched water occurs in three areas at possibly three depth zones. These bodies are located at depths ranging from approximately 30 feet (9 m) to 322 feet (98 m) below ground surface and extend laterally as much 3,600 feet (as 1,097 m) (Bishop 1993). In general, the chemical concentrations, shape, and size of these bodies have fluctuated over time in response to the volume of water discharged to the infiltration ponds.

2.4.2.5 Subsurface Water Quality (Refer to Section 4.8.2.5, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Subsurface water quality is affected by natural water chemistry and contaminants originating at the INEL site. Monitoring programs are conducted under the INEL Groundwater Protection Management Program (Case et al. 1990). Under this program, the INEL Groundwater Monitoring Plan (Sehlke and Bickford 1993) was established to fulfill the groundwater monitoring requirements of DOE Order 5400.1, "General Environmental Protection Program" (DOE 1990a). As specified in the plan, samples are collected from surface water, perched water, and aquifer wells to identify contaminants and contaminant migration to and within the aquifer.

2.4.2.5.1 Natural Water Chemistry (Refer to Section 4.8.2.5.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The natural groundwater chemistry of the Snake River Plain Aquifer beneath the INEL site is determined by several factors. These factors include the weathering reactions that occur as water interacts with minerals in the aquifer and the chemical composition of (a) groundwater originating outside of the INEL site, (b) precipitation falling directly on the land surface, and (c) streams, rivers, and runoff infiltrating into the aquifer (Wood and Low 1986, 1988). The chemistry of the groundwater is different, depending on the source areas. For example, groundwater from the northwest contains calcium, magnesium, and bicarbonate leached from sedimentary rocks; and groundwater from the east contains sodium, fluorine, and silicate resulting from contact with volcanic rocks (Robertson et al. 1974).

The natural chemistry affects the mobility of contaminants introduced into the subsurface from INEL site activities. Many dissolved contaminants are adsorbed (or attached) to the surface of rocks and minerals in the subsurface, thereby retarding the movement of contaminants in the aquifer and inhibiting further migration of contamination. However, many naturally occurring chemicals compete with contaminants for adsorption sites on the rocks and minerals or react with contaminants to reduce their attraction to the rock and mineral surfaces.

2.4.2.5.2 Groundwater Quality (Refer to Section 4.8.2.5.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Previous waste discharges to unlined ponds and injection wells have introduced radionuclides, nonradioactive metals, inorganic salts, and organic compounds into the subsurface. Solid low-level and transuranic wastes have also been disposed of in several pits at the RWMC SDA since 1952. (Transuranic waste disposal at the Complex was discontinued in 1970; however, disposal of low- level waste is projected to continue until 2020.) Table 2-16 summarizes highest detected concentrations of contaminants observed in the aquifer between 1985 and 1992, concentrations near the INEL site boundary, existing U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) maximum contaminant levels, and contaminants and comparisons of observed concentrations to maximum contaminant levels.

Radionuclides. Radionuclide concentrations in the Snake River Plain Aquifer beneath the INEL site have generally decreased since the mid-1980s because of changes in disposal practices, radioactive decay, adsorption of radionuclides to rocks and minerals, and dilution by natural surface water and groundwater entering the aquifer (Pittman et al. 1988, Orr and Cecil 1991). Radionuclides released and observed in the groundwater include tritium, strontium-90, iodine-129, cobalt-60, cesium- 137, plutonium-238, plutonium-239/240, and americium-241 (Golder 1994). Most of the radionuclides released have been observed at the ICPP and TRA facility areas. However, radionuclides have also been observed in the TAN disposal well, near CFA, and in perched water near the RWMC.

Concentrations of radionuclides in the aquifer have decreased over time. This decrease is attributed to reduced discharges, adsorption, radioactive decay, and improved waste management practices. As of 1992, concentrations of iodine-129, cobalt-60, tritium, strontium-90, and cesium-137 exceeded the EPA maximum contaminant levels for radionuclides in drinking water in localized areas inside the INEL site boundary (Mann et al. 1988, Orr and Cecil 1991). Plutonium-238, plutonium-239/240, and americium-241 have not been detected at concentrations above the maximum contaminant levels at the INEL site (Golder 1994).

Extremely low concentrations of iodine-129 and tritium have migrated outside of INEL site boundaries. In 1992, iodine-129 concentrations were measured in two wells south of the INEL site boundary below the EPA's maximum contaminant level, as follows: (a) 10 \times 10-6 picocuries per liter in Well No. 11, located approximately 4 miles (6 km) beyond the boundary, and (b) 30 \times 10⁻⁶ picocuries per liter in Well No. 14, located 8 miles (13 km) beyond the boundary (Mann 1994). Tritium concentrations were observed much below maximum contaminant levels just south of the INEL site boundary in 1985. By 1988, the tritium plume encompassed by the 500-picocuries-per-liter contour was back inside the INEL site boundary, and its size has continued to decrease (Orr and Cecil 1991). Cobalt-60, strontium-90, cesium-139, plutonium- 238, plutonium-240/241, and americium-241 have not been detected outside the INEL site boundaries.

Nonradioactive Metals. Sodium, chromium, lead, and mercury have been released on the INEL site and into the subsurface through unlined ponds and deep wells. Of these metals, sodium was released in the greatest quantity from water treatment processes; however, it is not considered toxic and does not have an established maximum contaminant level. In 1988, chromium concentrations exceeding the maximum contaminant level were measured near the TRA. Lead and mercury have been observed at concentrations below the maximum contaminant level near the ICPP (Orr et al. 1991).

Inorganic Salts. Chloride, sulfate, and nitrate have been released into the subsurface by human activities at the INEL site. Although chloride and sulfate have been released, only nitrate has exceeded maximum contaminant levels (near the ICPP in 1981).

only nitrate has exceeded maximum contaminant levels (near the ICPP in 1981). Disposal of nitrates to the injection well and infiltration ponds at the ICPP accounts for the elevated nitrate levels in the central portion of the INEL site. Since 1988, the levels of nitrate have decreased to below the maximum contaminant level as a result of reduced disposal rates.

Organic Compounds. Concentrations of volatile organic compounds have been detected in the aquifer beneath the INEL site. Many of these compounds were detected at amounts near the detection limit (0.002 milligrams per liter), which is the lowest concentration at which a contaminant can be detected by a specific analytical method. However, concentrations of the following compounds exceeding the maximum contaminant levels have been observed in and near the TAN disposal well: chloroform, 1,2-cis-dichloroethylene, 1,1-dichloroethylene, 1,2-transdichloroethylene, trichloroethylene, tetrachloroethylene, and vinyl chloride (Leenheer and Bagby 1982, Mann and Knobel 1987, Mann 1990, Liszewski and Mann 1992, Golder 1994). Carbon tetrachloride was detected beneath the RWMC in the aquifer at concentrations above the maximum contaminant level; however, this concentration was only observed once.

2.4.2.5.3 Perched Water Quality (Refer to Section 4.8.2.5.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Wastewater discharges from INEL site operations have infiltrated into the vadose zone and created locally perched water beneath the INEL site. Elevated concentrations of the following contaminants have been detected in samples collected from the following locations: tritium, cesium-137, cobalt-60, chromium, and sulfate concentrations in deep perched water near the TRA; tritium in shallow perched water and carbon tetrachloride, chloroform, 1,1,1-trichloroethane, tricholorethylene, tetrachloroethylene, and 1,1,dichloroethylene in deep perched water near the RWMC; and strontium-90 in perched water near the ICPP (Bishop 1993). In general, the chemical concentrations, shape, and size of these bodies have fluctuated over time in response to the volume of water discharged to the infiltration ponds. Potential concentrations of contaminants in all perched water bodies have not yet been measured.

2.5 GEOLOGY

This section describes the geological, seismic, and volcanic characteristics of the INEL site and surrounding region.

2.5.1 GENERAL GEOLOGY (Refer to Section 4.6.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The INEL site is located on the Eastern Snake River Plain (Figure 2-20). The Plain forms a broad, northeast-trending, crescent-shaped trough with low relief, comprised primarily of basaltic lava flows. These flows at the surface range in age from 1.2 million to 2,100 years. The Plain features thin, discontinuous, interbedded deposits of windsediments; and rhyolitic domes formed 1,200,000 to 300,000 years ago (Kuntz et al. 1990). The Plain is bounded on the north and south by the north-to-northwest-trending mountains and valleys of the Basin and Range Province, comprised of folded and faulted rocks that are more than 70 million years old. The Plain is bounded on the northeast by the Yellowstone Plateau. The major episode of Basin and Range faulting began 20 to 30 million years ago and continues today, most recently associated with the October 28, 1983, Borah Peak earthquake [Ms 7.3; 0.022 to 0.078g at the INEL site (Jackson 1985)], which occurred along the Lost River fault, approximately 62 miles (100 km) from INEL site facilities, and the 1959 Hebgen Lake earthquake (Ms 7.5), approximately 93 miles (150 km) from the INEL site (Figure 2-20).

The northeast-trending volcanic terrain of the Plain has a markedly different geologic history and tectonic pattern compared to the older folded and faulted terrain of the northwest-trending Basin and Range. The northwest-trending Basin and Range faults have not been observed to extend across the Plain. Four northwest-trending volcanic rift zones are known to lie across the Plain at or near the INEL site; they have been attributed to basaltic eruptions that occurred 4 million to 2,100 years ago (Bowman 1995, Hackett and Smith 1992, Kuntz et al. 1990).

The seismic characteristics of the Plain and the adjacent Basin and Range Province also are different. Earthquakes and active faulting are associated with Basin and Range tectonic activity. The Plain has historically experienced few and small earthquakes (King et al. 1987, Pelton et al. 1990, WCC 1992, Jackson et al. 1993) (Figure 2-21).

A typical soil association occurring on a lava flow on the INEL site consists of three to four soil series differentiated from one another largely on the basis of soil depth. The INEL site landscapes are covered with a thin-to-thick blanket of eolian sediments, which are deposited in episodes associated with climatic cycles. The thickness of eolian sediments on the INEL site is generally less than 7 feet (2.1 m) and commonly between 1 to 3 feet (0.3 to 0.9 m). Most soils formed in eolian deposits containing a layer of secondary carbonates, which ranges from powdery to cemented.

2.5.2 GEOLOGIC RESOURCES (Refer to Section 4.6.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

A geothermal exploration well was drilled at the INEL site to a depth of 10,320 feet (3,147 m) in 1979. A temperature of 288°F (142°C) was measured, but no commercial quantities of geothermal fluids were identified (Mitchell et al. 1980). Mineral resources include several quarries or pits within the INEL site boundary to supply sand, gravel, pumice, silt, clay, and aggregate for road construction and maintenance, new facility construction and maintenance, waste burial activities, and ornamental landscaping cinders. During the course of excavation, the gravel pits may be studied to characterize the local surficial geology of the INEL site. Outside the INEL site boundary, mineral resources include sand, gravel, pumice, phosphate, and base and precious metals (Strowd et al. 1981, Mitchell et al. 1981). The geologic history of the Plain makes the potential for petroleum production at the INEL site very low.

2.5.3 SEISMIC HAZARDS (Refer to Section 4.6.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The distribution of earthquakes at and near the INEL site from 1884 to 1989 clearly shows that the Plain has a remarkably low rate of seismicity, whereas the surrounding Basin and Range has a fairly high rate of seismicity (Figure 2-21). The mechanism for faulting and generation of earthquakes in the Basin and Range is attributed to northeastsouthwest directed crustal extension.

Several investigators have suggested hypotheses for the low rate of seismic activity within the Plain compared to the Centennial Tectonic Belt (Stickney and Bartholomew 1987) and Intermountain Seismic Belt (Smith and Arabasz 1991):

- Smith and Sbar (1974) and Brott et al. (1981) suggested that high crustal temperatures beneath the Plain and adjacent region inside the seismic parabola (Figure 2-20) resulted in ductile deformation (aseismic creep), in contrast to the brittle deformation (rock fracture) that occurs in the Basin and Range.
- Anders et al. (1989) suggested that the Plain and the adjacent region inside the seismic parabola (Figure 2-20) have increased integrated lithospheric strength. They proposed that the presence of mid-crustal mafic intrusive rock strengthens the crust so that it is too strong to fracture (see also Smith and Arabasz 1991).
- Parsons and Thompson (1991) proposed that magmatic dike injection suppresses normal faulting and associated seismicity by altering the local tectonic stress field. As dikes are injected in volcanic rift zones, they push apart the surrounding rocks and decrease differential stress, thereby preventing earthquakes from occurring.
- Recently, Anders and Sleep (1992) proposed that introduction of mantle-derived magma into the midcrust beneath the Plain has decreased faulting and earthquakes by lowering the rate of deformation.

The markedly different late-Tertiary and Quaternary tectonic and seismic histories of the Plain and Basin and Range Province reflect the dissimilar deformational processes acting in each region. Both regions are being subjected to the same extensional stress field (Weaver et al. 1979, Zoback and Zoback 1989, Pierce and Morgan 1992, Jackson et al. 1993); however, crustal deformation within the Plain occurs through dike injection and, in the Basin and Range, through large-scale normal faulting (Rodgers et al. 1990, Parsons and Thompson 1991, Hackett and Smith 1992).

Major seismic hazards include the effects from ground shaking and surface deformation (surface faulting, tilting). Other potential seismic hazards (for example, avalanches, landslides, mudslides, soil settlement, and soil liquefaction) are not likely to occur at the INEL site because the local geologic conditions are not conducive to them. Based on the seismic history and the geologic conditions, earthquakes greater than magnitude 5.5 (and associated strong ground shaking and surface fault rupture) are not likely to be generated within the Plain. However, moderate to strong ground shaking can affect the

INEL site from earthquakes in the Basin and Range. Patterns of seismicity and locations of mapped faults are used to assess potential sources of future earthquakes and to estimate levels of ground motion at the INEL site. The sources and maximum magnitudes of earthquakes that could produce the maximum levels of ground motions at all INEL site facilities include (WCC 1990, 1992):

- A moment magnitude 7.0 earthquake at the southern end of the Lemhi fault along the Howe and Fallert Springs segments
- A moment magnitude 7.0 earthquake at the southern end of the Lost River fault along the Arco segment
- A moment magnitude 5.5 earthquake associated with dike injection in either the Arco or Lava Ridge-Hell's Half Acre Volcanic Rift Zones and the Axial Volcanic Zone
- A "random" moment magnitude 5.5 earthquake occurring within the Eastern Snake River Plain.

An example of the relationship of the peak ground acceleration on the INEL site to the annual frequency of occurrence of seismic events for various seismic hazards in the region, including the above four events, is illustrated in Figure 2-22 (WCFS 1993). The curves were developed specifically for the site of the ICPP in the south-central INEL site and do not directly apply to other INEL site areas. Ground motion contributions from seismic sources not shown on Figure 2-22 (that is, Intermountain Seismic Belt, Idaho Batholith, and Yellowstone Region) are significantly smaller because of their distant locations or lower maximum magnitudes. The INEL site- specific seismic hazard study (WCFS 1993) will provide curves similar to Figure 2-22 for other INEL site areas. INEL site seismic design basis events are determined by the INEL Natural Phenomena Committee and incorporated into the INEL Architectural and Engineering Standards based on studies (WCC 1990).

A probabilistic seismic hazards evaluation conducted in 1996 provides uniform seismic hazard curves (peak ground accelerations vs return periods) and response spectra for the INEL including ICPP (WCFS 1996). This evaluation assessed earthquake magnitudes and recurrence rates for all earthquake sources which contribute to potential ground motions at the ICPP site. The four closest sources that contribute to the hazard at ICPP include: 1) Basin and Range normal faults; 2) northern Basin and Range background seismicity; 3) ESRP background seismicity; and 4) when active, volcanic rift zones of the ESRP.

Results of this INEL seismic hazard evaluation significant to the ISFSI include:

• The ISFSI is located within the ESRP, which is characterized by a very low rate of seismicity and small magnitude earthquakes. Thus, the background earthquakes within the ESRP contribute very little to the hazard at the ISFSI.

- There is very little contribution from the volcanic rift zones because the volcanic episodes have long recurrence intervals (>15,000 yrs) and any associated seismicity is characterized by small magnitude (< 5.5) earthquakes.
- In general, the stochastic relationship results in lower motions at short periods than the empirical relationships because of the interbedded volcanic stratigraphy which has a lower velocity gradient in the upper 1 km than homogeneous rock and the alternating high and low velocities which tend to dampen out high frequency ground motions.
- At shorter return periods (<2000 yrs) the hazard is dominated by the northern Basin and Range background seismicity due in part to the extremely low level of seismicity in the ESRP and the long recurrence intervals of the Basin and Range faults.
- The Basin and Range faults contribute more to the hazard at 10,000 yrs because this return period approaches the average recurrence interval of the faults.

In addition to the above probabilistic evaluation, a deterministic analysis was also performed for the ISFSI site. This analysis was based in part on the results of a 1990 deterministic evaluation for INEL (WCC 1990) and recent fault-trenching studies conducted along the Lemhi and Lost River faults (WCC 1992,WCFS 1995). The Lemhi fault is the closest basin-and-range normal fault to the ISFSI site and controls the deterministic seismic hazard. The paleoseismic characteristics and geometry of this fault indicate that it has the potential for a moment-magnitude 7.1 earthquake at a distance of 22 km from the ISFSI site. The same attenuation relationships from the probabilistic study were used in the deterministic analysis and were weighted the same as in the probabilistic evaluation.

2.5.4 VOLCANIC HAZARDS (Refer to Section 4.6.4, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Volcanic hazards at the INEL site can come from sources inside or outside the Plain's boundaries. Volcanic hazards include the effects of lava flows, ground deformation (fissures, uplift, subsidence), volcanic earthquakes (associated with magmatic processes as distinct from earthquakes associated with tectonics), and ash flows or airborne ash deposits (Bowman 1995). Most of the basalt volcanic activity occurred from 4 million to 2,100 years ago in the INEL site area. The most recent and closest volcanic eruption occurred 2,100 years ago at the Craters of the Moon National Monument 15 miles (25 km) southwest of the INEL site (Kuntz et al. 1992). The rhyolite domes along the Axial Volcanic Zone formed between 1.2 and 0.3 million years ago and have a recurrence interval of about 200,000 years. Therefore, the probability of future dome formation affecting INEL site facilities is very low.

Catastrophic Yellowstone eruptions have occurred three times in the past 2 million years, but the INEL site lies more than 70 miles (160 km) from the Yellowstone Caldera rim, and high-altitude winds would not disperse Yellowstone ash in the direction of the INEL site. For these reasons of infrequency, great distance, and unfavorable dispersal, pyroclastic flows or ash fallout from future Yellowstone eruptions are not expected to impact the INEL site.

Basaltic lava flows and eruptions from fissures or vents have been evaluated and based on a probability analysis of the volcanic history in and near the southcentral INEL site area, the Volcanism Working Group (VWG 1990) estimated that the conditional probability that basaltic volcanism would affect a south-central INEL site location is less than 2.5×10^{-5} per year (once per 40,000 years or longer), where the hazard associated with Axial Volcanic Zone volcanism is greatest. The probability of volcanic impact on INEL site facilities farther north, where both silicic and basaltic volcanism have been older and less frequent, is estimated to be less than 10^{-6} per year (once every million years or longer). The statistics of 116 measured INEL-area lava flow lengths and areas were used to define the two lava flow hazard zones (Figure 2-23). The mean lava flow length plus one standard deviation from the mean corresponds to 8.7 miles (14 km). The hazard for a particular site within or near a volcanic zone is much lower, typically by an order of magnitude or more, and must be assessed on a site-specific basis (Bowman, 1995).

Hazards associated with INEL-area volcanism as well as distant volcanic sources are evaluated. The most significant hazards and risks to the ISFSI site are associated with basaltic volcanism and related phenomena from ESRP vents.

For volcanic areas such as the ESRP, with no historical volcanism and an incomplete chronologic record of prehistoric volcanism, assessments of potential volcanic hazards and volcanic risk are based on interpretation of the long-term geologic record, and on the documented effects of historical eruptions in analog regions such as Iceland and Hawaii. Volcanic hazards to the ISFSI site are related to future basaltic and rhyolitic eruptions along volcanic-rift zones and the axial volcanic zone. The most significant volcanic hazard to INEL is the inundation or burning of facilities by basaltic lava flows from volcanic-rift zones. A significant, related hazard is disruption of facilities due to ground deformation accompanying magma intrusion along volcanic-rift zones: opening of fissures, normal faulting, broad-region tilting and uplift within several km of vents. Other, less significant basaltic hazards include volcanic-gas emission and disruption of groundwater.

Available geologic-map data and geochronometry of INEL basalt lava flows suggest minimum (most conservative) volcanic-recurrence intervals of 10^{-4} to 10^{-5} per year, for the Axial volcanic zone, and the Arco and Lava Ridge-Hells Half Acre volcanic-rift zones. The probabilistic risk of basalt-lava inundation or intrusion-related ground disturbance is therefore estimated to be $< 10^{-5}$ per year, for the ISFSI site and other sites on the southern INEL. Risk from these phenomena at northern-INEL sites is still lower, because volcanism there has been less frequent and less recent. The probability of significant impact from all other volcanic phenomena, such as growth of new rhyolite domes on the ESRP or thicker than 8-cm tephra fall from non-ESRP vents, is estimated

to be $<10^{-5}$ per year, due to the combined effects of great distance, infrequency, low volume, and topographic or atmospheric barriers to the dispersal of tephra on the INEL.

2.6 REGIONAL HISTORIC, ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES, HISTORIC STRUCTURES, CULTURAL, SCENIC, AND NATURAL FEATURES

This section discusses all cultural resources at the INEL, including prehistoric and historic archaeological sites, historic sites and structures, and traditional resources that are of cultural or religious importance to local Native Americans. Paleontological localities on the INEL site are also discussed.

2.6.1 ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITES, HISTORIC STRUCTURES, AND CULTURAL RESOURCES (Refer to Section 4.4.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

As summarized in the INEL Draft Management Plan for Cultural Resources (Miller 1992), the INEL contains a rich and varied inventory of cultural resources. This includes fossil localities that provide an important paleoecological context for the region and the numerous prehistoric archaeological sites that are preserved within it. These latter sites, including campsites, lithic workshops, cairns, and hunting blinds, among others, are also an important part of the INEL inventory. These sites provide information about the activities of aboriginal hunting and gathering groups who inhabited the area for approximately 12,000 years. Archaeological sites, pictographs, caves, and many other features of the INEL landscape are also important to contemporary Native American groups for historical, religious, and traditional reasons. Historic sites document use of the area during the late 1800s and 1900s. These include the abandoned town of Powell/Pioneer, a northern spur of the Oregon Trail known as Goodale's Cutoff, many small homesteads, irrigation canals, sheep/cattle camps, and stage/wagon trails. Finally, important information on the historical development of nuclear science in America is also preserved in the many scientific and technical facilities constructed within the INEL boundaries.

As of June 1994, more than 100 cultural resource surveys have been conducted over approximately 4 percent of the area within the INEL site. During the course of these surveys, most of which have been conducted near major facility areas, 1,506 individual archaeological resources have been identified, including 688 prehistoric sites, 38 historic sites, 753 prehistoric isolates, and 27 historic isolates (Miller 1992, Gilbert and Ringe 1993). Until formal significance evaluations (archaeological testing and historic records searches) are completed, all of the cultural sites in this inventory are considered to be potentially eligible for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places. However, all of the isolates have been categorized as unlikely to meet eligibility requirements (Yohe 1993).

Due to the relatively high density of prehistoric sites on the INEL site and the need to allow for consideration of these resources during Federal undertakings, a preliminary study, which resulted in the development of a predictive model, has been completed. This study identified areas where densities of sites are apparently highest and the potential impacts to significant archaeological resources, as well as the costs of compliance, will likely increase correspondingly (Ringe 1993). This information is intended to provide some guidance for INEL project managers in selecting appropriate areas for new construction. However, it does not take the place of inventories that are required by the National Historic Preservation Act in advance of all ground-disturbing projects (NHPA). The predictive model was constructed using a multivariate technique on environmental variables associated with areas containing sites and areas with no sites. This model shows that prehistoric cultural resources appear to be concentrated in association with certain definable physical features of the land. In this context, very high densities of resources are likely to be found along the Big Lost River and Birch Creek, atop buttes, and within craters and caves. The Lemhi Mountains, the Lake Terreton basin, and a 1.75-mile- (2,800-m) wide zone along the edge of local lava fields probably contain a fairly high density of sites. Within the extensive flows of basaltic lava and along the low foothills of the Lemhi Mountains, site density is classified as moderate. The lowest density of prehistoric resources probably occurs within the floodplain of the Big Lost River and the alluvial fans emerging from the Birch Creek Valley, within the sinks, and within the recent Cerro Grande lava flow. However, a classification of low or medium density does not eliminate the possibility that significant resources exist within those areas. Although this model has not been tested, it is useful as a planning guide for defining those areas most likely to contain archaeological resources based on past surveys.

Although no systematic inventory of historically significant facilities associated with the creation and operation of the INEL has been completed, a preliminary study indicated that all INEL facilities will require evaluation (Braun et al. 1993). The Experimental Breeder Reactor-I is a National Historic Landmark listed in the National Register of Historic Places. To date, however, few of the other properties have been formally evaluated for eligibility to the National Register of Historic Places. However, Memoranda of Agreement between DOE, the Idaho State Historic Preservation Office, and the National Advisory Council on Historic Preservation establish that certain structures located at TAN (DOE-ID 1993b) and Auxiliary Reactor Area (DOE-ID 1993c) are eligible for nomination. These memoranda outline specific techniques for preserving the historic value of the areas in conformance with the requirements of the Historic American Building Survey and the Historic American Engineering Record. Other facilities on the INEL site are likely to require similar efforts if scheduled for major modification, demolition, or abandonment.

Due to the highly disturbed nature of the ISFSI site it is unlikely that any archaeological resources are present. However, in the event that materials such as bones, obsidian debris, "arrowheads," or charcoal-colored soil horizons are encountered, the INEL Stop Work Authority would be invoked and the INEL Cultural Resource Management Office consulted.

2.6.2 NATIVE AMERICAN CULTURAL RESOURCES (Refer to Section 4.4.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

Because Native American people hold the land sacred, in their terms the entire INEL reserve is culturally important. Cultural resources, to the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes, include all forms of traditional lifeways and usage of all natural resources. This includes not only prehistoric archaeological sites, which are important in a religious or cultural heritage context, but also features of the natural landscape and air, plant, water, or animal resources that have special significance. These resources may be affected by changes in the visual environment (construction, ground disturbance, or introduction of a foreign element into the setting), dust particles, or by contamination. Geographically, the INEL site is included within a large territory once inhabited by and still of importance to the Shoshone-Bannock. Plant resources used by the Shoshone-Bannock that are located on or near the INEL site are listed in Table 2-17. Areas significant to the Shoshone-Bannock would include the buttes, wetlands, sinks, grasslands, juniper woodlands, Birch Creek, and the Big Lost River.

Five Federal laws prompt consultation between Federal agencies and Native American tribes: the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA), the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (NHPA), the American Indian Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA), the Archaeological Resources Protection Act (ARPA), and the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act (NAGPRA). In accordance with these directives and in consideration of DOE's written Native American policy (DOE 1990b, 1992), DOE at the INEL has committed to additional interaction and exchange of information with the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes of the nearby Fort Hall Indian Reservation and is developing procedures for consultation and coordination. This relationship is outlined in a formal Working Agreement between the Shoshone-Bannock and DOE (DOE-ID 1992), the Cultural Resources Management Plan for the INEL (Miller 1992), and the curation agreement for permanent storage of archaeological materials are planned for completion by June 1996⁷. The Cultural Resources Management Plan would define procedures for involving the Shoshone-Bannock during the planning stages of project development. The curation agreement would provide for the repatriation of burial goods in accordance with the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act.

2.6.3 PALEONTOLOGICAL RESOURCES (Refer to Section 4.4.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

There are 31 known fossil localities at the INEL site, and available information suggests that the region has relatively abundant and varied Paleontological resources. Preliminary analyses suggest that these materials are most likely to be found in association with

⁷ Memorandum of Understanding for Curatorial Services between the U. S. Department of Energy, Idaho Operations Office, and the Archaeological Survey of Idaho", signed by R. Cullison (DOE-ID), R Yohe (archaeological Survey of Idaho), A. Jackson (Idaho Museum of Natural History, and R. Bowen (Idaho State University), June 1996. Cultural Resource Management Plan for the INEL completed (Miller, 1995).

archaeological sites; in areas of basalt flows; in deposits of the Big Lost River, Little Lost River, and Birch Creek; in deposits of Lake Terreton and playas; in some wind and sand deposits; and in sedimentary interbeds or lava tubes within local lava flows (Table 3-1 in Miller 1992).

2.6.4 VISUAL AND SCENIC RESOURCES

2.6.4.1 Visual Resources (Refer to Section 4.5.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The INEL site is bordered on the north and west by the Bitterroot, Lemhi, and Lost River mountain ranges. Volcanic buttes near the southern boundary of the INEL can be seen from most locations on the site and the Fort Hall Indian Reservation. Most of the INEL site consists of open, undeveloped land, predominantly covered by Big Sagebrush and grasslands (see Section 2.2, Ecology). Pasture and irrigated farmland border much of the INEL site (see Section 2.1.3, Uses of Adjacent Lands and Waters).

Nine facility areas are located on the INEL site. Although the INEL has a master plan, no specific visual resource standards have been established. The generally low density INEL facilities look like commercial/industrial complexes and are dispersed throughout the INEL site. The structures range in height from 10 feet (3 m) to approximately 100 feet (30 m), with a few stacks and towers that reach up to 250 feet (76 m). Although many INEL facilities are visible from highways, most facilities are located over half a mile (0.8 km) from public roads. The facility closest to a public road, 0.4 mile (0.6 km) is the Water Reactor Research Test Facility about 60 feet in height (18 m), located off State Highway 33. This section of Highway 33 is used primarily by the INEL workforce at TAN.

About 90 miles (144 km) of paved public highway run through the INEL site. U.S. Highway 20 runs east and west across the southern portion, and has one rest stop within the INEL boundaries. This is the highway most heavily used by the INEL workforce. It is a direct route from the Idaho Falls area to Boise, Idaho, and recreational areas such as Sun Valley and Craters of the Moon National Monument. The Experimental Breeder Reactor-I, just off Highway 20, is a National Historic Landmark. It had 14,000 visitors in 1992 (Braun 1993) but was closed temporarily for repairs in 1993. U.S. Highway 26 runs southeast and northwest, intersecting Highway 20 near the CFA. State Highways 22, 28, and 33 cross the northeastern part of the INEL site.

2.6.4.2 Scenic Areas (Refer to Section 4.5.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The Craters of the Moon National Monument is located about 15 miles southwest of the INEL site's western boundary. The seasonal visual range from Craters of the Moon is from 81 to 97 miles (130 to 156 km) (Notar 1993). The Monument is located in a designated Wilderness Area, for which Class I (very high) air quality standards, or minimal degradation, must be maintained, as defined by the Clean Air Act (CFR 1977,

1990). Under the Clean Air Act, air quality is defined to include visibility and scenic view considerations.

Lands adjacent to the INEL, under Bureau of Land Management jurisdiction, are designated as Visual Resource Management Class II areas (BLM 1984, 1986). This designation urges preservation and retention of the existing character of the landscape. Lands within INEL site boundaries are designated as Class III and IV, the most lenient classes in terms of modification. The Bureau of Land Management is considering the Black Canyon Wilderness Study Area, located adjacent to the INEL, for Wilderness Area designation (BLM 1986), which, if approved, would result in an upgrade of its Visual Resource Management class from Class II to Class I.

Features of the natural landscape have special significance to the Shoshone-Bannock tribes. The visual environment of the INEL site is within the visual range of the Fort Hall Indian Reservation.

2.7 NOISE (Refer to Section 4.10, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995)

The noise level at the INEL ranges from 10 dBA for the rustling of grass to 115 dBA, the upper limit for unprotected hearing exposure established by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), from the combined sources of industrial operations, construction activities, and vehicular traffic, including aircraft. The playas and remote lava flows of the INEL site have relatively low ambient noise levels of about 35 to 40 dBA. Onsite, in accordance with INEL procedures, industrial hygiene practices assure hearing protection for workers. Noise limits for the workplace are established to protect workers in accordance with OSHA standards (CFR 1992). Site workers are required by OSHA to wear ear protection devices when exposed to noise levels above 85 dBA on an eight-hour time-weighted average. Shredding and painting operations at the CFA produced the highest noise levels measured at the INEL at 104 dBA and 99 dBA, respectively. The computer room measured 88 dBA, and the snack bar measured 60 dBA. The noise generated at the INEL site is not propagated at detectable levels offsite, since all public areas are at least 5 miles (8 km) away from site facility areas.

Previous studies of the effects of noise on wildlife indicate that even very high intermittent noise levels at the INEL (over 100 dBA) would have no deleterious effect on wildlife productivity (Leonard 1993).

2.8 FIGURES, TABLES, AND REFERENCES

2.8.1 FIGURES

Figure 2-1. Location of the INEL in southeastern Idaho. Figure 2-2. Idaho National Engineering Laboratory's primary facility areas.

Figure 2-3. TMI-2 ISFSI Location at ICPP with 100 meter Radius Line.

Figure 2-4. Distance from the ICPP to the INEL Boundary.

Figure 2-5. Population Distribution for 1990 within 50 miles (80 km.) of ICPP.

Figure 2-6. Population Distribution for 2000 within 50 miles (80 km.) of ICPP.

Figure 2-7. Population Distribution for 2010 within 50 miles (80 km.) of ICPP.

Figure 2-8. Population Distribution for 2020 within 50 miles (80 km) of ICPP.

Figure 2-9. Selected land uses at the INEL and surrounding region.

Figure 2-10. INEL site vicinity map.

Figure 2-11. Approximate distribution of vegetation at the INEL.

Figure 2-12. Airborne radioactivity monitoring network at the INEL.

- Figure 2-13. Grid III 10 Meter Wind Roses, January 1993 through December 1995.
- Figure 2-14. Grid III 64 Meter Wind Roses, January 1993 through December 1995.
- Figure 2-15. INEL site map with major drainages.
- Figure 2-16. Big Lost River System on the INEL.
- Figure 2-17. INEL facilities with the predicted inundation area for the probable maximum flood-induced overtopping failure of Mackay Dam (Bennett 1990).
- Figure 2-18. Relative Positions of the Big Lost River and ICPP.
- Figure 2-19. Location of the INEL, Eastern Snake River Plain, and generalized flow direction of the Snake River Plain Aquifer.

Figure 2-20. Geologic features in the region of the INEL site.

Figure 2-21. Historical earthquakes in the INEL region with magnitudes greater than 2.5 (1884 to 1989) (WCC 1992).

Figure 2-22. Contribution of the various seismic sources to the mean peak ground acceleration at the Idaho Chemical Processing Plant (WCFS 1993).

Figure 2-23. Map of the INEL showing locations of volcanic rift zones and lava flow hazard zones.

2.8.2 TABLES

Table 2-1. Nuclear Facilities within 50-mi (80-km) of the ICPP.

- Table 2-2. County Population by Age Distribution.
- Table 2-3. INEL Workforce at Facilities on the INEL
- Table 2-4. INEL Climatological Stations and Periods of Record.
- Table 2-5. INEL tornado frequency.
- Table 2-6. Monthly and Annual Temperature Averages and Extreme Averages

Table 2-7. Average, Highest and Lowest Total Precipitation, CFA

Table 2-8. Snowfall amounts, CFA.

Table 2-9. Dewpoint temperatures, Monthly and Annual Averages.

- Table 2-10. Hourly average windspeeds, CFA.
- Table 2-11. Extremes of Daily Temperatures, CFA
- Table 2-12. Mean and Maximum of Daily Temperature Range, CFA
- Table 2-13. Freeze and Thaw Cycles, CFA
- Table 2-14. Monthly and Annual Degree Days, CFA
- Table 2-15. Peak gusts, CFA and TAN
- Table 2-16. Summary of highest detected contaminant concentrations in groundwater within the INEL (1985 to 1992).

Table 2-17. Plants used by the Shoshone-Bannock that are located on or near the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory site.

2.8.3 REFERENCES

Anders, M. H. and N. H. Sleep, 1992, Magmatism and Extension: The Thermal and Mechanical Effects of the Yellowstone Hotspot, Journal of Geophysical Research, 97, B11, pp. 15379-15393.

Anders, M. H., J. W. Geissman, L. A. Piety, J. T. Sullivan, 1989, Parabolic Distribution of Circumeastern Snake River Plain Seismicity and Latest Quaternary Faulting: Migratory Pattern and Association with the Yellowstone Hotspot, Journal of Geophysical Research, 94, B2, pp. 1589-1621.

Anderson, J. E., 1991, Final Report: Vegetation Studies to Support the NPR Environmental Impact Statement, Subcontract No. C34- 110421, Task Order No. 72, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Anderson, J. E., K. Rupple, J. M. Glennon, K. E. Holte, R. C. Rope, 1995, Vegetation, Flora, and Ethnoecology of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory (in press), ESRF-005, Environmental Science and Research Foundation, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Arthur, W. J., J. W. Connelly, D. K. Halford, T. D. Reynolds, 1984, Vertebrates of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, DOE/ID- 12099, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Arthur, W. J., O. D. Markham, C. R. Groves, B. L. Keller, D. K. Halford, 1986, Radiation Dose to Small Mammals Inhabiting a Solid Radioactive Waste Disposal Area, Journal of Applied Ecology, 23, pp. 13-26.

Barraclough, J. T., B. D. Lewis, R. G. Jensen, 1981, Hydrologic Conditions at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho-Emphasis: 1974-1978, U.S. Geological Survey, Water Resources Investigations, Open-File Report 81-526, IDO-22060, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Bennett, C. M., 1990, Streamflow Losses and Ground-Water Level Changes Along the Big Lost River at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations Report 90-4067, DOE/ID-22091, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho, 49 p.

Bishop, C. W., 1991, Hydraulic Properties of Vesicular Basalt, Masters Thesis, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona.

Bishop, C. W., 1993, Water Resources, in Irving, J. S., 1993, Environmental Resource Document for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Volume 1, EGG-WMO-10279, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, July. Bowman, A. L., 1995, INEL Seismic and Volcanic Hazards Maps, Engineering Design File SNF-EIS-0001-95, Revision 2, Lockheed Idaho Technologies Company, Idaho Falls, Idaho, February 14.

BLM (Bureau of Land Management), 1984, Medicine Lodge Resource Management Plan Environmental Impact Statement, U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Idaho Falls District, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

BLM (Bureau of Land Management), 1986, Final Environmental Impact Statement Eastern Idaho Wilderness Study, U.S. Department of Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Idaho Falls District, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Braun, J., 1993, EG&G Idaho, Inc. Idaho Falls, Idaho, personal communication to M. Fikel, Science Applications International Corporation, Boise, Idaho, September 8.

Braun, J. B., S. J. Miller, and B. L. Ringe, 1993, *Historically Significant Scientific and Technical Facilities at the INEL*, EGG-CS-10699, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Brott, C. A., D. D. Blackwell, J. P. Ziagos, 1981, Thermal and Tectonic Implications of Heat Flow in the Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho, Journal of Geophysical Research, 86, B12, pp. 11709-11734.

Case, J., W. House, P. Austin, 1990, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Groundwater Protection Management Plan, DOE/ID-10274, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho, May.

Cecil, D. L., T. M. Beasley, J. R. Pittman, R. L. Michel, P. W. Kubik, P. Sharma, U. Fehn, H. E. Gove, 1992, Water Infiltration Rates in the Unsaturated Zone at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Estimated from Chlorine-36 and Tritium Profiles, and Neutron Logging, Proceedings of the 7th International Symposium on Water-Rock Interaction, Park City, Utah, 13-18 July 1992.

CFR (Code of Federal Regulations), 1977, 40 CFR 50, National Primary and Secondary Ambient Air Quality Standards, Office of the Federal Register, Washington, D.C., August.

CFR (Code of Federal Regulations), 1990, 40 CFR 51, Requirements for Preparation, Adoption, and Submittal of Implementation Plans, Office of the Federal Register, Washington, D.C., November.

CFR (Code of Federal Regulations), 1992, 29 CFR 1910.95, Occupational Noise Exposure, Office of the Federal Register, Washington, D.C.

CFR (Code of Federal Regulations), 1993, 40 CFR 100-149, "Title 40: Protection of Environment," Office of the Federal Register, July.

Clawson, K. L., G. E. Start, M. R. Ricks, 1989, *Climatography of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory*, 2nd Edition, DOE/ID-12118, U.S. Department of Commerce, National and Atmospheric Administration, Environmental Research Laboratories, Air Resources Laboratory, Field Research Division, Idaho Falls, Idaho, December.

Craig, T. H., D. K. Halford, O. D. Markham, 1979, Radionuclide Concentrations in Nestling Raptors near Nuclear Facilities, Wilson Bulletin, 91, 1, pp. 71-77.

Dames & Moore, 1992, Revised Draft Flood Evaluation Study, Radioactive Waste Management Complex, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho Falls, Idaho, July.

DOE 1990a, General Environmental Protection Program, DOE Order 5400.1, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, D.C., Jan. 7.

DOE 1990b, Memorandum EH-231, "Management of Cultural Resources at Department of Energy Facilities," Feb. 23.

DOE 1992, Working Agreement, Policy on Native American Consultation, Sept. 29.

DOE 1993, Radiation Protection of the Public and the Environment, DOE Order 5400.5, Change 2, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, D.C., January 7.

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, April

DOE 1996, The ISFSI Safety Analysis Report for the TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation, October

DOE-ID 1991, INEL Nonradiological Waste Management Information System (NWIMS), DOE/ID-10057 (1991), U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

DOE-ID 1992, "Working Agreement Between the Shoshone-Bannock Tribes of the Fort Hall Indian Reservation and the Idaho Field Office of the United States Department of Energy Concerning Environment, Safety, Health, Cultural Resources and Economic Self-Sufficiency," U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho, September 29.

DOE-ID 1993a, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan for Construction Activities—Generic Plan, DOE/ID-10425, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho, September.

DOE-ID 1993b, Memorandum of Agreement among the U.S. DOE-Idaho Field Office, the Idaho State Historic Preservation Office, and the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, (for Test Area North 629 Hangar).

DOE-ID 1993c, Memorandum of Agreement among the U.S. DOE-Idaho Field Office, the Idaho State Historic Preservation Office, and the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, (for Auxiliary Reactor Areas I, II, and III).Driscoll, F. G., 1986, Groundwater and Wells, Second Edition, St. Paul, Minnesota: Johnson Filtration Systems, Inc., p. 61.

DOE-ID 1993d, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Long-Term Land Use Future Scenarios, DOE/ID-10440, Revision 1, U. S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, ID, June.

Driscoll, F. G., 1986, *Groundwater and Wells*, Second Edition, St. Paul, Minnesota: Johnson Filtration Systems, Inc., p. 61.

Edwards, D. D., R. C. Bartholomay, C. M. Bennett, 1990, Nutrients, Pesticides, Surfactants, and Trace Metals in Groundwater from the Howe and Mud Areas Upgradient from the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 90-565, DOE/ID-22093, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

EG&G Idaho (EG&G Idaho, Inc.), 1984, INEL Environmental Characterization Report, EGG-NPR-6688, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho.

EPA (U. S. Environmental Protection Agency), 1993, Drinking Water Regulations and Health Advisories, December.

Evenson, L. M., 1981, Systemic Effects of Radiation Exposure on Rodents Inhabiting Liquid and Solid Radioactive Waste Disposal Areas, Masters thesis, Colorado State University, Fort Collins, Colorado.

Garabedian, S. P., 1986, Application of a Parameter Estimation Technique to Modeling the Regional Aquifer Underlying the Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Water-Supply Paper 2278, 60 p.

Garabedian, S. P., 1992, Hydrology and Digital Simulation of the Regional Aquifer System, Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho, Professional Paper 1408-F, U.S. Geological Survey, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Gilbert, H. K. and B. L. Ringe, 1993, Inventory of Known Historical Cultural Resources on the INEL and Preliminary Analysis of Historic Sensitivity, EGG-CS-10707, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Golder Associates, 1994, Assessment of Trends in Groundwater Quality at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Report No. 933-1151, Golder Associates, Idaho Falls, Idaho, October 29.

Hackett, W. R. and R. P. Smith, 1992, *Quaternary Volcanism, Tectonics, and* Sedimentation in the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Area, in Wilson, J. R. (editor), Field Guide to Geologic Excursions in Utah and Adjacent Areas of Nevada, Idaho, and Wyoming, Miscellaneous Publication 92-3, Geological Society of America, Rocky Mountain Section, Ogden, Utah, pp. 1-18.

Halford, D. K. and O. D. Markham, 1984, Iodine-129 in Waterfowl Muscle from a Radioactive Leaching Pond Complex in Southern Idaho, Health Physics, 46, 6, pp. 1259-1263.

Hampton, N. L., R. C. Rope, J. M. Glennon, K. S. Moor, 1995, A Preliminary Survey of National Wetland Inventory as Mapped for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, INEL-95/0101, Lockheed Idaho Technologies Company, Idaho Falls, Idaho, March.

Hoff, D. L., R. G. Mitchell, G. C. Bowman, R. Moore, 1990, *The Idaho National* Engineering Laboratory Site Environmental Report for Calendar Year 1989, DOE/ID-12082(89), Environmental Sciences Branch, Radiological and Environmental Sciences Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

IAEA (International Atomic Energy Agency), 1992, Effects of Ionizing Radiation on Plants and Animals at Levels Implied by Current Radiation Protection Standards, Technical Report Series No. 332, Vienna, Austria.

Irving, J. S., 1993, Environmental Resource Document for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Volumes 1 and 2, EGG-WMO-10279, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, July.

Jackson, S. M., 1985, Acceleration Data from the 1983 Borah Peak, Idaho, Earthquake Recorded at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, in Proceedings of Workshop XXVIII On the Borah Peak, Idaho, Earthquake, R. S. Stein and R. C. Bucknam (eds.), Open-File Report 85-290, U. S. Geological Survey, Idaho Falls, Idaho, pp. 385-400.

Jackson, S. M., I. G. Wong, G. S. Carpenter, D. M. Anderson, S. M. Martin, 1993, Contemporary Seismicity in the Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho, Based on Microearthquake Monitoring, Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 83, 3, pp. 680-695.

Kaminsky, J. F., 1991, In Situ Characterization of Unsaturated Hydraulic Properties of Surficial Sediments Adjacent to the Radioactive Waste Management Complex, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, Master's Thesis, ISU-91-000, Idaho State University, Pocatello, Idaho.

King, J. J., T. E. Doyle, S. M. Jackson, 1987, Seismicity of the Eastern Snake River Plain Region, Idaho, Prior to the Borah Peak, Idaho Earthquake: October 1972 -October 1983, Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 77, 3, pp. 809-818.

Koslow, K. N. and D. H. Van Haaften, 1986, Flood Routing Analysis for a Failure of Mackay Dam, EGG-EP-7184, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, 78 p.

Kramber, W. L., R. C. Rope, J. Anderson, J. Giennon, A. Morse, 1992, Producing a Vegetation Map of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Using Landsat Thematic Mapper Data, in Proceedings of ASPRS 1992 Annual Meeting, Albuquerque, New Mexico, March, 1992.

Kuntz, M. A., B. Skipp, M. A. Lanphere, W. E. Scott, K. L. Pierce, G. B. Dalrymple, L. A. Morgan, D. E. Champion, G. F. Embree, R. P. Smith, W. R. Hackett, D. W. Rodgers, compiled by W. R. Page, 1990, *Revised Geologic Map of the INEL and Adjoining Areas, Eastern Idaho*, Open-File Report 90-333, U.S. Geological Survey, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Kuntz, M. A., H. R. Covington, L. J. Schorr, 1992, An Overview of Basaltic Volcanism of the Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho, in Regional Geology of Eastern Idaho and Western Wyoming, P. K. Link, M. A. Kuntz, L. B. Platt (eds.), Memoir 179, Geological Society of America, Denver, Colorado, pp. 227-267.

Leenheer, J. A. and J. C. Bagby, 1982, Organic Solutes in Groundwater at the Idaho Engineering Laboratory, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 82-15, IDO-22061, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Leonard, P.R., 1993, Air Resources, "Environmental Resource Document for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, J. S. Irving, Principal Investigator, Volume 1, WMO-10279, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Liszewski, M. J. and L. J. Mann, 1992, Purgeable Organic Compounds in Groundwater at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho--1990 and 1991, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 92-174, DOE/ID-22104, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Lobdell, C., 1995, U.S. Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Boise Field Office, Boise, Idaho, letter to T. Reynolds, Environmental Science Research Foundation, Idaho Falls, Idaho, providing an updated list of endangered, threatened, proposed, and candidate species at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, FWS-1-4-95, January 24.

Mann, L. J. and L. D. Cecil, 1990, Tritium in Groundwater at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 90-4090, DOE/ID-22090.

Mann, L. J. and L. L. Knobel, 1987, Purgeable Organic Compounds in Groundwater at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 87-766, DOE/ID 22074, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Mann, L. J., 1990, Purgeable Organic Compounds in Groundwater at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 90-387, DOE/ID-22089. Mann, L. J., 1994, U.S. Geological Survey, INEL Field Office, Idaho Falls, Idaho, personal communication with A. L. Lundahl, Science Applications International Corporation, Idaho Falls, Idaho, January 17.

Mann, L. J., E. W. Chew, J. S. Morton, 1988, *Iodine-129 in the Snake River Plain* Aquifer at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 88-4165, DOE/ID-22076, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Markham, O. D., 1974, Environmental and Radiological Monitoring at the National Reactor Testing Station during FY-1973 (July 1972-June 1973), Radiation Data Report, 15, pp. 227-246.

Markham, O. D., D. K. Halford, R. E. Autenrieth, R. L. Dickson, 1982, Radionuclides in Pronghorn Resulting from Nuclear Fuel Reprocessing and Worldwide Fallout, Journal of Wildlife Management, 46, pp. 30-42.

Martin, S.B., 1996 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, letter to Reynolds, Environmental Science and Research Foundation, providing a list of endangered, threatened, proposed, and candidate species that may be present within the area of the INEL, SP #1-4-96-SP-185, April 30.

Millard, J. B., F. W. Whicker, O. D. Markham, 1990, Radionuclide Uptake and Growth of Barn Swallows Nesting by Radioactive Leaching Ponds, Health Physics, 58, 4, pp. 429-439.

Miller, S. J., 1992, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Management Plan for Cultural Resources (Draft), DOE/ID-10361, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Miller, S. J., 1995, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Management Plan for Cultural Resources, Final Draft, DOE/ID-10361, Rev. 1, Idaho Falls, Idaho, July 1995.

Mitchell, J. C., L. L. Johnson, J. E. Anderson, 1980, Geothermal Investigations in Idaho, Part 9, Potential for Direct Heat Application of Geothermal Resources, Water Information Bulletin No. 30, Plate 1, Idaho Department of Water Resources, Boise, Idaho.

Mitchell, V. E., W. B. Strowd, G. S. Hustedde, E. H. Bennett, 1981, *Mines and Prospects of the Dubois Quadrangle*, Idaho, Mines and Prospects Map Series, Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology, Moscow, Idaho, December.

Morris, R. C., 1993a, personal communication with T. Doerr, Science Applications International Corporation, August 16.

Morris, R. C., 1993b, Radioecology of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Draft U.S. Department of Energy file report, August 16. Notar, J., 1993, U. S. National Park Service, personal communication with D. A. Ryan, Science Applications International Corporation, Idaho Falls, Idaho, December 10.

NOAA 1984, Climatography of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Site Specific Summary NPR Primary and Alternative Site (Draft), IDO-12048B, G.E. Start, Ed., November.

NRC 1976, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Regulatory Guide 4.2, Revision 2, Preparation of Environmental Reports for Nuclear Power Stations, NUREG-0099, July

Orr, B. R. and L. D. Cecil, 1991, Hydrologic Conditions and Distribution of Selected Chemical Constituents in Water, Snake River Plain Aquifer, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Idaho, 1986 to 1988, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 91-4047, DOE/ID-22096, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Orr, B. R., L. D. Cecil, L. L. Knobel, 1991, Background Concentrations of Selected Radionuclides, Organic Compounds, and Chemical Constituents in Groundwater in the Vicinity of the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 91-4015, DOE/ID- 22094, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Parsons, T. and G. A. Thompson, 1991, The Role of Magma Overpressure in Suppressing Earthquakes and Topography: Worldwide Examples, Science, 253, pp. 1399-1402.

Pelton, J. R., R. J. Vincent, N. J. Anderson, 1990, Microearthquakes in the Middle Butte/East Butte Area, Eastern Snake River Plain, Idaho, Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 80, 1, pp. 209-212.

Pierce, K. L. and L. A. Morgan, 1992, The Track of the Yellowstone Hotspot: Volcanism, Faulting, and Uplift, in Regional Geology of Eastern Idaho and Western Wyoming, P. K. Link, M. A. Kuntz, and L. B. Platt (eds.), Memoir 179, Geological Society of America, Denver, Colorado, pp. 1-53.

Pittman, J. R., R. G. Jensen, P. R. Fischer, 1988, Hydrologic Conditions at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, 1982 to 1985. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigation Report 89-4008, DOE/ID-22078, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Reynolds, T. D., 1993, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Operations Office, Idaho Falls, Idaho, personal communication with T. Doerr, Science Applications International Corporation,

Reynolds, T. D., J. W. Connelly, D. K. Halford, W. J. Arthur, 1986, Vertebrate Fauna of the Idaho National Environmental Research Park, Great Basin Naturalist 46, 3, pp. 513-527.

Ringe, B. L., 1993, Locational Analysis and Preliminary Predictive Model for Prehistoric Cultural Resources on the INEL (Draft), EGG-CS-10706.

Robertson, J. B., R. Schoen, J. T. Barraclough, 1974, The Influence of Liquid Waste Disposal on the Geochemistry of Water at the National Reactor Testing Station, Idaho: 1952-1970, IDO-22053, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Rodgers, D. W., W. R. Hackett, H. T. Ore, 1990, Extension of the Yellowstone Plateau, Eastern Snake River Plain, and Owyhee Plateau, Geology, 18, pp. 1138-1141.

Rope, R. C., N. L. Hampton, K. A. Finley, 1993, *Ecological Resources*, in Irving, J. S., Environmental Resource Document for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, Volumes 1 and 2, EGG-WMO-10279, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, July.

Sehlke, G. and F. E. Bickford, 1993, *Idaho National Engineering Laboratory* Groundwater Monitoring Plan, Volume 1, DOE/ID-10441, U.S. Department of Energy, Idaho Operations Office, Idaho Falls, ID, June.

Smith, R. B. and W. J. Arabasz, 1991, Seismicity of the Intermountain Seismic Belt, in Neotectonics of North America, D. B. Slemmons, E. R. Engdahl, M. D. Zoback, D. D. Blackwell (eds.), Decade Map Volume 1, Geological Society of America, Boulder, Colorado, pp. 185-221.

Smith, R. B. and M. L. Sbar, 1974, Contemporary Tectonics and Seismicity of the Western United States with Emphasis on the Intermountain Seismic Belt, Geological Society of America Bulletin, 85, pp. 1205-1218.

Stickney, M. C. and M. J. Bartholomew, 1987, Seismicity and Late Quaternary Faulting of the Northern Basin and Range Province, Montana and Idaho, Bulletin of the Seismological Society of America, 77, 5, pp. 1602-1625.

Strowd, W. B., V. E. Mitchell, G. S. Hustedde, E. H. Bennett, 1981, *Mines and Prospects of the Idaho Falls Quadrangle*, Idaho, Mines and Prospects Map Series, Idaho Bureau of Mines and Geology, Boise, Idaho.

USGS (U.S. Geological Survey), 1982-1993, Water Data Storage Retrieval System (WATSTORE), water quality file.

VWG (Volcanism Working Group), 1990, Assessment of Potential Volcanic Hazards for the New Production Reactor Site at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, EGG-NPR-10624, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, October.

WCC (Woodward-Clyde Consultants), 1990, Earthquake Strong Ground Motion Estimates for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory: Final Report; Volume I: Summary; Volume II: Methodology and Analyses; and Volume III: Appendices, EGG-BG-9350, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, November. WCC (Woodward-Clyde Consultants), 1992, Earthquake Ground Motion Evaluations for the Proposed New Production Reactor at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory: Final Report; Volume I: Deterministic Evaluation; Volume II: Probabilistic Evaluation, EGG-GEO- 10304, EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, June.

WCFS (Woodward-Clyde Federal Services), 1993, Site-Specific Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Analysis for the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory (Draft), prepared by Woodward-Clyde Federal Services for EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, June.

WCFS (Woodward-Clyde Federal Services), 1995, Paleoseismic investigations of the southern Lost River fault zone, Idaho; Lockheed-Martin Idaho Technologies Company, Technical Report INEL-95-058.

WCFS (Woodward-Clyde Federal Services), 1996, Site-Specific Probabilistic Seismic Hazard Analysis for the INEL, prepared by Woodward-Clyde Federal Services for Lockheed-Martin Idaho Technologies Company, Final Report INEL-95-0536, two volumes.

Weaver, C. S., A. M. Pitt, D. P. Hill, 1979, Crustal Spreading Direction of the Snake River Plain-Yellowstone system, EOS, 60, p. 946.

Whitehead, R. L., 1982, Geohydrologic Framework of the Snake River Plain Regional Aquifer System, Idaho and Eastern Oregon, U.S. Geological Survey, Professional Paper 1408-B.

Whitehead, R. L., 1987, Geohydrologic Framework of the Snake River Plain Regional Aquifer System, Idaho and Eastern Oregon, Professional Paper 1408-B, U.S. Geological Survey, Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Wilhelmsen, R. N. and K. C. Wright, 1992, Annual Report-1991, Environmental Surveillance for EG&G Idaho Waste Management Facilities at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, EGG-2679(91), Idaho Falls, Idaho.

Wilhelmsen, R. N., K. C. Wright, D. W. McBride, 1993, Annual Report-1992 Environmental Surveillance for EG&G Idaho Waste Management Facilities at the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory, EGG-2679(92), EG&G Idaho, Inc., Idaho Falls, Idaho, August.

Wood, W. W. and W. H. Low, 1986, Aqueous Geochemistry and Digenesis in the Eastern Snake River Plain Aquifer System, Idaho, Geological Society of America Bulletin, 97 (12), pp. 1456-1466.

Wood, W. W. and W. H. Low, 1988, Solute Geochemistry of the Snake River Plain Regional Aquifer System, Idaho and Eastern Oregon, U.S. Geological Survey Professional Paper 1408-D. Yohe, R., 1993, Idaho State Historical Preservation Office, Boise, Idaho, personal communication to T. Rudolph, Science Applications International Corporation, Boise, Idaho.

Zoback, M. L., and M. D. Zoback, 1989, Tectonic Stress Field of the Continental United States, in Geophysical Framework of the Continental United States, L. C. Pakiser and W. D. Mooney (eds.), Memoir 172, Geological Society of America, Boulder, Colorado, pp. 523-539.



Figure 2-1 Location of the INEL in southeastern Idaho.



Figure 2-2 Idaho National Engineering Laboratory's primary facility areas.



Figure 2-3 TMI-2 ISFSI Location with 100 meter Radius Line.



Figure 2-4. Distance from the ICPP to the INEL Boundary.

C







Total: 142,727

Figure 2-6 Population Distribution for 2000 within 50 miles (80 km.) of ICPP.





Total: 181,703

Figure 2-8 Population Distribution for 2020 within 50 miles (80 km.) of ICPP.

ANL-W	Argonne National Laboratory-West
ARA	Auxiliary Reactor Area
CFA	Central Facilities Area
EBR-I	Experimental Breeder Reactor - I
ICPP	Idaho Chemical Processing Plant
NRF	Naval Reactors Facility
PBF	Power Burst Facility
RWMC	Radioactive Waste Management Complex
TAN	Test Area North
TRA	Test Reactor Area
MITT	Marche Providence 1 Product of the state





Figure 2-9 Selected land uses at the INEL and surrounding region.


Figure 2-10 INEL site vicinity map.



Figure 2-11 Approximate distribution of vegetation at the INEL.



Figure 2-12 The airborne radioactivity monitoring network at the INEL (on-site and off-site).



Figure 2-13 Grid III 10 Meter Wind Roses, January 1993 to December 1995.

and the second of



Figure 2-14 Grid III 64 Meter Wind Roses, January 1993 to December 1995



Figure 2-15 INEL site map with major drainages



ICPP-A-16942X (1-91)

Figure 2-16. Big Lost River System on the INEL











the Snake River Plain Aquifer



Figure 2-20 Geologic features in the region of the INEL site.

SAA0028



Figure 2-21 Historic earthquakes in the INEL region with magnitudes greater than 2.5 (1884 to 1989) (WCC 1992)



Figure 2-22 Contribution of the various seismic sources to the mean peak ground acceleration at the Idaho Chemical Processing Plant (WCFS 1993).





Nuclear	Description	Location
Facility		The Market
Test Area North	Includes several facilities constructed for conducting reactor safety tests. Current programs at TAN include the Three Mile Island Core Examination Program, the Spent Fuels Program, Special Manufacturing Capability, and the Process Experimental Pilot Plant.	Located approximately 34 km (21 mi) northeast of the ICPP Longitude 112° 42' 5.651752'' Latitude 43° 50' 52.641304"
Naval Reactor Facility	Includes ship propulsion reactors used for testing and training Navy personnel.	Located 8 km (5 mi) north of the ICPP Longitude 112° 54' 55.493653" Latitude 43° 38' 56.884845"
Test Reactor Area	Includes test reactors, hot cells, and spent fuel storage pools for research and development for nuclear fuel systems and irradiation testing.	Located approximately 2 km (1 mi) northwest of the ICPP Longitude 112° 57' 50.066574" Latitude 43° 35' 14.590760"
Central Facility Area	Provides centralized support services (including site medical services) for the INEL operations.	Located approximately 5 km (3 mi) south of the ICPP Longitude 112° 56' 37.619069" Latitude 43° 31' 42.752483"
Power Burst Facility	Includes facilities constructed for the Special Power Excursion Reactor Tests. The PBF was used to conduct light water reactor (LWR) fuel behavior studies and is proposed for boron neutron capture therapy for brain tumors.	Located approximately 5 km (3 mi) southeast of the ICPP Longitude 112° 52' 28.578907" Latitude 43° 31' 16.993036"
Auxiliary Reactor Area	Includes facilities used for materials testing and development and weld qualification.	Located approximately 11 km (7 mi) southeast of the ICPP Longitude 112° 49' 46.086985" Latitude 43° 31' 56.693159"
Argonne National Laboratory-West	Includes facilities for conducting liquid metal breeder reactor research and development.	Located approximately 23 km (14 mi) east of the ICPP Longitude 112° 39' 17.328526" Latitude 43° 35' 44.104053"
Radioactive Waste Management Complex	Provides long-term storage facility for low-level radioactive waste and a certification and storage facility for transuranic waste.	Located approximately 10 km (6 mi) southwest of the ICPP Longitude 113° 2' 35.627814" Latitude 43° 29' 59.134109"

Table 2-1. Nuclear Facilities within 50-mi (80-km) of the ICPP

Source: Idaho Chemical Processing Plant Site Characterization Document and Lee 1996.

	Percentage by Age Group				
County	0 - 14	15 - 64	> 64		
Bannock	28	62	10		
Bingham	33	57	10		
Bonneville	30	61	9		
Butte	29	58	13		
Clark	27	61	12		
Jefferson	34	56	10		
Madison	27	67	6		
Average	30	60	10		

The second second second

Table 2-2. County population by age distribution

Source: 1990 Census

0

Facility	INEL Workforce
CFA	854
ICPP	1,157
PBF	116
NRF	1,022
TAN	335
TRA	430
WMF (RWMC)	196
Total	4,110

Table 2-3. INEL workforce at facilities on the INEL

Source: LITCO Monthly Headcount Report - March 1996

Station	Surface Wind	Tower Winds & Temperatures	Temperature & Radiation Heating Surface	Precipitation	Station Discontinued	Period of Record (through 12/88) Years
CFA ^[a]	04/11/50	06/22/51	11/26/49	03/01/50		39
TAN ^[b] (WXA-1) (WXA-2) ^[e]	11/17/52	04/15/56	10/17/52	10/17/52	1969	18
Monteview (MIV)	06/14/55	an eo en	06/22/55	06/22/55	06/30/63	8
Birch Creek (BC)	09/23/55		09/29/55	09/29/55	04/18/61	5
Station x, y, & z ^[c]	12/21/55		01/10/56	01/10/56	07/25/58	2
Well 21	11/15/56		dan ani dik		12/03/58	2
NRF (STR 1, 2, 3, & 4) ^[c]	11/13/51	09/16/64	09/01/53		1958	6[1]
Midway (M)	06/06/50		04/03/50	05/08/50	05/12/52	2
Howe (H)	05/16/50		04/03/50	04/13/50	11/20/53	3
Arco (A)	06/06/50	40-00-00	04/12/50	05/17/50	08/31/52	2
Terreton (T, 179) ^[c]	07/01/50	85 65 69	04/13/50	04/13/50	04/18/61	5 ^(f)
E. Perimeter (EP)	03/29/51		03/29/51	03/29/51	09/01/54	. 3
Prickly Pear Flats (PP)	07/21/53		07/21/53		09/01/54	1
East Butte	01/01/54		01/01/54		02/09/55	1
Blue Dome	10/19/54		10/19/54	10/19/54	04/13/55	0.5
Craters of the Moon	08/17/61		07/27/61		04/29/63	2
Rexburg	11/03/59				05/05/62	2
SPERT	08/08/55	10/21/64 ^[d]	08/09/55	09/01/55		3[f]
LOFT	06/05/53				ant still year	2
EBR II		10/21/64				0.3
EBR I		11/09/64 ^[d]			***	0.3
Test Grid No. 3, CERT ^[a]	05/07/64	06/18/62 ^[c]				2

Table 2-4. INEL Climatological Stations and Periods of Record

[a] Following variables have also been measured at WBO: net radiation (solar and terrestrial), soil temperatures, wind and temperature soundings, dust, snow amounts, pressure, state of the ground, and general weather observations.

[b] Dust, wind, and temperature soundings have also been made at this location.

[c] Stations considered as one location for climatological purposes.

[d] 50-ft wind only.

[e] Winds only recorded.

[f] Intermittent record.

Table 2-5. INEL Tornado Frequency

	Number of Cases	Comments
Confirmed Tornadoes	3	There have been tornado reports from outside INEL boundaries in Bingham, Butte, and Jefferson counties.
		employees. June 6, 1967 - Tornado 15 miles east of EBR II, approximately 4 miles north of Mile Post 291 on
		Highway 20. Time was about 1300 Mountain Standard Time (MST). A photograph is on record.
		July 27, 1972 - Tornado approximately 8 miles south of EBR II or 4 miles south of Mile Post 279 on Highway 20. Time was about 1430 MST. A photograph of a second funnel that remained aloft was obtained.
Confirmed Funnel Clouds	11	April 28, 1954, at 1220, and June 9, 1954, at 1310- 1317, 15 miles NE of CFA. Both of these funnels are included in the 32 reported by the State Climatologist's report.
		July 20, 1972, 1325-1335 MST, funnel aloft sighted by AEC security and NOAA personnel about 10 miles SE of CFA.
		May 20, 1974, 1153 MST. The first funnel cloud was approximately 5 miles WSW of NRF. The second funnel was reported to be sighted approximately 1300 MST SW of CFA. The third sighting occurred at 1431 MST. This funnel cloud was determined to be west of TRA.
		May 8, 1975, near middle butte by NOAA meteorologists - 2 funnels. May 18, 1976, 1515-1520 MST approximately 25 miles west of CFA by NOAA meteorologist, 1 funnel. June 24, 1977, at 1210 MST in the vicinity of Howe, 1 funnel cloud by meteorologists from Atmospheric Turbulence and Diffusion Laboratory.
		July 23, 1984, 1225 MST, 10 miles west southwest of ICPP, 1 funnel.
Unconfirmed Reports	3	Each of these was apparently only a funnel cloud. The occurrences are unconfirmed as to dates, although two of them were sighted in May 1968 about 1/2 miles east of NRF. The third was reported in the INEL climatograph (IDO-12048), date unavailable.

		MAXIM	UM		AVERAG	E		MINIMU	ЛМ
	High	Average	Low	High	Average	Low	High	Average	Low
January	37.9	27.6	19.5	25.1	15.8	6.5	13.1	3.8	- 8.8
February	45.9	34.0	25.6	34.2	21.6	9.9	22.4	9.1	- 6.5
March	51.5	42.9	33.6	37.5	30.7	19.1	24.6	8.4	4.5
April	64.7	55.3	46.1	45.9	41.3	35.4	32.0	27.2	22.5
May	76.1	66.3	59.9	58.3	51.3	46.7	40.7	36.2	33.3
June	85.3	76.1	69.9	67.5	59.9	56.2	49.7	43.7	40.4
July	91.2	87.0	82.5	71.8	68.2	66.1	53.1	49.3	46.5
August	90.2	84.8	75.4	70.2	65.9	60.3	53.4	47.1	43.2
September	81.2	73.4	64.1	61.1	55.5	48.6	45.2	37.4	31.9
October	67.7	60.5	53.7	49.2	43.5	38.2	32.1	26.5	21.2
November	50.7	42.5	37.8	36.4	29.9	24.5	24.3	17.3	10.3
December	37.1	31.2	22.3	26.8	19.6	10.2	17.6	7.5	- 1.9
Annual	59.5	59.0	53.8	44.3	41.8	39.1	29.9	28.1	24.0

Table 2-6 Monthly and Annual Temperature Averages and Extremes Averages*

a. Temperature in °F, based on NWS archived CFA data from April 1954 through December 1982. (NOAA 1984)

Month	Average ^[a] cm (in.) of H ₂ O	Highest ^[a] cm (in.) of H ₂ O	Lowest ^[a] cm (in.) of H ₂ O	Normal cm (in.) of H ₂ O
January	1.75 (0.69)	6.50 (2.56)	0.00 (0.00)	1.85 (0.73)
February	1.63 (0.64)	6.10 (2.40)	0.03 (0.01)	1.96 (0.77)
March	1.52 (0.60)	3.66 (1.44)	0.18 (0.07)	1.57 (0.62)
April	1.85 (0.73)	6.35 (2.50)	0.00 (0.00)	1.30 (0.51)
Мау	3.05 (1.20)	11.23 (4.42)	0.18 (0.07)	2.79 (1.10)
June	3.00 (1.18)	9.88 (3.89)	0.05 (0.02)	2.77 (1.09)
July	1.35 (0.53)	5.82 (2.29)	0.00 (0.00)	0.66 (0.26)
August	1.45 (0.57)	8.31 (3.27)	0.00 (0.00)	1.22 (0.48)
September	1.60 (0.63)	8.94 (3.52)	0.00 (0.00)	0.89 (0.35)
October	1.32 (0.52)	4.24 (1.67)	0.00 (0.00)	1.68 (0.66)
November	1.73 (0.68)	4.42 (1.74)	0.00 (0.00)	1.04 (0.41)
December	1.91 (0.75)	8.71 (3.43)	0.05 (0.02)	1.50 (0.59)
Annual	22.12 (8.71)	36.58 (14.40)	11.43 (4.50)	19.23 (7.57)

Table 2-7. Average, Highest, and Lowest Total Precipitation, CFA

^[a] Data period of record spans January 1950 through December 1988. (Clawson et al. 1989)

		MON	THLY	
	Average ^b (in.)	Maximum (in.)	Minimum (in.)	Maximum 24-h Period ^e (in.)
January	7.7	18.1	1.4	8.5
February	5.3	15.0	0.1	7.5
March	3.5	10.2	0.8	8.6
April	2.4	11.9	0.0	6.7
May	1.1	8.3	0.0	4.7
June	0.0	Trace	0.0	Trace
July	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
August	. 0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
September	0.1	1.0	0.0	1.0
October	0.7	7.2	0.0	4.5
November	3.0	12.3	0.0	6.5
December	6.4	22.3	Trace	7.0
SEASONAL	26.0	40.9	11.3	8.6

Table 2-8 Snowfall Amounts, CFA* (NOAA 1984)

a. Based on CFA data from January 1950 through December 1982.

b. Average based on data measured during period from March 1954 through December 1982.

c. Based on data measured from January 1950 through September 1983.

Month	Average Air Temperature °C (°F)	Average Wet Bulb °C (°F)	Average Dewpoint °C (°F)
January	-8.6 (16.5)	-9.6 (14.7)	-13.7 (7.4)
February	-5.6 (22.0)	-6.9 (19.6)	-10.8 (12.5)
March	-0.3 (31.5)	-3.1 (26.4)	-8.8 (16.1)
April	5.5 (41.9)	0.6 (33.0)	-7.2 (19.0)
May	11.3 (52.3)	5.0 (41.0)	-2.3 (27.8)
June	16.3 (61.3)	7.9 (46.2)	-0.6 (31.0)
July	20.6 (69.0)	10.2 (50.3)	0.8 (33.5)
August	19.1 (66.4)	8.8 (47.9)	-1.5 (29.3)
September	13.4 (56.2)	5.4 (41.7)	-4.6 (23.8)
October	6.7 (44.1)	1.3 (34.4)	-6.8 (19.7)
November	-2.3 (27.9)	-4.6 (23.7)	-10.0 (14.0)
December	-5.6 (22.0)	-7.1 (19.2)	-11.8 (10.8)
Annual	5.9 (42.6)	0.7 (33.2)	-6.4 (20.4)

Table 2-9. Dewpoint Temperatures.^[a] Monthly and Annual Averages

^[a] Computed from average air temperatures and average wet bulb temperatures measured at CFA, April 1955 through April 1961.

	Averag	e Speed	H	ighest Hourly	Average S	peed		
	(m	(mph)		(mph)				
			20-ft	Level ^d	250-f	t Level ^e		
	20-ft ^b Level	250-ft ^c Level	Speed	Direction	Speed	Direction		
January	5.6	9.7	48	wsw	65	SW		
February	6.9	11.3	36	SW	52	WSW		
March	8.7	13.8	51	wsw	67	WSW		
April	9.3	14.6	39	wsw	49	WSW-SW		
May	9.3	14.3	41	SW	47	WSW-SW		
June	8.9	14.2	36	SW	46	wsw		
July	8.0	13.5	35	wsw	47	WSW		
August	7.7	13.1	40	wsw	54	SW		
September	7.2	12.8	42	wsw	56	WSW		
October	6.8	12.3	44	wsw	58	WSW		
November	6.4	11.6	40	WSW	54	wsw		
December	5.1	9.6	43	SW	56	SW		
ANNUAL	7.5	12.6	51	WSW	67	WSW		
a. Based on (CFA data.							
b. April 1950) through Octob	er 1964.						
c. July 1951	through Octobe	r 1964.	31 J. J.					
d. April 1950) through Octob	er 1983.						
e. July 1951	through Octobe	r 1983.						

Table 2-10 Hourly Average Windspeeds, CFA^a

A

	Highest	Lowest	Highest	Average
	Daily Maximum ^a	Daily Maximum ^a	Daily Average ^b	Dew Point
	(°F)	(°F)	(°F)	(°F)
January	51	-40	44	-19
February	58	-32	44	-11
March	70	-28	54	-6
April	82.9	6	60	23
May	91	13	71	30
June	97	23	79	30
July	101	29	80	52
August	99	28	80	52
September	96	12	74	30
October	82	3	64	22
November	67	-24	52	-9
December	51	-40	44	-23
		10	00	22

Table 2-11 Extremes Of Daily Temperatures, CFA

	Mean Range	Maximum Range
anal and	(°F)	(°F)
January	23	52
February	24	50
March	24	50
April	28	57
May	30	55
June	32	54
July	38	56
August	38	57
September	36	58
October	34	58
November	25	51
December	23	45
ANNUAL	31	58

Table 2-12 Mean And Maximum Of Daily Temperature Range, CFA*

and the second	Days on which Maximum was above 32°F and Minimum was below 32°F				
	Average Number of Days – Period of Record	Maximum Number of Days	Minimum Number of Days		
January	10	22	1		
February	16	28	4		
March	25	31	13		
April	22	28	15		
May	9	18	0		
June	1	5	0		
July	0	1	0		
August	0	3	0		
September	7	16	. 0		
October	22	30	11		
November	23	28	15		
December	14	25	5		
ANNUAL	149	183 ^b	101 ^b		

Table 2-13 Freeze And Thaw Cycles, CFA^a

a. January 1950 through September 1983.

b. January 1950 through August 1964.

	Total Accumulated Degree Days			Daily Degree Days		
- 10	Mean	Highest	Lowest	Highest	Lowest	
January	1,504	1,797	1,086	84	22	
February	1,220	1,600	864	77	22	
March	1,071	1,425	854	71	11	
April	711	889	574	43	5	
May	432	610	234	35	0	
June	190	291	44	25	0	
July	28	76	1	24	0	
August	56	192	4	20	0	
September	285	493	142	36	0	
October	657	832	493	44	0	
November	1,051	1,232	860	74	14	
December	1,411	1,704	1,181	88	21	
ANNUAL	8,616					

Table 2-14 Monthly And Annual Degree Days, CFA*

a. January 1950 through September 1983.

Table 2-15. Peak Gusts, CFA and TAN

	CFA			TAN				
Month	20-Ft Level ^[a] Direction (quad.)	Speed m/s (mph)	250-Ft Level ^(b) Direction (quad.)	Speed m/s (mph)	20-Ft Level ^[c] Direction (quad.)	Speed m/s (mph)	250-Ft Level ^[d] Direction (quad.)	Speed m/s (mph)
January	SW	34.8 (78)	S	33,4 (75)	S	25.9 (58)	NNW	28.5 (64)
February	WSW	25.7 (60)	SW	29.4 (66)	N&SSW	27.6 (62)	SW	26.3 (59)
March	WSW	34.8 (78)	S	37.5 (84)	N	29.0 (65)	SW	32.5 (73)
April	S	29.9 (67)	SW	27.6 (62)	SSW	26.7 (60)	NW	33.9 (76)
May	SW	27.6 (62)	SSW	29.9 (67)	NNW	26.7 (60)	NNW	29.4 (66)
June	SSW	26.7 (60)	SSW	33.4 (75)	S	29.9 (67)	SW	33.9 (76)
July	N	30.3 (68)	S	29.4 (66)	W	26.7 (60)	W	32.5 (73)
August	WSW	27.6 (62)	SW	32.1 (72)	SSW	28.5 (64)	WSW	30.3 (68)
September	WSW	27.2 (61)	WSW	31.2 (70)	SSW	24.1 (54)	W	32.5 (73)
October	WSW	29.4 (66)	WSW	33.9 (76)	NNW	28.1 (63)	NW	28.5 (64)
November	WSW-SW	26.7 (60)	WSW	31.2 (70)	SW	26.3 (59)	NNW	34.8 (78)
December	SW	28.5 (64)	SSW	35.7 (80)	NNW	27.6 (62)	NNW	30.3 (68)
Period of record	WSW	34.8 (78)	SW	37.5 (84)	S	29.9 (67)	NNW	34.8 (78)

^[a] Data period of record spans April 1950 through October 1964
^[b] Data period of record spans July 1951 through October 1964
^[c] Data period of record spans July 1950 through April 1961
^[d] Data period of record spans April 1956 through April 1961

Parameter	Highest detected recent concentration ^a (year)	Recent boundary concentration (year)	Current maximum contaminant level (MCL)	Derived concentration guide (DCG)
	J I	Radionuclides (picocuries per liter)		
Americium-241	0.91 ^b (1990)	< detection limit ^e (1988)	15 ^{d,e}	30 ^r
Cesium-137	2,050° (1988)	< detection limit ^e (1986)	200 ⁸	3,000 ^r
Cobalt-60	890 ^b (1987)	< detection limit ^e (1987)	100#	10,000 ^r
Iodine-129	3.6 ^b (1987)	0.00083-background ^h (1992)	15	500 ^r
Plutonium-238	1.28 ^b (1990)	< detection limit ^e (1988)	15 ^{d,c}	40 ^r
Plutonium-239/240	1.08 ^b (1990)	< detection limit ^e (1988)	15 ^{d.e}	30 ^r
Strontium-90	640 ^b (1992)	< detection limit ^c (1988)	85.i	1,000 ^r
Tritium	48,000 ^b (1988)	background ⁱ (1988)	20,000 48	2,000,000 ^r
	Nonr	adioactive metals (milligrams per lite	r)	
Cadmium	0.0073 ^b (1992)	background ^e (1988)	0.005 ^d	not applicable
Chromium (total)	0.21 ^b (1988)	background ^c (1988)	0.1 ^d	not applicable
Lead	0.009 ^b (1987)	background ^c (1987)	0.015 ^{sk}	not applicable
Mercury	0.0004 ^b (1987)	background ^e (1987)	0.002 ^d	not applicable
	I	aorganic salts (milligrams per liter)		
Chloride	200 ^b (1991)	-	2504	not applicable
Nitrate	5.4 ^b (as N) (1988)	background ⁱ (1988)	10 (as N) ^d	not applicable
Sulfate	140 ^m (1985)	background ⁱ (1985)	250 ^d	not applicable
	Org	anic compounds (milligrams per liter)	
Carbon tetrachloride	0.0066 (1993)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1988)</detection>	0.005 ^d	not applicable
Chloroform	0.951 ⁿ (1988)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1988)</detection>	0.1 ^{d,o}	not applicable
1,1-dichloroethylene	0.009 ^b (1989)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1989)</detection>	0.007 ^d	not applicable
Cis-1,2-dichloroethylene	3.9 ^b (1992)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1988)</detection>	0.07 ^d	not applicable
Trans-1,2-dichloroethylene	2.6 ^b (1988)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1988)</detection>	0.1 ^d	not applicable
Tetrachloroethylene	0.051 ^b (1992)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1988)</detection>	0.005 ^d	not applicable
1,1,1-trichloroethane	0.012 ^b (1989)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1988)</detection>	0.2 ^d	not applicable
Trichloroethylene	4.6 ^b (1992)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1989)</detection>	0.005 ^d	not applicable
Vinyl chloride	0.027 ⁿ (1989)	<detection limit<sup="">a (1989)</detection>	0.002 ^d	not applicable

Table 2-16. Summary of highest detected contaminant concentrations in groundwater at the INEL (1985 to 1992).

a. Concentrations are generally for the period 1987 to 1992.

b. Values taken from Golder Associates (1994).

c. Values taken from Orr and Cecil (1991).

d. MCL values taken from EPA (1993).

e. Maximum contaminant levels have not been established for plutonium-238, plutonium-239, plutonium-240, and americium-241. However, these radionuclides have not been detected above the established limits for gross alpha particle activity or the proposed adjusted gross alpha activity maximum contaminant limits for drinking water.

f. DCGs for radionuclides taken from DOE Order 5400.5, Radiation Protection of the Public and the Environment (DOE 1993).

- g. MCL values taken from 40 CFR 141 (CFR 1993).
- h. Values taken from Mann (1994).
- i. Calculated value based on total body or organ doses of 4 millirem per year.
- j. Value taken from Mann and Cecil (1990).
- k. Lead action level.
- 1. Values taken from Robertson et al. (1974); Edwards et al. (1990).
- m. Values taken from Pittman et al. (1988).
- n. Values taken fromMann (1990) and Liszewski and Mann (1992).
- Value is for total trihalomethanes, which is the sum of the concentrations of bromodichloromethane, dibromochloromethane, tribromomethane (bromoform), and trichloromethane (chloroform).

Plant Family	Type of use	Location on INEL site	Abundance
Desert Parsley	Medicine, food	Scattered	Common
Milkweed	Food, tools	Roadsides	Scattered uncommon
Sagebrush	Medicine, tools	Throughout	Common, abundant
Balsamroot	Food, medicine	Around buttes	Common but scattered
Thistle	Food	Scattered throughout	Common but scattered
Gumweed	Medicine	Disturbed areas	Common
Sunflower	Medicine, food	Roadside	Common
Dandelion	Food, medicine	Throughout	Common
Beggar's ticks	Food,	Disturbed areas throughout	Common, abundant
Tansymustard	Food, medicine	Disturbed areas	Common
Cactus	Food	Throughout	Common, abundant
Honeysuckle	Food tools	Big Southern Butte	Common on butte
Goosefoot	Food	Throughout	Common, abundant
Russian thistle	Food	Disturbed areas throughout	Common, abundant
Dogwood	Food, medicine, tools	Webb Springs, Birch Creek	Common where found
Juniper	Medicine, tools, food	Throughout	Common to abundant
Gooseberry	Food	Scattered throughout	Common
Mentha arvensis	Medicine	Big Lost River	Uncommon
Wild onion	Food, medicine, dye	Throughout	Common
Calochortus spp.	Food	Buttes	Common
Fireweed	Food	Throughout	Common
Pine	Food, tools, medicine	Big Southern Butte	Common on butte
Douglas fir	Medicine	Big Southern Butte	Common on butte
Plantain	Medicine, food	Throughout	Uncommon
Wildrye	Food, tools	Throughout	Common, abundant
Indian ricegrass	Food	Throughout	Common, abundant
Bluegrass	Food, medicine Food,	Throughout	Common, abundant
Serviceberry	tools, medicine	Buttes	Common where found
Chokecherry	Food, medicine, tools, fuel	Buttes	Common where found
Wood's rose	Food, smoking, medicine, ritual	Big Lost River, Big Southern Butte	Common, abundant
Red raspberry	Food, medicine	Big Southern Butte	Uncommon
Willow	Medicine	Throughout in moist areas	Common
Coyote tobacco	Smoking, medicine	Big Lost River, Webb Springs	Uncommon
Cattail	Food, tools	Sinks, outflow from	Uncommon

-

Table 2-17. Plants used by the Shoshone-Bannock that are located on or near the Idaho National Engineering Laboratory site.

a. Source: Anderson et al. (1995).

3. THE DRY STORAGE SYSTEM

3.1 EXTERNAL APPEARANCE

The ISFSI storage area would resemble a light industrial park. The immediate area in the vicinity of the ISFSI, consisting of approximately 2 acres (.81 ha), would be fenced for security purposes and as a radiation control area (Figure 3-1). The fenced area would have sufficient area for receipt and handling of the DSCs. Construction of administrative offices and equipment storage areas is not required for this project as these functions would be provided by the existing ICPP complex. The ISFSI site at ICPP is not readily visible by the pubic due to its remoteness from the nearest public route, Highway 20/26 located approximately 4 miles (6.4 km) to the south.

The external appearance of the ISFSI would be consistent in scale and general appearance as other structures located at ICPP. Inside the fenced boundary would be a large load-bearing pad approximately 110 ft by 200 ft (34 m by 61 m) in size that the horizontal storage modules (HSM) are placed on. The HSMs are rectangular precast reinforced concrete modules with 2-3 ft (.6-.9 m) thick walls, roof, floor and endwalls, and are approximately 18 ft (5.5 m) long and 14 ft (4.3 m) high. The HSM's design and use of construction materials protect the DSC from missiles, earthquakes, tornado, or other natural phenomena and provide principle biological (radiation) shielding during fuel storage.

3.2 REACTOR AND STEAM-ELECTRIC SYSTEM

The ISFSI does not require the use of any reactor or steam electric systems.

3.3 WATER USE

The ISFSI does not require a water system for operation.

3.4 HEAT DISSIPATION SYSTEM

The heat dissipation system is fully passive using natural air flow cooling medium over the HSM. The TMI-2 fuel, knockout, and filter canisters have a maximum heat load of 80 W and an average of 20 W. The TMI-2 DSC would be designed for a maximum of 860 W heat load per storage module, which is the total heat load of the 12 hottest TMI-2 canisters. This heat load is sufficiently low that the DSC and HSM are fully capable of expelling the heat and keeping all internal and external temperatures within the recommended temperature limits of the materials used without the need for HSM air vents. The environmental effects of the operation of this system is provided in Section 5.1.

3.5 RADWASTE SYSTEMS AND SOURCE TERM

3.5.1 SOURCE TERM

Radionuclides may be emitted due to the venting of the TMI-2 canisters during dry storage. Each canister would vent through a HEPA filter to the atmosphere. EPA regulations limit the amount of airborne radionuclides released from any nuclear facility to that which will produce a dose of 10 mrem/yr to any member of the public. These regulations, known as the *National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants* (NESHAPs), are found in 40 CFR Part 61, Subpart H. The EPA has specified that the CAP-88 computer code be used to demonstrate compliance unless an alternative method has been approved by the Administrator of EPA.

The source term for the Maximally Exposed Individual (MEI) associated with the operation of the TMI-2 ISFSI would consist of gases and particulate fractions of the materials in the canisters. The source term was developed using the 1984 curie inventory of the TMI fuel (DOE 1993) and decayed to March 1997. Ten percent of the volatile radionuclides in the matrix are assumed released per year (Page 3 of Staley, 1996a). This estimate is conservative as much of the volatile fission products inventory is believed to have been released during the TMI-2 accident. The remainder is entrapped within the fuel matrix and only high temperatures [(>2,900° F (1,600° C)] would release the inventory. Estimated releases of particulates and solids (Table 3-1) were calculated using release fractions from 40 CFR 61, Appendix D of 1E-03 per year for particulates and 1E-06 per year for solids (Staley, 1996a).

EPA's CAP-88 code was used for calculation of the Effective Dose Equivalent (EDE), which includes the 50-year Committed Effective Dose Equivalent (CEDE) from internal exposure through the ingestion and inhalation pathways and the internal EDE from ground deposition and air immersion. Five-Year average meteorological data collected during the period 1987-1991 by NOAA from the 10 m (32.8 ft) level of the Grid III meteorological tower were used for modeling ground-level releases from ICPP. For all data sets, calm wind periods were incorporated into the lowest wind speed class. The dose from ICPP dry storage was calculated by the CAP-88 code to the MEI at Frenchman's cabin, 11.62 miles (18.7 km) SSW of the ICPP, would be 0.0004 mrem/yr (Staley, 1996b)

Section 7.6.3 of the TMI-2 Safety Analysis Report (DOE 1996) evaluated the dose equivalents from effluents using the RSAC-5 computer code. The RSAC-5 model used NOAA air dispersion information with more conservatively located receptors than those identified by CAP-88 to provide a "bounding" analysis for use in the safety report. Due to the differences in the models, the results differ. It is noted that the doses to workers at ICPP or conducting activities associated with the operation of the ISFSI, such as sampling, would not exceed the dose limits of 10 CFR 72.104. Furthermore, the dose

rate from the routine operation of the TMI-2 ISFSI would not exceed the following regulatory limits (Sheffield, 1996):

ISFSI fence	< 2 mrem/hr
100 meters (328.1 ft)	< 25 mrem/yr
4 miles from ISFSI	< 1 mrem/yr

3.5.2 LIQUID RADWASTE SYSTEM

No liquid radioactive wastes would be generated during the operation of the ISFSI.

3.5.3 GASEOUS RADWASTE SYSTEM

Prior to venting, the air from a DSC would be filtered through a HEPA filter with a decontamination factor of 3E-04 (Page 5 of Staley, 1996a). Under NESHAPs, a project with the potential to release radioactivity must be evaluated to determine its impact to the public. There are 2 doses to a MEI for 2 separate purposes to be calculated for NESHAPs: 1) a dose from releases using release fractions and emission factors from Appendix D, 40 CFR 61; and 2) a dose assuming no pollution control equipment is present to clean up emissions. These doses are for purposes of determining permitting and monitoring requirements, respectively, and need to be at or below 0.1 mrem/yr for a project to be exempted from these two requirements. Staley (1996c) identifies that these two doses to the MEI would be below 0.1 mrem/yr (0.00303 mrem/yr and 0.0161 mrem/yr respectively). Therefore, a NESHAPs application to construct and continuous monitoring is not required for the TMI-2 ISFSI.

3.5.4 SOLID RADWASTE SYSTEMS

Approximately 630 yd³ (485 m³) of solid low-level radioactive wastes would be generated as a result of the project implementation. This estimate includes operations associated with removal from the TAN Pool, cask transfer, unloading, and decontamination operations; storage and monitoring; and decontamination and decommissioning of the ISFSI and TAN Pool (Section C-2.1, Vol. 2, Part B, DOE 1995). Wastes would include HEPA filters, disposable personal protective equipment (e.g., Anti-C garments), tape, blotter paper, rags, and contaminated system components. This volume of waste generated by these activities would be minimized through work planning. Recyclable or launderable materials would be processed for reuse as practical. Radioactive wastes would be handled and disposed of in accordance with INEL procedures with the incinerable solid waste being sent to the Waste Experimental Reduction Facility (WERF) incinerator and the remainder sent for disposal to the RWMC or an INEL-approved disposal facility.

3.5.5 PROCESS AND EFFLUENT MONITORING

While NESHAPs does not require the continuous monitoring of the HEPA-filtered DSC emissions since the unabated emissions are less than 0.1 mrem/yr, emissions would be

calculated on an annual basis and reported in the INEL annual NESHAPs report. As identified in Section 6.2, the INEL operational radiological monitoring programs would be continued through the life of the TMI-2 ISFSI. These programs would also serve as the operational monitoring program for the ISFSI.

3.6 CHEMICAL AND BIOCIDE WASTES

The ISFSI does not require use of any chemicals or biocide.

3.7 SANITARY AND OTHER WASTE SYSTEMS

There are no sanitary or other waste systems required for the operation of the ISFSI since, during operation, personnel would use existing ICPP sanitary facilities. During construction, portable toilets would be available for use by the construction workers as discussed in Chapter 4.0.

3.8 REPORTING OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL MOVEMENT

The TMI-2 canisters would be transported from TAN to ICPP, a distance of approximately 25 miles (40 km), which includes 5 miles (8 km) of public road, Highway 33. Transportation would be within the boundaries of the INEL and would require an estimated 29 vehicle trips. The packaging and transportation will be subject to NRC approval and comply with the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 as amended (42 USC § 2011 et seq.) including 10 CFR Part 71 "Packaging and Transportation of Radioactive Material." The applicable requirements of the Hazardous Waste Transportation Act (49 USC § 5101 et seq. would be complied with concerning the placarding and emergency response including 10 CFR 171 "General Information, Regulations, and Definitions." Due to weight limitations on the existing bridge over the Big Lost River near NRF, improvements to the existing bridge or bypass road may be required (see Section 10.0 for discussion of environmental permits). Environmental effects from the transportation would be bounded by the analysis conducted for the FEIS (DOE 1995) including the occupational and general population collective doses and accident analysis.

3.9 TRANSMISSION FACILITIES

During construction, existing retail electrical transmission lines in the immediate vicinity of the site would provide electrical power for construction activities. This system would also supply power for external lighting, canister emission sampling, and security systems.

3.10 FIGURES, TABLES, AND REFERENCES

3.10.1 FIGURES

Figure 3-1. The ISFSI Site, Pad, and HSMs within the ICPP

3.10.2 TABLES

Table 3-1. Calculated Radionuclide Inventory and Releases

3.10.3 REFERENCES

DOE 1993, NESHAPs Permit to Construct Application for the INEL Test Area North Dry Cask Storage Project, Appendix A, DOE/ID-10452(93)

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, April

DOE 1996, The Safety Analysis Report for the TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation, October

Sheffield, J., 1996, TMI-2 Fuel Storage Project Input for Environmental Report, VECTRA, 219-02-96-045, May 24.

Staley, C.S., 1996a, Dose to Maximally Exposed Individuals due to Potential Airborne Releases from the INEL Storage of the TMI-2 Fuel Project, Engineering Design File EMA-96-001, LITCO, February

Staley, C.S., 1996b, Letter to L. C. Tuott, Letter #CSS-08-96, September

Staley, C.S., 1996c, Letter to L. C. Tuott, Letter #CSS-10-96, September


Figure 3-1 The TMI-2 ISFSI site, pad and HSMs within the ICPP.

Nuclide	Ci in fuel	ICPP storage Release (Ci/yr)
H-3	7.68E +02	7.68E +01
Co-60	1.13E +04	6.16E -06
Kr-85	1.52E +04	1.52E +03
Sr-90	4.83E +05	2.63E -04
Y-90	4.83E +05	2.63E -04
I-129	1.15E -01	1.15E -02
Cs-134	2.43E +02	1.27E -07
Cs-137	2.82E +05	1.54E -04
Ba-137m	2.67E +05	1.45E -04
Eu-154	2.29E +03	1.25E -06
Pu-238	9.48E +02	5.16E -07
Pu-239	9.34E +03	5.09E -06
Pu-240	2.86E +03	1.56E -06
Pu-241	1.03E +05	5.61E -05
Am-24 1	4.67E +03	2.54E -06

Table 3-1 Calculated Radionuclide Inventory and Releases

Staley, 1996a

4. ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS OF SITE PREPARATION AND CONSTRUCTION

4.1 SITE PREPARATION AND CONSTRUCTION

4.1.1 EFFECTS ON LAND USE

Site preparation and construction for the ISFSI would occur in previously disturbed areas at ICPP and would not impact offsite land use. The ISFSI site was previously used as an access road and construction staging and parking area for the construction of CPP 691. Construction of the ISFSI would not affect any wetland areas.

Access would be controlled between the ISFSI construction site and ICPP with the installation of fencing and the use of the existing East Perimeter Road and gate to provide access to construction personnel (Figure 4-1). The fenced construction area, approximately 5 acres (2.0 ha) in size (Figure 4-2), would include a laydown area for administrative and storage trailers, equipment, and material storage. Upon completion of the construction, the buildings and equipment would be removed, and a perimeter security fence for the ISFSI would be installed.

Site preparation for ISFSI construction would begin with the pad excavation, grading (leveling), and preparing a suitable base for the ISFSI reinforced concrete foundation. Excavated soil would be stockpiled onsite to be used upon completion of construction to provide the final grades and drainage.

Improvements to the Big Lost River bridge or adjacent bypass road may be required to support the weight of the transport vehicle. Improvements to the bridge could include additional bridge supports or monitors. Improvements to the bypass could include installation of properly sized culverts (or bridging) and road improvements.

Due to the location of the activity and the previously disturbed condition of the property, no loss of biological production is anticipated.

4.1.2 EFFECTS ON WATER BODIES USE

Construction of the ISFSI would have minimal impact to the groundwater used to supply the ICPP water system. Concrete for the slab would arrive at the construction site ready mixed. Bottled drinking water would be brought in from offsite for contractor personnel. Water used for fugitive dust control at the construction site would be provided by the existing ICPP water system. Depending on weather conditions, it is estimated that 10,000 to 100,000 gallons (38 to 380 cubic meters) of water would be used during the construction period. Total consumption of water at the INEL averages 1.94 billion gallons (7.36 million cubic meters) per year (Section 5.8.2.2 of Volume 2, Part A, DOE 1995). The increased water use would represent a minimal increase (less than .01%) in the INEL's average annual water consumption. A project stormwater pollution prevention plan would be completed prior to any construction. The plan would be prepared in accordance with *the INEL Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan for Construction Activities* (DOE-ID 1996) and the regulations for "National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) General Permit for Stormwater Discharges Associated with Construction Sites" (40 CFR 122 et. seq.) The purpose of a storm water pollution prevention plan is to prevent erosion products, sediment, or other pollutants from running off the site during construction and impacting water bodies.

Improvements to the Big Lost River bridge or adjacent bypass would be designed, permitted (See Section 10.0), and constructed so as to not adversely impact potential flows or wetlands on the Big Lost River.

4.1.3 IMPACT OF WORK FORCE

Project construction is anticipated to begin with excavation in the Spring of 1997 and is anticipated to be completed in 12 months. The is project would require an average of 8 to 20 workers including laborers, equipment operators, and management (Section C-2.1, Vol. 2, Part B, DOE 1995 and Section 4.1.2.4, DOE 1996). Based on information provided by construction contractors, 85% of the construction workforce would be hired from the existing labor force in the INEL region of influence (Section F-1.3.1, Vol. 2, Part B, DOE 1995). This workforce would be approximately 2-8% of the projected 1997 INEL construction workforce. A workforce of this size would be within normal fluctuations in INEL employment and would not adversely impact housing, transportation systems, or public services such as schools or police departments.

4.1.4 IMPACT OF CONSTRUCTION GENERATED FUGITIVE DUST

As identified in Section 4.1.2, water may be used to reduce the generation of fugitive dust from construction. The generation of fugitive dust is anticipated to be negligible due to the dust-control watering, the availability of existing paved roads that provide access to the construction site, and the small [5 acre (2 ha)] TMI-2 ISFSI construction support area.

4.1.5 IMPACT ON WILDLIFE

The construction of the TMI-2 ISFSI would occur within the developed area of ICPP and impact to threatened or endangered species of plants or animals is anticipated to be negligible (Reynolds, 1993). Impacts to wildlife associated with improvements to the existing bridge or bypass road are anticipated to be negligible.

4.1.6 CONSTRUCTION NOISE

Activities associated with ISFSI construction such as site preparation and facility construction would generate noise. This noise would not be expected to adversely impact threatened or endangered species (Reynolds, 1993). Impact to workers would be minimal as construction activities would be in conducted in compliance with Occupational Safety and Health Administration's (OSHA) requirements for worker occupational noise exposure. The noise generated at the INEL site is not propagated at detectable levels offsite, since all public areas are at least 5 miles (8 km) away from site areas. Previous studies of the effects of noise on wildlife indicate that even very high intermittent noise levels at the INEL (over 100 dBA) would have no deleterious effect on wildlife productivity (Section 4.10, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

4.2 TRANSMISSION FACILITIES CONSTRUCTION

New transmission facilities are not anticipated to be required for the construction or operation of the TMI-2 ISFSI.

4.3 **RESOURCES COMMITTED**

Irreversible and irretrievable commitments of resources associated with site preparation and construction would potentially include land, groundwater, aggregate (sand and gravel), and energy resources (Section 5.18, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995). Following removal of the SNF, the components of the ISFSI would be surveyed, decontaminated if necessary, and disposed of or reused using methods available at the time of decommissioning (See Section 5.7). It is anticipated that the site preparation and construction would not cause an irreversible commitment of the land or groundwater as the site would be decontaminated and made available for alternative future uses consistent with the mission of ICPP. The irreversible and irretrievable commitment of aggregate would be dependent on the ability (and cost-effectiveness) to recycle the concrete. Energy resources such as diesel fuel used for construction equipment or electricity for tools would be irreversibly used and committed.

4.3.1 LAND

The fenced construction support area for the ISFSI would encumber approximately 5 acres (2 ha) or approximately 2% of the ICPP area.

4.3.2 WATER

There would be no irretrievable or irreversible commitments of water or waterways for the construction of the ISFSI.

4.3.3 AIR

No local or site air resources would be irretrievably committed to the construction of the ISFSI.

4.3.4 BIOTA

Due to the limited area of disturbance and the disturbance being within previously developed (and disturbed) areas, the effects of site preparation and construction on the biota are expected to be minimal.

4.3.5 MATERIALS

Scarce or strategic material would not be used for the construction of the ISFSI. Concrete, reinforcing steel, and a small amount of miscellaneous construction materials would be needed for construction of the ISFSI. The dry shielded canisters would be shipped to an offsite facility.

4.3.6 SUMMARY OF RESOURCES COMMITTED

As identified in the previous sections, relatively small amounts of resources would be required for the construction of the ISFSI. This commitment of resources would not alter or affect their availability either locally or regionally.

4.4 RADIOACTIVITY

Section 4.7.3.2.1 Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995 evaluated onsite doses at the INEL using air dispersion models to assess the radiation dose to workers at major INEL site facility areas as a result of cumulative emissions from existing facilities and those expected to become operational before June 1, 1995. Results of this assessment indicate that the maximum dose at any onsite area is currently about 0.2 mrem per year. If only permanent facility emissions are considered, the baseline worker dose could increase to 0.32 mrem per year. The actual and projected dose is compared to the occupational dose limit of 5,000 mrem per year.

No exposure to construction personnel in excess of normal background radiation levels is expected during site preparation and construction. During DSC transfer to the HSM, it is anticipated that there would be occupational exposure to personnel from exposure to direct radiation. Occupational radiation exposure would not exceed the limits identified in 10 CFR 20.1201 [annual total EDE less than 5,000 mrem (0.05 Sievert)].

Radiation exposure to the public from the transfer, while not anticipated, would not exceed the regulatory limits identified in 10 CFR 20.1301 [annual total EDE less than 100 mrem (0.001 Sievert)] and EPA's environmental radiation standards in 40 CFR part 190 (annual dose equivalent to public being less than 25 mrem to whole body). A radiation protection program with procedures and engineering controls based on sound radiation protection principles will be in place to ensure that occupational doses and doses to members of the public would be maintained as low as reasonably achievable (ALARA).

4.5 CONSTRUCTION IMPACT CONTROL PROGRAM

Every reasonable means to minimize or mitigate environmental impacts identified in Section 4.1 would be taken during construction of the ISFSI.

4.5.1 CONSTRUCTION TRAFFIC CONTROL

Improvements to the bridge or bypass would require proper traffic control and signage to ensure worker and traffic safety. Construction traffic and access to the ISFSI site would use existing public highways or site roadways. Increased traffic resulting from these construction activities and existing and planned INEL activities would not adversely impact the road system in the vicinity of the INEL (Section 5.11.2.6, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995). Construction personnel would have the use of existing parking areas in a previously developed area located outside the ICPP fence near the ISFSI. The use of these existing roads and parking areas would be conducted in a manner so as to not conflict with existing ICPP traffic patterns or the ISFSI construction.

4.5.2 DUST AND PARTICULATE EMISSION CONTROL

Existing roads that would be used for access to ICPP or the Big Lost River crossing are paved. During site preparation, grading and construction operations, cleared areas and exposed soils would be managed in accordance with the INEL Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan for Construction Activities (DOE-ID 1996) so as to minimize soil erosion and dust and particulate emissions.

4.5.3 NOISE CONTROL

Noise impacts would be minimized by using trucks and equipment with standard noise control devices.

4.5.4 CHEMICAL WASTE MANAGEMENT

During site preparation and construction, the generation of chemical or petroleum wastes at the ISFSI site is not anticipated.

4.5.5 SOLID WASTE MANAGEMENT

The generation of construction scrap and wastes associated with the TMI-2 ISFSI project is estimated to be 11 yd³ (8.5 m³) (Section C-2.1, Vol. 2, Part B, DOE 1995). The generation of waste associated with bridge or bypass improvements is estimated to be less than 3 yd³ (2.3 m³). Waste generation would be minimized in accordance with the INEL waste minimization program. Wastes that can not be recycled or reused will be collected in designated onsite areas for disposal in the INEL Landfill Complex.

4.5.6 SITE CLEARING

The ISFSI site and bridge/bypass have been extensively disturbed from previous development activities. The ISFSI site will have soil removed to a depth of approximately 6 to 24 inches (15-61 cm) to prepare for ISFSI construction. Vegetation in the bridge/bypass construction area would be removed to facilitate construction, as necessary. Erosion in the construction area would be controlled (DOE-ID 1996). Typical methods of erosion control would include drainage intercept and berm ditches, seeding, graveling, and use of mats and straw.

4.5.7 EXCAVATION AND SOIL DISPOSITION

The construction site and stockpile of soil removed from the site would be stabilized as necessary to minimize erosion (DOE-ID 1996). Temporary drainage from the construction site after construction would be designed to use the existing ICPP drainage patterns and minimize disturbance of existing land. Following construction, the TMI-2 ISFSI construction site would be graded using the stockpiled soil (as necessary) so as to drain potential site runoff away from the ISFSI to the existing ICPP drainage system.

4.6 FIGURES AND REFERENCES

4.6.1 FIGURES

Figure 4-1 ISFSI construction and staging area at ICPP Figure 4-2 Detail of the ISFSI construction site and staging area

4.6.2 REFERENCES

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, DOE/EIS-0203-F, April

DOE, 1996, Department of Energy Environmental Assessment of the Test Area North Pool Stabilization Project, DOE/EA-1050, May,

DOE-ID 1996, INEL Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan for Construction Activities. DOE/ID-10425

Reynolds, T. L., 1993, Memorandum to S. K. Gray, Subject: "Pool Stabilization Project" July 9



Figure 4-1. ISFSI construction and staging area at ICPP



Figure 4-2. Detail of the ISFSI construction site and staging area

0

5. ENVIRONMENTAL AFFECTS OF ISFSI OPERATION

5.1 EFFECTS OF OPERATION OF HEAT DISSIPATION SYSTEM

The operation of the TMI-2 ISFSI requires no active heat dissipation system. Decay heat is removed from the DSC by convection, conduction, and thermal radiation to the atmosphere in the immediate vicinity of the ISFSI. The maximum HSM outer surface temperature would be less than 150°F (65.6°C) during normal operations and less than 200°F (93.3°C) during potential off-normal and accident conditions (Section 8, DOE 1996a). Due to the low heat loads of the TMI-2 debris and the system's design to remove heat by natural convection in the air, there would be no release of heat to water and no impacts on water quality or biological growth.

5.2 RADIOLOGICAL IMPACT FROM ROUTINE OPERATION

5.2.1 ANALYSIS OF ISFSI CONTRIBUTION

The ISFSI design incorporates multiple confinement barriers to ensure that during normal operations there would be no releases to the environment of liquid radioactive material and airborne releases would be controlled through the use of the HEPA filtration system. Sections 7.4 and 7.5 of the Safety Analysis Report (SAR) (DOE 1996a) have analyzed the radiological impact of the operation of the TMI-2 ISFSI. Based on the conservative assumptions used in the SAR, the radiological dose attributable to the ISFSI are well below regulatory limits of 10 CFR 72.104.

5.2.2 ANALYSIS OF MULTIPLE CONTRIBUTION

In 1995, radiation from INEL operations was not detected by offsite environmental surveillance methods (DOE-ID 1996a). Because the doses to the public from INEL operations are generally too small to be measured, computer models are used to estimate annual radiation doses from the INEL. Using the EPA approved CAP-88 model, the hypothetical maximum dose from INEL activities in 1995 was 0.018 mrem for the MEI located at "Frenchman's Cabin" located at the foot of Big Southern Butte (DOE-ID 1996b). This dose estimate can be compared to the average annual dose of 360 mrem in southeast Idaho.

The maximum annual dose to the nearest permanent resident, i.e., the maximally exposed individual (MEI), and the site worker resulting from INEL activities from 1995 to 2005, has been calculated (Section 5.7.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995). This estimate projects that the MEI would receive an incremental ten-year dose of 5.8 mrem (0.58 mrem/yr) for this period that would result in a cumulative ten-year dose of 6.3 mrem (0.63 mrem/yr). On an annual basis, this dose rate is well below the 25 mrem/year limit specified in 10 CFR 72.104. An INEL worker at a location of highest dose from airborne emissions is estimated to receive an incremental ten-year dose of 1.4 mrem (0.14 mrem/yr) for this period that would result in a cumulative ten-year dose of 4.6 mrem (0.46 mrem/yr). This is a small fraction of the occupational dose limit of 5,000 mrem/yr. (Note: the offsite dose can be higher than the worker dose since the workers may not receive any dose by the food ingestion pathway.)

5.3 EFFECTS OF CHEMICAL AND BIOCIDE DISCHARGES

As discussed in Section 3.6, the ISFSI would not generate any chemical or biocide wastes. Commercially available herbicides (weed-killers) or ground sterilants may be used to control vegetation at the ISFSI site. The use of these products would be in accordance with manufacturer's guidelines and INEL procedures with any potential runoff being controlled in accordance with the ICPP Industrial Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan. Therefore, there would be no chemical and biocide discharges.

5.4 EFFECTS OF OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF THE TRANSMISSION SYSTEM

The ICPP is supplied with electrical power from two separate INEL feeds and includes standby emergency systems. Power requirements during construction would be supplied by tapping the electrical supply system's feeder transmission lines located adjacent to the ISFSI site. This system would also supply power for operational and maintenance activities such as canister emission sampling activities and the external lighting and security system that would be added in accordance with the TMI-2 ISFSI Security Plan.

Operation and maintenance of this tap would result in minimal environmental effects due to the short distance from the point of origin to the construction area, previously disturbed nature of the site, and relatively low voltage demands of this equipment.

5.5 OTHER EFFECTS

5.5.1 NOISE IMPACT

Noise would result from the DSC transfer from the transport vehicles to the ISFSI. Noise from this activity is expected to be within the range of that typically produced by ongoing activities at ICPP and no adverse impacts would be anticipated.

5.5.2 CLIMATOLOGICAL IMPACT

Radioactive decay would cause heat to be generated within the canisters and the temperature inside the HSM would be below 200° F (93.3° C). The HSM contains no air vents as they are not required to remove the decay heat generated by the TMI-2 canisters. The cooling air flows around the DSC to the top of the HSM. Air warmed by the DSC transfers heat to the HSM walls and roof slab. Adjacent modules are spaced to provide adequate natural convection flow and shielding. This passive system provides an effective means for spent fuel decay heat removal. The air temperature in the immediate

vicinity of the HSM would be slightly higher than the ambient temperature but would return to normal at a short distance from the storage site. Precipitation would not vaporize at the HSM surface and there would be no adverse climatological impacts due to the operation of the ISFSI.

5.5.3 IMPACT ON LOCAL WILDLIFE

Due to the location of the TMI-2 ISFSI (existing highly disturbed site and the presence of ICPP fencing), the local wildlife or any threatened or endangered wildlife or plant species would not be adversely affected by the operation of the TMI-2 ISFSI.

5.5.4 IMPACT FROM RUNOFF

Rainfall runoff from the ISFSI would not be contaminated since the HSM would protect the DSC from direct contact with rainfall. Condensation that may form on the DSC would not be contaminated since the DSC would be decontaminated prior to installation in the ISFSI. Therefore, runoff from the ISFSI would not require any special monitoring or containment capability.

5.6 **RESOURCES COMMITTED**

The operation of the ISFSI is not anticipated to cause the irreversible and irretrievable commitment of resources. Subject to the use of decontamination technologies as identified in Section 5.7, it is anticipated that the site would be restored and made available for alternative use consistent with future uses of ICPP.

5.7 DECOMMISSONING AND DISMANTLING

Decommissioning and dismantlement of the ISFSI would be performed in a manner consistent with the Conceptual Plan for Decommissioning TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation and INEL procedures that would be in place at that time. Decommissioning would be initiated with the DSCs being prepared for offsite shipment. Decommissioning would provide for removal of the fuel assemblies and source material from the TMI-2 ISFSI site, including radioactive fission and corrosion products and other radioactive materials having activities above release limits. The components of the ISFSI would be surveyed, decontaminated if necessary, and disposed or reused using methods available to the INEL at the time of decommissioning.

5.8 REFERENCES

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, DOE/EIS-0203-F, April DOE 1995a, "Settlement Agreement" between the State of Idaho, Department of the Navy, and the Department of Energy." Oct. 16

DOE 1996, Department of Energy Environmental Assessment of the Test Area North Pool Stabilization Project, DOE/EA-1050, May

DOE 1996a, The Safety Analysis Report for the TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation, October

DOE-ID 1996a, In Summary: Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Site Environmental Report for Calendar Year 1995, ESRF-015, September

DOE-ID 1996b, 1995 INEL National Emission Standard for Hazardous Air Pollutants -Radionuclides, Annual Report, DOE/ID-10342(95), June

Staley, C.S., 1996, Dose to Maximally Exposed Individuals due to Potential Airborne Releases from the INEL Storage of the TMI-2 Fuel Project, Engineering Design File EMA-96-001, LITCO, February

6. EFFLUENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL MEASUREMENTS AND MONITORING PROGRAMS

6.1 APPLICANT'S PREOPERATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL PROGRAMS

As identified in Section 2.0 of this document, the INEL has a comprehensive environmental monitoring program conducted on and around the INEL. Environmental monitoring associated with the TMI-2 ISFSI would not be a separate program but would be conducted as part of the overall INEL monitoring program. The INEL Environmental Surveillance Program has the following organizations charged with the responsibility for environmental monitoring: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) onsite and offsite meteorological monitoring; Lockheed Martin Idaho Technologies Company (LMITCO) - onsite environmental surveillance; Environmental Science and Research Foundation - offsite environmental surveillance; and the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) - onsite and offsite groundwater surveillance. These programs provide a comprehensive and timely base for the environmental impact evaluations of the proposed ISFSI including DOE activities such as canister dewatering. The results of this environmental surveillance and monitoring are reported to the public and DOE Headquarters in an annual site environmental report (DOE 1996).

As the operation of the ISFSI would not involve the discharge of liquid effluent, chemical, or sanitary wastes, the existing INEL monitoring programs for surface water, groundwater, air, meteorological conditions, and land (including threatened and endangered flora and fauna) would not be modified. Due to venting of the TMI-2 canisters, there would be gaseous releases of radionuclides. The existing INEL radiological monitoring is identified in the following paragraph and the proposed operational monitoring system in Section 6.2.

To conduct radiological monitoring, the INEL Environmental Surveillance Program includes a network of 23 continuous air samplers that measure ambient radiation exposure rates and airborne radioactivity levels (Section F-3.2.1.2, Volume 2, Part B, of DOE 1995). As depicted on Figure 2-12, 12 of the sampling locations are located within the boundaries of the INEL site; 11 are located offsite, including seven stations near the INEL site boundary and 4 distant stations are located within the communities of Blackfoot, Idaho Falls, and Rexburg, and in Craters of the Moon Wilderness Area. The ICPP air sampler is located approximately 1,100 ft (335 m) northwest of the proposed ISFSI site near the ICPP entrance and West Perimeter Road. The Environmental Surveillance Program also includes direct measurements of ambient (environmental) radiation levels using thermoluminescent dosimeters (TLDs). Figure 6-1 identifies the location of TLDs in the proximity of ICPP. These devices measure ionizing radiation exposure rates due to the combined sources of natural radioactivity in the air and soil, cosmic rays, residual fallout from nuclear weapons tests, and radioactivity from INEL site operations. Dosimeters are also placed at seven distant community locations and six INEL site boundary locations.

6.2 APPLICANT'S PROPOSED OPERATIONAL MONITORING PROGRAMS

The INEL operational meteorological and radiological monitoring programs will be continued through the life of the TMI-2 ISFSI. These programs will also serve as the operational monitoring program of the ISFSI. Periodic and confirmatory measurements of radiological emissions will be conducted, as necessary, for NESHAPs compliance purposes. In addition to the onsite and offsite sampling and monitoring conducted in support of the INEL's annual NESHAPs and environmental reporting, sampling of the DSC internal gases will be made on a frequency sufficient to ensure that hydrogen concentrations are maintained at safe levels. Portable radiological monitoring equipment will be used to detect potential releases from the DSC system.

6.3 RELATED ENVIRONMENTAL MEASUREMENT AND MONITORING PROGRAMS

In January 1994, the State of Idaho's INEL Oversight Program took over the independent verification program operated by the Idaho State University since 1989. The University continued to perform radiological analyses for the State program. Results of this monitoring are made available to the public in the Oversight Program's quarterly progress reports.

6.4 FIGURES AND REFERENCES

6.4.1 FIGURES

Figure 6-1 Location of TLDs at ICPP

6.4.2 REFERENCES

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, DOE/EIS-0203-F, April

DOE 1996, Environmental Science and Research Foundation, Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Site Environmental Report for Calendar Year 1995, ESRF-014, DOE/ID-12082(95), August



7. ENVIRONMENTAL EFFECTS OF ACCIDENTS

7.1 FACILITY ACCIDENTS INVOLVING RADIOACTIVITY

An evaluation of the safety of the ISFSI with respect to postulated accidents is presented in Chapter 8 of the Safety Analysis Report for the TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (DOE 1996). For each postulated condition, the accident cause, the structural, thermal, and radiological consequences, and the recovery measures required to mitigate the accident are presented. Calculated doses resulting from these postulated accidents would not exceed the exposure limits identified in 10 CFR 72.104 and 10 CFR 72.106.

7.2 TRANSPORTATION ACCIDENTS INVOLVING RADIOACTIVITY

The transportation of the TMI-2 debris would take place totally within the INEL and involve approximately 5 miles (8 km) of public roadway, Idaho Highway 33. A routespecific license from NRC would be obtained for the transport from TAN to ICPP. Potential environmental effects from transportation accidents involving radioactivity would be bounded by this license and the analysis conducted for the FEIS (Vol. 1, App. B. Section 5.11.2.3, DOE 1995) including the occupational and general population collective doses and accident analysis. Table 7-1 summarizes the bounding impacts for onsite transportation of spent nuclear fuel at the INEL. This analysis identified that the maximum reasonably foreseeable onsite spent nuclear fuel transportation accident involves the inadvertent shipment of a short-cooled fuel element (fuel out of the reactor for 10 to 25 days) from the TRA Advanced Test Reactor to ICPP. For this accident to occur, errors must occur to allow loading the wrong fuel element into the shipping cask, and radiation surveys of the loaded cask must fail to detect abnormally high radiation levels. In addition, the transport vehicle must break down or roll over during the short transit between ATR and ICPP. Finally, operators must fail to maintain adequate cooling water inside the case. The probability of this accident is, therefore, extremely unlikely with an annual frequency on the order of one in one million years for neutral meteorology to one in ten million year for stable meteorology. Table 7-1 shows that the fatal cancer risk for the population within 50 miles (80 km) is on the order of one in one million years for a rural population and about one in 90,000 years for a suburban population.

7.3 OTHER ACCIDENTS

Due to the limited volume (or lack of) chemicals and toxic materials associated with the operation of the ISFSI, there are no credible nonradioactive accident scenarios that could be postulated.

7.4 TABLES AND REFERENCES

7.4.1 TABLES

Table 7-1 Maximum reasonably foreseeable accident doses and health effects for onsite transport of spent nuclear fuel (1995-2035)

7.4.2 REFERENCES

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, DOE/EIS-0203-F, April

DOE 1996, The ISFSI Safety Analysis Report for the TMI-2 Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation, October

Table 7-1. Maximum reasonably foreseeable accident doses and health effects for onsite transport of spent nuclear fuel (1995 to 2035).

			Dose to MEI ^d (rem)	Offsite population	Risk of fatal cancer per year ^e		
Population density category*	Meteorology ^b	Accident frequency ^c (events/year)		dose (person-rem)	MEI ^d	Population	
Rural	Neutral	1×10 ⁻⁶	76	1,500	6.1 × 10 ⁻⁸ (0.061)	7.5 × 10 ⁻⁷ (0.75)	
Rural	Stable	1 × 10 ⁻⁷	250	12,000	2.0 × 10 ⁻⁸ (0.20)	6.0 × 10 ⁻⁷ (6)	
Suburban	Neutral	1 × 10 ⁻⁶	76	21,000	6.1 × 10 ⁻⁸ (0.061)	1.1 × 10 ⁻⁵ (11)	
Suburban	Stable	1 × 10 ⁻⁷	250	170,000	2.0×10^{-8} (0.20)	8.5 × 10 ⁻⁶ (85)	

a. Results are presented for generic rural and suburban population densities. The generic rural population density has an average population of 6 persons per square kilometer; the generic suburban population density has an average population of 7.19 persons per hectare. For comparison, the sector with the highest population density within 50 miles (80 kilometers) is due east of the Idaho Chemical Processing Plant-Test Reactor Area at the INEL with an average population density of 0.53 persons per hectare.

b. Neutral meteorology is characterized by Stability Class D, 4 meters (13 feet) per second wind speed, and occurs approximately 50 percent of the time. Stable meteorology is characterized by Stability Class F, 1 meter (3.28 feet) per second wind speed, and occurs approximately 5 percent of the time.

c. Accident frequency includes both the event frequency and the frequency of the meteorology. The frequency of stable meteorology is approximately one-tenth the frequency of neutral meteorology.

d. Maximally Exposed Individual located at the point of maximum exposure to the airborne release approximately 525 to 1,280 feet (160 to 390 meters) downwind, depending on meteorology. For onsite accidents, the MEI is assumed to be an INEL worker.

e. Fatal cancer risk = dose × accident frequency × (ICRP 60 risk factor for fatal cancers). The ICRP 60 risk factor is 5×10^{-4} fatal cancers per rem for the public, 4×10^{-4} fatal cancers per rem for workers. For doses ≥ 20 rem, the ICRP 60 conversion factor is doubled. Numbers in parentheses indicate likelihood of fatal cancer for the MEI or total number of fatal cancers in the population if the accident occurs.

Source: Table 5.11-9, Volume 2, Part A, DOE, 1995

8. ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL EFFECTS OF SYSTEM CONSTRUCTION AND OPERATION

As identified in Section 4.1.3, the construction of the ISFSI would require an average of 8 to 20 personnel over the period of a year. It is projected that the majority of these positions would be filled by the local workforce. The impacts of this workforce would be spread through the seven-county area region of influence surrounding the INEL comprised of Bannock, Bingham, Bonneville, Butte, Jefferson, and Madison Counties (Page F-1-2 of Volume 2, Part B, DOE 1995). The operation of the ISFSI would be conducted by existing INEL employees.

Based on the number of employees required for construction that would be dispersed throughout the seven-county region of influence, the short-term economic and social impacts associated with the ISFSI construction would be negligible. Since the ISFSI would be operated by existing INEL employees, there should be no long-term change to the area employment, population, housing, public services, demographics, or income.

8.1 ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

Environmental justice impacts associated with waste management, environmental restoration, and the programmatic management of SNF at the INEL including construction and operation of ICPP dry storage for the TMI-2 debris was evaluated (Section 5.20, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995). This environmental justice analysis was based on a qualitative assessment of proposed projects and impacts to determine if there were identifiable disproportionately high and adverse human health or environmental impacts on minority populations or low-income populations within a 50 mile (80 km) radius around the site.

The racial and ethnic composition of the minority population residing near the INEL is predominantly Hispanic, American Indian, and Asian and consists of approximately 7% (11,722 persons) of the population within the 50 mile (80 km) radius. The low-income population characteristics within this same area is approximately 14% (23,416 persons). (Section 5.20.2.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

Because the impacts due to facility operations and reasonably foreseeable accidents present no significant risk and do not constitute a reasonably foreseeable adverse impact to surrounding population, no disproportionately high and adverse impact would be expected for any particular segment of the surrounding population, minority and lowincome populations included (Section 5.20.3.1, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

Because the impacts due to transportation of waste materials or spent nuclear fuel by either truck or rail under either incident-free or reasonably foreseeable adverse accidents present no significant risk and do not constitute a reasonably foreseeable impact to the surrounding population, no disproportionately high and adverse impact would be expected for any particular segment of the surrounding population, minority and lowincome populations included (Section 5.20.3.2, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

If transportation associated with INEL activities were to increase wildlife losses because of vehicle collisions with game, there might be a disproportionate impact to minority or low-income communities that rely primarily on hunted game. However, the potential increases in shipments of spent nuclear fuel would be small additions to current traffic, so the overall impact to wildlife would be small. Potential mitigation measures for any resulting adverse impact to low-income or minority populations include distributing the deceased animals to hunters in the vicinity known to partially subsist on game, controlling subsequent hunts, or relocating game if necessary (Section 5.20.3.4, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

The review of other technical disciplines did not indicate any significant adverse impacts because of land use, socioeconomics, water and air resources, ecology, cultural resources, or cumulative impacts (Section 5.20.3.5, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

In summary, based on the analysis of the impacts for each of the disciplines analyzed in the FEIS (DOE 1995), along with the impact of other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future activities at the INEL, no reasonably foreseeable cumulative adverse impacts are expected to the surrounding populations, minority populations and lowincome populations included (Section 5.20.3.5.3, Vol. 2, Part A, DOE 1995).

8.2 **REFERENCES**

DOE 1995, Department of Energy Programmatic Spent Nuclear Fuel Management and Idaho National Engineering Laboratory Environmental Restoration and Waste Management Programs Final Environmental Impact Statement, DOE/EIS-0203-F, April

9. ALTERNATIVE STORAGE METHODS, SITES, AND SYSTEM DESIGNS

Section 1.2 of this document identifies the DOE documentation of the NEPA analysis and decisions concerning alternative storage methods, sites, and system designs.

10. ENVIRONMENTAL APPROVALS AND CONSULTATION

The TMI-2 ISFSI is subject to NRC approval and licensing (10 CFR 72). The transportation of the TMI-2 debris from TAN to ICPP will be subject to NRC approval and compliance with the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 as amended (42 USC § 2011 et seq.) including 10 CFR Part 71 "Packaging and Transportation of Radioactive Material." Improvements to the existing bridge or bypass on the Big Lost River crossing, if required, would be conducted in accordance with the following: Federal Clean Water Act (CWA) 33 USC 1251-1376, which regulates the discharge of materials into wetlands or waters of the United States, and Executive Order 11990 (10 CFR 1022), which directs Federal agencies to minimize the destruction, loss, and degradation of wetlands; Section 401 of the CWA allows the State of Idaho's Division of Environmental Quality (DEQ) to establish a water quality certification process for any activity located within wetland areas; the Stream Channel Protection Act (Idaho Code, Chapter 38, Title 42); the Endangered Species Act, as amended (16 USC §1531 et seq.); and the Archaeological Resources Protection Act, as amended 42 USC §470aa et seq.).

The State of Idaho Division of Environmental Quality has been contacted concerning the review of a Permit to Construct (PTC) application for the ISFSI. A PTC application evaluates potential emissions associated with the operation of the ISFSI. Upon the PTC application review by the State of Idaho and identification of requirements, any required approvals would be obtained prior to the initiation of ISFSI construction.

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) furnishes DOE-ID with a list of threatened and endangered species at the INEL. After review of the proposed action and species list, it was determined that it was unlikely that the proposed activity would impact any threatened or endangered species (Reynolds, 1993).

Ongoing consultation with the State of Idaho and Shoshone-Bannock Tribes will be conducted by DOE-ID.

There are no county construction or zoning permits required for construction at the INEL.

10.1 REFERENCES

Reynolds, T. L., 1993, Memorandum to S. K. Gray, Subject: "Pool Stabilization Project" July 9

APPENDIX A - ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

ALARA	as low as reasonably achievable
ANL-W	Argonne National Laboratory-West
ARA	Auxiliary Reactor Area
ATR	Advanced Test Reactor
BNCT	Boron Neutron Capture Therapy
с	Centigrade
CFA	Central Facilities Area
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
Ci	Curies
Co	cohalt
Ce	cesium
CWA	Clean Water Act
DOE	U.S. Department of Energy
DOE-ID	U.S. Department of Energy-Idaho Operations Office
DOT	U.S. Department of Transportation
DSC	dry shielded canister
EA	Environmental Assessment
EBR-1	Experimental Breeder Reactor-1
EDE	effective dose equivalent
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
F	Fahrenheit
FEIS	Final Environmental Impact Statement
FONSI	Finding of No Significant Impact
FR	Federal Register
g	acceleration due to gravity at sea level
H-3	tritium
ha	hectares
HEPA	high efficiency particulate air
HSM	horizontal storage module
I	iodine
ICPP	Idaho Chemical Processing Plant
INEL	Idaho National Engineering Laboratory
ISFSI	independent spent fuel storage installation (10 CFR Part 72)

Kr	krypton	
LITCO	Lockheed Idaho Technologies Company	
LMITCO	Lockheed Martin Idaho Technologies Company	
MEI mrem	maximally exposed individual millirem	
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act	
NESHAP	National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants	
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration	
NPDES	National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System	
NRC	U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission	
NRF	Naval Reactor Facility	
OSHA	Occupational Safety and Health Administration	
PBF	Power Burst Facility	
PTC	Permit to Construct	
ROD	Record of Decision	
RSAC	Radiological Safety Analysis Computer Program	
RWMC	Radioactive Waste Management Complex	
SAR	safety analysis report	
SDA	Subsurface Disposal Area	
SIS	Special Isotope Separation	
SNF	spent nuclear fuel	
SRPA	Snake River Plain Aquifer	
TAN	Test Area North	
TLD	Thermoluminescent Dosimeter	
TMI-2	Three Mile Island Unit 2	
TRA	Test Reactor Area	
UTM	Universal Traverse Mercator	
USGS	United States Geological Survey	
USFWS	United States Fish and Wildlife Service	
w	watts	
WERF	Waste Experimental Reduction Facility	

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

. . . Š



Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Civilian Redioactive Waste Management Washington, D.C.



QUALITY ASSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND DESCRIPTION

FOR THE

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT PROGRAM

Donald G. Horton, Director OCRWM Office of Quality Assurance

Daniel A. Dreyfus, Director Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management

195

بنك



Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

ection: RevHist	Revision No.: 5	Page 1 of 2
	REVISION HISTORY	
REVISION	REVISION DESCRIPTION	
0	Initial issue. This document consolidates the g and the Quality Assurance Program Description	Quality Assurance Requirements Docume. on Document into one document.
1	Revised Section 1.0, Organization, to reflect O	CRWM reorganization.
2	Revised Section 7.0, Control of Purchased Iten transfer of responsibility for the performance of OCRWM OQA.	ns and Services, to accommodate the of audits from Affected Organizations to
3	Revised Appendix B, Storage and Transportation Assurance Requirements and Description for o of 10 CFR 71, Subpart C or 10 CFR 72, Subp	on to provide an exception to the <i>Quality</i> organizations working under the provision art L.
4	Revised Appendix B, to reflect editorial change	e to correct 10 CFR Subpart reference.
5	Revised the following sections to incorporate of Organizations.	changes requested by various Affected
	 Section Revinst, Revision Listery Section TOC, Table of Contents Section Policy, Quality Assurance Policy Section 1.0, Organization Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program Section 3.0, Design Control Section 4.0, Procurement Document Control Section 5.0, Implementing Documents Section 6.0, Document Control Section 7.0, Control of Purchased Items and 	Services

Section: RevHist	Revision No.: 5	Page	2	of	2
	• Supplement I, Software				
	 Supplement II, Sample Control 				
	 Supplement III, Scientific Investigation 				
	· Supplement V, Control of the Electronic Mar	agement of Data			
	· Appendix A, High-Level Waste Form Produc	tion			
	· Appendix C, Mined Geologic Disposal System	m			
	Glossary				
	New series added to incompose Supplement	V Control of the Fle	ettonic	Manag	emen
	New section added to incorporate Supprement	, condor or use have	0000000	triand	emen

•

Table of Contents

.



Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

de: IABLE UI	FCONTENTS			1012	117.
ction: TOC	Revision No.: 5	Page 1		of	7
Section	Title		R	evisio	n
	Title Page			5	
RevHist	Revision History		,	5	
тос	Table of Contents			5	
Policy	Quality Assurance Policy			2	
Intro	Introduction			1	
1.0	Organization			2	
1.1	General				
1.2	Requirements				
1.2.1	Line Management				
122	Quality Assurance Management				
123	Responsibility for Quality				
124	Delegation of Work				
125	Perclution of Quality Disputes				
12	Description				
1.2	General Description of the Office of Civilian Radioactive W	acte Mana	Temet	ht	
1.3.1	Specific Civilian Description of the Office of Civilian Realide aver w	dore many	50000	46	
1.2.2	Other OCDUDA A france Organizations		•		
Fig. 1-1	Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management				
2.0	Quality Assurance Program			T	
2.1	General				
2.2	Kequirements				
2.2.1	Quality Assurance Program Documents				
2.2.2	Classifying Items				
2.2.3	Controlling Activities				
2.2.4	Applying Quality Assurance Controls				
2.2.5	Planning Work				
2.2.6	Surveillances				
2.2.7	Management Assessments				
2.2.8	Readiness Reviews				
2.2.9	Peer Reviews				
2.2.10	Document Review				
2.2.11	Quality Assurance Program Information Management				
2.2.12	Personnel Selection, Indoctrination, Training, and Oualificat	ion			

ection: TOC	Revision No.: 5	Page	2	of	7
Section	Title			Revisio	n
3.0	Design Control			1	
3.1	General			-	
3.2	Requirements				
371	Design Input Control				
377	Design Process				
373	Design Analyses				
27 1	Design Verification				
2 7 5	Design Vernication				
226	Alternate Coloniations				
0.2.0	Anemale Calculations				
2.4.1	Qualification Testing				
5.2.8	Design Change Control				
5.2.9	Design interface Control				
4.0	Procurement Document Control			1	
4.1	General			•	
4.2	Requirements				
4.2.1	Procurement Document Preparation				
1.2.2	Procurement Document Review and Approval				•
1.2.3	Procurement Document Change				
5.0	Implementing Documents			1	
5.1	General				
5.2	Requirements				
5.2.1	Types of Implementing Documents				
5.2.2	Content of Implementing Documents				
5.2.3	Review and Approval of Implementing Documents				
5.2.4	Compliance with Implementing Documents				
5.0	Document Control			1	
5.1	General				
.2	Requirements				
5.2.1	Types of Documents				
.2.2	Preparing Documents				
5.2.3	Reviewing Documents				
.2.4	Approving Documents				
5.2.5	Distribution and Use of Documents				
.2.6	Changes to Documents				
5.2.7	Expedited Changes				
.2.8	Editorial Corrections			•	
7.0	Control of Purchased Items and Services			2	
7 1	(Genera)			-	
	Dequirements				
21	Drogument Diagning				
.4.1	Flocurenteinen Flamming	•			
111	Source Evaluation and Selection				

ction: TOC	Revision No.: 5 Page	3	of	7	
lanting	Tiela	-	Danisis		
ection	Inte		Revisio	m	
2.4	Supplier Performance Evaluation				
2.5	Control of Supplier Generated Documents				
.2.6	Acceptance of Items or Services				
.2.7	Certificate of Conformance				
.2.8	Source Verification				
.2.9	Receiving Inspection				
.2.10	Post-installation Testing				
.2.11	Control of Supplier Nonconformances		•		
.2.12	Commercial Grade Items				
.0	Identification and Control of Items		1		
.1	General				
.2	Requirements				
.2.1	Identification				
.2.2	Physical Markings				
.2.3	Traceability				
2.4	Conditional Requirements				
0	Control of Special Processes		1		
0.1	General		-		
2	Requirements				
2.1	Special Processes				
22	Personnel, Implementing Documents, and Equipment Oualifications				
.2.3	Qualification of Nondestructive Examination Personnel				
0.0	Inspection		0		
0.1	General				
0.2	Requirements				
0.2.1	Inspection Planning				
0.2.2	Selecting Inspection Personnel to Perform Inspections				
0.2.3	Inspection Hold Points				
0.2.4	Statistical Sampling				
0.2.5	In-process Inspections and Monitoring				
0.2.6	Final Inspection				
0.2.7	Accepting Items				
0.2.8	Inspection Documentation				
0.2.9	Qualifications of Inspection and Test Personnel	•			
1.0	Test Control		. 0		
1.1	General				
1.2	Requirements				
1.2.1	Test Planning				
1.2.2	Performing Tests				
1.2.3	Use of Other Testing Documents				
1.2.4	Test Results				
Section: TOC	Revision No.: 5	Page	4	of	7
--------------	---	------	---	----------	---
Section	Title			Revision	n
	The Deservation				
11.2.5	Test Documentation				
11.2.6	Qualification of Test Personnel				
12.0	Control of Measuring and Test Equipment			1	
12.1	General				
12.2	Requirements				
12.2.1	Calibration				
12.2.2	Documenting the Use of Measuring and Test Equipment				
12.2.3	Out-of-Calibration Measuring and Test Equipment				
12.2.4	Lost Measuring and Test Equipment				
12.2.5	Handling and Storage				
12.2.6	Commercial Devices				
12.2.7	Measuring and Test Equipment Documentation				
12.0	Handling Storage and Shinning			0	
12.1	Constal			v	
13.1	Deminamente				
13.4	Comple				
13.2.1	Controls Second Equipment Table and Equipments				
13.4.4	Special Equipment, Tools, and Environments			•	
13.4.3	Marking and Labeling				
14.0	Inspection, Test and Operating Status			1	
14.1	General				
14.2	Requirements				
14.2.1	Identifying Items				
14.2.2	Indicating Status				
15.0	Nonconformances			1	
15.1	General				
15.2	Requirements				
15.2.1	Documenting and Evaluating Nonconforming Items				
15.2.2	Identifying Nonconforming Items				
15.2.3	Segregating Nonconforming Items				
15.2.4	Disposition of Nonconforming Items				
15.2.5	Quality Trending				
16.0	Corrective Action			1	
16.1	General			-	
162	Requirements				
1621	Identifying Conditions Adverse to Quality				
1622	Classification of Conditions Adverse to Quality				
1623	Conditions A dverse to Quality				
1624	Significant Conditions Adverse to Ouslity				
1625	Follow-up and Closure Action				
1626	Quality Transfing				

ĩ

ection: TOC	Revision No.: 5	Page	5	of	7
Section	Title			Revisio	n
17.0	Quality Assurance Records			1	
17.1	General				
17.2	Requirements				
17.2.1	Classifying Quality Assurance Records				
17.2.2	Creating Valid Quality Assurance Records				
1723	Receiving and Indexing Quality Assurance Records				
1724	Correcting Information in Quality Assurance Records				
1725	Storing and Preserving Quality Assurance Records				
1726	Retrieval of Quality Assurance Records				
1727	Retention of Quality Assurance Records				
1728	Turnover of Quality Assurance Records				
1720	Long Term Single Storage Facility				
172.10	Dual Storage Facilities				
17211	Temporary Storage Facility				
17.2.12	Replacement of Quality Assurance Records				
100	Andite			1	
10.0	General			-	
10.1	Benvinsments				
10.4	Scheduling Internal Audits				
10.2.1	Scheduling External Audits				
10.4.4	Audit Schedule				
19.2.0	Audit Dianning				
10.4.4	Audit Team Independence				
1826	Audit Team Selection				
1927	Performing Audits		•		
1878	Reporting Audit Results			•	
1820	Responding to Audits				
18 2 10	Evaluating Andit Responses				
18211	Follow-up Action				
82.12	Technical Specialist Qualifications		•		
8.2.13	Auditor Qualifications				
8.2.14	Lead Auditor Qualifications				
18.2.15	Lead Auditor Education and Experience				
8.2.16	Lead Auditor Communication Skills				
18.2.17	Lead Auditor Training				
8.2.18	Lead Auditor Audit Participation				
18.2.19	Lead Auditor Examination				
18.2.20	Certification of Lead Auditor Qualifications				
18.2.21	Maintaining Lead Auditor Proficiency				
Supplement I	Software			1	
L.1	General				
1.2	Requirements				
1.2.1	Software Life Cycles, Baselines, and Controls				
122	Software Verification and Software Validation				

SectionTitleRevision12.3Software Verification12.4Software Validation12.5Documentation12.6Software Configuration Management12.7Defect Reporting and Resolution12.8Control of the Use of SoftwareSupplement IISample Control11General12.2Requirements12.2Traceability12.3Identification12.4Conditional Requirements12.5Archiving Samples12.6Handling, Storage, and Shipping12.7Disposition of Nonconforming Samples12.6Handling, Storage, and Shipping12.7Disposition of Nonconforming Samples12.8Software Semific Investigations11.1Ceneral 812.2Performing Scientific Investigations12.1Plant Merview12.2Performing Scientific Investigations12.2.1Performing Scientific Investigations12.2.2Performing Scientific Investigations12.2.3Data Identification12.4Data Identification12.5Data Usage12.6Model Development and UseSupplement IVField Survey SystemV2.1Field Survey DocumentationV2.1Control of the Electronic Management of DataV2.1Control of the Electronic Management of DataV2.1Control of the Electronic Management of DataV2.1Control of the Electronic Management of DataV2.1Ceneral<	ection: TOC	Revision No.: 5 Page	6	of	7
12.3 Software Verification 12.4 Software Configuration Management 12.5 Documentation 12.6 Software Configuration Management 12.7 Defect Reporting and Resolution 12.8 Control of the Use of Software Supplement II Sample Control 1 1.1 General Requirements 1 12.2 Traceability 1 12.3 Identification 1 12.4 Conditional Requirements 1 12.5 Archiving Samples 1 12.4 Conditional Requirements 1 12.5 Archiving Samples 1 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 12.2 Requirements 1 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 12.2 Requirements 1 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 12.4 Data Identification 1 12.5 </td <td>Section</td> <td>Title</td> <td></td> <td>Revisio</td> <td>n</td>	Section	Title		Revisio	n
12.4 Software Validation 12.5 Documentation 2.6 Software Configuration Management 1.7 Defect: Reporting and Resolution 1.8 Control of the Use of Software Supplement II Sample Control 1.1 General 12 Requirements 12.1 General Requirements 12.2 Traceability 12.3 Identification 12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 12.8 Control of Nonconforming Samples 12.9 Performing Scientific Investigations 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 12.4 Data Identification 12.5 Data Usage 12.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV <td< td=""><td>.2.3</td><td>Software Verification</td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	.2.3	Software Verification			
2.5 Documentation 2.6 Software Configuration Management 2.7 Defect Reporting and Resolution 2.8 Control of the Use of Software Supplement II Sample Control 1 1.1 General 1 1.2 Requirements 1 1.2.1 General Requirements 1 1.2.2 Traceability 1 1.2.3 Identification 1 1.4 Conditional Requirements 1 1.2.4 Conditional Requirements 1 1.2.5 Archiving Samples 1 1.2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1 1.2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 1.2.1 General 1 1.2.2 Requirements 1 1.2.3 Data Identification 1 1.2.4 Data Identification 1 1.2.5 Data Identification 1 1.2.4 Data Identification 1 1.2.5 Data Identification 1 1.2.4 Data Identification	.2.4	Software Validation			
2.6 Software Configuration Management 2.7 Defect Reporting and Resolution 2.8 Control of the Use of Software supplement II Sample Control 1 1.1 General 1 1.2 Requirements 1 1.2.1 General Requirements 1 1.2.2 Traceability 1 1.2.3 Identification 1 1.4 Conditional Requirements 1 1.2.4 Conditional Requirements 1 1.2.5 Archiving Samples 1 1.2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1 1.2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 1.2.1 Requirements 1 1.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 1.2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 1.2.4 Data Identification 1 1.2.4 Data Review 1 1.2.5 Data Usage 0 1.2.6 Model Development and Use 1 V1 General 0 V2	2.5	Documentation			
2.7 Defect Reporting and Resolution 2.8 Control of the Use of Software https://www.setefit 1 1.1 General 1.2 Requirements 1.2.1 General Requirements 1.2.2 Traceability 1.3 Identification 1.4.4 Conditional Requirements 1.2.5 Archiving Samples 1.2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1.2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1.2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1.2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1.2.8 Requirements 1.2.1 Planming Scientific Investigations 1.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1.2.1 Planming Scientific Investigations 1.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1.2.4 Data Identification 1.2 Requirements </td <td>2.6</td> <td>Software Configuration Management</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	2.6	Software Configuration Management			
2.8 Control of the Use of Software upplement II Sample Control 1 1.1 General 1 1.2 Requirements 1 2.1 General Requirements 1 2.2 Traceability 1 2.3 Identification 1 2.4 Conditional Requirements 1 2.5 Archiving Samples 1 2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1 2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1 2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 11 General 1 12 Requirements 1 13 Beneral 1 14 Data Review 1 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 v1 General 0 v2 Field Survey System 0 v2.2 Field Survey System 0 v2.1 Field Survey Nocum	2.7	Defect Reporting and Resolution			
upplement II Sample Control 1 1.1 General 1 1.2 Requirements 1 1.2.1 General Requirements 1 1.2.2 Traceability 1 1.2.3 Identification 1 1.2.4 Conditional Requirements 1 1.2.5 Archiving Samples 1 1.2.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 1 1.2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 1.2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 1 1.2.1 General 1 1.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 1.2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 1.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 1.2.4 Data Review 1 1.2.5 Data Identification 1 1.2.4 Data Identification 1 1.2.5 Data Identification 1 1.2.6 Model Development and Use 0 V2.1 Field Survey Documentation 0 V2 Require	2.8	Control of the Use of Software			
1 General 12 Requirements 13 General Requirements 14.1 General Requirements 15.2 Traceability 12.3 Identification 12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 12.1 General 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 12.3 Data Review 12.4 Data Review 12.5 Data Usage 12.6 Model Development and Use v2.1 Field Survey System V2.1 Field Survey System V2.2 Field Survey System V2.1 General V2 Requirements V2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V2 Requirements <td>upplement II</td> <td>Sample Control</td> <td></td> <td>1</td> <td></td>	upplement II	Sample Control		1	
12 Requirements 12.1 General Requirements 12.2 Traceability 12.3 Identification 12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples upplement III Scientific Investigation 1 1.1 General 1 12.2 Requirements 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Identification 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.5 Data Usage 0 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 12.1 Field Survey System 0 12.2 Requirements 0 12.1 Field Survey System 0 12.2 Requirements 0 12.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0	1.1	General			
11 General Requirements 12.2 Traceability 12.3 Identification 12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples upplement III Scientific Investigation 1 1.1 General 1 12.2 Requirements 1 13.1 General 1 14.1 General 1 15.2 Requirements 1 16.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.5 Data Usage 0 12.4 Data Review 0 12.5 Data Usage 0 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 V2.1 Field Survey System 0 V2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 1 General 0	1.2	Requirements			
12.2 Traceability 12.3 Identification 12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples upplement III Scientific Investigation 1 1.1 General 1 12.2 Requirements 1 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.5 Data Usage 0 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 v/1 General 0 v/2 Requirements 0 v/2.1 Field Survey System 0 v/2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 v/2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 11 General 0 12 Requirements 1 13 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0	.2.1	General Requirements			
12.3 Identification 12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples aupplement III Scientific Investigation 1 1.1 General 1 12.2 Requirements 1 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 1 12.4 Data Review 1 1 12.5 Data Usage 0 1 12.4 Data Review 0 1 12.5 Data Usage 0 0 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 1 12.6 Model Survey System 1 1 12.1 Field Survey System 0 1 12.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0	1.2.2	Traceability			
12.4 Conditional Requirements 12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples upplement III Scientific Investigation 1 1.1 General 1 12.2 Requirements 1 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.5 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.5 Data Usage 0 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 11 General 0 12 Requirements 1 13 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 14 General 0 15 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1	L2.3	Identification			
12.5 Archiving Samples 12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples 11 General 12.2 Requirements 12.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 12.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 12.3 Data Identification 12.4 Data Review 12.5 Data Usage 12.6 Model Development and Use v2 Requirements V2.1 Field Survey System V2.2 Field Survey System V2.1 Field Survey Documentation V2 Requirements V2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data	1.2.4	Conditional Requirements			
12.6 Handling, Storage, and Shipping 12.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples upplement III Scientific Investigation 1 1.1 General 1 1.2.2 Requirements 1 1.2.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Identification 1 12.3 Data Identification 1 12.4 Data Review 1 12.5 Data Usage 1 12.6 Model Development and Use 0 v2.1 Field Surveying 0 v2.1 Field Survey System 0 v2.2 Field Survey System 0 v2.1 Field Survey System 0 v2.1 Field Survey System 0 v2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 v2.1 General 0 v2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 v2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 v2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 v2.1 Control of the Electronic Management o	1.2.5	Archiving Samples			
L2.7 Disposition of Nonconforming Samples Supplement III Scientific Investigation 1 L1 General 1 L2 Requirements 1 L2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 L2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 L2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 L2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 L2.4 Data Identification 1 L2.5 Data Identification 1 L2.6 Model Development and Use 0 V.1 General 0 V2 Requirements 0 V2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey Documentation 0 Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1	1.2.6	Handling, Storage, and Shipping			
upplement III Scientific Investigation 1 L1 General 1 L2 Requirements 1 L2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations 1 L2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations 1 L2.3 Data Identification 1 L2.4 Data Review 1 L2.5 Data Usage 1 L2.6 Model Development and Use 0 V1 General 0 V2 Requirements 0 V2.1 Field Survey System 0 V2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 V2.1 General 0 V2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V1 General 0 V2 Requirements 1 V3.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 V3.1 General 1	L2.7	Disposition of Nonconforming Samples			
L1 General L2 Requirements L2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations L2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations L2.3 Data Identification L2.4 Data Review L2.5 Data Review L2.6 Model Development and Use upplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2 Field Survey System 0 V.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 Upplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1	uppiement III	Scientific Investigation		1	
II.2 Requirements II.2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations II.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations II.2.3 Data Identification II.2.4 Data Review II.2.5 Data Usage II.2.6 Model Development and Use upplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 V.1 General 0 V.2.1 Field Survey Documentation 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Require	I.1	General			
II.2.1 Planning Scientific Investigations II.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations II.2.3 Data Identification II.2.4 Data Review II.2.5 Data Usage II.2.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey Documentation 0 Multiplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.1 Gene	П.2	Requirements			
II.2.2 Performing Scientific Investigations II.2.3 Data Identification II.2.4 Data Review II.2.5 Data Usage II.2.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	П.2.1	Planning Scientific Investigations			
II.2.3 Data Identification II.2.4 Data Review II.2.5 Data Usage II.2.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program 1	П.2.2	Performing Scientific Investigations			
II.2.4 Data Review II.2.5 Data Usage II.2.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	П.2.3	Data Identification			
II.2.5 Data Usage II.2.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	П.2.4	Data Review			
II.2.6 Model Development and Use Supplement IV Field Surveying 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Field Survey System 0 V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation 0 Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 General 0 V.1 General 1 V.2 Requirements 1 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	П.2.5	Data Usage			
Supplement IV V.1Field Surveying General V.20V.1General Requirements V.2.1Field Survey System Field Survey DocumentationV.2.2Field Survey DocumentationSupplement V V.1Control of the Electronic Management of Data0V.1General General V.2.10V.1General Control of the Electronic Management of Data1V.1General Control of the Electronic Management of Data1V.2.1Control of the Electronic Management of Data1Appendix A A.1High-Level Waste Form Production General A.21A.2Requirements A.2.1Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	11.2.6	Model Development and Use			
V.1 General V.2 Requirements V.2.1 Field Survey System V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data V.1 General V.2 Requirements V.1 General V.2 Requirements V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V.2 Requirements V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General A.2 Requirements A.2 Requirements A.2.1 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	Supplement IV	Field Surveying		0	
V.2 Requirements V.2.1 Field Survey System V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data V.1 General V.2 Requirements V.1 General V.2 Requirements V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V.2 Requirements V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production A.1 General A.2 Requirements A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	V.1	General			
V.2.1 Field Survey System V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 1 Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	V.2	Requirements			
V.2.2 Field Survey Documentation Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	V.2.1	Field Survey System			•
Supplement V Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 V.1 General 0 V.2 Requirements 0 V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data 0 Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Requirements 1 A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program 1	V.2.2	Field Survey Documentation			
V.1 General V.2 Requirements V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production A.1 General A.2 Requirements A.2 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	Supplement V	Control of the Electronic Management of Data		0	
V.2 Requirements V.2.1 Control of the Electronic Management of Data Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General A.2 Requirements A.2.1 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	V.1	General			
Appendix A High-Level Waste Form Production 1 A.1 General 1 A.2 Requirements Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	V.2	Requirements			
Appendix AHigh-Level Waste Form Production1A.1GeneralA.2RequirementsA.2.1Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	/.2.1	Control of the Electronic Management of Data		• *	
A.1 General A.2 Requirements A.2.1 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	Appendix A	High-Level Waste Form Production		1	
A.2 Requirements A.2.1 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	A.I .	General			
A.2.1 Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program	4.2	Requirements			
	A.Z.1	Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program			

Section: TOC	Revision No.: 5 Page	7	of	7
Section	Title		Revision	
Appendix B	Storage and Transportation		2	
B.1	General			
B.2	Requirements			
B.2.1	General			
B.2.2	Storage Casks, Transportation Casks, and MPCs			
Appendix C	Mined Geologic Disposal System		1	
C.1	General			
C.2	Requirements			
C.2.1	Amplification of QARD Section 9.0, Control of Special Processes			•
C.2.2	Amplification of QARD Section 10.0, Inspections			
C.2.3	Amplification of QARD Section 15.0, Nonconformances			
Glossary	Glossary		1	

.

Quality Assurance Policy

The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) is authorized by the Nuclear Waste Policy Act, as amended, to site, construct, and safely operate a geologic repository and a storage facility. The Act also instructs the DOE to provide for the safe transportation of spent fuel to either the storage facility or the geologic repository and transportation of high-level waste to the geologic repository.

The Act established the Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM) within the DOE to carry out this mission. Central to our mission is the protection of the health and safety of the public and workers, the quality of the environment and meeting the regulatory basis for the licensing of a storage and/or Mined GeologicDisposal System.

1 As the Director of OCRWM, I have endorsed the quality assurance requirements necessary to ensure these vital protections. This document, the *Quality Assurance Requirements and Description*, embodies these requirements. These requirements apply to every level of every organization participating in this mission.

The quality assurance provisions described in the Quality Assurance Requirements and Description have my unqualified support. All organizations performing work for, or to be accepted by, OCRWM shall comply with the Quality Assurance Requirements and Description.

Daniel A. Dreyfus, Director Office of Civilian Radicactive Waste Management

Date 10/2/95

Introduction

 \sim



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

					-				-		·					-
Title:	INTRODUCTION										Effec	tive	Date:	10/	31/95	
Section:	Intro	Revision No.:	1								Page		1	of	3	
The Q docum requir necess be con	Quality Assurance I ment for the Civilia ements for the QA sary for the develo insistent with the Q	Requirements and Den n Radioactive Waste program. The QAR pment of an effective ARD.	Managen D contain QA prog	QAR ient H is reg ram.	RD) Proj gula) is to ogran atory Imple	the p n (Pr requ emer	orinc rogra uiren nting	ipal (am). ments g doci	Qualit It es and umen	ity As tablis prog nts m	sur hes ram	the n comi be bas	(QA) ninimu mitme sed on	im nts , and	

The QARD applies to the following:

- 1. Acceptance of spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste.
- 2. Transport of spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste.
- 3. Storage of spent nuclear fuel through receipt of storage cask certification or a facility operating license.
- Mined Geologic Disposal System (MGDS), including the site characterization activities [Exploratory Studies Facility (ESF) and surface based testing], through receipt of an operating license.
- 5. High-level waste form development through qualification, production, and acceptance.
- 6. Characterization of DOE spent nuclear fuel, and conditioning through acceptance of DOE spent nuclear fuel.

Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program, defines in greater detail criteria for determining work subject to the QARD.

The QARD is organized into sections, supplements, appendices, and a glossary. The sections contain requirements that are common to all Program activities. The supplements contain requirements for specialized activities. The appendices contain requirements that are specific to high-level waste form production, storage and transportation, and Mined Geologic Disposal System. The glossary establishes a common vocabulary for the QA program.

The QARD provides for both the achievement and verification of quality. The line organization has total responsibility for meeting the quality requirements, and individuals are responsible for the quality of their work. Therefore the line organization is responsible for the implementation of the QA program. The line organization and the QA organization share responsibility for the verification of quality. The Director, OCRWM retains responsibility for the total QA program; ensures its development, implementation, and verification; and retains ultimate review and approval authority on matters pertaining to the implementation of the QA program.

15	ection: Intro	Revision No.: 1	Page	2	of	3
	The line orga processes. In requirements	nizations develop implementing documents that translate a addition, each Affected Organization must develop a mat are contained in their implementing documents.	applicable QARD req trix that identifies wh	uireme ere QA	ents into RD	wor
1	QARD requin source docum documents.	rements are derived from the regulatory and industry documents fall into one of three categories: regulatory documents	ments listed in Figure ats, commitment docu	e Intro- unents,	1. The or gui	ese dance
	A.	Regulatory documents define the requirements necessar Nuclear Regulatory Commission. Regulatory document changes are appropriately incorporated into the QARD.	y for obtaining licens ts are reviewed upon	es issu revisio	ned by i	the
	В.	Commitment documents are imposed by management b development and implementation of an effective QA pr reviewed upon revision, and changes are incorporated in	ecause they are necess ogram. Commitment nto the QARD on a c	docur ase-by	or the nents a -case b	re asis.
	C.	Guidance documents provide additional information use Guidance documents are reviewed upon revision, and co on a case-by-case basis.	tful in developing a C hanges are incorporat	A pro ed into	gram. the Q	ARD

.

.

Section: Intro Revisio	n No.: l	Page	3	of	3
	Figure Intro-1 SOURCE DOCUMENTS				
Regulatory Documents					
10 CFR 50, Appendix B (Current) -	Quality Assurance Criteria for Reprocessing Plants	Nuclear Power Plants	and Fue	el	
10 CFR 60, Subpart G (Current) -	Quality Assurance				
10 CFR 71, Subpart H (Current) -	Quality Assurance				
10 CFR 72, Subpart G (Current) -	Quality Assurance				
10 CFR 73, (Current) -	Physical Protection of Plants	and Materials			
Commitment Documents					
NQA-1 (1989) -	Quality Assurance Program R	equirements for Nuclea	ar Facilit	ies	
 Basic Requirements: Supplements: Appendices: 	1 through 18 1S-1, 2S-1, 2S-2, 2S-3, 2S-4, 11S-1, 12S-1, 13S-1, 15S-1, 1 2A-1 and 2A-3	3S-1, 4S-1, 6S-1, 7S-1 7S-1, and 18S-1	., 8S- 1, 9)S-1,	1 0S- :
NRC Review Plan (Revision 2) -	U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Con Waste Repository Quality Ass	nmission Review Plan surance Program Descr	for High iptions	-Leve	4
NUREG-1297 (2/88) Staff Position -	Peer Review for High-Level 1	Nuclear Waste Reposito	ories		
NUREG-1298 (2/88) Staff Position -	Qualification of Existing Data Repositories	for High-Level Nucle	ar Waste	•	
Guidance Documents					
NQA-2 (1989) -	Quality Assurance Requireme	nts for Nuclear Facility	y Applica	ations	
NQA-3 (1989) -	Quality Assurance Program R Scientific and Technical Infor Level Nuclear Waste Reposito	equirements for the Co mation for Site Charac pries	ollection	of n of F	ligh-
NUREG-0856 (1983) -	Final Technical Position on D High-Level Waste Manageme	ocumentation of Comp nt	outer Co	des fo	T
NUREG-1318 (1988) Staff Position -	Technical Position on Items a Geologic Repository Program Requirements	nd Activities in the Hi Subject to Quality As	gh-Level surance	Was	te
Regulatory Guide 1.28 (Revision 3) -	Quality Assurance Program R	equirements (Design A	and Cons	structi	(noi
Regulatory Guide 7.10 (Revision 1) -	Establishing Quality Assurance Transportation of Radioactive	e Programs for Packag Material	ging Use	d in t	he



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: ORC	GANIZATION	and the second second	Effectiv	re Date:	10/3	1/95	
Section: 1	.0 Revision No.:	2	Page	1	of	5	

1.1 GENERAL

This section establishes requirements for creating and maintaining an organizational structure to implement the Quality Assurance (QA) program for the Civilian Radioactive Waste Management Program. This section also provides a description of the Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM) organization and other Affected Organizations.

1.2 REQUIREMENTS

Each Affected Organization shall prepare one or more controlled documents, accepted by the OCRWM Office of Quality Assurance, that describes internal and external organizational interfaces, organizational structures, requirements, and responsibilities for its scope of work.

1.2.1 Line Management

Each Affected Organization shall identify the responsibilities and authorities of those organizations and management positions responsible for achieving and maintaining quality.

1.2.2 Quality Assurance Management

Each Affected Organization shall identify the management position within the organization responsible for performing QA functions. This position shall be occupied by an individual with appropriate knowledge and experience in management and QA. The position shall:

- A. Be at the same or higher organization level as the highest line manager directly responsible for performing work subject to the *Quality Assurance Requirements and Description* (QARD).
- B. Be sufficiently independent from cost and schedule considerations.
- C. Have the organizational freedom to effectively communicate with other senior management positions.
- D. Be responsible for interpreting and approving QA program requirements as they apply to the Affected Organization's scope of work.
- E. Have no other assigned responsibilities unrelated to the QA program that would prevent full attention to QA matters.
- F. Be responsible for identifying quality problems, initiating, recommending, or providing solutions to quality problems, and verifying solutions to quality problems.
- G. Be responsible for verifying the proper establishment and execution of the QA program.

	1.0	Revision No.: 2	Page 2 of	5
	H.	Have the authority to stop work when signific action.	ant conditions adverse to quality warrant such	h
1.2.3	Resp	onsibility for Quality		
	Quali perfor respon	ity shall be achieved and maintained by those wherming work. Quality achievement shall be verified nsible for performing the work.	b have been assigned responsibility for ad by persons or organizations not directly	
1.2.4	Deleg	gation of Work		
	Positi work respon	ions or organizations responsible for establishing to other organizations. The positions or organizations nsibility for the delegated work.	and executing the QA program may delegate ttions making the delegation shall retain over	all
1.2.5	Resol	ution of Quality Disputes		•
	Differ appro- levels	rences of opinion involving QA program requirem priate management and, if not resolved, shall be of management.	nents shall be brought to the attention of the elevated progressively to successively higher	
1.3	DESC	CRIPTION		
1.3.1	Gene	ral Description of the Office of Civilian Radio	active Waste Management	
	A.	OCRWM is comprised of the Office of the Dir Acceptance, Storage and Transportation; Progra Resources and Administration; and the Yucca Yucca Mountain Site Characterization Office is offices are headed by Office Directors. The Pr Director, OCRWM. The OCRWM organization	ector; the Offices of Quality Assurance; Was am Management and Integration; Human Mountain Site Characterization Office. The s headed by a Project Manager. The remaining roject Manager and Office Directors report to n is illustrated in Figure 1-1.	ste ing o the
	B.	OCRWM's functions are described in official a Assistant Secretary, Office of Human Resource	nission and function statements, approved by s and Administration.	y the
		1. All references to OCRWM responsibilit only as summarizations of those official or supplement the official statements.	ties and functions in the QARD are intended I functions and are in no way intended to rep	l place
		2. Any substantial OCRWM reorganization	on of descriptions or functions of the offices	

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description Section: 1.0 Revision No. 2 3 of 5 Page 1.3.2 Specific Civilian Radioactive Waste Management Offices Office of the Director Α. The Office of the Director has been delegated overall responsibility for carrying out the functions of the Secretary of Energy as prescribed in the Nuclear Waste Policy Act, as amended. Office of Quality Assurance (OQA) **B**. The OQA is responsible for providing guidance and direction to the line organization on 1. QA matters relating to OCRWM activities, developing the OCRWM QA program and managing the OCRWM Concerns Program. The OQA is also responsible for the overview of work subject to the QARD. This overview includes the verification of the OCRWM line organization's achievement and quality of work through audits, surveillances, or other means of verification, as appropriate. The OOA is responsible for reporting the overview findings to senior management. 2. Office of Waste Acceptance, Storage and Transportation (OWAST) C. The OWAST is responsible for managing the standard contracts and Memoranda of Understanding (MOU) for disposal of spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste; collection of data to support the acceptance and transportation of spent nuclear fuel and high-level waste; technical studies to determine waste acceptance criteria; environmental assessments; Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) license application for OCRWM managed storage facilities; cask design, testing, certification and acquisition; economic and engineering analysis for transportation system development including multi-purpose canister subsystem; and transportation operations support, including cask maintenance. The OWAST is also responsible for developing and coordinating the implementation of safeguards and security for the OCRWM program. D. Office of Program Management and Integration (OPMI) The OPMI is responsible for program control and project management system policy, requirements, and guidance; the overall OCRWM program Work Breakdown Structure; development of overall OCRWM budgets; OCRWM systems engineering activities and technical baselines at the program level; configuration management system and OCRWM Change Control Boards; supporting the system elements/projects in identifying and resolving site suitability and licensing regulatory issues related to the OCRWM managed storage facilities or Mined Geologic Disposal System (MGDS) license application, and cask/canister certifications; integrating the MGDS with the multi-purpose canister and transportation elements of the OCRWM program; and program-wide system to provide reporting on commitments made by or to OCRWM, to or from the NRC.

Section:	1.0	Revision No.: 2	Page	4	of	5
	E.	Office of Human Resources and Administration (OHRA)				
		The OHRA is responsible for the headquarters training program; we personnel qualifications; programwide Total Quality Management OCRWM Ombudsman Program; OCRWM Information Systems; Contracts Management System, Central Records Facility, and the Quaddition, the OHRA manages the procurement/business activities a management and operating contract and all other OCRWM contract overseeing and administering the award fee process for the Manage Contractor.	verification program; OCRWM uality Rec ussociated cts progra vement and	n of OC coordin Headqu cords C with th mwide, i Opera	CRWM hating t larters center. he and uting	he In
	F.	Yucca Mountain Site Characterization Office (YMSCO)				
		The YMSCO is responsible for directing the Yucca Mountain Site (YMP); scientific evaluations needed to determine whether the Yu suitable for a geologic repository; waste-package and repository de integrating the MGDS with the waste acceptance storage and trans OCRWM program; MGDS Environmental Impact Statement; and to the NRC of a license application for the MGDS should the Yuc suitable. The YMSCO is also responsible for YMP information re records management programs; YMP training program; and the Yuc	Character cca Moun sign and portation the prepar cca Mount esources n MP radiol	rization tain can develop elemen ation at ain Situ nanager ogical p	Project indidate pment; its of th ind subrise be four ment an program	t site i ne nittal nd n.
1.3.3	Other	OCRWM Affected Organizations		•		
	Α.	OCRWM Affected Organizations				
		OCRWM Affected Organizations perform work subject to the QAL controls established in their respective implementing documents. OCRWM, the DOE Office of Environmental Management, U.S. G Laboratories, other federal agencies, and contractors. The QARD OCRWM Affected Organization are identified in the appropriate p OCRWM provides overviews of OCRWM Affected Organization requirements by using appropriate verification methods.	RD in acc These orga cological requirement rocurement work subj	ordance anization Survey ints for at docu ect to (e with to ons incl , Nation each ments. QARD	the ude nal
	B.	OCRWM Direct-Support Organizations				•
		OCRWM Direct-support organizations perform work subject to the controls established in OCRWM implementing documents.	QARD i	n accor	dance	with
	C.	For OCRWM Affected Organizations performing work in accordant Memoranda of Understanding, Memoranda of Agreement or Progra rather than in accordance with a contract or Interagency Agreement	nce with c am Guida at, appropri	locume nce Me riate teo	nts suci morane chnical	h as da and





Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM

Effective Date:

Section No: 2.0

Revision No: N/A

Page 1 of 1

REFER TO QARD LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATIONS, LOCATED BEHIND THE QARD SECTION FOR:

NO. 93-001 QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: VERIFICATION OF MINIMUM EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE, QARD SECTION 2.0

NO. 93-002 QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENTS, QARD SECTION 2.0, AND AUDITS, QARD SECTION 18.0

NO. 94-002 QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: QUALITY ASSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND DESCRIPTION (QARD), QARD SECTION 2.0, AND PEER REVIEWS, QARD SECTION 2.2.8, EXISTING DATA NOT COLLECTED UNDER AN APPROVED QA PROGRAM, AND SCIENTIFIC INVESTIGATIONS, QARD SUPPLEMENT III, SPECIFICALLY: DATA VALIDATION AND QUALIFICATION, QARD III.2.4



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: (QUALITY	ASSURANCE PROGRAM	Effective Date:	10/3	1/95	
Section:	2.0	Revision No.: 1	Page 1	of	9	-

2.1 GENERAL

This section establishes requirements for planning, implementing, and maintaining the Quality Assurance (QA) program. This section also establishes requirements for special topics related to the QA program. The QA program establishes requirements to ensure that work meeting the criteria described in Subsection 2.2.2, Classifying Items. Subsection 2.2.3, Controlling Activities, and Subsection 2.2.4, Applying Quality Assurance Controls. is performed under suitably controlled conditions including the use of appropriate equipment, suitable environmental conditions for accomplishing the activity, and assurance that prerequisites for a given activity have been satisfied.

2.2 REQUIREMENTS

2.2.1 Quality Assurance Program Documents

- A. Affected Organizations shall issue a policy statement signed by senior line management directing mandatory compliance with this QA program.
- B. Affected Organizations shall establish implementing documents applicable to their scope of work that translate *Quality Assurance Requirements and Description* (QARD) requirements into work processes. The following requirements apply to implementing documents.
 - 1. Each Affected Organization shall establish a structured system of implementing documents that provides for top down implementation of the QARD or, if stipulated in procurement documents, shall work to the implementing documents of another Affected Organization.
 - 2. The system shall accommodate the size and location(s) of the organization, the organizational structure, and the nature of the work such that management processes will be carried out efficiently and effectively.
 - 3. The system shall provide positive control over external interfaces between Affected Organizations and internal interfaces within an organization.
 - Each Affected Organization shall review revisions to the QARD and incorporate changes into their implementing documents, as appropriate.
- C. Each Affected Organization shall complete a QARD requirements matrix for the portion of the QARD which they are implementing.
 - 1. The matrix shall identify:
 - . Where the QARD requirements are directly addressed.

Section:	2.0				Rev	visio	n No.).:	1								Pa	ige	2	. (of	9
			b.		Wh	ere	QAL	RD	requ	uiren	nents	aren	not ar	plica	able	base	d on	sco	pe of	work	-	
			c.		Wh	ere	exce	eption.	ons	to Q	ARD) requ	iremo	ents	have	bee	n tak	en i	ncludi	ng		
		2.	Initia QAR		AR	D I sect	equi tion	iren 2.2.	nents .10,	s mai Doci	trices umen	s shall nt Rev	l be r view.	evie	wed	by C	DQA	in a	ccord	ance	with	1
		3.	As ch ensur	nan e ti	ges hat	are resi	ma	ive (to in QAF	nplen RD n	nenti equir	ing do emen	ocume ts ma	ents	each s an	Affe rev	ected	if ne	ganiza ecessa	tion ry.	shal	1
		4.	Chan Organ	ges	to	QA n Q	RD A o	req	nizat	ment tion i	ts ma in ac	atrices corda	shal	l be vith	revie Subs	ewed	by ton 2.	the /	Affecta Doci	ed	t Re	eview
		5.	OQA surve	sh illa	all : nce	revi s.	iew (cha	nges	s to C	QARI	D req	uiren	ents	mat	rices	s thro	ough	audit	s and	1	
2.2.2	Classi	fying Iter	ms																			
	The Q	A progra	m sha	11 2	ppl	y to	o the	e fol	llowi	ing,	whic	h sha	ll be	inclu	ided	on a	Q-1	ist.				
	À.	Items in (CFR) I	nporta Parts (ant 50,	to j 71,	and	lic n d 72	adic 2.	ologi	ical s	safety	y as d	escril	bed i	in 10) Cox	de of	Fed	leral F	legui	atio	ns
	В.	Items a	nd nat	tura	d ba	arrie	ers i	impo	ortan	nt to	wast	e isol	ation	as c	lescr	ibed	in 19	0 CE	R Pa	rt 60		
	C.	Items re spent fu	equire nel and	d f d h	or ti igh-	he d -lev	conti el w	rol a	and i	mana	agem	ent o	f site	-gen	erate	ed rad	dioac	tive	waste	oth	er th	an
	D.	Items re hazards	equire of fir	d f æ.	or t	he j	prote	ectio	on o	of iter	ms in	nportz	ant to	safe	ety a	nd w	aste	isol	ation :	from	the	
	E.	Items n other ite	ot inte ems to	end p	ed i	to p	erfo their	r in	a sa	led sa	funct	tion b or wa	ut wi	hose solat	failution :	ure c funct	ould tion.	imp	air the	e cap	abil	ity of
	F.	Items re	equire	d f	or p	ohys	sical	pro	otecti	tion a	as de	fined	by 10	CF	R P	art 7	3.					
	G.	Items m	equire	d t	0 00	ontr	ol o	ccuj	patic	onal	radio	logica	al exp	osu	re.							
2.2.3	Contr	olling Ac	tivitie	s																		
	Α.	The QA	prog	Tar	n st	hall	app	iy to	o sit	te cha	aract	erizat	ion d	ata a	and s	amp	les.					
		Note:	Site or	cha ed t	ract	eriz	ation	on fo	or the	n and	rpose d the	e of Q colle	A pr	ogra and	m ap anal	pplica lysis	abilit of d	ty in ata t	cludes o sup	acti port	vitie	s

Section:	2.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	3 of	9
	B.	The QA program shall apply to activities related to the items procurement, construction, fabrication, production, handling, cleaning, assembly, inspection, testing, operation, maintenand decontamination).	s on a <i>Q-List</i> (suc packaging, shipp ce, repair, modifi	ch as design ing, storing cation, and	1, ;+
	C.	The QA program shall apply to those activities that provide dispersion of radioactive materials from the licensed facility.	data used to asse	ss the poter	ntial
	D.	The QA program shall apply to activities related to the high- through qualification, production, and acceptance.	level waste form	developme	nt
	E.	The QA program shall apply to activities associated with cha fuel, and conditioning through acceptance of DOE spent nuc	aracterization of l lear fuel.	DOE spent	nucle
2.2.4	Appl	ying Quality Assurance Controls			
	QAC	controls (grading) shall be applied to the degree commensurate	with the:		
	Α.	Function or end use of the item.			
	B.	Consequence of failure (risk) of the item.			
	C.	Importance of the data being collected or analyzed.			
	D.	Complexity of design or fabrication of the item or design or	implementation of	of the activi	ity.
	E.	Reliability of the process.			
	F.	Reproducibility of the results.			
	G.	Uniqueness of the item or degree of standardization.			
	H.	History of the item or service quality.			
	I.	Necessity for special controls or processes.			
	J.	Degree to which functional compliance can be demonstrated	through inspection	on or test.	
2.2.5	Plan	ning Work			
	Plann Plann	ing shall be documented to ensure work is accomplished under ing elements shall include, as appropriate:	suitably controll	ed condition	ns.
	Α.	Definition of the work scope, objectives, and a listing of the	primary tasks in	volved.	
-	B.	Identification of scientific approach or technical methods use results of applicable work.	ed to collect, anal	yze, or stud	iy

D)

Section:	2.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	4	of	9				
	C.	Identification of applicable standards and criteria.								
	D.	D. Identification and selective application, or development, of appropriate implementing documents.								
	E.	Identification of field and laboratory testing equipment, or other equipment.								
	F.	Identification of, or provisions for the identification of, required records and the recording of objective evidence of the results of the work performed.								
	G.	Identification of QA program verifications of the work performed.								
	H.	. Identification of prerequisites, special controls, environmental conditions, processes, or skill								
	I.	Identification of computer software.								
2.2.6	Surve	eillances								
	Surve	illances shall be conducted to evaluate the quality of selected illances shall be:	work subject to	the QA	RD.					
	Α.	Conducted to verify the quality of work in progress; to ider ensure that prompt corrective action is taken by management work; and to verify the timely implementation, adequacy, a	ntify conditions a nt responsible fo nd effectiveness	dverse r perfo of cor	to quai rming t rective a	lity; t he actior				
	В.	Performed by personnel who are knowledgeable about, and work under surveillance.	not directly resp	onsibl	e for, th	le				
	C.	Documented in a report to appropriate management.								
2.2.7	Mana	agement Assessments								
	The (mana Mana	Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management shall perfor gement assessments of Affected Organizations by personnel or gement Assessment shall:	m or direct the p utside the QA or	erforn ganiza	nance of tion.					
	Α.	Be planned and documented, and performed annually.								
	В.	Evaluate the:								
		1. Adequacy of resources and personnel provided to a	chieve and assur	e qual	ity.					
		2. Adequacy of the QA program.								
		3. Effectiveness of the QA program.								
	C	Be documented and results shall be distributed to Affected	Organization ma	nagem	ent					

		2				
Section:	2.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	5	of	9
2.2.8	Read	iness Reviews				
	The n sched shall that	eed for readiness reviews shall be identified by Affected Organuled or planned work to ensure program objectives are met. We be conducted for the planned scope of work to ensure that objectives are met at objectives are met at objectives are met.	ization manage There needed, re ctive evidence	ement f eadines exists (for majo is review demons	or ws trati
	Α.	Work prerequisites have been satisfied.				
	В.	Personnel have been suitably trained and qualified.				
	C.	Detailed implementing documents and management controls	are available ar	nd appr	roved.	
2.2.9	Peer	Reviews				
	Α.	Peer reviews shall be conducted when the adequacy of infom implementing documents and methods essential to meet speci established through testing, alternate calculations, or reference standards and practices.	nation or the su ified objectives e to previously	itabilit canno establi	ty of t be ished	
		The following conditions are situations for which a peer revie	ew shall be con	sidered	1:	
		1. Critical interpretations or decisions will be made in the including the planning for data collection, research, or	he face of signi or exploratory to	ficant esting.	uncerta	inty
		 Decisions or interpretations having significant impact will be made. 	on performance	e asse	ssment	resu
		3. Novel or beyond the state-of-the-art testing, plans and utilized.	d procedures, o	r analy	ses will	l be
		4. Detailed technical criteria or standard industry proceed	lures are not av	ailable		
		5. Results of tests are not reproducible or repeatable.				
		6. Data or interpretations are ambiguous.				
		7. Data adequacy is questionable (e.g., the data may not conformance with an established QA program).	have been col	lected	in .	
	B. ·	Management shall determine the need for and, as appropriate the adequacy of a critical body of information can be establis	, shall initiate p shed by alternat	e mear	views v ns, but	vher

Section:	2.0		Revision No.: 1		Page	6	of	9
	C.	In con	lucting a peer review, management shall	ensure that the:				
		1.	Number of the peer reviewers is comme reviewed, its importance to Program obj involved, the degree to which uncertaint the extent to which differing viewpoints and scientific community concerning issue	nsurate with the comp ectives, the number o ies in the data or tech are strongly held with ues under review.	f techn nical a hin the	of wor nical dis approac applic	k to be scipline h exist, able teo	s and chnica
		2.	Collective technical expertise and qualifit issues and areas involved in the work to scientific thought.	cations of the peer re be reviewed, including	viewe: ng diff	rs span ering be	the tech odies of	hnical f
		3.	Technical areas central to the work to be representation among the peer reviewers.	reviewed receive ap	propria	nte prop	ortiona	1
		4.	Potential for technical or organizational p	partiality is minimized	i.			
		5.	Peer review group chairperson is identifi	ed.				
	D.	Peer re	views shall be performed by individuals t	hat have:				
		1.	Technical qualifications in the review are work under review.	ea at least equivalent	to that	needeo	l for th	e
		2.	Technical credentials that are recognized	and verifiable.				
		3.	Independence from the work under revie not involved as a participant, supervisor, under review and is, to the extent practic	w. Independence me technical reviewer or al, free from any fun	ans the advis ding c	at the ir or in th onsider	ndividu e work ations.	al was
		Note:	In those cases where total independence of equivalent technical qualification and documented in the peer review report.	cannot be met, the ra greater independence	was n	e as to v ot selec	why sor tted sha	neone 11 be
	E.	Initiati	n of the peer review shall require the dev	elopment of a planning	ng doo	ument	that:	
		1.	Specifies the work to be reviewed.					
		2.	Identifies the size and spectrum of the pe	er review group.			,	
		3.	Describes the expected method and report	ting schedule.				
		4.	Establishes review criteria that shall inclu	ude, as appropriate:				
			a. Validity of the assumptions.					
			b. Alternate interpretations.					

	20	<u></u>		-														7			
Section:	2.0			-	Revu	sion N	10.:		1							P	age	/	of		
			c.		Adeq	luacy	r of	rec	quin	emer	nts a	nd crit	teria.								
			d.		Apprused	to co	omp	ess	and e the	d lim	nitatio ork u	ons of nder n	the	metho w.	ods a	nd imp	plem	enting	docum	ients	5
			е.		Adeq	uacy	of	app	plica	ation	1.										
			f.		Accu	гасу	of	cal	cula	tions	s.										
			g.		Valid	lity o	of co	onc	lusi	ions.											
			h.	•	Unce	rtain	ty o	of n	esul	its an	nd im	pact	if wro	ong.							
	F.	The p	eer revi	iew	chai	rpers		sha	ll p	provid	de a	report	that								
		1.	Is signature	gneo	d by a	each not te	pee o si	er n gn	evie and	ewer I why	ог со у.	ontain	s info	orma	tion d	etailir	ng wi	nich pe	er rev	iewe	IS
		2.	States	es th	ne wo	rk or	r iss	sue	that	t wa	s rev	iewed	and	the c	conclu	sions	of th	e revi	ew.		
		3.	Incluc additi	ides	indival con	vidua	al st nts.	ate	men app	nts by	y the riate.	peer	revie	wers	refle	cting	disse	nting v	views	or	
		4.	Includ	ides rien	a lis	ting each	of the	he vie	pee	r rev r hav	viewe ve bea	rs and en eva	i a st duate	atem	ent th i are	at the accep	quai	ificatio	ons and	d	
2.2.10	Docu	ment Re	eview														•				
	Imple: to the the Q	menting followin ARD.	docume ng requi	uirer	s and ments	doca	ume for	ents an	s that	at sp dditi	ecify	techr requin	nical	or qu nts sp	ality	required by	the a	nts sha pplica	ll be n ble sec	eviev	of
	Α.	Review	w criteri	ria s	shall	be es	stab	list	ned	befo	ore pe	rform	ing t	he re	view.	The	crite	ria sha	ul con	side	r
		establi	ished rea	equi	ireme	nts.	tect	mic		adeq	uacy.	com	pieter	ness,	accu	асу, а	ind c	ompila	nce w	ıın	
	В.	Pertino organi	ent back	kgr requ	ound	informing the	rma e re	tion	n or w ii	r dau if the	a sha info	ll be	made on is	avai not 1	lable eadil	to the y avai	e revi lable	ewers to the	by the review	wer.	
	C.	The re	eview sh	hall	be p	perfo	me	d b	y in	ndivi	iduals	othe	r that	n the	ргера	arer.					
	D.	Review	wers sha	nall	be te	chnic	cally	y c	omp	peten	nt for	the s	ubjec	t area	a of t	he do	cume	nt bein	ng revi	iewe	d.
	_																				

1. Each organization or technical discipline affected by the document shall review the document according to the established review criteria. Changes to the document shall be reviewed by those organizations or technical disciplines affected by the change.

Section:	2.0		Revision No.: 1	Page	8 '	of	9
		2.	The Affected Organizations' QA organizations a translate the QARD into work processes a Assurance Program Documents. The QA documents if they reviewed the previous a organization is affected by the change.	tion shall review impleme s described in Subsection organization shall also re version, regardless of whe	enting of 2.2.1, view cl ther the	Quality hanges to QA	nts that
	F.	Mand appro	latory comments resulting from the review showing the document.	all be documented and re	solved	before	
2.2.11	Qual	ity Assu	rance Program Information Management				
	Affect comp repor	ted Orga liance as ts. surve	anization management shall on a continuing spects of the QA Program. Appropriate man illance reports, trend reports and management	basis be appraised of the agement shall receive, as t assessment reports.	status, a a mini	adequac mum. au	y and idit
2.2.12	Perso	onnel Se	lection, Indoctrination, Training, and Qua	lification			
	Each traini	Affected ng, and	d Organization shall establish a program for a qualification of personnel performing work s	the evaluation, selection. ubject to the QARD. The	indoctri e progra	ination, am shall	
	A.	Evalu perfor	ate each job position to determine whether the ming work subject to the QARD.	ne responsibilities of the p	osition	include	
	B.	Estab	lish descriptions for those positions that inclu	ide work subject to the Q	ARD.		
	C.	Ensur maint	e personnel are indoctrinated and trained, as ain proficiency; and adapt to changes in tech	needed, to achieve initial nology, methods, or job r	profici esponsi	ency; ibilities.	
	D.	Estable the sc	lish minimum education and experience require cope, complexity, and nature of the work.	irements for each position	n comm	ensurate	e with
	E.	Ensur the m	e personnel have the experience, education, t inimum requirements established.	raining, and proficiency (comme	nsurate v	with
	F.	Ensur experi assign	e minimum education and experience are ver ience cannot be specifically verified, provide iment.	ified or, when minimum a statement and justificat	educati	on and the per	sonne
	G.	Ensur assign	e supervisors evaluate and assess the need for ments, positions, and implementing document	r additional indoctrination ats change.	n and t	raining a	as
	H.	Ensur perfor	e the required indoctrination and training for ming the task.	a specified task is compl	leted pr	ior to	
	I.	Ensur	e records on individuals generated by trainin ained.	g and qualification progra	ums are	collecte	ed and

		Quality Assurance Kequirement	s ana Description	2		
Section:	2.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	9	of	9
	J. Enst	are personnel are indoctrinated in the following	topics as they relate to a	a partic	ular fu	nctio
	1.	General criteria, including the QARD, appli	icable codes, regulations,	and st	andards	i.
	2.	Applicable implementing documents.				
	3.	Job responsibilities and authority.				
2.2.13	Qualificatio	n of Personnel Performing Special Quality A	ssurance Functions			
	Personnel pe be qualified and QARD	erforming special QA functions (such as inspect in accordance with the requirements of the app Subsection 2.2.12, Personnel Selection, Indoctri	ting, examining, testing, dicable QARD section co ination. Training and Qua	and au	diting) the action.	shall
					•	

. .





		,	
Section:	3.0	Revision No.: 1	Page 1 of 6
3.1	GENI	ERAL	
	This s	ection provides requirements to ensure that designs are defin	ned, controlled, and verified.
3.2	REQU	UIREMENTS	
3.2.1	Desig	n Input Control	
	Applia regula accord	cable design inputs (such as design bases, conceptual design tory requirements, codes, and standards) shall be controlled ling to the following requirements:	reports, performance requirements, by those responsible for the design
•	A.	Design inputs shall be identified and documented, and their those responsible for the design.	ir selection reviewed and approved l
	B.	Design inputs shall be specified and approved on a timely necessary to permit the design work to be carried out in a consistent basis for making design decisions, accomplishin design changes.	basis and to the level of detail correct manner that provides a g design verification, and evaluating
	C.	Changes from approved design inputs and reasons for the documented, and controlled.	changes shall be identified, approve
	D.	Design inputs based on assumptions that require confirmat as the design proceeds.	ion shall be identified and controlle
3.2.2	Desig	n Process	
	The de	esign process shall be controlled according to the following	requirements:
	Α.	Design work shall be prescribed and documented on a tim necessary to permit the design process to be carried out in	ely basis and to the level of detail a correct manner.
	В.	Design documents shall be adequate to support design, fab	rication, construction, and operation
	C.	Appropriate standards shall be identified and documented, approved.	and their selection reviewed and
	D.	Changes from specified standards, including the reasons for	or the change, shall be identified,

Section:	3.0	Revision No.: 1 Page 2 of 6
	E.	Design methods, materials, parts, equipment, and processes that are essential to the function of an item shall be selected and reviewed for suitability of application.
	F.	Applicable information derived from experience, as set forth in reports or other documentation, shall be made available to cognizant design personnel.
	G.	Design documents shall be sufficiently detailed as to purpose, method, assumptions, design input, references, and units such that a person technically qualified in the subject can understand the documents and verify their adequacy without recourse to the originator.
	H.	The final design shall identify assemblies or components that are part of the item being designed. If a commercial grade assembly or component is modified or selected by special inspection or testing to meet requirements that are more restrictive than the supplier's published product description, then the assembly or component shall be represented as different from the commercial grade item in a manner traceable to a documented description of the difference.
	I.	Drawings, specifications, and other design output documents shall contain appropriate inspection and testing acceptance criteria.
3.2.3	Design	Analyses
	A.	Design analyses shall be planned, controlled, and documented.
	В.	Design analysis documents shall be legible and in a form suitable for reproduction, filing, and retrieval.
	C.	Computer software used to perform design analyses shall be developed or qualified, and used according to the requirements of Supplement I, Software.
	D.	Documentation of design analyses shall include:
		1. Definition of the objective of the analyses.
		2. Definition of design inputs and their sources.
		3. Results of literature searches or other applicable background data.
		4. Identification of assumptions.
		5. Identification of any computer calculation, including computer type, computer program (e.g., name), revision identification, inputs, outputs, and the bases (or reference thereto) supporting application of the computer program to the specific physical problem.
		6. Identification of the originator, reviewer, and approver.

Section:	3.0		Revision No.: 1	Page	3	of	6
3.2.4	Desig	n Veri	fication				
	In ad Subse	dition to ection 2	o reviewing completed design analyses and design .2.10, Document Review, the following design cor	output in accordance	with all be a	QARD	
	Α.	Desig	gn verification shall be performed to determine the pination of the following methods:	e adequacy of design	by usi	ng one	or a
		1.	Design review.				
		2.	Alternate calculations.				
		3.	Qualification testing.				
	B.	The	particular design verification method shall be ident	tified and its use justi	fied.		
	C.	The r	results of design verification shall be documented, ier.	including the identify	cation	of the	
	D.	Desig perfo verifi	gn verification shall be performed by competent in rmed the original design but may be from the sam ication may be performed by the originator's super	dividuals or groups on the organization. If ne twisor provided:	other the cessar,	an those y, this	e who
		1.	The supervisor did not specify a singular design considerations and did not establish the design	n approach or rule ou inputs used in the de	t certa sign; o	in desig r	д
		2.	The supervisor is the only individual in the org verification.	anization competent	to perf	orm the	
		3.	The verification is not hastily and superficially	done.	•		
		4.	The determination to use the supervisor is docu concurrence of the Affected Organization's Qua	ality Assurance organ	l, in ac lization	ivance,	with
	E.	Desig	n verification shall be performed at appropriate ti	mes during the design	n proce	ess.	•
		1.	Verification shall be performed before release f construction or release to another organization is cases (such as when insufficient data exists) it is designs to support schedule requirements. Unv clearly identified and controlled	for procurement, man for use in other desig may be necessary to verified portions of the	ufactur n worl release e desig	re, or c. In so unverif m shall	fied be
		2.	In all cases, design verification shall be complet its function.	eted before relying on	the it	em to p	erfon

Section	: 3.0		Revi	sion No.:	1			Page	4	of	6
1	G.	Where Assuration	the design hat nce Requiremant al designs.	s been su ents and	bjected to Description	a verification, the verification	on process in cation proce	accordance ss need not	e with the be dupl	his Qua icated f	lity
	H.	Use of	previously pr	oven desi	igns shall t	e controlled	d according	to the follow	wing rec	luireme	nts:
		1.	The applicab respect to me	ility of st teting per	tandardized rtinent desi	l or previous gn inputs fo	sly proven o or each appli	lesigns shall ication.	be veri	fied wi	th
		2.	Known probl other features	erns affe s shall be	cting stand considere	ard or previ d.	ously prove	n designs a	nd their	effects	OD
		3.	The original documented	design ar and refer	nd associate enced in th	ed verification in the files of su	on measure: ibsequent ar	s shall be ac plication of	the des	y ign.	
	I.	Change include and on	es in previousl the evaluation any design an	y verified n of the e alysis up	d designs s effects of the oon which the	hall require hose change the design is	reverifications on the over s based.	on. Such ve erall previoe	rifications is ly veri	n shall ified de	sign
3.2.5	Desig	gn Review	rs								
	Desig	gn reviews	shall be cont	rolled and	d performe	d to ensure:					
	Α.	The dea	sign inputs we	re correc	tly selected	d and incorp	porated.				
	В.	Assump applicat	ptions necessa ble, identified	ry to period	form the de	esign were a nation as th	adequately de design pro	escribed, re ceeds.	asonabl	e and w	here
	C.	Арргор	riate design n	ethods, a	and compu	ter program	s when appl	icable, were	used.		
	D.	The des	sign outputs a	re reason	able compa	ared to desig	gn inputs.				
R.	E.	The nec	cessary design	input fo	r interfacin	ng organizati	ions were sp	ecified in t	he desig	n docu	ments
3.2.6	Alter	nate Calc	ulations								•
	The a used to ve	appropriate shall be re rify the co	eness of assume viewed, and the preciness of the	nptions, in he result ne origina	nput data, s s shall be o al calculatio	and the com checked thro ons or analy	puter progra bugh the use rses.	am or other of alternate	calcula calcula	tion me	thod ethods
3.2.7	Qual	ification 7	lesting						•		
	A	If desig Section	n adequacy is 11.0, Test Co	to be ve	rified by q	ualification	tests, the te	sts shall be	in acco	rdance	with
	D	The ter		aball be	defined a	nd documen	tad				

Section:	3.0	Revision No.: 1 Page 5 of 6
	C.	Testing shall demonstrate the adequacy of performance under conditions that simulate the mos adverse design conditions. Operating modes and environmental conditions in which the item must perform satisfactorily shall be considered in determining the most adverse conditions.
	D.	If the tests verify only specific design features, then the other features of the design shall be verified by other means.
	E.	Test results shall be documented and evaluated to ensure that test requirements have been met
	F.	If qualification testing indicates that a modification to an item is necessary to obtain acceptable performance, then the modification shall be documented and the item modified and retested or otherwise verified to ensure satisfactory performance.
	G.	When tests are being performed on models or mockups, scaling laws shall be established and reviewed and approved.
	H.	The results of model test work shall be subject to error analysis, where applicable, before usin the results in final design work.
3.2.8	Design	Change Control
	Design	changes shall be controlled according to the following requirements:
	A.	Changes to final designs, field changes, and nonconforming items dispositioned "use-as-is" or "repair" shall be justified and shall be subject to design control measures commensurate with those applied to the original design.
	B.	Design control measures for changes shall include provisions to assess the effect of the change on the overall previously verified design and ensure that the design analyses for the item are still valid.
	C.	Changes shall be approved by the same affected groups or organizations that approved the original design documents:
		1. If an organization that originally was responsible for approving a particular design document is no longer responsible, then a new responsible organization shall be designated; and
		2. The designated approving organization shall have demonstrated competence in the specific design area of interest and have an adequate understanding of the requirement and intent of the original design.
	D.	The design process and design verification methods and implementing documents shall be reviewed and modified, as necessary, when a significant design change is necessary because of an incorrect design. These design deficiencies shall be documented in accordance with Section 16.0, Corrective Action. Additionally, if the incorrect design causes constructed or partially constructed systems, structures, or components to be nonconforming, the affected items shall be controlled in accordance with Section 15.0, Nonconformances.

Section:	3.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	6	of	6
	E.	Field changes shall be incorporated into affected design appropriate, and when a field change is approved other documents.	documents when s than by revision to	uch inco the affe	rporati cted de	on is sign
	F.	Design changes that impact related implementing docur communicated to organizations affected by the change.	nents or training pro	ograms s	shall be	•
3.2.9	Design	Interface Control				
	А.	Design interfaces shall be identified and controlled.				
	В.	Design efforts shall be coordinated among participating	organizations and g	roups.		
	C.	Interface controls shall include the assignment of responsibility and the establishment of implementing documents among participating design organizations and groups for the review, approval, release, distribution, and revision of documents involving design interfaces.				
	D.	Design information transmitted across interfaces shall b	e documented and o	ontrolle	d.	
	E.	The status of the design information or document provid Designs or portions of designs that require further devel shall be identified.	ded shall be identifi lopment, analysis, n	ed in tra	nsmitt r appro	als. oval
	F.	When it is necessary to initially transmit design information the design information shall be promptly confirmed with accordance with the initiating organizations approved in	ation orally or by ou h formal documenta aplementing docum	her info tion init	rmal m iated in	eans 1

4

.

. . .

· .



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: PROCUREMENT DOCUMENT CONTROL

Effective Date:

Section No: 4.0

Revision No: N/A

Page 1 of 1

REFER TO QARD LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATIONS, LOCATED BEHIND THE QARD SECTION FOR:

NO. 92-001

PROCUREMENT AND THE CLASSIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS, QARD SECTION 4.0


Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title:	Title: PROCUREMENT DOCUMENT CONTROL		Effective Date:	10/3	1/95	
Section	: 4.0	Revision No.: 1	Page 1	of	3	

4.1 GENERAL

This section establishes requirements to ensure that procurement documents, and any changes thereto, contain appropriate technical and quality assurance requirements.

4.2 **REQUIREMENTS**

4.2.1 Procurement Document Preparation

Procurement documents issued by each Affected Organization shall include the following provisions, as applicable to the item or service being procured:

- A. A statement of the scope of work to be performed by the supplier.
- B. Technical requirements including:
 - 1. Design bases shall be identified or referenced.
 - 2. Specific documents (such as drawings, codes, standards, regulations, procedures, or instructions) that describe the technical requirements of the items or services to be furnished shall be specified. The revision level or change status of these documents shall also be identified.
 - 3. Tests, inspections, and acceptance requirements that the purchaser will use to monitor and evaluate the performance of the supplier shall be specified.
- C. Quality Assurance Program Requirements including:
 - 1. A requirement for the supplier to have a documented Quality Assurance (QA) program that implements applicable *Quality Assurance Requirements and Description*, (QARD) requirements prior to the initiation of work. The extent of the QA program shall depend on the scope, nature, or complexity of the item or service being procured.
 - A requirement for the supplier to incorporate the appropriate QARD requirements into any subtier supplier-issued procurement document.

Section:	4.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	2	of	3
		3. When deemed appropriate, the purchaser shall performed under the purchaser's or another Af provided the work is adequately addressed. In shall specify that the purchaser's or another A documents are applicable to the supplier and the applicable documents to them.	permit some or all sur fected Organization's these cases, procurent ffected Organization's that the purchaser shall	pplier QA pr ment do impler provid	work to ogram ocumen menting de these	ts
	D.	Right of access to supplier facilities and records for in OCRWM, or other designee authorized by the purchas	spection or audit by the	e purc	haser,	
	E.	Provisions for establishing hold points beyond which authorization.	work cannot proceed w	vithout	purcha	SET
	F.	Documentation required to be submitted to the purchas	ser for information, rev	view, c	or accer	tance
		1. The document submittal schedule shall be iden	tified.			
		2. If the purchaser requires the supplier to maintain records, the retention times and disposition requires the supplier to maintain times and disposition requires the supplier to maintain the supplication the supplicati	in documentation that uirements shall be ide	will b ntified	ecome	QA
	G.	Purchaser requirements for the supplier to report nonce of the disposition of nonconformances.	onformances and the p	urchas	er appr	oval
	H.	Identification of any spare and replacement parts or as and QA data required for ordering.	semblies and the appro-	opriate	technic	cal
4.2.2	Proc	urement Document Review and Approval				
	A.	Procurement document reviews in accordance with Sul be performed and documented prior to issuance of the	procurement document	nent R its to the	eview, he supp	shall lier.
	B.	A review of the procurement documents and any chang documents include appropriate provisions to ensure that governing requirements.	ges thereto shall be ma it items or services wil	ade to	verify the	that .
	C.	Reviews shall ensure that all applicable technical and	QA program requireme	ents ar	e includ	ied.
	D.	Reviews shall be performed by personnel who have ac have an adequate understanding of the requirements an	cess to pertinent informed scope of the procure	mation ement.	and w	ho
	E.	Procurement document reviewers shall include represent organizations.	ntatives from the techr	nical a	nd QA	
	F.	Procurement documents shall be approved.				

Section:	4.0		Revision No.:	1	Page	3	of	3
4.2.3	Proc	uremen	t Document Change					
	A.	Chan acces replac contro	ges to the scope of work s, documentation require cement parts delineated ol as used in the prepara	c, technical requirements, nonconformation procurement documents of the original of the origin	ents, QA program require nces, hold points, and list ments shall be subject to focuments.	ments, is of sp the sam	right of are and he degre	e of
	В.	Chan incor result consi	ges made as a result of porated into the procures ting impact shall be com der:	proposal/bid evaluation ment documents. The pleted before the cor	ons or precontract negotia e evaluation of these char stract is awarded. This ev	nges an valuation	hall be d the m shall	
		1.	Appropriate requirem	ents as specified in t	his section.			
		2.	Additional or modifie	ed design criteria.				
		3.	Analysis of exception determination of the i	is or changes request impact such changes of the item or service	ed or specified by the sup have on the intent of the	plier a	nd a ement	

- }

١Ô

.

21



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: IN	MPLEMENTIN	G DOCUMENTS	Effect	ve Date:	10/3	1/95	
Section:	5.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	1	of	2	

5.1 GENERAL

This section establishes the requirements to ensure that work is prescribed by, and performed in accordance with, written implementing documents.

5.2 **REQUIREMENTS**

Work shall be performed in accordance with controlled implementing documents.

5.2.1 Types of Implementing Documents

The type of document to be used to perform work shall be appropriate to the nature and circumstances of the work being performed. Implementing documents include documents such as procedures, instructions, and drawings, with the exception of drawings governed by Section 3.0, Design Control.

5.2.2 Content of Implementing Documents

Implementing documents shall include the following information as appropriate to the work to be performed:

- A. Responsibilities and organizational interfaces of the organizations affected by the document.
- B. Technical and regulatory requirements.
- C. A sequential description of the work to be performed including controls for altering the sequence of required inspections, tests, and other operations. The organization responsible for preparing the document shall determine the appropriate level of detail.
- D. Quantitative or qualitative acceptance criteria sufficient for determining that activities were satisfactorily accomplished.
- E. Prerequisites, limits, precautions, process parameters, and environmental conditions.
- F. Quality verification points and hold points.
- G. Methods for demonstrating that the work was performed as required (such as provisions for recording inspection and test results, checkoff lists, or signoff blocks).
- H. Identification of the lifetime and nonpermanent quality assurance records generated by the implementing document.
- I. Identification of associated items and activities.

Section:	5.0	· Revision No.: 1	Page	2	of	2
5.2.3	Revi	ew and Approval of Implementing Documents				
	Imple	ementing documents shall be reviewed, approved, and coment Control.	ontrolled in accordan	ce with	Section	6.0,
5.2.4	Com	pliance with Implementing Documents				
	Indiv	iduals shall comply with implementing documents, how	ever:			
	A .	When work cannot be accomplished as described in t accomplishment of such work would result in an und stopped.	he implementing doo esirable situation, the	ument, work s	or hall be	
	B.	Work shall not resume until the implementing docum 6.0, Document Control) to reflect the correct work pr	ent is changed (in a actices.	cordanc	e with a	Sectio

. . .

٠

9



Section:	6.0	Revision No.: 1	Page 1	of	3
6.1	GENERAL	10 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	This section adequacy, a performed.	establishes requirements to ensure documents pproved for release, and distributed to and use	s, including changes thereto, are re ed at the location where the work	eviewed is being	l for g
6.2	REQUIRE	MENTS			
6.2.1	Types of De	ocuments			
	Implementir shall be con	g documents and documents that specify tech trolled in accordance with this section.	nical requirements or quality requ	iremen	ts
6.2.2	Preparing 1	Documents			
	The respons organization	ibility for preparing and maintaining documen	its shall be assigned to the approp	riate	
6.2.3	Reviewing 3	Documents			
	Documents requirement	shall be reviewed for adequacy, correctness, a s of Subsection 2.2.10, Document Review.	nd completeness, in accordance w	rith the	
6.2.4	Approving	Documents			
	The organiz	ational position responsible for approving the	document for release shall be iden	ntified.	
6.2.5	Distribution	and Use of Documents		•	
	The distribuinclude the	tion and use of documents, including changes following:	and editorial corrections to docur	nents, s	shall
	А. Doc от п	uments, either in hardcopy or electronic media ade available to, and used at, the work location	a, used to perform work shall be on.	listribu	ted
	B. Effe	ctive dates shall be established for approved i	mplementing documents.		
	C. The not	disposition of obsolete or superseded docume used to perform work.	ents shall be controlled to ensure t	hat the	y ar
	D. A m	ethod shall be established to identify the curr	ent status of each document that i	s requi	red

Section:	6.0		Revisio	n No.:	1		Page	2	of	3
6.2.6	Char	nges to I	ocuments							
	A.	Chang 2.2.10	ges to documents), Document Revi	shall b iew, pri	e reviewed in a for to approval	ccordance with or release.	the requirement	nts of S	Subsection	on
	В	Chang respon	ges shall be appro- nsible for the doc	oved for sument.	r release by the	designated orga	anizational pos	ition th	at is	
	C.	Imple metho define contro	menting document of is other than re- the maximum no olled document.	nts shall eissue o umber o	l define the met of the entire con of changes perm	hod used to inc trolled document titted prior to n	corporate chang nt, the impleme equiring reissue	es. If enting of of the	the defi document e entire	ned nt shal
	D.	Imple includ shall	menting documenting the reasons for reviewed each	or the c time a	l require that a changes, be doc dditional change	history of chang umented and m is to the docum	ges to QA prog a a intained. This ment are propose	ram de s docui ed.	nent his	is, itory
6.2.7	Expe	dited Cl	anges					10 <u>1</u>		
	76									
	ir an unrea mana	activity sonable gement.	cannot be perform delays, then an ex	ned as l xpedited	listed in a docu d change may b	ment, and the c e made at the v	change process work location b	would y respo	cause onsible	
	Ir an unrea mana A.	activity isonable gement. After norma and n	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited cha- al change process. ature of the docum	ange har ment be	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shal eing changed.	nent, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim	shange process work location b shall be process ally manner con	would y response ssed the isistent	cause onsible rough th with th	ne Ne type
	A.	activity isonable gement. After norma and no Imple the fo	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited cha- al change process. ature of the documen- menting documen- llowing requirement	ange har . This ment be nts shall ents.	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall sing changed. I describe the p	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro	shange process work location b shall be proces hely manner con	would y responsed the sistent anges a	cause onsible rough the with the eccording	ne ne type g to
	Ir an unrea mana A. B.	activity isonable gement. After norma and na Imple the fo 1.	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited cha- al change process. ature of the document menting document llowing requirement The level of ma- identified.	ange ha This ment be ats shall ents. anagem	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall eing changed. I describe the pr nent with the au	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro thority to make	change process work location b shall be process bely manner con ol expedited char e expedited char	would ssed th sistent anges a nges sh	cause onsible rough the with the according hall be	ne ne type g to
	A.	activity isonable gement. After norma and na Imple the fo 1. 2.	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited cha- al change process. ature of the document menting document llowing requirement The level of ma- identified. The time limits shall be specific	ange ha This ment be nts shall ents. anagem s for pro-	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall eing changed. I describe the pr nent with the au	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro thority to make	thange process work location b shall be process ely manner con ol expedited char e expedited char rough the norma	would y response seed the sistent anges a anges sh al chan	cause onsible rough th with th accordin, hall be ge proc	ne se type g to ess .
	A.	activity isonable gement. After norma and na Imple the fo 1. 2. 3.	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited char a change process. a ture of the document lowing requirement The level of main identified. The time limits shall be specific An evaluation of change that is of	ange har ange har . This ment be nts shall ents. anagem s for pro- ed. of the v differen	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall ing changed. I describe the pr nent with the au occessing expedi work shall be pen t from the expe	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro thority to make ted changes the rformed if the dited change.	thange process work location b shall be proces hely manner con ol expedited char cough the normal normal review	would y response ssed the sistent anges a anges sh al chan proces	cause onsible rough the with the according mall be ge process s results	e type g to ess .
6.2.8	If an unrea mana A. B. Edito	activity isonable gement. After norma and m Imple the fo 1. 2. 3.	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited char al change process. ature of the document lowing requirement The level of main identified. The time limits shall be specified An evaluation of change that is of rections	ned as i xpedited ange ha . This ment be nts shall ents. anagem s for pro- ed. of the v differen	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall eing changed. I describe the pr nent with the au occessing expedi work shall be po t from the expe	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro thority to make red changes through rformed if the dited change.	thange process work location b shall be process hely manner con ol expedited char cough the normal normal review	would y response ssed the sistent anges a anges sh al chan process	cause onsible rough th with th accordin, hall be ge process s results	e type g to ess .
6.2.8	Edito correct	activity isonable gement. After norma and na Imple the fo 1. 2. 3. orial Corrections sh	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited char al change process. ature of the document lowing requirement The level of main identified. The time limits shall be specified An evaluation of change that is of rections may be mail be distributed	ned as i xpedited ange has . This ment be nts shall ents. anagem s for pro- ed. of the v differen ade to o as a re	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall ing changed. I describe the pr nent with the au occessing expedi work shall be po t from the expe	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro thority to make red changes thro afformed if the dited change.	thange process work location b shall be process hely manner con ol expedited char cough the normal normal review re ent.	would y response ssed the sistent anges a anges sh al chan process quirem	cause onsible rough the with the according hall be ge process s results ents, but	e type g to ess . ; in a
6.2.8	Edito correct A.	activity isonable gement. After norma and na Imple the fo 1. 2. 3. orial Corrections sh The fo	cannot be perform delays, then an ex- the expedited char a change process. ature of the document lowing requirement The level of main identified. The time limits shall be specified. An evaluation of change that is of rections actions may be main all be distributed	ange ha ange ha This ment be its shall ents. anagem s for pro- ed. of the v differen ade to c as a re- e consid	listed in a docu d change may b s been authoriz processing shall eing changed. I describe the pr nent with the au occessing expedi work shall be pe t from the experi- documents with vision or change dered editorial of	ment, and the c e made at the v ed, the changes occur in a tim rocess to contro thority to make red changes the dited change.	thange process work location b shall be process hely manner con ol expedited char cough the normal normal review re ent.	would y response ssed the sistent anges a nges sh al chan process quirem	cause onsible rough the with the according hall be ge process s results ents, but	e type g to ess . a in a

Section: 6.0			Revision No.:	1		Page	3	of	3
	2.	Renum work.	bering sections	or attachmen	nts which do not affect the	chron	ologica	al seque	nce of
	3.	Changi	ing the title or n	number of the	e document.				
	4.	Updati	ng organization	al titles.					
		Note:	A change in an is not consider	n organizatio red an editori	nal title accompanied by a al correction.	chang	e in re	esponsib	ilities
B.	The	organizatio	onal position reactions.	sponsible for	approving the document i	or rele	ase sh	all appro	ove

. .



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title:	CONTRO	L OF PURCHASED ITEMS AND SERVICES	Effective Date:	10/3	1/95	
Section:	7.0	Revision No.: 2	Page 1	of	7	

7.1 GENERAL

This section establishes requirements for planning and executing procurements to ensure that purchased items and services meet specified requirements. This section does not apply to direct-support services used for staff augmentation. The supplier selection and bid/proposal evaluation requirements of this section do not apply to situations where the Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management obtains the services of other Department of Energy offices or Federal agencies through Memoranda of Understanding, Memoranda of Agreement, Program Guidance Memoranda, Interagency Agreement or other documents containing appropriate technical and Quality Assurance (QA) requirements. Technical and QA requirements specified in these documents shall be verified to be satisfactorily incorporated into the applicable program prior to starting work subject to the Quality Assurance Requirements and Description (QARD).

7.2 **REQUIREMENTS**

7.2.1 Procurement Planning

Procurements shall be planned and documented to ensure a systematic approach to the procurement process. Procurement planning shall:

- A. Identify procurement methods and organizational responsibilities.
- B. Identify what is to be accomplished, who is to accomplish it, how it is to be accomplished, and when it is to be accomplished.
- C. Identify and document the sequence of actions and milestones needed to effectively complete the procurement.
- D. Provide for the integration of the following activities:
 - 1. Procurement document preparation, review, and change control according to the requirements of Section 4.0, Procurement Document Control.
 - 2. Selection of procurement sources.
 - 3. Proposal/bid evaluation and award.
 - 4. Evaluation of supplier performance.
 - 5. Verifications including any hold and witness point notifications.
 - 6. Control of nonconformances.

Section:	7.0		Revision No.: 2	Page	2	of	7
		7.	Corrective action.				
		8.	Acceptance of the item or service.				
		9.	Identification of QA records.				
	E.	Be activi	ccomplished as early as possible, and no later than a ities which are required to be controlled.	ut the start of those	procur	ement	
	F.	Be pe being	erformed relative to the level of importance, complex y procured and the supplier's quality performance.	xity, and quantity	of the i	tem or s	servic
	G.	Inclu	de the involvement of the QA organization.				
7.2.2	Source	e Evai	uation and Selection				
	A.	Supplitude	lier selection shall be based on an evaluation, perfor upplier's capability to provide items or services in an rements.	med before the con ccordance with pro	ntract is	s awarde ant docu	ed, of ment
	В.	The c shall organ	organizational responsibilities for source evaluation a include the QA organization. If a source evaluation lization shall have a voting member.	and selection shall a board is establish	be ider ed, the	ntified at	nd A
	C.	Meas follow	ures for evaluating and selecting procurement source wing elements:	es shall include on	e or ma	ore of th	ne
		1.	Evaluation of the supplier's history for providing performs satisfactorily in actual use.	an identical or sin	nilar pr	oduct w	hich
		2.	Evaluation of supplier's current QA records support and quantitative information.	orted by any docur	nented	qualitat	ive
		3.	Evaluation of the supplier's technical and quality supplier facilities, personnel, and QA program im	capability based o	n an ev	valuation	ı of
	D.	The r	esults of procurement source evaluation and selection	on shall be docume	nted.		
2.3	Propo	sal/Bid	Evaluation				
	Α.	The p to the techn	proposal/bid evaluation process shall include a detern procurement document requirements. This evaluation including the QA organizations including the QA organizations including the QA organization of the the the the theta of theta of the theta of the theta of thet	mination of the ext ion shall be perfor nization.	med by	conform designa	ated,
	B.	The e and q	valuation shall include the following subjects consist uantity of items or services being procured:	stent with the impo	ortance,	comple	xity,
			Technical considerations				

Section:	7.0		Revision No.: 2	Page	3	of	7
		2.	QA program requirements.				
		3.	Supplier personnel.				
		4.	Supplier production capability.				
		5.	Supplier past performance.				
		6.	Alternatives.				
		7.	Exceptions.				
	C.	Befor	re the contract is awarded, the purchaser shall resolve, of ceptable quality conditions identified during the proposa	or obtain comm L/bid evaluation	itments	s to reso	olve,
	D.	Suppl defici QAR	lier QA programs shall be evaluated either before or aft iencies that would affect quality shall be corrected befor D.	ter contract place re starting work	ement subje	, and an ct to the	y
	E.	Suppl to the	lier QA programs shall be accepted by the purchaser be e QARD.	fore the supplie	r start	s work :	subject
7.2.4	Supp	lier Per	formance Evaluation				
	A.	The p to ver	purchaser of items and services shall establish measures rify supplier's performance. The measures shall include	to interface wi	th the	supplier	and
		1.	Establishing an understanding between the purchaser and specifications identified in the procurement docu	and supplier of ments.	f the re	equirem	ents
•		2.	Requiring the supplier to identify planning technique fulfilling procurement document requirements.	s and processes	to be	used in	
		3.	Reviewing supplier documents that are prepared or p fulfill procurement document requirements.	processed during	, work	perform	aed to
		4.	Identifying and processing necessary change informa	tion.			
		5.	Establishing the method to be used to document info purchaser and supplier.	mation exchan	ges be	twcen	
		6.	Establishing the extent of source surveillance and ins	spection.			

Section:	7.0		Revision No.:	2		Page	4	of	7
	C.	Verific respon- audits docum	cations shall be conduct sibility for the verificat used as a method of e entation to aid in the o	cted as early as trion of quality valuating the s determination	s practical and shall a achievement. Verif supplier's performance of the effectiveness of	not relieve the ications shall be, and evalue of the supplie	e suppl l includ ation of r's QA	ier of the suppli- purch program	the lier aser's un.
7.2.5	Cont	rol of Su	pplier Generated Do	cuments					
	Α.	Supplie the req	er generated document uirements established	in the procure	trolled, processed, an ment documents.	d accepted in	n accon	iance v	with
	В.	Measurin acco the acco compar	res shall be implement ordance with the procu juisition, processing, a red against the accepta	ted to ensure the rement document document document ance criteria.	hat the submittal of t tent requirements. The valuation of technical	hese docume hese measure l, inspection,	ents is a es shall and tes	ccomp provident data	lished e for
7.2.6	Acce	ptance of	Items or Services						
	A. .	The su procure	pplier shall verify that ement document requi	furnished iter rements before	ns or services comply offering the items o	y with the pu r services fo	rchasen r accept	's tance.	
	B.	The su procure the iter	pplier shall provide the ement documents. The n is installed or before	e purchaser of e documentation e the service is	ojective evidence that on shall be available s accepted.	items or ser at the purcha	vices ca aser's fa	onform acility	to before
	C.	Method	ds for accepting suppli- ing, as appropriate to t	ier furnished it the items or se	tems or services shall rvices being procure	l include one d:	or mor	re of th	le
		1.	Evaluating the suppli	ier certificate o	of conformance.				
		2.	Performing one or a installation test.	combination o	of source verification,	receiving in	spection	n, or p	ost-
		3.	Technical verification	n of the item of	or service.				
		4.	Surveillance or audit	of the work.					
•		5.	Review of objective qualifications) for co	evidence (such informance to	n as certifications, str the procurement doct	ument require	or perso ements.	onnel	
7.2.7	Certi	ficate of	Conformance						
	When	a certific	cate of conformance is	s used to accept	ot an item or service:				
	A.	The ce docum	rtificate shall identify ent.	the purchased	item or service to th	e specific pr	ocurem	ent	

Section:	7.0	Revision No.: 2 Page 5 of 7
	B.	The certificate shall identify the specific procurement document requirements met by the purchased item or service. The procurement document requirements identified shall include any approved changes, waivers, or deviations applicable to the item or service.
	C.	The certificate shall identify any procurement document requirements that have not been met together with an explanation and the means for resolving the nonconformances.
	D.	The certificate shall be signed or otherwise authenticated by a person who is responsible for this QA function and whose responsibilities and position are described in the supplier's QA program.
	E.	The certification process, including the implementing documents to be followed in filling out a certificate and the administrative implementing documents for review and approval of the certificates, shall be described in the supplier's QA program.
	F.	Measures shall be identified to verify the validity of supplier certificates and the effectiveness of the certification process (such as by audit of the supplier or by an independent inspection or test of the item). Verifications shall be conducted at intervals commensurate with the past quality performance of the supplier.
7.2.8	Source	Verification
	The pupperform	rchaser may accept an item or service by monitoring, witnessing, or observing activities ned by the supplier. This method of acceptance is called source verification.
	Α.	Source verification shall be implemented consistent with the supplier's planned inspections, examinations, or tests at predetermined points and performed at intervals consistent with the importance and complexity of the item.
	В.	Documented evidence of acceptance of source verified items or services shall be furnished to the receiving destination of the item, to the purchaser, and to the supplier.
	C.	Source verification shall be performed by personnel qualified in accordance with Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program.
7.2.9	Receiv	ing Inspection
	When	receiving inspection is used to accept an item:
	Α.	The inspection shall consider the results of source verifications and audits and the demonstrated quality performance of the supplier.
	В.	The inspection shall be performed in accordance with established inspection implementing documents.
	C.	The inspection shall verify, as applicable, proper configuration; identification; dimensional, physical, and other characteristics; freedom from shipping damage; and cleanliness.

Section:	7.0	•	Revision No.:	2	Pi	nge 6	of	7		
	D.	The Inspe	inspection shall be plann ection.	and executed acc	cording to the requirem	ents of S	Section 10	.0,		
	E.	Rece requi	eiving inspection shall be ired supplier documentation	coordinated with a ion submittals.	review for adequacy a	nd compl	leteness o	f any		
7.2.10	Post-	installa	ation Testing							
	А.	When required	n post-installation testing irements and acceptance lier.	g is used as a method documentation shall	d of acceptance, the po be mutually established	st-install d by the	ation test purchase	r and		
	В.	The	test shall be in accordance	ce with the requirem	ents of Section 11.0, 7	est Cont	rol.			
7.2.11	Control of Supplier Nonconformances									
	The p meet	procure	er and supplier shall estal ement document requirem	blish and document ments according to th	the process for disposi the following requirement	tion of it nts.	ems that	do no		
	A. The supplier shall evaluate nonconforming items according to the requirements of Section 15.0, Nonconformances.									
	В.	The s record nonce purch condi	supplier shall submit a re- mmended disposition (e.g onformances related to p haser, shall be submitted itions exists:	eport of nonconform g., use-as-is or repair procurement document to the purchaser for	ance to the purchaser i r) and technical justific nt requirements, or doc approval whenever on	ncluding ation. R cuments a se of the	supplier eports of approved following	by th		
		1.	Technical or material	requirements are vie	olated.		:			
		2.	A requirement in sup violated.	plier documents, wh	ich have been approve	d by the	purchase	r, is		
		3.	The nonconformance process or by rework.	cannot be corrected	by continuation of the	original	manufact	turing		
		4.	The item does not con restored to a condition	nform to the original n such that the capa	l requirement even tho bility of the item to fur	ugh the inction is	item can l unimpair	be ed.		
	C.	The	purchaser shall disposition	on the supplier's reco	ommendation.					
	D.	The	purchaser shall verify im	plementation of the	disposition.					
7.2.12	Com	nercial	Grade Items							
	When	e designative to	n specifies the use of con other requirements of the	mmercial grade item	s, the following require	ements a	re an acco	eptabl		

Section:	7.0	Revision No.: 2	Page 7 of 7
	A.	The commercial grade item shall be identified in an appro alternate commercial grade item may be applied, provided provides verification that the alternate commercial grade it and will meet design requirements applicable to both the r	ved design output document. An the responsible design organization tem will perform the intended function replaced item and the application.
	В.	Supplier evaluation and selection, when determined necess complexity and importance to safety, shall be in accordance Subsection 7.2.2, Source Evaluation and Selection.	ary by the purchaser based on the ce with the requirements of the
	C.	Commercial grade items shall be identified in the procurer published product description.	nent document by the manufacturer'
	D.	After receipt of a commercial grade item, the purchaser sh	all ensure that:
		1. Damage was not sustained during shipment.	
		2. The item received was the item ordered.	
		3. Inspection or testing is accomplished, to the extent ensure conformance with the manufacturer's public	t determined by the purchaser, to shed requirements.
		4. Documentation, as applicable to the item, was rect	eived and is acceptable.

.

ì



Section:	8.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	1 of	2
8.1	GEN	ERAL			-
	This s install	ection establishes requirements to ensure that only correct.	ect and accepted items	are used or	
8.2	REQ	UIREMENTS			
8.2.1	Identi	fication			
	Α.	Identification shall be maintained on the items or in a is established and maintained.	a manner which ensure:	s that identifie	catio
	B.	Items shall be identified from the time of initial fabric installation or end use.	cation, or receipt, up to	and includin	ıg
	C.	Identification shall relate an item to an applicable des	ign or other pertinent s	specifying do	cume
8.2.2	Physic	cal Markings		-	
	A .	Item identification methods shall include use of physic either impractical or insufficient, other appropriate me separation, labels or tags attached to containers, or pre-	cal markings. If physicans shall be employed ocedural control).	cal markings (such as phy	are sical
	B.	Physical markings, when used, shall:		•	
		1. Be applied using materials and methods that j	provide a clear and leg	ible identifica	tion.
		2. Not detrimentally affect the function or service	æ life of the item.		
		3. Be transferred to each part of an identified ite	em when the item is su	bdivided.	
		4. Not be obliterated or hidden by surface treatmuless other means of identification are substitution	nents or coatings, or af ituted.	ter installation	n
8.2.3	Trace	ability			
	Α.	Item identification methods shall ensure that traceabil manner that allows an item to be traced to applicable	ity is established and n design or other specify	naintained in ying document	a its.
	B.	Item traceability documentation shall ensure that the i	item can be traced at a	ll times from	its

Section:	8.0	12.11	1	Revision No.:	1		Page	2	of	2	
8.2.4	Conc	litional	Require	ments .							
	The c	controls	for items	s shall address t	he following r	equirements, as	applicable:				
	A.	A. If codes, or standards include specific identification or traceability requirements (such as identification or traceability of the item to applicable specification or grade of material; heat, batch, lot, part. or serial number; or specified inspection, test, or other records), then identification and traceability methods shall be specified in specifications.									
	B .	If codes or standards do not include specific identification or traceability requirements, specifications shall specify identification and traceability methods appropriate to the item.									
	C.	If iter prech	ns have and using	a limited operations the item beyond	ting or shelf li	fe specified, the operating life.	n methods shall	be establ	lished	that	
	D.	If iter identi metho	n storage fication t ods shall	e is required, th that are comme provide for, as	en methods sh nsurate with th applicable:	all be establishe he planned dura	ed for the control tion and conditio	of item ns of sto	orage.	These	
		I.	Maint handli	enance or repla- ng or aging.	cement of man	kings and ident	ification tags dan	naged du	ring		
		2.	Protec	tion of identific nmental exposu	cation marking re.	s subject to exc	essive deteriorati	on result	ting fr	mom	
		2	Tindat	ing related dog	mentation						



. –



					01100
Section:	9.0		Revision No.: 1	Page 1 of	2
9.1	GEN	ERAL			
	This s overla	section on the section of the sectio	establishes the requirements for the control of a treating, chemical cleaning, and nondestructive	special processes (such as welding, ve examinations).	veld
9.2	REQ	UIREM	IENTS		
9.2.1	Specia	al Proc	esses		
	A .	Special of this not the	al processes that control or verify quality shall is section whether or not they are covered by e he quality requirements specified for an item ex-	be controlled according to the requi xisting codes and standards, or whet acceed those of existing codes or stan	her or dards.
	B.	Proce	esses to be controlled as special processes shall	meet the following criteria:	
		1.	The results are highly dependent on the con	trol of the process; or	
		2.	The results are highly dependent on the skill	l of the operator, and	
		3.	Quality of the results cannot be readily dete	mined by inspection or test of the in	tem.
	C.	Based	d on this criteria, a list of the special processes rm, or be responsible for performing, shall be	that each Affected Organization will established and maintained.	1
9.2.2	Perso	nnel, Ir	mplementing Documents, and Equipment Qu	alifications	
	Imple specif. includ	menting ied envi ie or ref	documents shall be used to ensure that process ironmental conditions are maintained. Special ference:	s parameters are controlled and that process implementing documents sh	the all
	A.	Quali	fication requirements for personnel, implement	ing documents, and equipment.	
	Β.	Cond prope tracea	itions necessary for accomplishment of the spe or equipment, controlled parameters of the proc ability between the item or product, and individ	cial process. These conditions shall ess, calibration requirements, and hual performing the special process.	incluc
	C.	Requi	irements of applicable codes and standards, inc	luding acceptance criteria for the sp	ecial

Section:	9.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	2	of	2					
9.2.3	Qualification of Nondestructive Examination Personnel										
	Α.	Nondestructive examination shall include radiography penetrant, eddy current, neutron radiography, and leak	, magnetic particle, testing.	ultrason	ic, liquid	1					
	B.	Personnel that perform nondestructive examinations sl	hall be qualified in a	ccordan	ce with	the					
	11.754	American Society for Nondestructive Testing Recomm 1980 Edition. In lieu of the three year recertification 1980 edition, Level III Nondestructive examination per interval.	nended Practice No. interval specified in ersonnel may be rec	SNT-T SNT-T crtified (C-1A, Ju C-1A, Ju on a five	ine une : yea					



litle: I	NSPECTI	N				1	Effecti	ve Date:	
Section N	la: 10.0			Revision No:	N/A		Page	1	of 1
F	REFER TO	QARD LES BEHIND TI	SONS LEAR HE QARD SI	NED/ PROGRA	M CLARIFICATI	ons,			
9	95-002	QUALITY QUALIFIC PERSONN	ASSURANC CATION ANI IEL, QARD S	CE PROGRAM, D CERTIFICAT SECTION 10.0	SPECIFICALLY: ION OF INSPECT	ION			



Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: INS	PECTION		Effective Date:	12/18/92						
Section No.:	10.0	Revision No.: 0	Page 1	of 8						
10.1	GENERAL									
	This section of	stablishes requirements for planning a	nd executing inspections.							
10.2	REQUIREM	REQUIREMENTS								
10.2.1	Inspection P	anning								
	Inspection pla	mning shall be performed, documented	and include:							
	A. Identific and imp	ation of each work operation where in dementing documents that will be used	spection is necessary to end to perform the inspection	nsure quality is.						
	B. Identific during t	ation of the characteristics to be inspe he work process, inspections are to be	cted and the identification performed.	of when,						
	C. Identification of inspection or process monitoring methods to be employed.									
	D. The fina of the it	l inspection shall be planned to arrive em to specified requirements.	at a conclusion regarding	conformance						
	E. Identific perform	ation of the functional qualification leving inspections.	vel (category or class) of j	personnel						
	F. Identific	ation of acceptance criteria.								
	G. Identific	ation of sampling requirements.								
	H. Methods	to record inspection results.								
	I. Selection the insp range, a	n and identification of the measuring a ection to ensure that the equipment is ccuracy, and tolerance to accomplish t	nd test equipment to be u calibrated and is of the pr he intended function.	sed to perform oper type,						
10.2.2	Selecting Ins	pection Personnel to Perform Inspec	tions							
	A. The individual who performs an inspection to verify conformance of an item to specified acceptance criteria shall be qualified to the requirements of this Section.									
	B. Data rec supervis	orders, equipment operators, or other is ed by a qualified inspector shall not b	inspection team members e required to be a qualifier	who are d inspector.						

Section No.:	10.0	Revision No.: 0 Page 2 of 8						
	C.	The inspections shall be performed by personnel other than those who performed or directly supervised the item being inspected and are independent of the organization directly responsible for that item. These personnel shall not report directly to the immediate supervisor responsible for the item being examined.						
10.2.3	Insp	vection Hold Points						
	A.	When mandatory hold points are used to control work that shall not proceed without the specific consent of the organization placing the hold point, then the specific hold points shall be indicated in implementing documents.						
	B.	Consent to waive specified hold points shall be documented before continuing work beyond the designated hold point.						
10.2.4	Statistical Sampling							
	When statistical sampling is used to verify the acceptability of a group of items, the statistical sampling method shall be based on recognized standard practices.							
10.2.5	In-P	rocess Inspections and Monitoring						
	A.	Items in-process shall be inspected when necessary to verify quality. If inspection of processed items is impossible or disadvantageous, indirect control by monitoring of processing methods, equipment, and personnel shall be provided.						
	B.	Inspection and process monitoring both shall be conducted when control is inadequate with only one method.						
	C.	A combination of inspection and process monitoring methods, when used, shall be performed in a systematic manner to ensure that the specified requirements for control of the process and the quality of the item are met throughout the duration of the process.						
	D.	Controls shall be established and documented for the coordination and sequencing of the work at established inspection points during successive stages of the process.						
10.2.6	Fina	al Inspection						
	A. Finished items shall be inspected for completeness, markings, calibration, adjustments, protection from damage, or other characteristics as required to verify the quality and conformance of the item to specified requirements.							
	B.	Documentation not previously examined shall be examined for adequacy and						

Section No.:	10.0	Revision No.: 0	Page	3	of	8
	C.	Final inspections shall include a review of the nonconformances identified by earlier inspection	results and resolut ns.	ion of		
	D.	Modifications, repairs, or replacements of items inspection shall require reinspection or retest, as	performed subset s appropriate, to v	quent erify	to fina	al tability.
10.2.7	Acc	epting Items				
	A.	The acceptance of an item shall be documented authorized personnel.	and approved by	quali	fied a	nd
	B.	The inspection status of an item shall be identif	ied according to S	Section	n 14.0	
10.2.8	Insp	ection Documentation				
	Inspe	ection documentation shall identify:				
	A.	The item inspected.				
	B.	The date of inspection.				
	C.	The name of the inspector, or the inspector's un evaluated, and determined acceptability.	ique identifier, wl	ho doa	umen	ited,
	D.	The name of the data recorder, as applicable.				
	E.	The type of observation or method of inspection	L			
	F.	The inspection criteria, sampling plan, or reference levels) used to determine acceptance.	nce documents (in	cludi	ng rev	rision
	G.	Results indicating acceptability of characteristics	s inspected.			
	H.	Measuring and test equipment used during the in number and the most recent calibration date.	nspection includin	g the	identi	ification
	L	Reference to information on actions taken in con applicable.	nnection with non	confo	man	æs, as

Section No.:	10.0	Revision No.	: 0	P	age	4	of	8
10.2.9	Qua	lifications of Inspection and	Test Personne	ł				
	A.	Qualifications						
		Personnel performing inspect tests as described in Section training, education and expect personnel shall have experied or special nature of the inspec-	tions as descril 11.0 shall be o rience, and phy nce or training ections or tests.	bed in this section pualified according sical requirement commensurate w	n and g to t ts of ith th	perso the in this S the sco	doctrin doctrin dection pe, co	performing mation and . These mplexity,
	B.	Determination of Initial Cap	abilities					
		The capabilities of a candidate's evaluation of the candidate's examination results or capabilithe requirements of the appli- requirements of this Section.	te for certificat education, exp ility demonstra icable functions	ion shall be initia berience, and train tion. The evalua al level, and educ	ally d ning; tion s ation	and e shall i and o	tined t wither be period	by an formed to ence
	C.	Indoctrination and Training	of Inspection a	nd Test Personnel	I.			
		1. Inspection and test person requirements of the appr program requirements the	onnel shall be i licable codes a nat are to be en	ndoctrinated to the nd standards and aployed in execut	the tec the q ting t	chnica puality heir r	al obje assur assur	ctives and ance sibilities.
		2. The need for formal trai as required to qualify pe	ining shall be d	etermined, and trafforming inspection	ainin ons a	g sha nd tes	ll be c	onducted
		3. On-the-job training, with performance of inspection	h emphasis on ons and test, sh	hands-on experient all be included in	nce g a the	ained traini	throu ng pro	gh actual gram.
		a. On-the-job training the direct observation at	for personnel q nd supervision	ualification shall of a qualified per	be pa son.	enform	ned un	der the
		b. The documented ver qualified person and	ification of con not by the per	nformance shall b son being admini	e per istere	forme d on-i	ed by the jot	the training.
	D.	Functional Qualification Lev	els of Inspectio	n and Test Perso	nnel			
		Three levels of functional que the functions involved. The organizational position or pro- functional work.	alification shal criteria for eac ofessional statu	l be used depend in level are not lin s but, rather, are	ing o mitin limit	n the g with ing w	compl h rega ith reg	lexity of rd to gard to
		1. Level I Personnel Capal	bilities					
		Level I personnel shall designated inspections of	be capable of por tests.	erforming and de	ocum	enting	g the r	esults of

Section No.:	10.0										1	Re	vi	isia	ml	lo.		0						_	•		P	ige	:	5	of	_	8	-
		2.			L	e	ve	1	Π	Pe	ers	OI	m	el	C	pa	bi	liti	ies															
					L	e		1		P	IS d	on	m	ei	sh	all , T	h	ave	εL	evel	Ic	apa	bil	iti	es	for	the	CO	ITES	por	ding	ç c	ate	gory
					a		I	ns	pe	ct	io		or	t	est	pla		nir	ıg.	Peri		Ant	34.			ave	uca		DUG		cap			165 III
				1	b		-	d	va			i p	2	ep	213	tio	n ,	in	chu	ding	; th	e pi	rep		ati	on	and	set	up (of 1	clate	d		
				•	C		0 00	J			isi	ng	; 0		m		10	rin	g t	ne in	spe	cti	001	sc	or 1	est	s.							
				(d		5	ų	per	rvi	isi	ng	; a	17	d c	ent	if	yin	g la	owe	-le	vel	pe	15	DITE	nei								
				•	e.	•	E	ev:	ah	121	in	gı	th	e	val	idi	ty		nd a	Acce	ptal	ili	ty (of	re	sul	ts.							
		3.		1	L	e	ve	11	Π	P	CL	sor	nr	nei	C	apa	ab	ili	ties															
				1	L or a					P b o	ers n a of s	sor add		tic	st m, ic I	Le	g			evel pers ised		cap el s rai	sha n,		tic als als	s fi so l ify,	be c and	apa l ce	ble	of th	evalu e pe	ng Lai Ist		tegory the cl.
	E.	Ed	u		a	ti	OI	1 2	n	I	Exp	pe	Ti	cn	ce	Re	q	vir	em	ents	for	In	spe	ct	iot	1 2	nd 1	lest	Per	SOI	mel			
		The tha ins par for										for con s a the	af y :	ed m fe fa	iuc ens ct 1 act all	ations be			nd (with tran t de	the the ice i more	tien sca hat stra d.	a i a i	sh, c car		n c bil	e c lext can ity	ity, con in a	iden or s npe	ed v pecitent ven	ial ly jot	natur perfo and		of a a be	ion the basis
		1.		1			ve	II	h		pe ts:	cti	io	n	Per	50		nel	sha	11 n	icci	the	e fi	ol	lov	vin	g ed	luca	tion		nd ex	pe	rie	ace
					a .		T	W	0 :	ye	an	s c	of	π	la	ed	•	xp	erie	nce	in e	qu	ivi	le	nt	ins	pec	tion	IS OI	r te	sts; (Or		
				1	b.		Ei		h pe	sc	ion			gri r t	adu est	s; (a	nd	six	moi	the	5 0	fı	eli		l ex	per	ienc	e i	n equ	niv	rak	mt
				•	c.		d	is is	nı ip s.	di	ne	on pi	o	of a	col	leg	m	le	vel	wor of 1	k le elai	ed	ex	, ta	o a		e in	ciat	e de liva	gre	e in t ins	ape	rel ctia	ated ons of

Section No.:	10.0		Revision No.:	0		Page	6	of	8
		2.	Level II Inspection person requirements:	nnel shall me	et the followin	ng educa	tion a	and ex	sperience
			a. One year of satisfactor category or class; or	ry performan	ce as a Level	I in the	сопе	spond	ing
			b. High school graduation inspections or tests; of	n plus three r	years of relate	d experi	ence	in equ	nivalent.
		•	c. Completion of college discipline plus one ye tests; or	e level work ar of related	leading to an a experience in (ssociate equivale	degr nt ins	ee in a spectio	a related ons or
			d. Graduation from a for equivalent inspections	ir-year colleg or tests.	e plus six mor	nths of r	elated	i expe	rience in
		3.	Level III Inspection perso requirements:	nnel shall m	et the following	ng educa	ntion	and e	xperience
•			a. Six years of satisfacto category or class; or	ry performat	ce as a Level	II in the	COTT	espon	ting
			b. High school graduation inspections or tests; or in equivalent inspection at least two years asso sufficient training to b program aspects of a t	in plus ten ye r high school ons or tests w ociated with a be acquainted nuclear-related	ars of related graduation plu with at least two nuclear facilities with the relev d facility; or	experien is eight o years a s; or, if ant qual	years as a I not, ity as	equive of en Level at leas	valent sperience II and with st ce
			c. Completion of college years of related experi- years of this experience sufficient training to b program aspects of a t	e-level work i ience in equi ce associated be acquainted nuclear-related	eading to an a valent inspection with nuclear f with the releved facility; or	ssociate ons or tr acilities ant qual	degr sts w - or lity as	ee and vith at , if no	l seven least two t, at least ce
			d. Graduation from a fou equivalent inspections associated with nuclea acquainted with the re- related facility.	nr-year colleg or tests with ar facilities elevant qualit	e plus five yea at least two y or, if not, at h y assurance pro	ears of rei ears of teast sufficient and the second	lated this c ficien spect	experies experies t train s of a	ience in ence ing to be nuclear-
	F.	Phy	vsical Requirements for Ins	pection and "	lest Personnel				•
		The for nee	e responsible organization s performance in each functi of for initial and subsequent	shall identify ional level (c t visual acuit	any special ph ategories or cla y and other ph	ysical ci ass) inch ysical ci	harac uding xamir	teristi idention	cs needed tifying the s.

Section No.:	10.0	Revision No.: 0	Page	7	of	8
	G.	Certifying the Qualifications of Inspection and Tes	t Personnel			
		The qualifications of inspection and test personnel responsible organization. The certification shall do	shall be certific current the:	ed in	writin	ig by the
		1. Name of the certifying organization.				
٠		2. Identification of the person being certified.				
		3. Qualified inspection and test categories or class perform.	s the individua	d is c	ertifie	d to
		4. Basis for certification (such as education, expe examination results, and results of capability d	rience, indoctr emonstration).	inatio	n, trai	ining,
		5. Results of periodic evaluations.	•			
		6. Results of visual acuity and physical examinat	ion when requi	ired.		
		7. Date of certification and date of certification e	xpiration.		•	
		8. Signature of the organization's designated repr certification.	esentative resp	onsibi	le for	•
	H.	Periodic Evaluation of Qualification for Inspection	and Test Perso	nnel		
		1. The job performance of inspection and test per periodic intervals not to exceed three years to maintained.	rsonnel shall be ensure qualific	e reev ations	aluate have	d at been
		a. Reevaluation shall be by evidence of contin redetermination of required capability in ac requirements specified for the job as descri-	nued satisfacto coordance with ibed in this sec	the q	rform: pualifie	ance or cation
		b. If during this evaluation or at any other tim determines that the capabilities of an indivi- qualification requirements specified for the from the inspection or test until the require	ne the responsi idual are not in job, that perso ed capability ha	ble on acco on sha as bee	rganiz ordanc ill be in den	ation with the removed nonstrated
		2. Any person who has not performed inspections a period of one year shall be reevaluated by a capability in accordance with this section.	s or tests in the redeterminatio	rir qu n of 1	alified	area for

Section No.:	10.0	Revision No.: 0	Page 8 of 8
	I.	Maintaining Qualification Documentation for	or Inspection and Test Personnel
		1. Documentation of personnel qualification maintained by the responsible organization information required for the initial qualification.	on shall be established, kept current, and tion. This documentation shall contain the lification and the maintenance of
		2. Documentation for each person shall b following requirements:	e maintained and updated according to the
		a. Removal of a person from perform responsible organization determines not in accordance with the qualifica described in this section. This shall	ing in an area of certification when the that the capabilities of the individual are tion requirements specified for the job as l be documented at the time of removal.
		b. Reinstatement of certifications for t capability has been demonstrated at documented at the time of reinstate	he qualified area when the required s described in this section. This shall be ment.
		c. Continued performance in each cen capability as described in this section annually.	tified area or redetermination of required on for each certified area shall be updated
		d. Reevaluation of job performance by performance or redetermination of shall be updated every three years.	v evidence of continued satisfactory capability as described in this section. Thi



ction No.	: 11.0			Revisi	on No.:	0			Page	2	of	3			
11.2.2	Perfo	rming To	sts												
	Tests shall be performed in accordance with implementing documents that address the following requirements as applicable:														
	A.	Provisi and en	ons for a turing th	letermin at testin	ing wh g is con	en a test i inducted by	s required y trained a	describi	ng hov priatel	y qua	s are p lified	performed, personnel.			
	В.	Include the give necessa maintai	or refer an test h ry moni- ned.	ence tes ave been toring is	t object n met, a perfon	tives and padequate of med, and	provisions alibrated i suitable er	for ensu instrumer instrumer	ring th tation ntal co	at pre is ava nditio	ailable ailable ans and	sites for and used,			
	C.	Test rea response	puirement ible for	ts and a the desig	gn of th	ce criteria item to	be tested	or approunless of	wed by berwis	y the desi	organi ignate	ization d.			
	D.	Test realin appli	uiremen cable de	ts and a sign or	other p	ce criteria ertinent te	a based up chnical do	on specificuments.	ied rea	quiren	nents	contained			
	E.	Potentia	l source of unce	s of und mainty a	ertainty nd erro	y and erro	r. Test pa identified	and com	affects	ed by	poten	tial			
11.2.3	Use of	Other	esting I)ocume	nts										
	Ά.	Other to specific criteria) used, th implem implem	esting do ations, s may be en they enting d enting d	upplier i used in snall incocument	s (such manuals stead o corpora t, or sha	as Ameria s, or other f preparin te the info all be inco	related de g special i mation d reported t	y for Tes ocuments test imple irectly in by referen	ting at conta mention to the ace in	nd Ma ining ng do appro the ap	accep cumer wed to prove	s (ASTM) tance nts. If est ed test			
	В.	Implem to ensu	enting d	ocument quired q	ts shall vality o	include a	dequate suing work.	pplemen	al inst	ructio	as as	required			
11.2.4	Test R	esults													
	A.	Test res be eval that tes	ults shal nated by require	l be doo a qualif ments h	ied ind	ed and the ividual wi	ir conform thin the re l.	ance wit	h acce e organ	ptanc nizatik	e crite	ria shall ensure			
	B.	The tes	status o	of an ite	m shall	be identi	fied in acc	ordance	with S	ection	14.0				
Section No.	: 11.0	-		Revision N	0.: 0			Page	3	of	3				
-------------	-----------------	--	-----------	-------------------------	--------------------	--------------	--------------------------	-----------	--------	-------	----------				
11.2.5	Test I	Documentat	ion												
	Test d	ocumentatio	n shall	identify t	ie:										
	A.	Item or w	ork proc	luct tested	L										
	B.	Date of te	SL.												
	C.	Name of t	he teste	r and data	recorde	rs.									
	D.	Type of o	bservatio	on and me	thod of	testing.									
1	E.	Identification of test criteria or reference documents used to determine acceptance.													
	F.	Results and acceptability of the test.													
	G.	Actions taken in connection with any nonconformances noted.													
	H.	Name of t	he perso	on evaluat	ing the t	est results.									
	L	Identificati identificati	ion of th	he measur ber and th	ing and the most i	est equipa	nent used brated data	during th	e test	inclu	ding the				
11.2.6	Qualif	ication of 1	lest Per	sonnel											
	Person 10.0.	nel who per	form te	sting shall	be qual	ified accor	ding to th	e require	ments	of Se	ction				

. 1.4



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title:	CONTROL	OF MEASURING AND TEST EQUIPMENT	Effectiv	e Date:	10/3	1/95	
Section:	12.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	1	of	3	

12.1 GENERAL

This section establishes requirements to ensure measuring and test equipment is properly controlled, calibrated, and maintained.

12.2 REQUIREMENTS

12.2.1 Calibration

- A. Measuring and test equipment including equipment that contains software or programmable hardware, shall be calibrated, adjusted, and maintained as a unit at prescribed intervals, or prior to use, against reference calibration standards having traceability to nationally recognized standards. Software developed or modified by the user shall be controlled in accordance with Supplement I, Software. If no nationally recognized standards or physical constants exist, the basis for calibration shall be documented.
- B. Calibration standards shall have a greater accuracy than the required accuracy of the measuring and test equipment being calibrated.
 - 1. If calibration standards with a greater accuracy than required of the measuring and test equipment being calibrated do not exist or are unavailable, calibration standards with accuracy equal to the required calibration accuracy may be used if they can be shown to be adequate for the requirements.
 - 2. The basis for the calibration acceptance shall be documented and authorized by responsible management. The level of management authorized to perform this function shall be identified.
- C. The method and interval of calibration for each device shall be defined, based on the type of equipment, stability characteristics, required accuracy, intended use, and other conditions affecting measurement control. For measuring and test equipment used in one-time-only applications, the calibration shall be done both before and after use.
- D. A calibration or calibration check shall be performed when the accuracy of calibrated measuring and test equipment is suspect.
- E. Calibrated measuring and test equipment shall be labeled, tagged, or otherwise suitably marked or documented to indicate due date or interval of the next calibration.
- F. Calibrated measuring and test equipment shall be uniquely identified to provide traceability to its calibration data.

Section:	12.0			Revision	No.:	I			Page	2	of	3
	G.	Upda recali	tes to s bration	oftware con of the equi	ntained pment	in measu prior to u	ring and test use.	equipment that	effect o	alibrati	ion, req	uire
12.2.2	Docu	menting	g the U	se of Meas	uring	and Test	Equipment					
	The u calibrinspect	use of mation sci cted or t	easuring hedule, rested si	g and test e the documence the last	equipm entatio t calib	ent shall i in shall ide ration.	be documente entify the pro	d. As appropri cesses monitore	ate to e ed, data	quipme collect	ent use ed, or i	and its items
12.2.3	Out-	of-Calib	ration	Measuring	and 7	lest Equi	pment			k		
	Α.	Measucalibr	uring an ated if	nd test equi any of the i	pment follow	shall be o ing condit	considered to tions exist:	be out-of-calibr	ration a	nd not	be used	l until
		1.	The	alibration	due da	te or inter	rval has passe	d without recal	ibration	-		
		2.	The	levice prod	luces r	esults kno	wn to be in e	TTOT.				
	B .	Out-of-Calibration measuring and test equipment shall be controlled. The controls shall include the following requirements:										
		1. Out-of-Calibration measuring and test equipment shall be tagged, segregated, or otherwise controlled to prevent use until they have been recalibrated.										
		 When measuring and test equipment is found out-of-calibration during recalibration validity of results obtained using that equipment since its last valid calibration evaluated. 									libration sha	on, the all be
•			a.	The eva collected	luation d data,	n shall inc	hude the deter s monitored, o	mination of according to the second s	eptabil sly insp	ity for pected of	previou or teste	isly d.
			b.	The eva	luation	n shall be	documented.					
	C. ·	If any recali	measu bration	ring and temprocess, it	st equi	ipment is se repaired	consistently for replaced.	ound to be out-	of-calib	ration	during	the .
12.2.4	Lost	Measuri	ing and	Test Equ	ipmen	it .						
	When its las	measur t valid o	ing and calibrati	test equipt on shall be	ment i evalu	s lost, the ated.	validity of re	sults obtained t	using th	at equi	pment	since
	Α.	The e	valuationsses mo	on shall inconitored, or	lude ti items	he determ previousl	ination of acc y inspected of	eptability for pr r tested.	revious	ly colle	cted da	ita,
	D	The e	valuatio	n shall be	docum	nented						

Section:	12.0		Revision No .:	1		Page	3	of	3
12.2.5	Han	dling and Stora	ge						
	Meas	suring and test e	quipment shall be	e properly handl	ed and stored to n	naintain acc	uracy.		
12.2.6	Com	mercial Device	5						
	Calib	pration and contr nercial equipment	rol shall not be re nt that provides a	quired for rulers	, tape measures,]	evels, and o	ther no	rmal	
12.2.7	Meas	suring and Test	Equipment Doo	cumentation					
	Meas	suring and test e	quipment calibrat	ion documentati	on shall include t	he following	inform	nation:	
	A.	Identification	of the measuring	g or test equipme	ent calibrated.				
	B. .	Traceability	to the calibration	standard used fo	r calibration.				
	C.	Calibration d	ata.						
	D.	Identification	of the individual	performing the	calibration.				
	E.	Identification	of the date of ca	libration and the	recalibration due	date or int	erval, a	s appro	priate
	F.	Results of the	e calibration and	statement of acc	eptability.				
	G.	Reference to measuring an	any actions taken d test equipment	in connection vincluding evaluation	vith out-of-calibration results, as ap	tion or none propriate.	conform	ning	
	H.	Identification calibration.	of the implemen	ting document (ncluding revision	level) used	in perf	forming	the



Title: HA	NDLING, STORA	GE, AND SHIPPING	Effective Date:	12/18/92	
Section No.:	13.0	Revision No.: 0	Page 1	of 2	

13.1 GENERAL

This section establishes requirements for the handling, storage, cleaning, packaging, shipping, and preservation of items to prevent damage or loss and to minimize deterioration.

13.2 REQUIREMENTS

13.2.1 Controls

- A. Handling, storage, cleaning, packaging, shipping, and preservation of items shall be conducted in accordance with established work and inspection implementing documents, shipping instructions, or other specified documents.
- B. If required for critical, sensitive, perishable, or high-value articles, specific implementing documents for handling, storage, cleaning, packaging, shipping, and preservation shall be prepared and used.

13.2.2 Special Equipment, Tools, and Environments

- A. If required for particular items, special equipment (such as containers, shock absorbers, and accelerometers) and special protective environments (such as inert gas and specific moisture and temperature levels) shall be specified and provided.
- B. If special equipment and environments are used, provisions shall be made for their verification.
- C. Special handling tools and equipment shall be used and controlled as necessary to ensure safe and adequate handling.
- D. Special handling tools and equipment shall be inspected and tested at specified time intervals and in accordance with implementing documents to verify that the tools and equipment are adequately maintained.
- E. Operators of special handling and lifting equipment shall be experienced or trained to use the equipment.

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description Revision No.: 0 Section No.: 13.0 Page 2 of .2 13.2.3 Marking and Labeling Measures shall be established for marking and labeling for the packaging, shipping, A. handling, and storage of items as necessary to adequately identify, maintain, and preserve the item. B. Markings and labels shall indicate the presence of special environments or the need for special controls if necessary.



				1			1		
ection:	14.0		Revision No.:	1		Page	1	of	1
14.1	GENI	ERAL							
	This s	ection estab	lishes requirements	to identify the ins	pection, test, and operation	ating s	status o	f items.	
14.2	REQU	UIREMENT	rs						
14.2.1	Identi	ifying Items							
	A.	Items that	have satisfactorily	passed required in	spections and tests sha	ll be	identifi	ed.	
	В.	The identi that have	fication methods sl not passed required	hall preclude the in inspections and te	advertent installation, sts.	use, o	r opera	tion of	items
14.2.2	Indica	ating Status					•		
	A .	The status preclude i	of required inspec nadvertent by-passi	tion and tests of its ng of such inspect	ems shall be indicated ions and tests.	when	necess	ary to	
	В.	The status traceable t	of inspections and to the items.	tests shall be iden	tified either on the iter	ms or	in doc	uments	
	C.	Status sha (such as ta test record	ll be maintained that ags, markings, labe	rough the use of le ls, and stamps), or	gible and easily recognother means (such as	nizabl travel	e status ers, ins	s indication,	or
	D.	The autho	rity for applying ar	nd removing status	indicators shall be spe	cified	•		
	E.	Status ind facilities t	icators shall be use o prevent inadverte	d to provide an ind nt changes in oper	lication of the test or o ating status.	operati	ing stat	tus of it	ems
					*			•	

ς - - - -₹**\$**

15



Title: 1	NONCO	NFORMAN	ICES		and and the second second	Effectiv	ve Date:	10/3	1/95			
Section:	15.0		Revision No	u: 1		Page	1	of	2.			
15.1	GENI	ERAL	-									
	This sorder t	ection estal to prevent	blishes requiremen inadvertent installa	nts for the co ation or use of	ntrol of items that do a of the item.	not conform to	o require	ements	in			
15.2	REQU	JIREMEN	TS									
15.2.1	Docum	nenting an	d Evaluating Nor	nconforming	g Items							
	A.	Nonconform	ormance document to specified criteri	tation shall c ia.	learly identify and des	cribe the chara	acteristic	es that	do 1			
	B.	B. Nonconformance documentation shall be reviewed, and recommended dispositions of nonconforming items shall be proposed. The review shall include determining the need for corrective action according to the requirements of Section 16.0, Corrective Action. In addition, organizations affected by the nonconformance shall be notified.										
· (C.	Recomme	ended dispositions	shall be eva	luated and approved.							
	D.	Personne: competen requireme	l performing evalu- nce in the specific ents, and access to	area they are pertinent ba	commended disposition e evaluating, an adequa ackground information.	as shall have d ate understand	emonstr ing of th	tated he	•			
	E.	The response	onsibility and auth onconformances si	ority for revi hall be speci	iewing, evaluating, app fied.	proving the dis	position	n, and				
	F.	Further p pending t	rocessing, delivery	y, installation approval of	n, or use of a nonconfo the disposition.	orming item sh	all be c	ontroll	ed .			
15.2.2	Identi	fying None	conforming Items									
	A.	Nonconfo adversely	orming items shall affect their end u	be identified use. The iden	d by marking, tagging, ntification shall be legi	or other methible and easily	recogn.	t do no izable.	t			
	B.	If the ide segregate	ntification of a no d storage area, as	nconforming appropriate,	; item is not practical, shall be identified.	then the conta	iner, pa	ckage,	or			
15.2.3	Segreg	ating Non	conforming Item	s								
	A.	Nonconfe	orming items shall	be segregate	ed, when practical, by	placing them i	in a clea	arly				

Section:	15.0		19-1	Rev	ision No.:	1				Page	2	of	2
	В.	If seg shall	gregati be em	on is imployed to	practical of preclude	or impo	ertent use.	to physic	al conditio	ons, then	other p	recautio	ms .
15.2.4	Disposi	ition	of Non	conform	ing Item	s							
	A.	The dident	disposi tified a	ition of " nd docur	use-as-is, nented.	"rejec	ct," "repair,	" or "rew	ork" for n	onconfor	ning it	ems sha	ll be
	В.	The dispo	technic	al justifi d "repair	cation for	the ac- as-is"	ceptability shall be do	of a none	conforming l.	g item tha	at has b	een	
	C.	Items shall desig	s that c be sut m.	lo not mo bject to d	eet origina esign con	al designor de la companya de la compa	gn requiren easures con	nents that	are disponent	sitioned " ose applie	use-as- ed to th	is" or "h e origin	repair" al
		1.	If c the acc	hanges to dispositi epted nor	o the specton shall reaction of the spector of the	ifying equire ance.	document action to c	are requir hange the	ed to refle specifyin	ect the as- g docume	built c ent to n	ondition eflect th	n, then ne
•		2.	Any non eaci	docume conformation h docume conformation	ent or Qua ance shall ent or rec ance docu	be ide ord is a mental	ssurance re intified in 1 changed, the tion.	cord char he nonco he justific	nge require nformance ation for t	ed by the e document he change	disposintation; shall	ition of and, w identify	the hen the
	D.	The c (insported) reword nonce	disposi ect, tes rked it onform	tion of a st, or non ems shal ning item	n item to destructiv l be reexa dispositio	be rew we examined on has	vorked, or in nination) the using the established	repaired sine item to priginal p alternate	hall contain verify according to the second	in a requi ceptability l acceptar ce criteria	rement y. Rep nce crit	to reex aired or eria unle	amine ess the
15.2.5	Quality	Tre	nding										
	Noncon identify	uforma quali	ance do	ocumenta ids in acc	tion shall	be per with Se	riodically a action 16.0,	nalyzed b Correcti	ve Action.	lity Assu	rance o	organiza	tion to
													•

91

.



Section:	16.0			Revis	ion No.:	1				Page	1	of	2
16.1	GENE	RAL					`						
	This secontected	tion of as a	establish soon as j	es requin practical.	rements	s to ens	sure conditi	ions adverse	to quality	are pro	omptly i	dentifi	ed an
16.2	REQU	REM	ENTS										
16.2.1	Identify	ing (Conditio	ns Adve	erse to	Qualit	y						
	A condi Descrip	ition a tion (dverse t QARD),	o quality or an in	y shall npleme	be iden	tified when ocument re	n the Qualit	y Assurant is not met.	ce Requ	irement	s and	
16.2.2	Classifi	cation	n of Cor	nditions	Adver	se to Q	uality						
	A.	Cond	itions ad ns shall l	iverse to be taken	quality accord	y shall lingly.	be classifie	d in regard	to their sig	gnificar	ice, and	сопес	tive
	В.	Two	categoria	es of cla	ssificat	ion sha	ll be establ	lished:					
		1.	Condi	itions ad	verse to	o qualit	y.						
		2.	Signif	ficant co	ndition	s adver	se to quali	ty.					
16.2.3	Conditi	ons A	dverse	to Quali	ity								
	Α.	Condi mana tracki	itions ad gement a ng.	verse to responsil	quality ble for	the con	be documes aditions and	nted and rep to the Qua	ported to the total to the second sec	he appr ance (C	opriate 1 (A) orga	evels o mizatio	of on for
	В.	Respo remea	onsible n fial actio	nanagem on as soc	ent sha on as pi	all deter ractical	mine the e	extent of the	adverse c	onditio	n and co	omplete	•
	C.	The Q requir	QA organ rements	nization are satis	shall co fied.	oncur v	with the pro	posed reme	dial action	to ens	ure that	QA pr	ogra
16.2.4	Signific	ant C	ondition	ns Adve	rse to	Quality	,						
	A.	Criter	tia for de	eterminir	ng a sig	nifican	t condition	adverse to	quality sh	all be e	stablish	ed.	
	B.	Signi	ficant co			-	ality chall	ha decument	tad and m	hoted	to mana	remen	

000000	10.0	Revision No.: 1	Page 2	of 2
	C.	Significant conditions adverse to quality shall be evalu organization to determine if stopping work is warrante	uated for a stop work condi	tion by the Q
		1. QA management shall issue stop work orders work condition has been identified.	to responsible management	after a stop
		2. QA management shall take appropriate action work issued by the QA organization based on condition adverse to quality.	to lift and close (in part or the resolution of the related	total) the sto d significant
	D.	Responsible management shall perform investigative a of the condition, and document the results.	iction to determine the exten	nt and impact
	Ē.	Responsible management shall determine, document, a Responsible management shall also determine the root action to prevent recurrence as soon as practical.	and complete remedial action to cause of the problem and	n. take correctiv
	F.	The QA organization shall concur with the proposed of the root cause, and actions taken to prevent recurrence are satisfied.	corrective action including r to ensure that QA program	emedial action requirement
16.2.5	Follow	v-up and Closure Action		
	The Qa adverse actions	A organization shall verify implementation of corrective e to quality and close the related corrective action docu s are complete.	e actions taken for all repor mentation in a timely mann	ted conditions er when
16.2.6	Qualit	y Trending		
	A.	The QA organization shall establish criteria for determ	nining adverse quality trend	s.
	B.	Reports of nonconformances and conditions adverse to adverse quality trends and help identify root causes.	o quality shall be evaluated	to identify
	C.	Trend evaluation shall be performed in a manner and identification of adverse quality trends.	at a frequency that provide:	s for prompt
	D.	Trend evaluations shall be distributed to Affected Org	anization management.	
	E.	Identified adverse trends shall be reported to the mana	agement of the organization	responsible

•



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title:	QUALITY	ASSURANCE RECORDS
--------	---------	-------------------

Effective Date:

Section No: 17.0

Revision No: N/A

Page 1 of 1

REFER TO QARD LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATIONS, LOCATED BEHIND THE QARD SECTION FOR:

95-001 QUALITY ASSURANCE RECORDS, SPECIFICALLY: CLASSIFICATION AND RETENTION OF QUALITY ASSURANCE RECORDS, QARD SECTION 17.0



Feetings	170		Devision No. 1	Deen	1	-5	6
Section.	17.0		Revision No., 1	Page	-	QI	0
17.1	GEN	ERAL					
	This prepa	section red and	establishes requirements to ensure that Quality Assurance ((maintained.	QA) records	are sp	ecified	•
17.2	REQ	UIREN	AENTS				
17.2.1	Class	afying	Quality Assurance Records				
	QAI	ecords	shall be classified as lifetime or nonpermanent.				
	A.	Doct	iments that meet the following requirements shall be classifi	ed as lifetin	ne QA	record	s:
		1.	Documents that provide evidence of the quality of items	on a Q-List	£.		
		2.	Documents that provide evidence of the quality of activit Q -List.	ties related	to item:	s on a	
		3.	Documents that provide evidence of the quality of site ch samples.	naracterizati	on data	and	
		4.	Documents that provide evidence of those activities that potential dispersion of radioactive materials from the lice	provide dat insed facilit	a used : y.	to asse	ss ti
		5.	Documents that provide evidence of the quality of the pro- level waste form and acceptance of the high-level waste	oduction pr form itself.	ocess f	or the l	high
		6.	Documents that provide evidence of the quality of those characterization of DOE spent fuel, and conditioning thro fuel.	activities as ough accept	ssociate ance of	d with DOE	the spen
		7.	Personnel training and qualification documents for indivi- requirements.	duals execu	ting Q	A prog	ram
		8.	Documents which are implementing documents as describ Implementing Documents.	bed in Secti	ion 5.0,		
	В.	Docu evide	ments that do not meet the requirements for lifetime QA rec ence that the QA program has been properly executed shall b	cords, but p be classified	rovide l as nor	objecti nperma	ive inen

Section:	17.0			Rev	ision No.:	: 1			•	-	Page	2	of	6
17.2.2	Creat	ting Val	lid Q	uality As	suranc	e Record	is							
	A.	Imple	ement	ing docu	ments si	hall:								
		1.	Ide	ntify tho	se docu	ments th	at will bec	ome QA	record	s.				
		2.	Ide ma	ntify the nagemen	organiz t systen	ation res	ponsible f	or subm	itting th	e QA :	records	to the	records	•
	B .	Indivi appro they a	viduals opriate apply	creating to the w	QA rec vork acc	cords sha complishe	ll ensure ti ed, and ide	nat the (QA reco	rds are item(s)	e legibl	e, accu ivity(s)	to which	mplet ch
	C.	Indivi submi	viduals nitted	handling to the rec	g QA re cords ma	cords sha	all protect nt system.	them fr	om dama	age or	loss ur	ntil the	records	are
	D.	Record compliation	rds sh plete. lling o	all be con If the na r signing	nsidered ture of t , then o	i QA rec the recor ther mea	ords when d (such as ns of authority	stampe magnet enticatio	d, initial ic or opt on by aut	led, or tical m thorize	signed edia) p ed perso	and da preclud prnnel a	ated as es stamp re perm	ping, litted.
	E.	QA n	record	s may be	origina	ls or cop	vies.							
17.2.3	Recei	ving an	nd Inc	lexing Q	uality A	Issuranc	e Records							
	A rec	eipt con	atrol s	ystem sha	all be es	stablished	d for QA r	ecords a	ccording	g to th	e follo	wing n	equirem	ents:
	A.	An in	ndivid	ual or or	ganizati	on shall	be assigned	i the rea	sponsibil	lity for	receiv	ing Q	A record	ls.
	в.	A me	ethod	for verify	ving that	t the QA	records an	e those	designat	ted.				
	C.	QA re	record	s shall be	protect	ted from	damage, d	eteriora	tion, or i	loss w	hen rec	eived.		
	D.	Legib	bility a	and comp	leteness	s of QA	records sha	all be ve	erified.					
	E.	The record	receip ds du	t control	system essing.	shall per	mit a curre	ent and	accurate	assess	ment o	of the s	tatus of	QA
	F.	QA m	record	s shall be	indexe	d to ensu	ure retrieva	bility.	The inde	exing	system	shall i	nclude:	
		1.	Th	e location	n of the	QA reco	ords within	the rec	ords ma	nagem	ent sys	tem.		
•		2.	Ide	ntificatio	n of the	e item or	related ac	tivity to	which t	the QA	record	is pert	ain.	
		3.	Th	e classifi	cation o	of the QA	record.							
	0	04 -	hoosed	chall be	submit	ted to st	orage after		ing her	heen		tad		

 17.2.4 Correcting Information in Quality Assurance Records A. Corrections to QA records including documents which will become QA records shall include the initials or signature of the person authorized to make the correction and the date the correction was made. B. Corrections to QA records shall be approved by the originating organization. If an organizatio that was originally responsible for approving a particular document is no longer responsible, th new responsible organization shall be identified. 17.2.5 Storing and Preserving Quality Assurance Records A. QA records shall be stored and preserved in predetermined storage facilities in accordance with an approved implementing document that provides: A description of the storage facility. A description of the filing system to be used. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. C. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be filmy attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage for microiter, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 	Section:	17.0		Revision No.: 1		Page	3	of	6
 A. Corrections to QA records including documents which will become QA records shall include the initials or signature of the person authorized to make the correction and the date the correction was made. B. Corrections to QA records shall be approved by the originating organization. If an organizatio that was originally responsible for approving a particular document is no longer responsible, th new responsible organization shall be identified. 17.2.5 Storing and Preserving Quality Assurance Records A. QA records shall be stored and preserved in predetermined storage facilities in accordance with an approved implementing document that provides: A description of the storage facility. A description of the filing system to be used. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A description of controls governing QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of peets or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA record to be film containers or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. 	17.2.4	Corre	ecting 1	nformation in Quality Assurance	Records				
 B. Corrections to QA records shall be approved by the originating organization. If an organizatio that was originally responsible for approving a particular document is no longer responsible, the new responsible organization shall be identified. 17.2.5 Storing and Preserving Quality Assurance Records A. QA records shall be stored and preserved in predetermined storage facilities in accordance with an approved implementing document that provides: 1. A description of the storage facility. 2. A description of the filing system to be used. 3. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. 4. A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. 5. A method for filing supplemental information. 6. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: 1. The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. 2. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. 3. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negative, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 		Α.	Correction the incorrection of the correction of	ections to QA records including do nitials or signature of the person au ction was made.	cuments which will become (athorized to make the correction	QA recon and	cords sl I the da	nall incl ate the	ude
 17.2.5 Storing and Preserving Quality Assurance Records A. QA records shall be stored and preserved in predetermined storage facilities in accordance with an approved implementing document that provides: A description of the storage facility. A description of the filing system to be used. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 		B.	Correction that when the	ections to QA records shall be approved a spectrum originally responsible for approximation shall be in	roved by the originating organ oving a particular document i lentified.	nizatio s no lo	n. If a onger n	n organ esponsib	ization de, the
 A. QA records shall be stored and preserved in predetermined storage facilities in accordance with an approved implementing document that provides: A description of the storage facility. A description of the filing system to be used. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 	17.2.5	Stori	ng and	Preserving Quality Assurance Re	ecords				
 A description of the storage facility. A description of the filing system to be used. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields. or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 		Α.	QA 1 an ag	ecords shall be stored and preserve proved implementing document th	ed in predetermined storage fa at provides:	acilitie	s in acc	cordance	e with
 A description of the filing system to be used. A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			1.	A description of the storage fac	llity.				
 A method for verifying that the QA records received are in agreement with the transmittal document. A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 		•	2.	A description of the filing syste	m to be used.				
 A description of controls governing QA record access, retrieval, and removal. A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			3.	A method for verifying that the transmittal document.	QA records received are in a	igreem	ent wit	h the	
 A method for filing supplemental information. A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			4.	A description of controls govern	ning QA record access, retriev	val, an	d remo	val.	
 A method for disposition of superseded QA records. B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			5.	A method for filing supplement	al information.				
 B. Storage methods shall be developed to preclude deterioration of QA records in accordance with the following: 1. The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. 2. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. 3. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 4. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			6.	A method for disposition of sup	erseded QA records.				
 The storage area shall minimize the risk of damage or destruction by natural disasters, extremes in environmental conditions and infestations of pests or molds. Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 		В.	Stora the fo	ge methods shall be developed to pollowing:	preclude deterioration of QA	record	s in ac	cordance	e with
 Approved filing methods shall require QA records to be firmly attached in binders, or placed in folders or envelopes, for storage in steel file cabinets or on shelving in containers appropriate for the QA record medium being stored. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			1.	The storage area shall minimize extremes in environmental cond	the risk of damage or destruitions and infestations of pest	ction l ts or n	by natu holds.	ral disa	sters,
 3. The storage arrangement shall provide adequate protection of special processed QA records (such as radiographs, photographs, negatives, microform, and magnetic media) to preclude damage from moisture, temperature, excessive light, electromagnetic fields, or stacking, consistent with the type of QA record being stored. 4. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism. 			2.	Approved filing methods shall r placed in folders or envelopes, f containers appropriate for the Q	equire QA records to be firm for storage in steel file cabine A record medium being store	ly atta ets or c ed.	ched ir on shel	n binder ving in	s, or
4. The storage area shall be protected from unauthorized entry, larceny, and vandalism.			3.	The storage arrangement shall p records (such as radiographs, ph to preclude damage from moists or stacking, consistent with the	rovide adequate protection of totographs, negatives, microfoure, temperature, excessive lig type of QA record being stor	f speci orm, an ght, ele ed.	al proc nd mag ectroma	essed Q netic m ignetic f	A edia) fields,
			4.	The storage area shall be protec	ted from unauthorized entry,	larcen	y, and	vandalis	sm.

Section:	17.0		Revision No.: 1	Page	4	of	6
17.2.6	Retri	eval of	Quality Assurance Records				27
	Α.	The retrie	records management system shall provide for n val times based on record type.	etrieval of QA records	with pl	anned	
	В.	Acce who	ss to storage facilities shall be controlled. A li are permitted access to the QA records.	ist shall be maintained	designa	ting per	sonne
17.2.7	Reter	ntion of	Quality Assurance Records				
	A.	OCR the it	WM or its designee shall retain and preserve li em or facility.	ifetime QA records for	the ope	erating l	ife of
	B.	Nonp proce of un	ermanent QA records shall be retained for a m rement documents, whichever is longer. Nong til the following conditions are met:	inimum of three years permanent QA records :	or as s shall no	pecified ot be dis	by
		1.	Regulatory requirements are satisfied.				
		2.	Operational status permits.				
		3.	Purchaser's requirements are satisfied.				
17.2.8	Turn	over of	Quality Assurance Records				
	Α.	Affec (OCF subje packa purch	ted Organizations shall submit, to the Office of WM) or the purchaser, those QA records bein of to records turnover requirements. The timin ages become complete, or as items are released aser.	of Civilian Radioactive of temporarily stored by ag of the submittal shall for shipment, or as pro-	Waste them be as escribed	Manage that are records d by the	ment
	В.	The (receip	OCRWM records management organization shape, and process the QA records.	all inventory the submit	tal, aci	nowled	ge
	C. •	The storag	esponsible OCRWM line organizations shall in ge to be submitted for long-term storage to the	dentify those QA record records management s	ls in te ystem.	mporary	
17.2.9	Long	Term	Single Storage Facility	These I.			
	A.	OCR	WM's single storage facility for the storage of wing design and construction requirements:	lifetime QA records sh	all me	et the	
		1.	Reinforced concrete, concrete block, mason	ry, or equal constructio	n.		
		2.	Floor and roof with drainage control. If a f	floor drain is provided,	a checi	k valve	or

Auglito Ag 1 Decemintie D ----

Section:	17.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	5	of	6
		3. Doors, structure and frames, and hardware shall be de requirements of a minimum 2-hour fire rating.	signed to con	nply wi	ith the	
		4. Sealant applied over walls as a moisture or condensati	on barrier.			
		5. Surface sealant on floor providing a hard wear surface	to minimize	concre	te dust	ing.
		6. Foundation sealant and provisions for drainage.				
		7. Forced air circulation with filter system.				
		8. Fire protection system.				
		9. Only those penetrations that are used exclusively for filighting, or temperature and humidity control are allow sealed or dampered to comply with the minimum 2-ho	ire protection ved. All pene sur fire protec	, commetration	unicati s shall ting.	on, be
	B.	If the facility is located within a building or structure, the envi building can provide a portion or all of these criteria.	ironment and	constr	action o	of th
	C.	Construction details shall be reviewed for the adequacy of reconceptent in the technical field of fire protection and fire extin	ord protection nguishing.	by a p	person	
17.2.10	Dual	Storage Facilities				
	Α.	The OCRWM's dual storage facilities for the storage of lifetim facilities for copies of each record at locations sufficiently rem the chance of exposure to a simultaneous hazard.	ne QA record note from eac	s shall h other	provide to elin	e nina
	B.	Dual storage facilities are not required to meet the design and specific for a long term single storage facility.	construction	require	ments	
17.2.11	Temp	orary Storage Facility				
	The C proces requir	CRWM and Affected Organizations shall provide for temporary using, review, or use until turnover to the OCRWM for disposition ements:	storage of Q	A reco to the	rds dur followi	ing ng
	A .	QA records shall be temporarily stored in a container or facilit dual storage shall be provided.	y with a fire	rating	of 1-ho	ur,
	Β.	For single storage, containers or facilities shall bear an Undervequivalent) certifying 1-hour fire protection, or be certified by technical field of fire protection.	vriters' Labor a person con	ratories apetent	label (in the	or
	C.	The maximum time limit for keeping QA records in temporary OCRWM or the purchaser consistent with the nature or scope	of work.	l be sp	ecified	by

	Revision No.: 1	Page 6	of 6
17.2.12 Replacement	of Quality Assurance Records	North Contraction	
Organizations replacement,	originating QA records shall develop imprestoration, or substitution of lost or dama	elementing documents that identify m ged QA records.	eans for
		inter and	
		And succession of the succession	
		the second	



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: AUDITS

Effective Date:

Section No: 18.0

Revision No: N/A

Page 1 of 1

REFER TO QARD LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATIONS, LOCATED BEHIND THE QARD SECTION FOR:

NO. 93-002

QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENTS, QARD SECTION 2.0, AND AUDITS, QARD SECTION 18.0



	UDII.	5	Effectiv	ve Date:	10/3	/95
Section:	18.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	1	of	8
18.1	GEN	IERAL				
	This audit	section establishes requirements for performing internal and exter s to verify compliance with, and to determine the effectiveness of	nal Quality A , the QA pro	ssurance gram.	e (QA)
18.2	REQ	UIREMENTS				
18.2.1	Sche	duling Internal Audits				
	Α.	Internal audits shall be scheduled in a manner to provide covera with ongoing work.	ge, consisten	cy, and	coordi	natio
	B. ·	Internal audits shall be scheduled at a frequency commensurate the work.	with the state	us and in	mporta	nce o
	C.	Internal audits shall be scheduled to begin as early in the life of be scheduled to continue at intervals consistent with the schedul	the work as the for accomp	practica lishing	il and s the wo	ihall rk.
	D.	Regularly scheduled internal audits shall be supplemented by ad subjects when necessary to provide an adequate assessment of c	ditional audit ompliance or	effective	ecific veness.	
	E.	Internal audits of work to verify QA program compliance shall l once during the life of the work, whichever is shorter.	be performed	annuall	y or at	least
	F.	Internal audits to determine QA program effectiveness (performa performed on selected work.	ance based at	ıdits) sh	all be	
18.2.2	Sche	duling External Audits				
	Α.	The need for, and frequency of, external audits shall be determin selected to perform work for the Office of Civilian Radioactive determination shall be based on the complexity and nature of the procured.	ned after a su Waste Manag e items or ser	pplier h gement. rvices b	nas bee The eing	n
	B.	External audits shall not be required for procured items that are design, manufacturing, and testing, or adaptable to standard or a the end item to verify quality characteristics after delivery. Rational for the standard standar	relatively sin utomated ins ionale for not	pections	t stand s or tes ning au	ard in ts of udits

ection:	18.0		Revision No	0.: 1	Pag	e 2	of	8		
	C.	Extento oc	mal audits for complian cur as early in the life	nce shall be performed to of the activity as practi	riennially as a minimu cal.	n with th	e initial	audit		
	D.	Pre-a	ward surveys, if applic	cable, may serve as the	first triennial audit prov	ided:				
		1.	The supplier is imp for the purchasers c	elementing the same QA contract, and	program for other cont	racts that	is prop	osed		
		2.	The pre-award surve performance of a tri	ey satisfies the same au iennial audit.	dit elements and criteri	a as those	used in	n the		
	E.	Exter perfo	nal audits to determine rmed on selected work	e QA program effectives	ness (performance base	d audits)	shall be			
	F.	Annu	al performance evaluational audits.	tions shall be performed. This evaluation shall be	l on each supplier to de documented and based	termine t i on:	he need	to		
		1.	Review of documen nonconformance no	ntation furnished by the ptices, and corrective act	supplier (such as certifions).	cates of a	conform	ance,		
		2.	Results of previous inspections includin	source verifications, aung audits from other source	dits, management asses rces.	sments, a	nd recei	iving		
		3.	Operating experience	ce of identical or similar	work furnished by the	same sup	oplier.			
		4.	A review of procurs received since the in	ement documents to detainitial contract.	ermine what additional	work the	supplie	r has		
	G.	The r the c	need to schedule addition the schedule addition the scope, work me	ional external audits sha ethodology, or organizat	il also be evaluated wh ion occurs.	en a majo	or chang	ge in		
8.2.3	Aud	it Sche	dule							
•	The main	audit sontained	chedule shall be develo current.	oped annually and revise	ed periodically to ensur	e that cov	verage i	s.		
18.2.4	Aud	it Plan	ning							
	A.	The auditing organization shall develop and document an audit plan for each scheduled audit. This plan shall identify the audit scope, requirements for performing the audit, type of audit personnel needed, work to be audited, organizations to be notified, applicable documents, aud schedule, and implementing documents or checklists to be used. Audits shall include technical evaluations of the applicable procedures, instructions, activities and items.								

B. The scope of each audit shall be based on evaluation of implementing documents, activities, and items to be audited, the results of previous audits and the impact of significant changes in personnel, organization, or the QA program.

Section:	18.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	3	of	8
18.2.5	Auc	lit Team Independence				
	The resp and	auditing organization shall select and assign auditors who are inconsibility for performing the work being audited. Audit personne organizational freedom to make the audit process meaningful and	dependent of a el shall have su d effective.	ny dire ufficien	ct it autho	rity
18.2.6	Aud	lit Team Selection				
	A .	An audit team shall be identified before beginning each audit. representatives from the QA organization and when appropriate organizations.	The audit tear e applicable te	n shall chnical	include	e
	B.	A lead auditor shall be appointed to supervise the team, organi the preparation and issuance of the audit report, and evaluate n	ze and direct t esponses.	he aud	it, coon	dina
	C.	Lead auditors and auditors shall be qualified in accordance wit	h the requirem	ents of	this se	ctic
	D.	Technical specialists may be used by the auditing organization of technical processes. Technical specialists, when used, shall the requirements of this section.	to assist in ass be qualified in	sessing	the add	equa vith
	E.	In the case of internal audits, personnel having direct responsit being audited shall not be involved in the selection of the audit	pility for perfor t team.	ming t	he wor	k
	F.	The lead auditor shall, before starting the audit, ensure that the have experience or training commensurate with the scope, com work to be audited.	assigned persoplexity, or spe	onnel c cial na	collectiv	the
18.2.7	Peri	forming Audits				
	А.	The audit team leader shall ensure that the audit team is prepar	red before start	ing the	audit.	
	B.	Audits shall be performed in accordance with written procedure	es or checklist	S .		
	C.	Elements that have been selected for audit shall be evaluated a	gainst specifie	d requi	rement	j.
	D.	Objective evidence shall be examined to the depth necessary to being implemented effectively.	determine if	these e	lements	an
	E.	Audit results shall be documented by auditing personnel and re- management having responsibility for the area audited. Condit action shall be reported immediately to management of the aud	ported to and tions requiring lited organizati	promp	ed by t correc	tive
	F.	Identified conditions adverse to quality shall be documented an Section 16.0, Corrective Action.	ad corrected in	accord	iance w	ith
	G.	Nonconforming items identified during an audit shall be control accordance with Section 15.0, Nonconformances.	olled by the au	dited o	rganiza	tion

					And the Owner of Concession of	æ
Section:	18.0	Revision No.: 1	Page 4	of	8	

18.2.8 Reporting Audit Results

The audit report shall be prepared and signed by the audit team leader, and issued to management of the audited organization and Affected Organizations. The audit report shall include the following information:

- A. A description of the audit scope.
- B. Identification of the auditors.
- C. Identification of persons contacted during the audit.
- D. A summary of the documents reviewed, persons interviewed, and the specific results of the reviews and interviews, that is, a summary of the checklist contents.
- E. Statement on the effectiveness of the QA program elements which were audited.
- F. A description of each reported condition adverse to quality in sufficient detail to enable corrective action to be taken by the audited organization according to the requirements of Section 16.0, Corrective Action.

18.2.9 Responding to Audits

Management of the audited organization shall investigate conditions adverse to quality; determine and schedule corrective action, including measures to prevent recurrence; and notify the auditing organization in writing of the actions taken or planned in accordance with Section 16.0, Corrective Action.

18.2.10 Evaluating Audit Responses

The adequacy of corrective actions for conditions adverse to quality shall be evaluated by the auditing organization in accordance with the requirements of Section 16.0, Corrective Action.

18.2.11 Follow-up Action

Follow-up action shall be taken by the auditing organization to verify that corrective action is accomplished as scheduled in accordance with the requirements of Section 16.0, Corrective Action.

18.2.12 Technical Specialist Qualifications

Technical specialists selected for auditing assignments shall be indoctrinated and trained in accordance with Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program, and shall have the level of experience or training commensurate with the scope, complexity, or special nature of the work being audited.

							_
Section:	18.0		Revision No.: 1	Page	5	of	8
18.2.13	Aud	itor Q	ualifications				
	Audi audit comi	itors sh ts. Co pinatio	nall have appropriate training or orientation to de mpetence of personnel performing various audit n of the following methods:	evelop their competence functions shall be develo	for per oped by	forming y one or	ra
	Α.	QA j Assu perfo	program orientation to provide a working knowle rance Requirements and Description (QARD), a orm audits and report audit results.	edge and understanding on the implementing do	of the (Quality s used t	O
	B.	Trair	ning programs to provide general and specialized	training in audit perform	nance.		
		1.	General training shall include the fundamenta audits.	als, objectives, and techn	iques o	of perfor	rmin
		2.	Specialized training shall include methods of documenting specific audit items and method quality addressed by corrective action docum	examining, questioning, ls of closing out condition tents.	evalua	ting, an erse to	d
·	C.	On-ti Such cond	he-job training, guidance, and counseling under a training shall include planning, performing, rep- ucting audits.	the direct supervision of orting, and follow-up ac	a lead tion inv	auditor. volved i	n
18.2.14	Lead	l Audi	tor Qualifications			•	
	A.	A lea evalu	ad auditor shall be capable of organizing and dir nating planned and taken corrective action.	ecting audits, reporting a	udit fu	ndings,	and
	В.	A lea commuthis s	ad auditor shall be certified as meeting the require nunication skills, training, audit participation, an section.	rements for education an ad passing the examination	nd expe	rience, rovided	in
18.2.15	Lead	Audi	tor Education and Experience			•	
	The	prospe	ctive lead auditor shall have verifiable evidence d under the following scoring system:	that a minimum of ten o	redits l	have be	en
	A.	Educ	ation (four credits maximum)				
		1.	An associate degree from an accredited instit engineering, physical sciences, mathematics,	ution: score one credit. or QA: score two credi	If the ots; or	degree i	is in
		2.	A bachelor's degree from an accredited institu- in engineering, physical sciences, mathematic score one credit for a master's degree in eng	tution: score two credits cs, or QA: score three c incering, physical science	or, if redits. es, bus	the degr In addi iness	ree i ition

		!	Quality A:	ssuranc	e Reg	quireme	nts and D	escription	n	•			
Section:	18.0		Re	vision No.:	1			Page	6	of	8		
	B.	Experi	ience (nine cre	dits maxim	num)								
		Technical experience in such areas as scientific investigation, site characterization, product transportation, engineering, manufacturing, construction, operation, maintenance, or experi applicable to the auditing organization's area of responsibility: score one credit for each f with a maximum of five credits for this aspect of experience.											
		1.	If two years credit; or	of this exp	erience	have been	in the nuclear	r-related field	score	one add	litiona		
		2.	If two years	of this exp	erience	have been	in QA: score	two addition	al cred	its; or			
	· · · ·	3.	If two years	of this exp	erience	have been	in auditing:	score three ad	ditional	l credit	s; or		
		4.	If two years credits; or	of this exp	erience	have been	in nuclear-rel	ated QA: sco	ore three	e additi	onal		
		5.	If two years additional cro	of this exp edits.	erience	have been	in nuclear-rel	ated QA audi	ting: s	core for	r		
	C.	Profess	sional Compet	ence (two	credits i	maximum)							
		For cer a state	rtification of c agency or nat	ompetency ional profe	in engi ssional	incering scie or technical	ence or QA s l society: sco	pecialties issu tre two credit	ed and s.	approv	ed by		
	D.	Rights	of Manageme	nt (two cre	dits ma	ximum)							
		When a perform as lead complete	determined ap nance factors lership, sound eted QA trainin	propriate, t applicable judgment, ng courses)	he audi to audit maturit	ting organiz ing that are y, analytical	ation may gr not explicitly ability, tena	ant up to two called out ir city, past perf	credits this se ormanc	for oth ection (a e, and	er such		
18.2.16	Lead	Audito	or Communica	ation Skills	5								
	The p orally	rospecti . These	ive lead audito e skills shall b	or shall hav e attested t	the case of the ca	apability to iting by the	communicate candidate's	effectively, t supervisor.	ooth in	writing	and		
18.2.17	Lead	Audito	r Training										
	Α.	Prosperauditin	ctive lead audi g skills as esta	itors shall I ablished by	the org	ed to the ex ganization re	tent necessar	y to ensure the performing a	eir com audits.	petence	e in		
	B	Trainin particu	ng in the follow lar needs of ea	wing areas ach prospec	shall be ctive lea	e given base ad auditor.	ed upon mana	igement evalu	ation o	f the			
		1.	Knowledge a codes, standa	und underst urds, regula	anding tions, a	of the QAR nd regulator	D and other ry guides.	program-relat	ed proc	edures,			

Section:	18.0			1	Revision	No.:	I		-	-	Page	7	of	8
		2.	Ge	neral st	ructure	of Q	A pro	grams as	a whole a	nd the spec	cific elem	ents of	f the QA	RD.
		3.	Au ide	diting to ntifying	echniq , follo	ues of wing u	exam ip on,	nining, qua , and closi	estioning, ing correct	evaluating tive action	, and rep items.	orting.	Metho	ds of
		4.	Au con stat	dit plan struction istics, r ety) of a	ning in on, fabriondes nuclea	n function rication tructiv r facili	tional n, han e exa ities.	areas (sundling, shi mination,	ch as scien pping, sto maintenar	ntific inves rage, clear nce, repair,	stigation, ning, insp operatio	design, ection, n, mod	, purchas testing, ification	sing, , and
		5.	On	the-job	traini	ng to i	includ	le applicat	le elemen	its of the a	udit prog	ram.		
18.2.18	Lead	Audit	tor Au	dit Pa	rticipa	tion								
	The p time i QA a	not to a	ctive la excee within t	ead aud i three he year	itor sh years prior	prior to cert	ve par o the tificati	rticipated i date of ce ion.	in a minin rtification	num of fiv . One aud	e QA aug lit shall b	lits wit e a nuc	hin a pe clear-rela	riod o
18.2.19	Lead	Audit	tor Ex	aminat	ion									
	A.	The p ability practic	prosperity to applical, or	ply the any co	ad aud audit ombina	itor sh knowl	all pa ledge	ass an exa described	mination t in this se	that evalua ction. The	tes the co test sha	ompreh Il be or	ension o al, writt	of and en,
	B.	The d the au	develo	oment a organi	nd adization	minist . The	auditi	of the exing organi	amination zation sha	for a lead	auditor i	s the re	esponsib	ility c
		1.	Ma app	intain ti licable,	ne inte procto	grity o oring o	of the	examinations	on throug	h confiden	tiality of	files a	nd, when	re
		2.	Dev	elop ar minatio	nd mai n.	ntain o	object	tive evider	ice regard	ing the typ	e and co	ntent o	f the	
18.2.20	Certi	fication	on of I	ead A	uditor	Quali	ificati	ions			•			
	Each certifi	lead au	uditor shall	shall be	e certinent the	fied by	y the a	auditing o	rganizatio	n as being	qualified	to lea	d audits.	Thi
	A.	Name	e of th	e auditi	ng org	anizat	ion.							
	B.	Name	e of th	e lead a	uditor									
	C.	Date	of cer	ificatio	n or n	ecertifi	cation	n.						
	D.	Basis	of ce	tificatio	on (suc	ch as e	ducat	tion, expen	tience, con	nmunicatio	on skills,	and tra	uining).	
	E.	Signat	ature o	f the de	signat	ed rep	resent	tative of t	he auditing	g organiza	tion respo	onsible	for	

				•	
Section:	18.0	Revision No.: 1	Page	8	of 8

18.2.21 Maintaining Lead Auditor Proficiency

- A. Lead auditors shall maintain their proficiency through one or combination of the following:
 - 1. Regular and active participation in the audit process.
 - 2. Review and study of codes, standards, implementing documents, instructions, and other documents related to the QA program and program auditing.
 - 3. Participation in QA training programs.
- B. Management of the auditing organization shall evaluate the proficiency of lead auditors annually. Based on the evaluation, management may choose to extend the qualification, require retraining, or require requalification. Management evaluations shall be documented.
- C. Lead auditors who fail to maintain their proficiency for a period of two years or more shall require requalification. Requalification shall include retraining and re-examination in accordance with this section, and participation as an auditor in at least one nuclear QA audit.





Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title:	SOFTWARE		Effective Date:			10/31/95		
Section:	SUPPLEMENT I	Revision No.: 1	Page 1	of	6			

L1 GENERAL

This supplement establishes requirements for the development, modification, control, and use of software. Software that is acquired as an integral part of measuring and test equipment, and has not been developed or modified by the Affected Organization, is controlled by Section 12.0, Control of Measuring and Test Equipment, and is exempt from the requirements of this supplement. Requirements for electronic management of data are addressed in Supplement V, Control of the Electronic Management of Data.

The following types of software are not required to be qualified using this supplement: operating systems; administrative and management systems; system utilities and compilers and their associated libraries; and software that does not generate data such as word processing programs, spreadsheets, database managers, graphing and visual display software, and statistical analysis programs. However, applications written for use within these types of software may need to meet the requirements for the software covered by this supplement or may need Supplement V, Control of the Electronic Management of Data.

1.2 REQUIREMENTS

I.2.1 Software Life Cycles, Baselines, and Controls

- A. For developed or modified software, each Affected Organization shall document and approve a specific software life cycle for each software item prior to development or modification of software.
 - 1. Software life cycles shall be defined by control points at which software baseline elements shall be documented. Software life cycle activities may be performed in an iterative or sequential manner.
 - 2. When the software life cycle is defined for software development or modification within an Affected Organization, the documentation requirements of Subsections I.2.3, Software Verification, B and C, I.2.4, Software Validation, F and G, and I.2.5, Documentation, A, B, and C shall be established. All other requirements apply subsequent to establishment of the software life cycle.
 - 3. Reviews of software baselines shall be performed and documented at the software control points.
- B. For acquired software the following requirements shall be met:
 - 1. Perform installation tests to ensure that software performs as required in the operational environment.

Section:	SUPPLEME	I TN	Revisi	on No.:	1			Page	2	of	6
	2.	Per and test just	form valida G using to cases prov tification fo	ation in ac est cases of rided by the r their use	cordance wi leveloped in the developer e.	th Subsection dependently may be use	on I.2.4, Sof of the softw ad to supple	tware V vare dev ment thi	alidation eloper. s proces	n, D, E Additi ss with	, F, onal
	3.	Do B,	cument in a C.2, and C.	ccordance 6 as appli	e with the re icable.	quirements	of Subsectio	on I.2.5,	Docum	entation	n, A,
	4.	Per	form and d	ocument i	reviews of so	oftware base	lines.				
	5.	Pla Con	ce under th afiguration	e configur Managem	ration contro ent.	ls in accord	ance with S	ubsectio	n I.2.6,	Softwa	re
	6.	Imp Def	olement a d fect Reporti	efect repo ng and Ro	rting and resolution.	solution syst	em in accor	dance w	rith Sub	section	1.2.7,
	7.	Cor Sof	ntrol the use	e of softw	are in accord	dance with S	Subsection I	.2.8, Co	ntrol of	the Us	e of
	C. Sof	itware, in 11 have 1	imited requ	acros, that irements	can be veri applied as fo	fied by visu blows:	al inspection	n and/or	hand ca	lculatio	ODS
	1.	List	ting of the	baseline v	ersion and a	ny subseque	nt changes	to the se	oftware.		
	2.	Doc para	cumentation ameters.	that the	software pro	vides correc	t results for	a speci	fied ran	ge of ir	nput
1.2.2	Software Verification and Software Validation										
	A. Sof whe soft just	Software verification and software validation shall be performed prior to release. In those of where this requirement cannot be met prior to the release of the software, the portions of software that have not been verified and validated shall be identified and controlled, and we justification of the reason documented.							cases		
	B. Sof inde dev with	Software verification and software validation activities shall be performed or reviewed by independent individuals or organizations who did not work on the original software development or modification. The person who directed the work may perform these activities with a higher level of management approval and documented justification.						ties			
1.2.3	Software V	erificati	ion								
	A. The mee	softwar et the est	re verificati tablished re	on shall b quiremen	e performed ts.	and docum	ented to ens	sure that	baselin	e elema	ents
	B. The	verifica	and accent	entation :	shall include	a description	n of the tas	ks, met	nods, im	plemer	nting

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description Section: SUPPLEMENT I Revision No.: Page 3 of 6 C. A record of the results of the execution of planned software verification shall be generated including the extent to which the results agree with the specified acceptance criteria. Software Validation L2.4 Software validation activities (such as the development of test plans and test cases) shall be Α. integrated into the software life cycle. B. Testing shall be the primary method of software validation. C. Software validation of modifications to released software items shall include regression testing. D. Software validation shall be performed to an approved plan or process. E. The test methods and test cases shall be documented to ensure that software meets the Affected Organization's requirements for its intended use. F. The validation documentation shall include a description of the tasks, methods, implementing documents, and acceptance criteria for accomplishing the software validation. A record of the results of the execution of planned software validation shall be generated G. including the extent to which the results agree with the specified acceptance criteria. 1.2.5 Documentation Software activities shall be documented sufficiently to demonstrate the ability of the software to meet the needs of the Affected Organization and shall include the following: Functional Requirements Information: Α. A description of the overall nature and purpose of the software. 1. 2. Requirements for its intended use. B. User Information: A description of how to use the software item including: 1. Input and output options. 2 Data files, input and output data, defaults, and file formats. b. A description of the allowable and tolerable ranges for inputs and outputs. C Anticipated errors and how the user can respond. d. The hardware and software environments. e.

Section: SUPPLEMENT I

6

Page

2. Available sample problems.

Revision No.:

- 3. Installation procedures.
- C. Requirements and Design Information:
 - 1. Performance requirements and design constraints.
 - 2. Interfaces with external data, hardware, or other software.

1

- 3. Applicable software and hardware operation issues including programming languages and versions, portability, maintainability, reliability, and efficiency.
- 4. A description of each software item as it relates to the functional requirements.
- 5. A description of the software structure including software internal interfaces, control logic, and data structure and flow.
- 6. A description of models and numerical methods.
- 7. Source code for developed software or software modification.

L2.6 Software Configuration Management

A software configuration management system shall be established to include configuration identification and configuration control and status accounting. Software shall be placed under configuration management control as each baseline element is approved.

- A. Configuration identification shall include:
 - 1. A definition of the baseline elements of each software baseline.
 - 2. A unique identification of each software item to be placed under software configuration management.
 - a. Each version or revision of a software item shall be uniquely identified and labeled.
 - b. The software version or revision identifier shall be included with the generated output, when feasible.
 - 3. Assignment of unique identifiers that relate baseline documents to their associated software items. Cross-references between baseline documents and associated software shall be maintained.
- B. Configuration control shall include:
 - 1. A release and control process for baseline elements.
| Section: | SUPPI | EMENT I | | Revision No.: | 1 | Page | 5 | of | 6 |
|----------|------------|---------------------|--------------------------|--|--|---|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------|
| | | 2. | Chan,
contro
chang | ges to baseline ele
olled and documer
re, the rationale fo | ements, including ret
nted. This documen
or the change, and th | tirement and withdrawal
tation shall contain a de
de identification of affect | shall b
scription
ed base | e forma
n of the
line ele | ally |
| | | | a. | The change sha
responsible for | approving the basel | ated and approved by the ine element. | e organi | ization | |
| | | | b. | Only approved | changes shall be ma | ade to software baselines | | | |
| | | | C. | Information con
organizations af | acerning approved cl
ffected by the chang | hanges shall be transmittes. | ted to al | 1 | |
| | | | d. | Software verific
the changes are
that document t | cations shall be perfo
appropriately reflect
raceability is mainta | ormed for the changes a sted in software document ined. | s necess
ntation a | ary to e | ensur |
| | | | e. | Software valida | tion shall be perform | ned as necessary for the | change. | | |
| | C. | Configu | ration | status accounting | shall include: | | | | |
| | | 1. | A list | ing of the approve | ed baseline elements | and unique identifiers. | | | |
| | | 2. | The s | tatus of proposed a | and approved chang | es to the baseline eleme | nts. | | |
| | | 3. | A brie
betwe | ef chronology of the en versions of sof | he software items, in
tware items. | ncluding descriptions of | the char | nges ma | ade |
| I.2.7 | Defect | Reportir | ng and | d Resolution | | | | | |
| | A soft | ware defe | ct rep | orting and resoluti | ion system shall be | implemented. | • | | |
| | A . | The defe
manager | ect rep
ment s | orting and resolutions to ensure for | tion system shall be
ormal processing of | integrated with the soft
defect resolutions. | ware con | nfigurat | tion |
| | B. | Software | e defe | ct reporting and re | esolution systems sh | all include the following | control | is: | • |
| | | 1. 1 | Defec | ts shall be docume | ented and resolved. | | | | |
| | | 2. 1 | Defec | ts shall be assesse | d for their impact of | n previous applications. | | | |
| | | 3. | Resolu | utions shall be rev | iewed and approved | before changes are man | ie to bai | seline | |
| | | 4.] | Notifi | cation of identified | d user organizations | | | | |
| | C. | If a defe | ect is i
n adve | dentified in software
erse to quality sha | are that adversely in
all be documented ar | npacts previous applicat
ad controlled in accordan | ions, the
ace with | n the
Sectio | n |

Section:	SUPP	LEMENT I	Revision No.:	1	Pa	ge .	6	of	6				
1.2.8	Cont	Control of the Use of Software											
	Α.	Affected On comparable replication	rganizations shall results can be ob of the process.	control and docume tained, with any diff	nt the use of released s ferences explained, thro	oftwar ugh i	re iter ndepe	ns suci ndent	n tha				
	B.	Use of soft selected is s	ware shall be inde suitable to the pro	pendently reviewed oblem being solved.	and approved to ensure	that	the so	ftware					
	C.	If use of a sperformed to	software item falle	s outside the range of	of validation, further val	idatio	on sha	ll be					

ياند. الإومانية

J.

ſ.,



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section:	SUP	PLEMENT II	Revision No.:	1		Page	1	of	3
П.1	GEN	ERAL							
	This	supplement estal	blishes requirem	ents for the contra	ol of physical samples.			•	
П.2	REQ	UIREMENTS						•	
П.2.1	Gene	ral Requiremen	its			`			
	А.	Samples shall	be controlled a	nd identified in a	manner consistent wit	h their	intende	ed use.	
	В.	These control documenting handling, pres	s shall identify a and tracking san servation, shipme	esponsibilities in aple possession fr ent, transfer, analy	cluding interfaces betw rom sample collection ysis, storage, and final	and ide use.	ganizati entificat	ions for ion thr	ougt
	C.	Controls shall appropriate.	include specific	s on orientation	relative to the location	that w	as samı	oled, as	
II.2.2	Trace	eability							
	A .	Sample identi the samples to	fication methods applicable imp	s shall ensure that lementing docum	t traceability is establis ents or other specifyin	shed an g docu	d main ments.	tained f	rom
	B.	Sample tracea through final	bility shall ensu use.	re that the sample	e can be traced at all t	imes fr	om its (collection	on
П.2.3	Ident	ification							
	A .	Identification identification	shall be maintai is established ar	ned on the sampled maintained.	es or in a manner whi	ch ensu	ures that	t	
	B.	Samples shall	be identified fr	om their initial co	ollection through final	use.			
	C.	Sample identi	fication is docum	nented and check	ed before released for	use.			
	D.	Sample identi	fication methods	shall include use	e of physical markings	•		•	
	E.	If physical ma employed (suc	arkings are eithe ch as physical se	r impractical or in eparation, labels of	nsufficient, other appropriate to contract	opriate tainers,	means , or proc	shall be cedural	e

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section:	SUPP	LEMENT II	Revision No.:	1		Page	2	of	3
	F.	Physical ma	rkings, when used	i, shall:					
	•	I. Be a	pplied using mat	erials and metho	ds that provide a clear	and leg	gible id	entifica	tion.
		2. Not	detrimentally affe	ect the sample co	ontent or form.				
		3. Be t	ransferred to each	identified samp	le part when the sampl	le is su	bdivide	d.	
		4. Not mean	be obliterated or ns of identificatio	hidden by surface n are substituted	e treatments or sample	prepar	rations	unless o	other
П.2.4	Cond	litional Requir	ements						
	The c	controls for sam	ples shall addres	s the following r	equirements, as applica	ible:			
	A.	If documents contain spec of the sampl specified con	s (such as the Site ific identification e to applicable st atrols shall be imp	e Characterizatio or traceability n udy plan, site ch plemented.	n Plan, test plans, study equirements (such as id aracterization activity,	y plans lentifica or othe	, or job ation of r record	packag traceal ds), tho	ges) bility se
	B.	If samples he the sample b	ave limited use of eyond its intende	r storage life, the d use or storage	en methods shall be est life.	ablishe	d that j	preclude	e usin
	C.	If sample sto identification methods shall	brage is required, a that are commen Il provide for, as	then methods sh asurate with the applicable:	all be established for the planned duration and c	he cont onditio	rol of s	ample . torage.	Thes
		1. Main hand	ntenance or replace ling or aging.	cement of marking	ngs and identification t	ags dan	naged o	luring	
		2. Prote envir	ection of identific ronmental exposu	ation markings s re.	subject to excessive det	eriorati	ion resu	ulting fr	om
		3. Upda	ating related docu	mentation.			•		
П.2.5	Arch	iving Samples							
	Imple samp	menting docum	nents shall specify	y the representation	ive samples to be archi	ved if	the nee	d to arc	hive
П.2.6	Hand	lling, Storage,	and Shipping					•	
	Α.	Handling, sto conducted in documents.	orage, cleaning, p accordance with	ackaging, shippi established imp	ng, and preservation of lementing documents of	f sampl or other	es shal specifi	l be ied	
	D	TE manimal E			- high uplus complex a		-	ma For	

handling, storage, cleaning, packaging, shipping, and preservation shall be identified and used.

ection:	SUPP	LEMENT II	Revision No.:	1.		Page	3	of	3
	C.	Measures sh and storage	all be established of samples as nec	for the marking cessary to adequ	g and labeling for packag nately identify, maintain, a	ing, si and pi	hipping	, handli the san	ing, iple.
	D.	Markings an controls if n	d labels shall ind ecessary.	licate the presen	ce of special environmen	its or t	he nee	d for sp	ecial
	E.	If required for environments provided.	or particular samp s (such as inert g	ples, special equation and moistum	aipment (such as containe e and temperature limits)	ers) an shall	d speci be spec	al prote	ective nd
	F.	Special hand and adequate	ling tools and eq handling.	uipment shall b	e used and controlled as	necess	ary to	ensure	safe
		1. Spec impli equip	tial handling tool: ementing docume pment are adequa	s and equipment ents and at spec ately maintained	t shall be inspected and the ified time intervals to ver	ested in the state of the state	in acco at the t	rdance ools and	with
		2. Open use t	rators of special h	handling and lift	ing equipment shall be e	xperie	nced o	r trained	i to
.2.7	Dispo	osition of Nonc	conforming Sam	ples					
	Α.	Samples that Packages, Tr segregated in	do not meet req avelers, or Work accordance with	uirements speci Requests) shall a Section 15.0, 1	fied in work controlling of be documented, evaluate Nonconformances.	iocum ed, ide	ents (sa ntified,	uch as j , and	iob
	В.	The dispositi limited to "u	on for nonconfor se-as-is," "limited	rming samples s d use," or "disca	hall be identified and doo	cumen	ted and	i shall t	æ

م. ملومار

· ______

. . .



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: SCIENTIFIC INVESTIGATIONS

Effective Date:

Section No: SUPPLEMENT III

Revision No: N/A

Page 1 of 1

REFER TO QARD LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATIONS, LOCATED BEHIND THE QARD SECTION FOR:

NO. 94-002 QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: QUALITY ASSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND DESCRIPTION (QARD), QARD SECTION 2.0, AND PEER REVIEWS, QARD SECTION 2.2.8, EXISTING DATA NOT COLLECTED UNDER AN APPROVED QA PROGRAM, AND SCIENTIFIC INVESTIGATIONS, QARD SUPPLEMENT III, SPECIFICALLY: DATA VALIDATION AND QUALIFICATION, QARD III.2.4



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: 3	SCIENT	TIFIC INVE	STIGAT	TION			Effecti	ve Date:	10/3	1/95
Section:	SUP	PLEMENT	III	Revision No.:	1		Page	1	of	3
ш.1	GEN	ERAL								
	This	supplement	establi	ishes requiren	nents for scient	tific investigations.				
Ш.2	REQ	UIREMEN	TS							
П.2.1	Plan	ning Scient	ific Inv	vestigations						
	A.	Scientific Program.	inves	tigations shall	l be planned in	accordance with S	Section 2.0, Q	uality A	ssuran	ce
	В.	Planning investiga	shall t tion.	be coordinate	d with organizz	ations providing in	put to or using	; the res	ults of	the
	C. .	Planning of results	shall a	address provis	sions for determ	nining the accuracy	y, precision, a	nd repre	sentati	vene
III.2.2	Perfo	rming Scie	ntific	Investigation	S.					
	A .	Scientific or a com	invest binatio	tigations shall on of both.	l be performed	using scientific no	tebooks, impl	ementing	g docu	men
	В.	Scientific	noteb	ooks shall co	ntain the follow	wing:				
		1. S	tateme pprove	ent of objectived planning de	ve and description	ion of work to be p plementing docume	performed, or ent that addres	referenc ses thos	e to an e topic	n 25.
		2. I	dentific	cation of meti	hod(s) and com	puter programs to	be used.			
•		3. I	dentific	cation of any	samples or me	asuring and test eq	uipment used			
		4. I p	Descript erform naking	tion of the work ing the work the entries.	ork as it was p , and dated init	erformed and resultials or signature, a	ts obtained, n s appropriate,	ames of of indiv	indivi viduals	dual
		5. I	Descrip	tion of chang	es made to me	thods used, as app	ropriate.			
	C.	Scientific sufficient	detail	ooks shall be to:	reviewed by a	in independent qua	lified individu	al to ver	rify the	ere i
		1. F	etrace	the investiga	tions and confi	in the neutro or				

Section:	SUPPL	EMENT III	Revision No.: 1	Page	2 of 3
		2. F	Repeat the investigation and achieve com	parable results, without reco	ourse to the origina
111.2.3	Data	Identificati	on		
	Α.	Data shal	l be identified in a manner that facilitate	s traceability to associated of	iocumentation.
	B.	Identifica	tion and traceability shall be maintained	throughout the lifetime of t	he data.
III.2. 4	Data	Review			
	A doc technic	umented in cal adequad	dependent review of acquired and developy.	oped data shall be performed	d to confirm
III.2.5	Data	Usage			
	Α.	Unqualifi activities.	ed data may be used without qualification Traceability to its status as unqualified	on in scientific investigation data shall be maintained.	and design
	В.	Data redu individua	action shall be described to permit indep l.	endent reproducibility by an	other qualified
	C.	Data cons qualificat	sidered as established fact by the scientifion (for example, engineering handbooks	fic and engineering commun s, density tables, gravitation	ity do not require al laws, etc.).
	D.	Unqualifi qualified	ed data directly relied upon to address s as follows:	afety and waste isolation iss	aues shall be
		1. C	one or a combination of the following m	ethods shall be used:	-
		a	Determination that the controls un in scope, requirements and implex Requirements and Description.	nder which the data were ge mentation to the Quality Ass	nerated are similar surance
		b	. Corroborating Data - Rationale for another set of unqualified data sh	or selecting one set of data t all be clearly explained and	o corroborate justified.
		c	. Confirmatory testing.		
		d	. Peer review in accordance with S	ection 2.0, Quality Assurance	ce Program.
		2. C	Qualification shall be planned and docum ollowing:	ented. The documentation	shall include the
	F	a	. The factors used in arriving at the	e choice of qualification me	thods and also the

Section:	SUPPL	EMENT III	Revision No.:	1		Page	3	of	3
		b.	A documente methods (a),	d review to det (b), or (c) are u	ermine application sui	tability w	vhen qu	alificati	on
Ш.2.6	Mode	l Development	and Use						
	A.	The developm identify princ	nent of models of invition invitation invinvition invition invition invition invition invitio	of natural pheno estigation consi	omena shall be docum idered.	ented. D	ocume	ntation s	shall
	B.	Models of na appropriately	tural phenomena depicts the natu	shall be valida ral phenomena	ated to confirm that th	e mathem	natical	represen	tation
	C.	Model validat from laborato in the origina	tion shall be acc ry, field experin l development o	omplished by c nents, natural a f the model.	comparing analysis res nalogue studies, or ob	ults agair servations	s that w	acquire vere not	d used
		1. When docur	data are not av nented and used	ailable from the for model vali	ese sources, alternative dation.	e approac	hes sha	ull be	
		2. The n consid Progra	eed to perform deration criteria am.	a peer review a specified for p	s an alternative appro- eer review in Section 2	ach shall 2.0, Quali	be con ity Ass	sistent v urance	with
	D.	The selection	and use of mod	els of natural p	henomena shall be do	cumented	l and ju	stified.	
							•		
									٠
				6					

1-2.8 C .

Supplement IV

ىلەر ئومۇر



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title:	: FIELD SURVEYING			Effective Date: 12/18/92					
Section	No.:	SUPPLEMENT IV	Revision No.:	0	Page	1	of	1	

IV.1 GENERAL

This Supplement establishes requirements for field surveying. Examples of work that have the potential to require field surveying services for location determination include site characterization, explorations, and installations.

IV.2 REQUIREMENTS

IV.2.1 Field Survey System

- A. A permanent system of horizontal and vertical controls shall be established and maintained.
- B. This system shall be used in accordance with implementing documents to obtain the accurate location and relocation of designated features, including locations of sample or data collection.

IV.2.2 Field Survey Documentation

Pertinent survey documents shall be identified, maintained and verified for completeness as the work progresses.

. .



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

ENERAL						
This supplement applie ource for information	es to the controls used in design a	s on the electronic mana analysis, process control	agement of data used l, or scientific investig	as the constitution.	ontrolle	ed
oftware that performs supplement I, Software equirements of Section	functions of an e. The acquisiti n 3.0, Design Co	alysis or calculation sha on, development and us ontrol or Supplement III	all be controlled in ac e of data are controlled I, Scientific Investigat	cordance ed by the ion.	e with	
EQUIREMENTS						
ontrol of the Electron	nic Managemer	nt of Data				
The Affected Organiza	tion shall establ	ish controls to ensure:				
. The completen	ess and accuracy	y of the data input.				
3. The completen	ess and accuracy	y of subsequent changes	to data input.			
. The security of	the data is mai	ntained including integr	ity of the data.			•
). When data is n the Affected O	etrieved using a rganization's rec	query language, the que	ery shall be checked i led use.	o ensure	it sati	isfies
	This supplement applie ource for information oftware that performs upplement I, Software equirements of Section EQUIREMENTS ontrol of the Electron The Affected Organiza The completent The completent The security of When data is n the Affected O	This supplement applies to the controls ource for information used in design a oftware that performs functions of an upplement I, Software. The acquisiti equirements of Section 3.0, Design Co EQUIREMENTS ontrol of the Electronic Management The Affected Organization shall estable The completeness and accuracy The completeness and accuracy The security of the data is main When data is retrieved using a the Affected Organization's retrieved using a	This supplement applies to the controls on the electronic mana ource for information used in design analysis, process control oftware that performs functions of analysis or calculation sha upplement I, Software. The acquisition, development and us equirements of Section 3.0, Design Control or Supplement III EQUIREMENTS ontrol of the Electronic Management of Data The Affected Organization shall establish controls to ensure: The completeness and accuracy of the data input. The completeness and accuracy of subsequent changes The security of the data is maintained including integr When data is retrieved using a query language, the query the Affected Organization's requirements for its interoc	This supplement applies to the controls on the electronic management of data used ource for information used in design analysis, process control, or scientific investig oftware that performs functions of analysis or calculation shall be controlled in ac- upplement I, Software. The acquisition, development and use of data are controlled equirements of Section 3.0, Design Control or Supplement III, Scientific Investigat EQUIREMENTS ontrol of the Electronic Management of Data the Affected Organization shall establish controls to ensure: The completeness and accuracy of the data input. The completeness and accuracy of subsequent changes to data input. The security of the data is maintained including integrity of the data. When data is retrieved using a query language, the query shall be checked to the Affected Organization's requirements for its intended use	This supplement applies to the controls on the electronic management of data used as the control for information used in design analysis, process control, or scientific investigation. The optimization of analysis or calculation shall be controlled in accordance to a software. The acquisition, development and use of data are controlled by the equirements of Section 3.0, Design Control or Supplement III, Scientific Investigation. EQUIREMENTS The acquisition of Data The Affected Organization shall establish controls to ensure: The completeness and accuracy of the data input. The completeness and accuracy of subsequent changes to data input. The security of the data is maintained including integrity of the data. When data is retrieved using a query language, the query shall be checked to ensure the Affected Organization's requirements for its intended use	This supplement applies to the controls on the electronic management of data used as the controlle ource for information used in design analysis, process control, or scientific investigation. The accordance with applement I, Software. The acquisition, development and use of data are controlled by the equirements of Section 3.0, Design Control or Supplement III, Scientific Investigation. EQUIREMENTS Introl of the Electronic Management of Data The completeness and accuracy of the data input. The completeness and accuracy of subsequent changes to data input. The security of the data is maintained including integrity of the data. When data is retrieved using a query language, the query shall be checked to ensure it sate the Affected Organization's requirements for its intended use

Rev. 12/18/92





Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section:	SUF	PLEMENT V	Revision No.:	0		Page	1	of	1
V.1	GEN	ERAL		60					
	This sourc	supplement appli-	es to the control used in design	ols on the elect analysis, proc	ronic managements cess control, or s	ent of data used scientific investig	as the contraction.	ontroll	ed
	Softw Supp requir	vare that performs lement I, Softwar rements of Sectio	s functions of a re. The acquisi on 3.0, Design (unalysis or calc tion, developm Control or Sup	ulation shall be tent and use of a plement III, Scie	controlled in act data are controlle entific Investigat	cordance ed by the ion.	e with	
12	REQ	UIREMENTS							
V.2.1	Contr	ol of the Electro	nic Manageme	ent of Data					
	The A	Affected Organiza	ation shall estat	olish controls t	o ensure:				
	Α.	The completen	ness and accurate	cy of the data	input.				
	B.	The completen	ness and accurat	cy of subseque	ent changes to da	ata input.			
	C.	The security of	f the data is ma	intained inclu	ding integrity of	the data.			
	D.	When data is r the Affected O	retrieved using	a query langua equirements fo	nge, the query sh r its intended us	all be checked the	o ensure	it sati	sfies





Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section:	APF	PENDIX A	Revision No.:	1	Page	1	of	1			
A.1	GEN	ERAL					01	-			
	Α.	This ap develop to speci amplific	pendix contains ampli ment through qualific ific sections or supple cation, reference to the	fications of requirement ation, production, and a ments. In those cases e section or supplement	tts and descriptions unique acceptance. Amplification when a section or supple t is omitted.	ue to w ons pro ement n	vaste fo vided r equires	rm elate no			
	B.	The De develop	partment of Energy's ing, qualifying, and p	Office of Environment roducing an acceptable	al Management has over high-level waste form.	rall resp	onsibil	ity f			
A.2	REQ	UIREME	NTS								
A.2.1	Amplification of QARD Section 2.0, Quality Assurance Program										
	A .	Line ma events l	anagement shall plan, both leading up to and	schedule, and conduct I during waste form pro	readiness reviews at sig duction.	nificant	transit	iona			
	B.	Line ma form pr	anagement shall estable oduction process. Te	lish measures for contro chnical modifications s	olling technical modification by the second se	ations to nclude:	the w	aste			
		1.	Waste form and canis	stered waste form.							
		2.	Process control plans	and other implementin	g documents.	•					
		3.	Waste Acceptance Pr Form Qualification R	oduct Specifications, We eports.	aste Form Compliance	Plans, a	nd Wa	ste			
A.2.2	Атр	lification of	of QARD Supplemen	t III, Scientific Invest	igation						
	Imple	ementing d ding final	ocuments shall contain results within Waste F	n requirements for eval form Qualification Rep	uating development and orts.	l qualifi	cation	resul			
*											



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: S	TORAGE AND TRA	SPORTATION	Effective Date:	08/0	4/95	
Section:	APPENDIX B	Revision No.: 2	Page 1	of	1	

B.1 GENERAL

- A. This appendix contains amplifications of requirements and descriptions unique to the work conducted for the storage of spent fuel and the transportation of spent fuel and high-level radioactive waste. Exceptions to the *Quality Assurance Requirements and Description* (QARD) requirements are given for organizations that design or fabricate transportation casks or multi-purpose canisters (MPCs) under the licensing provisions of 10 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 71, or design or fabricate storage casks or MPCs under the licensing provisions of 10 CFR 72.
- B. Activities associated with storage casks, transportation casks, and MPCs that are required to ensure future compliance with 10 CFR 60 are not covered by this appendix. For example, whereas work on translating Mined Geologic Disposal System design criteria into MPC design criteria would be subject to the applicable sections of this QARD, implementing approved MPC design criteria would only be subject to the requirements of this appendix.

B.2 REQUIREMENTS

B.2.1 General

Organizations that design or fabricate storage casks, transportation casks, or MPCs shall develop Quality Assurance (QA) programs that are accepted by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission and the procuring organization. The QA programs shall meet the following requirements.

B.2.2 Storage Casks, Transportation Casks, and MPCs

- A. The QA program shall meet the requirements of 10 CFR 71, Subpart H or 10 CFR 72, Subpart G, as applicable.
- B. The requirements of this appendix are the only QARD requirements that apply to organizations designing or fabricating storage casks, transportation casks, or MPCs under 10 CFR 71, Subpart H or 10 CFR 72, Subpart G, QA programs.



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: N	AINED GEOLOGIC D	ISPOSAL SYSTEM	1	Effe	tive	Date:	10/31/	/95	.1
Section:	APPENDIX C	Revision No.:	1	Page		1	of	1	

C.1 GENERAL

This appendix contains amplifications of requirements and descriptions unique to work conducted for the Mined Geologic Disposal System. Amplifications provided relate to specific sections or supplements. In those cases when a section or supplement requires no amplification, reference to the section or supplement is omitted.

C.2 REQUIREMENTS

C.2.1 Amplification of QARD Section 9.0, Control of Special Processes

Special processes associated with work products specified in work controlling documents (such as job packages or work requests) shall comply with the requirements specified in Section 9.0, Control of Special Processes.

C.2.2 Amplification of QARD Section 10.0, Inspections

If required by work controlling documents (such as job packages or work requests) work products shall be subject to inspection in accordance with Section 10.0 of the QARD.

C.2.3 Amplification of QARD Section 15.0, Nonconformances

Nonconforming products resulting from activities specified in work controlling documents (such as job packages or work requests) shall be documented, evaluated, identified, segregated, and dispositioned in accordance with Section 15.0, Nonconformances, of this QARD.

Glossary



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Title: C	LOSSARY		Effective Date:	10/31/95	
Section:	GLOSSARY	Revision No.: 1	Page 1	of 6	

Acceptance (document): The documented determination by the receiving organization that work is suitable for the intended purpose.

Administrative and Management Software: Software that provides tracking, monitoring, retrieving, sorting, or other function and does not serve as the controlled source of quality information used in design analysis, process control, or scientific investigation. Such software may support activities, subject to the QARD, but does not require the controls of Supplement I.

Affected Organization: An organization performing Program work subject to QARD requirements whose organizational relationships are defined in OCRWM Program documents.

Alternate Calculations: Calculations that are made with alternate methods to verify correctness of the original calculation.

Approval: The documented determination by a responsible organization that work is suitable for the intended purpose and shall be used as required.

Audit: A planned and documented quality assurance program verification performed to determine by investigation of objective evidence the adequacy of and compliance with established implementing documents and the effectiveness of implementation.

Audit Team Leader: A lead auditor who is assigned to direct the efforts of an audit team.

Auditor: An individual who is qualified to perform assigned portions of an audit.

Authentication: The act of attesting that the information contained within a document, that is becoming a quality assurance record, is accurate and completed appropriate to the work accomplished.

Baseline Element (Software): An individual component of a software baseline.

Certificate of Conformance: A document signed or otherwise authenticated by an authorized individual certifying the degree to which items or services meet specified requirements.

Certification: The act of determining, verifying, and attesting in writing to the achievement or compliance with specified requirements.

Characteristic: A property or attribute of an item, process or service that is distinct, describable, and measurable.

Code Listing: An ordered display or printout of program statements.

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section:	GLOSSARY	Revision No .:	1	Page	2	of	6	
	020001111		•	rage	6	OI	0	

Commercial Grade Item: An item that is (i) not subject to design or specification criteria unique to the Program or nuclear facilities, (ii) used in applications other than the nuclear industry, and (iii) ordered from the manufacturer or supplier on the basis of specifications set forth in the manufacturer's published product description.

Computer Program: A sequence of instructions suitable for processing by a computer.

Condition Adverse to Quality: A state of noncompliance with quality assurance program requirements.

Confirmatory Testing: An evaluation subject to implementing documents that investigates the properties of interest of data in an attempt to confirm the quality of the data.

Controlled Document: A document that is prepared, reviewed, and approved in accordance with established implementing documents; subject to controlled distribution; and subject to a defined change process.

Corrective Action: Measures taken to rectify conditions adverse to quality and, where necessary, to preclude repetition.

Corroborating Data: Data that is used to support or substantiate other data.

Data: As it pertains to Supplement III, information developed as a result of scientific investigation activities, including information extracted from reference sources, and performance assessment analysis.

Database: A collection of previously distinct data (not created by the database) which have been logically organized to facilitate data access.

Data Reduction: Processes that change the form of expression, quantity of data or values, or the number of data items.

Design Bases: Information that identifies the specific functions to be performed by items and the specific values or ranges of values chosen for controlling parameters as reference bounds for design.

Design Change: Any revision or alteration of the technical requirements defined by approved and issued design output documents and approved and issued changes thereto.

Design Input: Those criteria, parameters, bases, or other design requirements upon which design output documents are based.

Design Output: Drawings, specifications, and other documents resulting from the translation of design input requirements of items.

Design Process: Technical and management process that commences with identification of design input and ends with the issuance of design output documents.

Design Review: A documented evaluation of design output during the design process to determine design adequacy and conformance to specified acceptance criteria.

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

			the second s		
Section:	GLOSSARY	Revision No.: 1	Page 3	of	6

Document Control: The process for controlling documents that provides for adequacy review, approval for release by authorized personnel, and distribution for use at the prescribed work locations.

Expedited Change: An abbreviated method of revising a document at the work location where the document is used when the normal change process would cause unnecessary delays. The management responsible for the work makes the expedited change.

Field Surveying: The process of determining the boundaries, area, elevation, and location of land, structures, reference points, or other designated features either on, above, or below the earth surface relative to a permanent system of horizontal and vertical controls.

Indoctrination: Method of training designed to familiarize personnel in fundamental criteria, program elements, responsibilities, and authority applicable to assigned tasks.

Inspection: A quality assurance program verification that is used to verify whether an item conforms to specified technical criteria.

Item: An all-inclusive term used in place of any of the following: appurtenance, assembly, component, equipment, material, module, part, structure, subassembly, subsystem, system, or unit that is identified in a design document.

Lead Auditor: An individual who is certified to organize, perform, and direct an audit; report audit results; and evaluate related corrective actions.

Management Assessment: A quality assurance program verification that is conducted by management above or outside the Quality Assurance organization and that evaluates the scope, status, adequacy, programmatic compliance, and implementation effectiveness of the quality assurance program.

Measuring and Test Equipment: Devices or systems used to calibrate, measure, gage, test, or inspect in order to control or acquire data to verify conformance to specified requirements.

Model Validation: The process that demonstrates that the model is an acceptable representation of the process or system for which it is intended.

Nonconformance: A deficiency in characteristic or record that renders the quality of an item or sample unacceptable or indeterminate.

Objective Evidence: Any documented statement of fact, other information, or record, either quantitative or qualitative, pertaining to the quality of an item or activity based on observations, measurements, or test which can be verified.

Organizational Interface: The relationship between organizations when one organization prescribes an activity or requirement to, or shares an activity or requirement with, another organization.

Peer: A person having technical expertise in the subject matter to be reviewed to a degree at least equivalent to that needed for the original work.

Quality Assurance	Requirements	and Description
-------------------	--------------	-----------------

Section: GLOSSARY

Revision No.: 1

Page 4 of 6

Peer Review: A documented, in-depth critique of work by a group of peers independent from the work being reviewed.

Performance Confirmation: The program of tests, experiments and analyses which is conducted to evaluate the accuracy and adequacy of the information used to determine with reasonable assurance that the performance objectives for the period after permanent closure will be met.

Personnel Qualification: See Qualification (Personnel).

Process: A series of actions that achieves an end result or accomplishes work.

Procurement Document: Purchase orders, contracts, specifications, or other document used to define technical and quality assurance requirements for the procurement of items or services.

Qualified Data: Data initially collected or developed under a NRC approved quality assurance program or unqualified data that has been qualified in accordance with the Quality Assurance Requirements and Description.

Quality Assurance Record: A completed document (or other medium) that furnishes evidence that items or work comply with requirements.

Qualification (Personnel): The capabilities gained through education, training, or experience that qualify an individual to perform a required function.

Qualification of Data: A formal process that is intended to provide a desired level of confidence that data is suitable for its intended use.

Qualification Testing: A test that is intended to provide a desired level of confidence that an item meets specified criteria.

Quality Assurance: All those planned and systematic actions necessary to provide adequate confidence that an item will perform satisfactorily in service.

Readiness Review: A systematic assessment of the preparedness of an organization to start or continue a process or project phase.

Regression Testing: Selective retesting of a system or component to verify that modifications have not caused unintended effects and that the system or component still complies with its specified requirements.

Release (Software): The formal notification and distribution of approved software.

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section: GLOSSARY Revision No.: 1 Page 5 of 6 Remedial Action: The actions taken to correct specifically identified conditions adverse to quality. Repair: The process of restoring an item to a condition such that the capability of an item to function reliably and safely is unimpaired even though that item still does not conform to the original requirement. *Rework:* The process by which an item is restored to original specifications by completion or correction. Right of Access: The procurement requirement that permits the purchaser or designated representative to enter the premises of a supplier for verification purposes. Root Cause: The identified cause of a condition adverse to quality that, if corrected, will preclude recurrence or greatly reduce the probability of recurrence of the same or a similar condition adverse to quality. Sample (Physical): A physical part of a whole whose properties are studied to gain information about the whole. Scientific Investigation: Any observation, identification, description, experimental study, or analysis and explanation of natural phenomena. Scientific Notebook: A record of the methodology and results of scientific investigations that is used when the work involves a high degree of professional judgment or trial and error methods or both. Service: The performance of activities such as design, fabrication, inspection, nondestructive examination, repair or installation. Significant Condition Adverse to Quality: A condition adverse to quality which, if uncorrected, could have a serious effect on safety, or the ability to isolate waste. Site Characterization: The program of exploration and research both in the laboratory and the field that is undertaken to establish the geologic conditions and the ranges of parameters of a particular site that are relevant to the implementing documents. Software: A software item and associated documentation. Software Baseline: (1) A specification or product that has been formally reviewed and agreed upon, that thereafter is the basis for further development, and that can be changed only through formal change procedures. (2) A document, a set of documents, or a product formally designated and controlled at a specific time during the software life cycle. Software Control Point: Milestones in the software life cycle when controls are applied to the software baselines. Software Item: Source code, object code, job control code, control data, or a collection of these items that function as a single unit.

Software Life Cycle: A series of activities that begins when software planning is initiated and ends when the software is no longer available for use.

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description Section: GLOSSARY Revision No .: 1 6 Page of 6 Software Validation: The process of evaluating a system or component during or at the end of the development process to determine whether it satisfies specified requirements. Software Verification: The process of determining whether the products of a given software life cycle phase satisfy the conditions imposed at the start of that phase. Special Process: A process, the results of which are highly dependent on the control of the process or the skill of the operators, or both, and in which the specified quality cannot be readily determined by inspection or test of the product. Stop Work Order: A formal directive issued by management that work must be stopped until resolution of the related significant condition adverse to quality. Supplier: Any individual or organization who furnishes items or services in accordance with a procurement document. An all-inclusive term used in place of any of the following: vendor, seller, contractor, or subcontractor. Surveillance: The act of observing real-time activities and/or reviewing documentation to verify conformance with specified requirements and to evaluate their adequacy and effectiveness. Technical Specialist: An individual who is assigned to an audit team when the scope, complexity, or special nature of the work to be audited warrants assistance from a technical standpoint. Testing: An element of verification for the determination of the capability of an item to meet specified requirements by subjecting the item to a set of physical, chemical, environmental, or operating conditions. Traceability: The ability to trace the history, application, or location of an item, data, or sample using recorded documentation. Training: Systematic process provided to personnel so that they achieve proficiency, maintain proficiency, and adapt to changes in technology, methods, processes, or responsibilities as necessary to perform assigned tasks. Unqualified Data: Data developed prior to the implementation of an NRC approved quality assurance program that meets Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management requirements or data developed outside an approved NRC Quality Assurance Program such as by oil companies, universities, or data published in technical or scientific publications. Unqualified data does not include information accepted by the scientific and engineering community as established fact. Use-As-Is: A disposition permitted for a nonconforming item when it can be established that the item is satisfactory for its intended use. Verification: The act of reviewing, inspecting, testing, checking, auditing, or otherwise determining and documenting whether items, processes, services, or documents conform to specified requirements. Work: Activities that are subject to the Quality Assurance Requirements and Description.



Quality Assurance Requirements and Description

Section No:	Revision No:	Page 1 of 1
	LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION TABLE OF CONTENTS	
NO.	SUBJECT	EFFECTIVE DATE
92-001	PROCUREMENT AND THE CLASSIFICATION OF DOCUMENTS, QARD SECTION 4.0	2/10/92
93-001	QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: VERIFICATION OF MINIMUM EDUCATION AND EXPERIENCE, QARD SECTION 2.0	5/12/93
93-002	QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: MANAGEMENT ASSESSMENTS, QARD SECTION 2.0, AND AUDITS, QARD SECTION 18.0	5/12/93
94-002	QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY QARD SECTION 2.0, AND PEER REVIEWS, QARD SECTION 2.2.8, EXISTING DATA NOT COLLECTED UNDER AN APPROVED QA PROGRAM, AND QARD SUPPLEMENT III, SCIENTIFIC INVESTIGATIONS SPECIFICALLY: DATA VALIDATION AND QUALIFICATION, QARD III.2.4	12/17/93
95-001	QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY: CLASSIFICATION AND RETENTION OF QUALITY ASSURANCE RECORDS, QARD SECTION 17.0	12/29/94
95-002	QUALITY ASSURANCE PROGRAM, SPECIFICALLY QUALIFICATION AND CERTIFICATION OF INSPECTION PERSONNEL. QARD SECTION 10.0	9/28/95

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA)

LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 92-001

SUBJECT

Criterion 4, Procurement and the Classification of Procurement documents

CONDITION SUMMARY

During the YMQAD YMP-92-03 of Sandia National Laboratories (SNL), it was noted that PR 87-5104 was being processed as "Quality Affecting" in accordance with QAIP 04-01, Procurement. The Quality Assurance Grading Report (QAGR) and the Specification Work Breakdown Structure WBS 1.2.3.6.2.1.6 identifies the activity as "Quality Affecting." The PR was actually a personal Services Contract for a person acting as direct support, monitoring SNL's contract with the National Center for Atmospheric Research, under the direct supervision of the SNL requestor, and in accordance with SNL's QA program and implementing procedures.

RESOLUTION

The procurement documents should be classified as "QA-NA" on all future procurement orders where the contractor will be performing "Quality Affecting" activities under the direct supervision and QA program of the purchaser.

BASIS FOR RESOLUTION

In this case, Criterion 4, Procurement, does not apply because the contractor is acting as direct support capacity as a staff member of the procuring organization. As a staff member, the contractor is under the direct supervision of the requestor and is subject to the requirements of the requesting organization's QA program when the WBS and QAGR indicate the activities are "Quality Affecting."

4

Donald G. Horton, Director Office of Quality Assurance Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA) LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 93-001

SUBJECT

QA Program Element 2.0, Quality Assurance Program, specifically: Verification of Minimum Education and Experience.

CONDITION SUMMARY

Some CRWM affected organizations are unaware of the different methodologies of satisfying the requirement for Verification of Minimum Education and Experience.

RESOLUTION

Education Verification

Preferred Method: On company letterhead, request written verification of the highest level of education the employee (or potential employee) had earned from the school Office of the Registrar. Request verification of degree(s) awarded, (or transcript) education major, and dates attended.

Alternate Method: Telephone the school's Office of the Registrar, identify your company and yourself, and request verification of the highest level of education the employee (or potential employee) had earned. Record the following information:

- Date and time
- Telephone number
- Registrar staff member's name providing information
- Degree(s) awarded
- Education major
- Dates attended
- (units toward degree, if a degree was not awarded)
- The signature and date of the requestor

Note: An employee furnished copy of a diploma or transcript is not satisfactory for use as objective evidence in education verification.

Experience Verification

Preferred Method: On company letterhead, request written verification of work experience from the employee's previous employer(s) for the dates and position descriptions cited on the employee' resume`.

Page_1_ of _2_

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA)

LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 93-001

(continued)

Alternate Method: Telephone the employee's previous company personnel department or previous department manager. Identify your company and yourself and request verification of the employee's work experience. Record the following information:

- Date and time
- Company name, address and telephone number, personnel staff member name or previous department staff member providing the information.
- Dates employed
- Position description
- The signature and date of the requestor,

In the event that the employee's previous company is out of business or personnel records are no longer available, due to time duration since being employed by the company, it is permissible to contact person(s) that have personal knowledge of the employee's work history for a specified time frame. Record the following information:

- Date and time
- Persons name, address and telephone number providing the information
- Confirmation of the dates provided on employee's resume. Record actual time frame being evaluated
- Position description title, or job title
- The signature and date of the requestor.
- Note: Objective evidence accumulated or generated for the purpose of education and experience verification is subject to surveillance and audit.

BASIS FOR RESOLUTION

DOE/RW/0333P, Rev.#0 QARD, QA Element 2.0, Quality Assurance Program. Paragraph 2.2.11 Personnel Selection, Indoctrination, Training and Qualification. Item F. states "Ensure minimum education and experience are verified or, when minimum education and experience cannot be specifically verified, provide a statement and justification for the personnel assignment."

Donald G. Horton Director Office of Quality Assurance

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA)

LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 93-002

93--002 Supersedes 92-002

SUBJECT

QA Program Element 2.0, Quality Assurance Program, specifically Management Assessments and, QA Program Element 18.0, Audits, specifically Internal Audits

CONDITION SUMMARY

Condition: Some CRWM affected organizations appear to have a misunderstanding of Lessons Learned/Program Clarification No 92-002, on the QA organizations not requiring Annual Management Assessment.

REOUIREMENT:

DOE/RW/0333P, Rev. 0, Section 2.0 Quality Assurance Program, Paragraph 2.2.6 Management Assessments, "Senior Management of an affected organization shall perform or direct the performance of management assessments by personnel outside the QA organization. A. Management assessments shall be planned and documented, and performed annually".

RESOLUTION:

Annual Management assessments for the QA organization and /or independent internal audits of the QA organization are not required for those years that the CRWM Office of Quality Assurance performs a QA Program Audit for adequacy and effectiveness.

Note: This does not relieve other internal organizations from planning and performing an Annual Management Assessment to determine how well their organizations are performing their QA functions. Personnel performing the management assessment may be either internal company personnel (Non-QA) or external personnel.

BASIS FOR RESOLUTION:

The CRWM Office of Quality Assurance audits determine the adequacy and effectiveness of QA program implementation, including QA organizational activities such as indoctrination, training, planning, procedural controls, management information tracking, implementation of non-conformance and corrective action system and performance of audits. The CRWM Office of Quality Assurance audit organization and QA program are totally independent of the organizations they are auditing and the auditors are knowledgeable of the requirements.

to 5/10/93

Donald G. Hortofi Director Office of Quality Assurance

PAGE____of

ENCLOSURE

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA) LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 94-002

SUBJECT:

Quality Assurance (QA) Program Element 2.0, "Quality Assurance Program," specifically: Quality Assurance Requirements and Description (QARD) 2.2.8, "Peer Reviews," existing data not collected under an approved QA program and QARD Supplement III, "Scientific Investigations," specifically: QARD III.2.4, "Data Validation and Qualification."

CONDITION SUMMARY:

A clarification and interpretation has been requested on the use of existing data not collected under an approved QA program in planning and conducting site characterization activities and related scientific investigations.

The QARD DOE/RW-0333P Glossary defines existing data as "Data developed prior to the implementation of a quality assurance program that meets Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM) requirements and data that are not information accepted by the scientific and engineering community as established fact." This definition is consistent with U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) staff guidance provided in NUREG-1298, "Qualification of Existing Data for High-Level Nuclear Waste Repositories." Examples of existing data are: (1) any data collected by a Project participant prior to OCRWM acceptance of its QA program; (2) data obtained through a literature search of scientific journals; or (3) data obtained from an unpublished thesis or dissertation. Data found in technical handbooks are considered to be ":information accepted by the scientific and engineering community as established fact," and thus are recognized to be acceptable sources of data.

RESOLUTION:

Existing data may be used at any time during the planning and conduct of site characterization investigations and supporting activities. This includes Test Interference Evaluation (TIE), Waste Isolation Evaluation (WIE), and Determination of Importance Evaluation (DIE) evaluations performed during planning of surface-based and underground testing, as well as performance assessment calculations used to support test planning and prioritization. Existing data also may be used as corroborative evidence in support of the license application provided it is not directly relied upon to support conclusions regarding safety or waste isolation. However, Traceability shall be maintained and data indicated accordingly for any existing data used as described herein. In addition existing data must be qualified according to Administrative Procedure AP-5.9Q if it will be directly relied upon to address safety and waste isolation issues (QARD III.2.4.D).
CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA) LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 94-002

(continued)

BASES FOR RESOLUTION:

Supplement III of the QARD was intended to provide controls on site characterization and scientific investigations that would be analogous to controls placed on the design process. The controls on scientific investigations were not intended to be more restrictive than Criterion 3, which applies to design control. It is recognized in QARD III.2.4.E.2 that "In some cases (such as when insufficient data exist) it may be necessary to release unverified designs to other organizations to support schedule requirements. Unverified portions of the design shall be clearly identified...." In contrast, Section 2.4.D of Supplement III states that "Existing data relied upon to address safety and waste isolation issues shall be qualified...." Inadvertently, the QARD was silent on the use of existing data in site characterization planning activities such as WIE and TIE and DIE evaluations. This will be remedied in future revisions to the QARD.

It is the intent of the QARD that the traceability requirements applicable for design data should apply to scientific investigations data as well. The QARD defines traceability as "The ability to trace the history, application, or location of an item, data, or sample using recorded documentation." This definition of traceability implies that data must be both traceable backward (trace and history) and forward (trace the use and application). Regardless of the stage at which data are used in quality-affecting activities, all data (existing and qualified) must be traceable (Supplement III, Section 2.3). The QARD criteria states that "Data shall be identified to provide traceability, indicate useability, and document validation status." It further states that "identification and traceability shall be maintained throughout the lifetime of the data." The approach to be followed to meet this requirement is analogous to the use of "to be verified" labels for design input. Regular systematic reviews should then be conducted of the products developed using existing data to establish if earlier results should be changed in light of the most current site data and theories (e.g., conceptual repository design, waste package corrosion, and groundwater travel time). These periodic reviews should consider the cumulative effects of the changes in the input data and current conclusions should be revised and remediation undertaken as needed. Thus, these reviews would verify at different stages that the evaluations are still valid.

Donald G. Horton Director Office of Quality Assurance

Page 2 of 2

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA)

LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 95-001

SUBJECT:

Quality Assurance Program Element 17.0, Quality Assurance Records, specifically: Classification and Retention of Quality Assurance Records.

CONDITION SUMMARY:

Some CRWM affected organizations do not understand why quality assurance records need to be classified as lifetime or nonpermanent. A need for instructions in identifying quality assurance records and classifying them as lifetime or nonpermanent has been identified.

RESOLUTION:

The purpose of the classification of quality assurance records and associated retention periods is to identify the value or importance of the records from a quality assurance perspective. This perspective focuses on the ability of the record to provide evidence of, and potentially be used to maintain, the quality of items or activities affecting quality from a safety or waste isolation perspective. It is not the intent of the quality assurance classification requirements to address retention requirements that may be required by other federal, state, or agency regulations. The retention of quality assurance records beyond the minimum time frame needed to satisfy the quality assurance value will be governed by the OCRWM Records Inventory and Disposition Schedule approved by the National Archives and Records Administration.

The first step in identifying quality assurance records is determining whether or not the <u>item</u> or <u>activity</u> to which the document pertains is quality-related. Refer to QARD Section 2.2.3, Classifying Items and Applying Quality Assurance Controls, which identifies the applicability of the quality assurance program. If the item or activity is quality-related, the associated document shall be classified as a quality assurance record.

Once the document has been identified as a quality assurance record, the next step is to classify it as a lifetime or nonpermanent record. If the document satisfies one or more of the criteria of QARD Section 17.2.1A. it shall be classified as a lifetime record. If it does not meet any of these criteria but provides evidence that the quality assurance program has been properly executed, it shall be classified as a nonpermanent record. Any document that is generated by a quality-related procedure for a quality-related item or activity and is not classified as a lifetime record is deemed to provide evidence that the quality assurance properly executed and shall be retained as a nonpermanent quality assurance program has been properly executed and shall be retained as a nonpermanent quality assurance program has been properly executed and shall be retained as a nonpermanent quality assurance program has been properly executed and shall be retained as a nonpermanent quality assurance program has been properly executed and shall be retained as a nonpermanent quality assurance program has been properly executed and shall be retained as a nonpermanent quality assurance program.

Documents generated as a result of using quality-related procedures for nonquality-related activities or items should not be considered quality assurance records.

Record identification and classification should be done during the development of the implementing document that will generate the record. QARD section 17.2.2A.1. states implementing documents shall "Identify those documents that will become quality assurance records". QARD section 5.2.2, H. states that implementing documents shall include "Identification of the lifetime or nonpermanent quality assurance records generated by the implementing document." It is important to identify, before an activity begins, what records will be generated to provide for the adequate documentation of the activity

Page 1 of 2

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA)

LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 95-001

(continued)

and to provide for proper record completion, protection, and preservation. QARD section 2.2.4, F. states that work planning elements shall include "Identification of, or provisions for the identification of, required records and the recording of objective evidence of the results of the work performed."

BASIS FOR RESOLUTION:

Lifetime Records:

NQA-1-1989, Supplement 17S-1, addresses the classification of records as lifetime or nonpermanent. Section 2.7.1 of this document identifies that records meeting one or more of the following criteria are lifetime records:

- 1. Those which would be of significant value in demonstrating capability for safe operation.
- 2. Those which would be of significant value in maintaining, reworking, repairing, or modifying an item.
- 3. Those which would be of significant value in determining the cause of an accident or malfunction of an item.
- 4. Those which provide required baseline data for in-service inspections.

These criteria along with other related record requirements from 10CFR50, 10CRF71, 10CFR72, and the NRC Review Plan were used to develop the OCRWM-specific criteria for the classification of lifetime records in QARD Section 17.2.1.

Nonpermanent Records

NQA-1-1989, Supplement 17S-1, Section 2.7.2 states: "Nonpermanent records are those required to show evidence that an activity was performed in accordance with the applicable requirements but need not be retained for the life of the item because they do not meet the criteria for lifetime records."

NQA-1-1989, Supplement 17S-1, Section 2.8 states: "... The retention period for nonpermanent records shall be established in writing."

QARD Section 17.2.7 specifies the minimum retention time and conditions for nonpermanent records. The three years minimum retention time, given that other specified conditions are satisfied, is based on a triennial audit schedule. This would allow the "evidence that an activity was performed in accordance with the applicable requirements" to be reviewed during the audit process.

2/28/94

Donald G. Horton, Director Office of Quality Assurance

Page _2 of _2

CIVILIAN RADIOACTIVE WASTE MANAGEMENT (CRWM) PROGRAM OFFICE OF QUALITY ASSURANCE (OQA) LESSONS LEARNED/PROGRAM CLARIFICATION NO. 95-02

SUBJECT

Quality Assurance Requirements and Description (QARD), DOE/RW/0333P, Element 10.0, Inspection, Specifically, Qualification and Certification of Inspection Personnel.

CONDITION SUMMARY

Provide clarification relative to the certification of inspection personnel based on qualification and certification performed by another affected organization.

RESOLUTION

- An affected organization (receiving organization) may utilize certified inspection 1. personnel based on qualification and certification performed by another affected organization provided:
 - The inspector(s) certification is current. A
 - The basis for current certification meet or exceed those of the receiving B. organization.
 - C. Documented evidence exists relative to the verification of education and experience.
 - D. The inspector has been trained to the appropriate receiving organization implementing documents.
 - E. There are no documented unresolved deficiencies related to the inspectors certification records.
 - F. The receiving organization documents acceptance of current certification.
- 2. The current certification, accepted by the receiving organization, shall remain valid until the periodic evaluation of qualifications date. Qualifications and certifications shall then be in accordance with the receiving organizations implementing documents.

BASIS FOR RESOLUTION

The OCRWM QARD is the overall QA program for all organizations working on the CRWM program. The Office of Quality Assurance audits the organizations working on the CRWM program to verify these organizations meet the QARD requirements, including training and certification of inspectors.

For 9/28/95 - Selmce Donald G. Horton

Director Office of Quality Assurance

of

QUALITY ASSURANCE REQUIREMENTS AND DESCRIPTION

(QARD)

The following number is for OCRWM records management purposes only and should not be used when ordering this publication.

2

Accession No.: HQ0.920121.0001